
 

 

Assistant Director, Governance and 
 

Monitoring 
 

Julie Muscroft 
 
Governance and Democratic Services 
 

Civic Centre 3 
 

High Street 
 

Huddersfield 
 

HD1 2TG 
 

Tel: 01484 221000 Ext 1783 
 

Direct Line: 01484 221000 
 

Fax: 01484 221707 
 

Please ask for: Richard Dunne 
 

Email: richard.dunne@kirklees.gov.uk 
 

Friday 24 July 2015 
 

Notice of Meeting 
 
Dear Member 
 

Strategic Planning Committee 
 

The Strategic Planning Committee will meet in the Council Chamber - Town 
Hall, Huddersfield at 10.00 am on Thursday 30 July 2015. 
 

Please note that the Chair of the Planning Committee has agreed to undertake site visits 
on an earlier date to ensure that there will be sufficient time available at the meeting to 
consider in full all of the scheduled applications. A coach will leave the Town Hall, 
Huddersfield on Wednesday 29 July 2015 at 10.00am to undertake site visits referred to 
on the Agenda.  
 
The consideration of planning applications will commence on Thursday 30 July 2015 at 
10.00am. 
 
This meeting will be webcast live. 
 

The items which will be discussed are described in the agenda and there are reports 
attached which give more details. 
 

 
 

Julie Muscroft 
 

Assistant Director of Legal, Governance and Monitoring 
 

Kirklees Council advocates openness and transparency as part of its democratic 
processes. Anyone wishing to record (film or audio) the public parts of the meeting should 
inform the Chair/Clerk of their intentions prior to the meeting. 

Public Document Pack



 

 

The Strategic Planning Committee members are:- 
 

 
When a Strategic Planning Committee member cannot be at the meeting another member can 
attend in their place from the list below:- 
 

Substitutes Panel 
 
Conservative 
B Armer 
D Hall 
N Patrick 
K Sims 
J Taylor 
G Wilson

Green 
K Allison 
A Cooper

Independent 
C Greaves 

Labour 
E Firth 
A U Pinnock 
K Rowling 
M Sokhal 
S Ullah

Liberal Democrat 
C Burke 
J Lawson 
A Marchington 
P Scott 

 
 
 
 

Member 
Councillor Steve Hall (Chair) 
Councillor Donna Bellamy 
Councillor Donald Firth 
Councillor Carole Pattison 
Councillor Andrew Pinnock 
Councillor Terry Lyons 
Councillor Graham Turner 
 



 

 

 

Agenda 
Reports or Explanatory Notes Attached 

 

 
 
 
  Pages 

 
 

1:   Membership of the Committee 
 

This is where Councillors who are attending as substitutes will say 
for whom they are attending. 

 
 
Wards 
Affected:  
 
 

 
 

 

 

2:   Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 

To approve the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 2 
July 2015. 

 
 
Wards 
Affected:  
 
 

 
 

1 - 6 

 

3:   Interests and Lobbying 
 

The Councillors will be asked to say if there are any items on the 
Agenda about which they might have been lobbied. The Councillors 
will be asked to say if there are any items on the Agenda in which 
they have disclosable pecuniary interests, which would prevent them 
from participating in any discussion of the items or participating in 
any vote upon the items, or any other interests. 

 
 
Wards 
Affected:  
 
 

 
 

7 - 8 

 
 



 

 

4:   Admission of the Public 
 

Most debates take place in public. This only changes when there is a 
need to consider certain issues, for instance, commercially sensitive 
information or details concerning an individual. You will be told at 
this point whether there are any items on the Agenda which are to 
be discussed in private. 

 
 
Wards 
Affected:  
 
 

 
 

 

 

5:   Deputations/Petitions 
 

The Committee will receive any petitions and hear any deputations 
from members of the public. A deputation is where up to five people 
can attend the meeting and make a presentation on some particular 
issue of concern. A member of the public can also hand in a petition 
at the meeting but that petition should relate to something on which 
the body has powers and responsibilities. 
 
Any Member of the Public wishing to make a deputation is required 
to give notice in writing to the Assistant Director – Legal, 
Governance and Monitoring at least 24 hours prior to the start of the 
meeting.  

 
 
Wards 
Affected:  
 
 

 
 

 

 

6:   Public Question Time 
 

The Committee will hear any questions from the general public. 
 
 
Wards 
Affected:  
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 



 

 

7:   Site Visit - Application 2014/91282 
 

Erection of 135 residential properties with associated access, 
parking and landscaping and the creation of a car park to serve 
Crossley Fields Junior and Infant School at land off, Woodward 
Court/Hepworth Lane, Mirfield 
 
Estimated time of arrival at site: 10.25am  
 
Contact: Steve Hopwood, Planning Services  

 
 
Wards 
Affected: Mirfield 
 
 

 
 

 

 

8:   Site Visit - Application 2015/90022 
 

Erection of 23 dwellings at Cleckheaton Bowling Club, Park View, 
Cleckheaton 
 
Estimated time of arrival as site: 11.00am  
 
Contact: Jonathan Ainley, Planning Services  

 
 
Wards 
Affected: Cleckheaton 
 
 

 
 

 

 

9:   Site Visit - Application 2014/93039 
 

Outline application for residential development at land at, Ainley Top, 
Yew Tree Road and Burn Road, Huddersfield 
 
Estimated time of arrival at site: 11.25am  
 
Contact: Steve Hopwood, Planning Services  

 
 
Wards 
Affected: Lindley 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 



 

 

10:   Site Visit - Application 2015/90580 
 

Outline application for erection of 7 dwellings and formation of 2 site 
access points at land to rear of 8, Miry Lane and between St Mary's 
Rise and St Mary's Way, Netherthong, Holmfirth 
 
Estimated time of arrival at site: 12.05pm  
 
Contact: Farzana Tabasum, Planning Services 

 
 
Wards 
Affected: Holme Valley South 
 
 

 
 

 

 

11:   Site Visit - Application 2014/92413 
 

Outline application for erection of 2 dwellings at land to rear of 191 
Huddersfield Road, Thongsbridge, Holmfirth 
 
Estimated time of arrival at site: 12.25pm  
 
Contact: Farzana Tabasum, Planning Services  

 
 
Wards 
Affected: Holme Valley South 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

 

MATTERS FOR DECISION  

 

12:   Planning Applications (Part One) 
 

The Strategic Planning Committee will consider the following 
application during part one of the meeting that will commence at 
10.00am. Details of the application are included in the attached 
schedule.  
 
(1) Application 2014/93039 - Ainley Top, Yew Tree Road and Burn 
Road, Huddersfield  
 
Contact: Simon Taylor, Head of Development Management 
 
Please note that any members of the public who wish to speak at the 
meeting must register to speak by 5.00pm (for phone requests) or 
11:59pm (for email requests) by no later than Monday 27 July 2015. 
To pre-register, please contact richard.dunne@kirklees.gov.uk or 
phone Richard Dunne on 01484 221000 (ask for extension - 74995).  

 
 
Wards 
Affected: All Wards 
 
 

 

9 - 308 

 

13:   Planning Applications (Part Two) 
 

The Strategic Planning Committee will consider the following 
applications during part two of the meeting that will commence at 
1.00pm.  
 
Details of the applications are included in the attached schedule.  
 
(1) Application 2014/91282 - Land off, Woodward Court/Hepworth 
Lane, Mirfield 
 
(2) Application 2015/90022 - Cleckheaton Bowling Club, Park View, 
Cleckheaton 
 
(3) Application 2013/93721 - Wood Nook, Denby Dale, Huddersfield 
 
(4) Application 2014/92737 - Miry Lane, Netherthong, Holmfirth 
 
(5) Application 2015/90580 - Land to rear of 8, Miry Lane and 
between St Mary's Rise and St Mary's Way, Netherthong, Holmfirth 
 
(6) Application 2014/92413 - Land to rear of 191 Huddersfield Road, 
Thongsbridge, Holmfirth 

 
 
Wards 
Affected: All Wards 

 



 

 

 
 

 
 

 

14:   Exclusion of the Public 
 

To resolve that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 
1972, the public be excluded from the meeting during consideration 
of the following items of business on the grounds that they involve 
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Act. 

 
 
Wards 
Affected:  
 
 

 
 

 

 

15:   Application 2015/90022 - Cleckheaton Bowling Club, 
Park View, Cleckheaton 
 

Private appendix in relation to Application 2015/90022 included in 
Agenda Item 13.  
 
This information is to be taken in private because it contains 
commercially sensitive information, including information about a 
third party.  
 
The public interest in maintaining the exemption which, would protect 
the interests of the Council and the company concerned, outweighs 
the public interest in disclosing the information and providing greater 
openness in the Council's decision making.  
 
Contact: Steve Hopwood, Planning Services  

 
 
Wards 
Affected: Cleckheaton 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

309 - 
310 



 

 

 

16:   Application 2013/93721 - Wood Nook, Denby Dale, 
Huddersfield 
 

Private appendix in relation to Application 2013/93721 included in 
Agenda Item 13. 
 
This information is to be taken in private because it contains 
commercially sensitive information, including information about a 
third party.  
 
The public interest in maintaining the exemption which, would protect 
the interests of the Council and the company concerned, outweighs 
the public interest in disclosing the information and providing greater 
openness in the Council's decision making. 
 
Contact: Steve Hopwood, Planning Services  

 
 
Wards 
Affected: Denby Dale 
 
 

 
 

311 - 
312 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Contact Officer: Richard Dunne   
 

KIRKLEES COUNCIL 
 

STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Thursday 2nd July 2015 
 
Present: Councillor Steve Hall (Chair) 
 Councillor Donna Bellamy 

Councillor Donald Firth 
Councillor Carole Pattison 
Councillor Andrew Pinnock 
Councillor Terry Lyons 
Councillor Graham Turner 

  
   
  
   
  
  
 

 
1 Membership of the Committee 

Councillor Lyons was confirmed as a permanent Member of the Committee in place 
of Councillor Cooper.  
 

2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
That the Minutes of the meeting held on 4 June 2015 be approved as a correct 
record.  
 

3 Interests and Lobbying 
In connection with Item 10, Planning Applications, Members identified Planning 
Applications in which they had been lobbied as follows;  
 
Councillors G Turner, A Pinnock and S Hall lobbied on Application 2014/91628.  
 
Councillors G Turner, A Pinnock and S Hall lobbied on Application 2014/93073.  
 

4 Admission of the Public 
All items on the Agenda were taken in public session.  
 

5 Deputations/Petitions 
No deputations or petitions were received.  
 

6 Public Question Time 
No questions were asked.  
 

7 Site Visit - Application 2014/92998 
Site visit undertaken.  

1 
 Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Strategic Planning Committee -  2 July 2015 
 

 
8 Site Visit - Application 2013/93683 

Site visit not undertaken due to the application being withdrawn.  
 

9 Site Visit - Application 2015/90646 
Site visit undertaken.  
 

10 Planning Applications 
The Sub Committee considered the schedule of the Planning Applications. Under 
the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 37, the Sub Committee heard 
representations from the members of the public in respect of the following 
applications;-  
 
(a)  Application 2014/91628 - Erection of 85 dwellings and associated 
 infrastructure - Land north of Commercial Road, Skelmanthorpe, 
 Huddersfield - Helen France and Philip Grosvenor (objectors), Robert 
 Halstead (speaking on behalf of the applicant) and Mark Jones (applicant)  
 
(b)  Application 2014/93073 - Erection of 39 dwellings with associated highways 
 and landscaping works (amended layout) - Land Off, New Lane, Cleckheaton 
 - Carolyn Shield, Derek Binns, Graeme Raisbeck and Peter Robson 
 (objectors), Councillor John Lawson (Local Ward Councillor), Paul Bedwill 
 (agent speaking on behalf of the applicant) 
 
(c)  Application 2014/92998 - Proposed residential development - Cleckheaton 
 Mills, Bradford Road, Cleckheaton - Michael Singh (speaking in support of 
 the application) 
 
(d)  Application 2015/90646 -Variation condition 2 (plans) on previous permission 
 2013/91452 for demolition of outbuildings and refurbishment/redevelopment 
 of Globe Mills to - Globe 1- doctors surgery; retail unit; Artisan hall; cafe; 
 offices and innovation office space - Globe 2- D1/D2 use; nursery; offices; 
 gallery space, erection of new parking deck, formation of external parking 
 area; pedestrian footbridge linking Globe 1 and Globe 2 and new pedestrian 
 footbridge over the Huddersfield Canal (Amendment request to vary condition 
 27 removed) - Globe Mills, Bridge Street, Linthwaite, Huddersfield - Jane 
 McGrath (objector) 
 

11 Planning Application for formation of pedestrian footway and widening of 
existing road at the National Coal Mining Museum, New Road, Overton, 
Wakefield 
That in accordance with Section 101(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
Committee delegates its development management powers to Wakefield 
Metropolitan District Council in respect of Application 2015/62/91719/E for formation 
of pedestrian footway and widening of existing road, at the National Coal Mining 
Museum for England Caphouse Colliery, New Road, Overton, Wakefield.   
 
 

2 
 Page 2



DOC1478 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

KIRKLEES COUNCIL 
 

LIST OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS DECIDED BY 
 

STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

2 JULY 2015 

1 Page 3



APPLICATION NO. DESCRIPTION, LOCATION OF PROPOSAL AND DECISION  
 
2013/93683 Steve Slator, Valley Wind Co-operative Ltd – Installation of three 

2.3 MW wind turbines on 64m masts and related equipment 
including substation, cabling, transformer and control buildings, 
temporary construction compound and access tracks – 
Slaithwaite Moor, off New Hey Road, Scammonden, 
Huddersfield 

 
 APPLICATION WITHDRAWN  
 
2014/91628 D Wilson Homes, J & C Hall and E Ward – Erection of 85 

dwellings and associated infrastructure – Land north of 
Commercial Road, Skelmanthorpe, Huddersfield, HD8 9DX 

 
 DELEGATE AUTHORITY TO OFFICERS TO GRANT 

CONDITIONAL FULL PLANNING PERMISSION SUBJECT TO: 
 
 (1) THE APPLICANT AND THE COUNCIL ENTERING INTO A 

S106 OBLIGATION TO SECURE: 
 (i) THE PROVISION OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
 (ii) THE PAYMENT OF AN EDUCATION CONTRIBUTION 
 (iii) THE PROVISION OF A BUS SHELTER TO COMMERCIAL 

ROAD 
 (iv) THE PROVISION OF A FOOTPATH LINK FROM THE 

DEVELOPMENT TO SKELMANTHORPE F&N SCHOOL 
 
 (2) THE IMPOSITION OF APPROPRIATE PLANNING 

CONDITIONS, WHICH MAY INCLUDE THOSE LISTED IN THE 
SUBMITTED REPORT; AND, 

 
 (3) THERE BEING NO MATERIAL CHANGE IN 

CIRCUMSTANCES, TO ISSUE THE DECISION. 
 
 A RECORDED VOTE WAS TAKEN IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 42(5) AS FOLLOWS; 
 
 FOR: Councillors Pattison, A Pinnock, Lyons, Bellamy, D Firth 

and S Hall (6 Votes) 
 
 AGAINST: Councillor G Turner (1 Vote) 
 
2014/93073 Gemma Close, Strata Homes Ltd – Erection of 39 dwellings with 

associated highways and landscaping works (amended layout) - 
Land Off, New Lane, Cleckheaton, BD19 6LG 

  
 DELEGATE TO OFFICERS TO REFUSE PLANNING 

PERMISSION AND TO RESOLVE THE OUTSTANDING 
VIABILITY ISSUE 

 
 (1) The site is allocated as Urban Greenspace on the Council’s 

Unitary Development Plan (UDP) Proposals Map and the 
proposed development is contrary to Policy D3 of the UDP which 

2 Page 4



APPLICATION NO. DESCRIPTION, LOCATION OF PROPOSAL AND DECISION  
 
2014/93073 Cont'd  relates to development on such sites. The site is considered to 

have value as open space and as such it is not deemed to be 
 surplus to requirements and the development is also therefore 

contrary to paragraph 74 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. The loss of the value of the Urban Greenspace is 
considered to outweigh all other material considerations, 
including the delivery of new housing. 

 
 A RECORDED VOTE WAS TAKEN IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 42(5) AS FOLLOWS; 
 
 FOR: Councillors Pattison, G Turner, A Pinnock, Lyons, 

Bellamy, D Firth and S Hall (7 Votes) 
 
 AGAINST: (No Votes) 
 
2014/92998 Swift Properties – Proposed residential development – 

Cleckheaton Mills, Bradford Road, Cleckheaton, BD19 5BD 
 
 GRANT CONDITIONAL FULL PLANNING PERMISSION 

SUBJECT TO THE SATISFACTORY RESOLUTION OF 
HISTORIC COAL MINING ISSUES, AND DELEGATION OF 
AUTHORITY TO OFFICERS TO: 

 
 (1) SECURE THE SIGNING OF A SECTION 106 AGREEMENT 

TO ENSURE CONTRIBUTIONS TOWARDS 
 (i) AFFORDABLE HOUSING; 
 (ii) IMPROVEMENT OF OFF-SITE PUBLIC OPEN SPACE 
 
 (2) IMPOSE ALL NECESSARY AND APPROPRIATE 

CONDITIONS WHICH MAY INCLUDE THOSE IN THE 
SUBMITTED REPORT AND IN THE UPDATE LIST; AND 

 
 (3) SUBJECT TO THERE BEING NO MATERIAL CHANGES 

THAT WOULD ALTER THIS RECOMMENDATION, ISSUE THE 
DECISION NOTICE. 

 
 A RECORDED VOTE WAS TAKEN IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 42(5) AS FOLLOWS; 
 
 FOR: Councillors Pattison, G Turner, A Pinnock, Lyons, 

Bellamy, D Firth and S Hall (7 Votes) 
 
 AGAINST: (No Votes) 
 
2015/90646 Hartley Property Group – Variation condition 2 (plans) on 

previous permission 2013/91452 for demolition of outbuildings 
and refurbishment/redevelopment of Globe Mills to - Globe 1- 
doctors surgery; retail unit; Artisan hall; cafe; offices and 
innovation office space - Globe 2- D1/D2 use; nursery; offices; 
gallery space, erection of new parking deck, formation of 

3 Page 5



APPLICATION NO. DESCRIPTION, LOCATION OF PROPOSAL AND DECISION  
 
2015/90646 Cont'd  external parking area; pedestrian footbridge linking Globe 1 and 

Globe 2 and new pedestrian footbridge over the Huddersfield 
 Canal (Amendment request to vary condition 27 removed) – 

Globe Mills, Bridge Street, Linthwaite, Huddersfield, HD7 5JN 
 
 APPROVE REMOVAL/VARIATION OF CONDITION(S) 

SUBJECT TO DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY TO OFFICERS 
TO: 

 
 (i) SECURE A VARIATION TO THE EXISTING S106 

AGREEMENT TO PROVIDE A FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTION 
TO THE COUNCIL FOR THE MONITORING OF THE 
PROPOSED TRAVEL PLAN 

  
 (ii) IMPOSE ALL NECESSARY AND APPROPRIATE 

CONDITIONS WHICH MAY INCLUDE THOSE DETAILED IN 
THE REPORT; AND 

  
 (iii) SUBJECT TO THERE BEING NO SUBSTANTIVE 

CHANGES THAT WOULD ALTER THIS RECOMMENDATION, 
ISSUE THE DECISION. 

  
 A RECORDED VOTE WAS TAKEN IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 42(5) AS FOLLOWS; 
 
 FOR: Councillors Pattison, G Turner, A Pinnock, Lyons, 

Bellamy, D Firth and S Hall (7 Votes) 
 
 AGAINST: (No Votes) 
 

4 Page 6



 

K
IR

K
LE

ES
 C

O
U

N
C

IL
 

 
D

EC
LA

R
A

TI
O

N
 O

F 
IN

TE
R

ES
TS

 A
N

D
 L

O
B

B
YI

N
G

 
 

S
tra

te
gi

c 
Pl

an
ni

ng
 C

om
m

itt
ee

 

N
am

e 
of

 C
ou

nc
ill

or
 

Ite
m

 in
 w

hi
ch

 
yo

u 
ha

ve
 a

n 
in

te
re

st
 

Ty
pe

 o
f i

nt
er

es
t (

eg
 a

 
di

sc
lo

sa
bl

e 
pe

cu
ni

ar
y 

in
te

re
st

 o
r a

n 
“O

th
er

 
In

te
re

st
”)

 

D
oe

s 
th

e 
na

tu
re

 o
f t

he
 in

te
re

st
 re

qu
ire

 y
ou

 to
 

w
ith

dr
aw

 fr
om

 th
e 

m
ee

tin
g 

w
hi

le
 th

e 
ite

m
 in

 w
hi

ch
 

yo
u 

ha
ve

 a
n 

in
te

re
st

 is
 u

nd
er

 c
on

si
de

ra
tio

n?
  [

Y/
N

] 

B
rie

f d
es

cr
ip

tio
n 

of
 y

ou
r i

nt
er

es
t 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

LO
B

B
YI

N
G

 
 

D
at

e 
A

pp
lic

at
io

n/
Pa

ge
 

N
o.

 
Lo

bb
ie

d 
B

y 
(N

am
e 

of
 

pe
rs

on
) 

A
pp

lic
an

t 
O

bj
ec

to
r 

Su
pp

or
te

r 
A

ct
io

n 
ta

ke
n 

/ 
A

dv
ic

e 
gi

ve
n 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

  
Si

gn
ed

: 
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
 

D
at

ed
: 

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

.. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



N
O

TE
S 

 D
is

cl
os

ab
le

 P
ec

un
ia

ry
 In

te
re

st
s 

 If 
yo

u 
ha

ve
 a

ny
 o

f t
he

 fo
llo

w
in

g 
pe

cu
ni

ar
y 

in
te

re
st

s,
 th

ey
 a

re
 y

ou
r d

is
cl

os
ab

le
 p

ec
un

ia
ry

 in
te

re
st

s 
un

de
r t

he
 n

ew
 n

at
io

na
l r

ul
es

. A
ny

 re
fe

re
nc

e 
to

 
sp

ou
se

 o
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
 in

cl
ud

es
 a

ny
 p

er
so

n 
w

ith
 w

ho
m

 y
ou

 a
re

 li
vi

ng
 a

s 
hu

sb
an

d 
or

 w
ife

, o
r a

s 
if 

th
ey

 w
er

e 
yo

ur
 c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
. 

 An
y 

em
pl

oy
m

en
t, 

of
fic

e,
 tr

ad
e,

 p
ro

fe
ss

io
n 

or
 v

oc
at

io
n 

ca
rri

ed
 o

n 
fo

r p
ro

fit
 o

r g
ai

n,
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, u
nd

er
ta

ke
s.

 
 An

y 
pa

ym
en

t o
r p

ro
vi

si
on

 o
f a

ny
 o

th
er

 fi
na

nc
ia

l b
en

ef
it 

(o
th

er
 th

an
 fr

om
 y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y)
 m

ad
e 

or
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

w
ith

in
 th

e 
re

le
va

nt
 p

er
io

d 
in

 
re

sp
ec

t o
f a

ny
 e

xp
en

se
s 

in
cu

rr
ed

 b
y 

yo
u 

in
 c

ar
ry

in
g 

ou
t d

ut
ie

s 
as

 a
 m

em
be

r, 
or

 to
w

ar
ds

 y
ou

r e
le

ct
io

n 
ex

pe
ns

es
. 

 An
y 

co
nt

ra
ct

 w
hi

ch
 is

 m
ad

e 
be

tw
ee

n 
yo

u,
 o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
 (o

r a
 b

od
y 

in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, h
as

 
a 

be
ne

fic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t) 
an

d 
yo

ur
 c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y 
- 

• 
un

de
r w

hi
ch

 g
oo

ds
 o

r s
er

vi
ce

s 
ar

e 
to

 b
e 

pr
ov

id
ed

 o
r w

or
ks

 a
re

 to
 b

e 
ex

ec
ut

ed
; a

nd
 

• 
w

hi
ch

 h
as

 n
ot

 b
ee

n 
fu

lly
 d

is
ch

ar
ge

d.
 

An
y 

be
ne

fic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t i
n 

la
nd

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, h

av
e 

an
d 

w
hi

ch
 is

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
ar

ea
 o

f y
ou

r c
ou

nc
il 

or
 a

ut
ho

rit
y.

 

An
y 

lic
en

ce
 (a

lo
ne

 o
r j

oi
nt

ly
 w

ith
 o

th
er

s)
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, h
ol

ds
 to

 o
cc

up
y 

la
nd

 in
 th

e 
ar

ea
 o

f y
ou

r c
ou

nc
il 

or
 

au
th

or
ity

 fo
r a

 m
on

th
 o

r l
on

ge
r. 

 An
y 

te
na

nc
y 

w
he

re
 (t

o 
yo

ur
 k

no
w

le
dg

e)
 - 

th
e 

la
nd

lo
rd

 is
 y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y;
 a

nd
 th

e 
te

na
nt

 is
 a

 b
od

y 
in

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r 

ci
vi

l p
ar

tn
er

, h
as

 a
 b

en
ef

ic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t. 
 An

y 
be

ne
fic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

 h
as

 in
 s

ec
ur

iti
es

 o
f a

 b
od

y 
w

he
re

 - 
(a

) t
ha

t b
od

y 
(to

 y
ou

r k
no

w
le

dg
e)

 h
as

 a
 p

la
ce

 o
f b

us
in

es
s 

or
 la

nd
 in

 th
e 

ar
ea

 o
f y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y;
 a

nd
 

(b
) e

ith
er

 - 
th

e 
to

ta
l n

om
in

al
 v

al
ue

 o
f t

he
 s

ec
ur

iti
es

 e
xc

ee
ds

 £
25

,0
00

 o
r o

ne
 h

un
dr

ed
th

 o
f t

he
 to

ta
l i

ss
ue

d 
sh

ar
e 

ca
pi

ta
l o

f t
ha

t  
bo

dy
; o

r 
if 

th
e 

sh
ar

e 
ca

pi
ta

l o
f t

ha
t b

od
y 

is
 o

f m
or

e 
th

an
 o

ne
 c

la
ss

, t
he

 to
ta

l n
om

in
al

 v
al

ue
 o

f t
he

 s
ha

re
s 

of
 a

ny
 o

ne
 c

la
ss

 in
 

w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, h

as
 a

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t e

xc
ee

ds
 o

ne
 h

un
dr

ed
th

 o
f t

he
 to

ta
l i

ss
ue

d 
sh

ar
e 

ca
pi

ta
l o

f t
ha

t c
la

ss
. 

 

Lo
bb

yi
ng

 
 If 

yo
u 

ar
e 

ap
pr

oa
ch

ed
 b

y 
an

y 
M

em
be

r o
f t

he
 p

ub
lic

 in
 re

sp
ec

t o
f a

n 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

n 
on

 th
e 

ag
en

da
 y

ou
 m

us
t d

ec
la

re
d 

th
at

 y
ou

 h
av

e 
be

en
 lo

bb
ie

d.
 A

 
de

cl
ar

at
io

n 
of

 lo
bb

yi
ng

 d
oe

s 
no

t a
ffe

ct
 y

ou
r a

bi
lit

y 
to

 p
ar

tic
ip

at
e 

in
 th

e 
co

ns
id

er
at

io
n 

or
 d

et
er

m
in

at
io

n 
of

 th
e 

ap
pl

ic
at

io
n.

 

Page 8



 
 
 

1 

 
  KIRKLEES COUNCIL 

 
  PLANNING SERVICE 

 
  LIST OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS TO BE DECIDED BY 

 
  STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
 

  30-Jul-2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985   
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
 

  There is a file for each planning application containing                             
application forms, plans and background papers.  

 
  Simon Taylor - 01484 221000 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 12



 
 
 

2 

Page 10



 
 
 

3 

In respect of the consideration of all the planning applications on this 
Agenda the following information applies; 
 
PLANNING POLICY 
 
The statutory development plan comprises: 
 
The Unitary Development Plan (UDP).  These reports will refer only to those 
polices of the UDP ‘saved’ under the direction of the Secretary of State 
beyond September 2007. 
 
The statutory development plan is the starting point in the consideration of 
planning applications for the development or use of land unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise (Section 38(6) Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004). 
 
The LDF core strategy approved by the Council in March 2012 was sunmitted 
to the Secretary of State on 2nd April 2013 for independent examination.  
However, following correspondence and meetings with the planning inspector, 
appointed by the Secretary of State, the council resolved to withdraw the core 
strategy on 23rd October 2013.  Until such time as revised core strategy 
proposals have been submitted for examination they will have no significant 
weight in the determination of planning applications. 
 
National Policy/Guidelines 
 
National planning policy and guidance is set out in National Policy 
Statements, primarily the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
published 27th March 2012, the Planning Practice Guidance Suite (PPGS) 
launched 6th March 2014 together with Circulars, Ministerial Statements and 
associated technical guidance. 
 
The NPPF consitutes guidance for local planning authorities and is a material 
consideration in determining applications. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
The Council adopted its Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) in 
relation to planning matters in September 2006. This sets out how people and 
organistations will be enabled and encouraged to be involved in the process 
relating to planning applications. 
 
The applications have been publicised by way of press notice,.site notices 
and neighbour letters (as appropriate) in accordance with the Statement of 
Community Involvement and in full accordance with the requirements of 
regulation, statute and national guidance. 

Page 11



 
 
 

4 

EQUALITY ISSUES 
 
The Council has a general duty under section 149 Equality Act 2010 to have 
due regard to eliminating conduct that is prohibited by the Act, advancing 
equality of opportunity and fostering good relations between people who 
share a protected characteristic and people who do not share that 
characteristic. The relevant protected characteristics are: 
 

 age; 
 

 disability; 
 

 gender reassignment; 
 

 pregnancy and maternity; 
 

 religion or belief; 
 

 sex; 
 

 sexual orientation. 
 

 
HUMAN RIGHTS 
 
The Council has had regard to the Human Rights Act 1998, and in particular:- 
 

 Article 8 – Right to respect for private and family life. 
 

 Article 1 of the First Protocol – Right to peaceful enjoyment of property 
and possessions. 
 

The Council considers that the recommendations witihn the reports are in 
accordance with the law, proportionate and both necessary to protect the 
rights and freedoms of others and in the public interest. 
 
 

Page 12



 
 
 

5 

PLANNING CONDITIONS AND OBLIGATIONS 
 
Paragraph 203 of The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires 
that Local Planning Authorities consider whether otherwise unacceptable 
development could be made acceptable through the use of planning condition 
or obligations, 
 
The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 stipulates that planning 
obligations (also known as section 106 agreements – of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990) should only by sought where they meet all of the 
following tests. 
 

 necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
 

 directly related to the developmetn; and 
 

 fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 
 

The National Planning Policy Framework and further guidance in the PPGS 
launched on 6th March 2014 require that planning conditions should only be 
imposed where they meet a series of key tests; these are in summary: 
 
1. necessary; 
 
2. relevant to planning and; 
 
3. to the development to be permitted; 
 
4. enforceable; 
 
5. precise and; 
 
6.  reasonable in all other respects. 
 
Recommendations made with respect to the applications brought before 
the Planning sub-committee have been made in accordance with the 
above requirements. 

Page 13



 
 
 

6 

Page 14



 
 
 

7 

 
Application No: 2014/93039 ............................................................................. 9 

Type of application: 60m - OUTLINE APPLICATION 
Proposal: Outline application for residential development 
Location: Land at, Ainley Top, Yew Tree Road and Burn Road, 
Huddersfield HD2 2EQ 
Ward: Lindley Ward 
Applicant: Thornhill Estates Limited &, Emma Jane Carter, George Robert 
Carter 
Agent: J Dunbavin, ID Planning 
Target Date: 02-Jan-2015 
Recommendation: OASD - CONDITIONAL OUTLINE APPROVAL 
SUBJECT TO DELEGATION TO OFFICERS 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Application No: 2014/91282 ........................................................................... 52 
Type of application: 62m - FULL APPLICATION 
Proposal: Erection of 135 residential properties with associated access, 
parking and landscaping and the creation of a car park to serve Crossley 
Fields Junior and Infant School 
Location: Land off, Woodward Court/Hepworth Lane, Mirfield 
Ward: Mirfield Ward 
Applicant: Bellway Homes (Yorkshire) Limited 
Agent: Emma Gomersal, DPP One Ltd 
Target Date: 22-Jul-2014 
Recommendation: RF1 - REFUSAL 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Application No: 2015/90022 ........................................................................... 86 
Type of application: 62m - FULL APPLICATION 
Proposal: Erection of 23 dwellings 
Location: Cleckheaton Bowling Club, Park View, Cleckheaton, BD19 3AP 
Ward: Cleckheaton Ward 
Applicant: Jones Homes (Northern) & Cleckheaton BC 
Agent: Michael Townsend, Townsend Planning Consultants 
Target Date: 06-Aug-2015 
Recommendation: ASD-CONDITIONAL FULL APPROVAL SUBJECT TO 
THE DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY TO OFFICERS 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Application No: 2013/93721 ......................................................................... 111 
Type of application: 62m - FULL APPLICATION 
Proposal: Erection of 29 dwellings (Amended Plans) 
Location: Wood Nook, Denby Dale, Huddersfield, HD8 8RR 
Ward: Denby Dale Ward 
Applicant: Conroy Brook (Developments) Ltd 
Agent: Farrar Bamforth Associates 
Target Date: 21-Feb-2014 
Recommendation: ASD-CONDITIONAL FULL APPROVAL SUBJECT TO 
THE DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY TO OFFICERS 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Page 15



 
 
 

8 

Application No: 2014/92737 ......................................................................... 132 
Type of application: 60 - OUTLINE APPLICATION 
Proposal: Outline application for erection of 5 dwellings 
Location: adj, 8, Miry Lane, Netherthong, Holmfirth, HD9 3UQ 
Ward: Holme Valley South Ward 
Applicant: Steven Buttershaw & Kust Schramm 
Agent: Angus Ellis, WHpArchitecture 
Target Date: 27-Feb-2015 
Recommendation: OASD - CONDITIONAL OUTLINE APPROVAL 
SUBJECT TO DELEGATION TO OFFICERS 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Application No: 2015/90580 ......................................................................... 160 
Type of application: 60 - OUTLINE APPLICATION 
Proposal: Outline application for erection of 7 dwellings and formation of 2 
site access points 
Location: land to rear of 8, Miry Lane and between St Mary's Rise and St 
Mary's Way, Netherthong, Holmfirth, HD9 3UQ 
Ward: Holme Valley South Ward 
Applicant: S & K Buttershaw and Schramm 
Agent: Angus Ellis, WHpARCHITECTURE 
Target Date: 23-Apr-2015 
Recommendation: OASD - CONDITIONAL OUTLINE APPROVAL 
SUBJECT TO DELEGATION TO OFFICERS 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Application No: 2014/92413 ......................................................................... 183 
Type of application: 60 - OUTLINE APPLICATION 
Proposal: Outline application for erection of 2 dwellings 
Location: Land to rear of 191 Huddersfield Road, Thongsbridge, Holmfirth, 
HD9 3TT 
Ward: Holme Valley South Ward 
Applicant: M Jebson 
Agent: Robert Halstead Chartered Surveyor 
Target Date: 06-Aug-2015 
Recommendation: OP - CONDITIONAL OUTLINE PERMISSION 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

Page 16



 
 
 

9 

Application No: 2014/93039 

Type of application: 60m - OUTLINE APPLICATION 

Proposal: Outline application for residential development 

Location: Land at, Ainley Top, Yew Tree Road and Burn Road, 
Huddersfield HD2 2EQ 

 
Grid Ref: 411950.0 418760.0  

Ward: Lindley Ward 

Applicant: Thornhill Estates Limited &, Emma Jane Carter, George 
Robert Carter 

Agent: J Dunbavin, ID Planning 

Target Date: 02-Jan-2015 

Recommendation: OASD - CONDITIONAL OUTLINE APPROVAL 
SUBJECT TO DELEGATION TO OFFICERS 

 
Link to guidance notes for public speaking at planning committee 
including how to pre-register your intention to speak. 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 
LOCATION PLAN 
 

© Kirklees Council 100019241 2008 
 
Map not to scale – for identification purposes only 
 

Page 17

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/business/planning/advicenotes/PublicSpeakingCommittee.pdf


 
 
 

10 

1. SUMMARY OF APPLICATION 
 

 

Application Details  

Type of Development Outline application for residential 
development (190 units with access)  

Scale of Development Site area: 
9.9ha 

Units:  
190 

No. Jobs Created or Retained  N/A 

Policy  

UDP allocation Provisional Open Land 

Independent Viability Required   No  

Consultation  

Individual Support (No.) 286  

Individual Objection (No.) 468 

Other Representations Barry Sheerman MP 
Jason McCartney MP 
Save Grimescar Valley 
Huddersfield Civic Society 
Kirklees Community Action Network and 
Yorkshire Green Space Alliance 

Petition   

Ward Member Interest Yes Cllr Cahill Burke,  
Cllr Gemma Wilson  

Statutory Consultee Objections No  

Contributions:  

Affordable Housing 30% of floorspace  

Education £469,503 

Public Open Space Policy compliant provision on site 

A629/East Street Improvement 
Scheme Contribution 

£150,000 

Resident Metro Cards £27,118 

Travel Plan Monitoring £15,000 

Riverside Walkway Implementation of scheme by S106 

Any Council Interest? No  

Pre-application advice Yes  

Pre-App Consultation Undertaken? Yes  

Comment on Application 
 
 

Provisional open land (POL) in UDP and an 
undeveloped (greenfield) site. No current five 
year housing supply and moderate adverse 
impacts not considered to significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits. 
Significant local opposition however the 
principle of development is considered 
appropriate. Detailed issues capable of being 
addressed at reserved matters stage and 
through recommended conditions/ Section 
106 agreement. 

Page 18



 
 
 

11 

 
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT OUTLINE PLANNING PERMISSION 
SUBJECT TO SECTION 106 OBLIGATION 
 
2. INFORMATION 
 
The application is brought forward to Strategic Planning Committee for 
determination in accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation. 
 
3. SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
The application relates to a two-part 9.9 ha area of agricultural grazing land to 
the east of Birchencliffe: 
 

A 2.7 ha area to the north-west of the junction between Yew Tree Road 
and Burn Road; and  
A 7.2 ha area to the east of Burn Road and south of public byway 
HUD/296/40.  

 
The total proposed net developable area amounts to 6.2 ha of land, with the 
remaining 3.7 ha of land remaining undeveloped. 
 
The site is currently semi-rural in nature and slopes towards the watercourses 
that pass from east to west through what is known as the Grimescar Valley. 
 
Listed former farmhouses lie to the north and east of the proposals site while 
more modern residential development lies to the east (Valley Heights, Valley 
Drive & Westward Croft). To the west and south-west are more residential 
properties at the southern end of Burn Road, on Yew Tree Road, and Halifax 
Road beyond.  
 
A number of areas of trees (predominantly following the watercourses) form 
part of the application site and are protected under Tree Preservation Orders.  
 
A UDP safeguarded Green Corridor lies immediately to the north of the 
smaller block and skirts the north-east corner of the larger block.  
 
The Kirklees Way public footpath cuts west to east between the two sites and 
public footpath PROW no. HUD/399/10 also dissects the site. 
 
4. PROPOSAL 
 
The application seeks outline planning permission for residential development 
(190 dwellings) with means of access to (but not within) the site to be 
considered. All other matters (layout, scale, appearance and landscaping) are 
reserved for subsequent consideration.  
 
An indicative layout has been submitted, that shows the distribution of 
housing across three development areas, together with areas of public open 
space, landscaping, areas of woodland and tree belts and existing 

Page 19



 
 
 

12 

watercourses. The indicative layout is presented in the context of a 
masterplan for the wider POL allocation. 
Access is proposed from Yew Tree Road (serving the smaller area of land to 
the north); and two points of access from Burn Road (to the southern and 
northern segments of the larger block to the east).  
 
The application is accompanied by an Environmental Statement as the 
proposals were deemed to fall within the ambit of the Town & Country 
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011because the 
proposals would be classed as a Schedule 2 ‘urban development project’ and 
were judged to have the potential to have significant effects on the 
environment.  
 
5. BACKGROUND AND HISTORY 
 
None 
 
6.  PLANNING POLICY 
 
Site allocation: 
 
The site is allocated as Provisional Open Land.  
 
Relevant UDP policies: 
 
D5 – Provisional Open Land (POL) 
BE2 – Design of new development  
H10 – Affordable housing provision 
H12 – Ensuring affordable housing remains affordable 
H18 – Provision of public open space on sites over 0.4 hectares 
EP4 – Development and noise 
EP11 – Integral landscaping scheme to protect/enhance ecology 
T10 – Highway safety considerations 
T16 – provision of safe, convenient and pleasant pedestrian routes  
T19 – Off-street parking standards  
 
National Planning Policy Framework:  
 
‘Achieving Sustainable Development’ 
‘Core Planning Principles’ 
Section 6 – Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes 
Section 7 – Requiring good design 
Section 10 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 
change 
Section 11 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
Section 12 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 
‘Decision taking’ 
 

Page 20



 
 
 

13 

Other Policy Considerations: 
 
Manual for Streets (2007) 
 
K.C. Policy Guidance: ‘Providing for Education Needs Generated by New 
Housing’ 
 
K.C. Supplementary Planning Document (SPD2) – ‘Affordable Housing’ 
 
7. CONSULTATIONS 
 
The following is a summary of the consultation responses received. Where 
necessary, these consultations are reported in more detail in the assessment 
below:  
 
K.C. Highways – Based on this analysis of the development proposal, its 
impact on transport networks and the proposed mitigation measures, the 
proposals are considered acceptable and the Highways Service has no wish 
to resist the granting of planning permission subject to conditions and a S106 
agreement. 
 
K.C. Environmental Services – In accordance with the West Yorkshire Low 
Emission Planning Guidance it is requested that the damage costs are 
calculated and the value of impact from this development be reflected in the 
money spent on mitigation measures specific to benefits to air quality. 
Contained within the damage cost report were mitigation measures and the 
specific costs to implement. We are satisfied that the low emission mitigation 
measures highlighted in the travel plan reflect the damage cost. In addition to 
the travel plan we request that a condition be applied in order to promote 
green sustainable transport. 
 
K.C. Trees – No objections in principle following formation of a new TPO to 
safeguard four small woodland groups.  
 
K.C. Conservation & Design – The application is supported by statements 
that indicate how the site could be developed. A heritage statement is 
provided and in broad terms Conservation & Design is comfortable with the 
findings. Further work will be required to consider potential impact on those 
designated assets that are further away. The design however can evolve to 
allow for the setting to be improved and this should be taken forward in the 
detailed submission.  On the basis of the information provided, and in light of 
the above comments being a caveat, Conservation & Design is broadly 
comfortable with the proposal. 
 
K.C Strategic Housing – Whilst access is the only matter sought in this 
outline proposal, the proposed development of 190 new homes, if approved, 
will provide housing market supply within the Huddersfield housing market 
area, and with it comes the opportunity to secure much needed affordable 
housing.  
 

Page 21



 
 
 

14 

On an annual basis, the current Strategic Housing Market Assessment 
(SHMA) has identified that there is a requirement to provide 524 new 
affordable homes per year. This proposal thus provides an opportunity to 
secure affordable housing across a range of types and tenures as defined in 
the NPPF and SHMA. 
It is understood that the applicant is confirming that the scheme will be 
meeting the current policy aspirations of securing 30% of the gross internal 
floorspace of the development on a greenfield site. Assuming that the 
applicant has tested this approach through a viability model, this proposal 
could represent is a significant opportunity to provide affordable housing. 
 
K.C. Ecologist – The ecological survey and reports are comprehensive and 
identify important biodiversity features within the site proposed for 
development and make a series of recommendations to mitigate and 
compensate the impacts of the development. It has also established that 
some areas within the site are of very limited ecological interest. 
 
In addition, although it was stated initially that the ponds located within the 
immediate vicinity of the site may have potential as breeding great-crested 
newt ponds, this has now been discounted because of the lack of records in 
the area and the unlikelihood of the species being present following a Habitat 
Suitability Index (HSI) assessment of the ponds.  
 
The Council’s Ecologist advises that the conclusions and recommendations in 
the report are accepted and that, through the implementation of appropriate 
mitigation, compensation and enhancement measures of the type as laid out 
in the report, biodiversity impacts can be negated. 
 
On this basis there is no objection to the proposed development providing, as 
recommended in the report, a full biodiversity management and enhancement 
plan, based upon the mitigation strategy outlined in the report, is produced 
and implemented as part of the development scheme. 
 
K.C. Strategic Drainage – no objections subject to conditions 
 
K.C. Strategic Waste – no objections 
 
Environment Agency – no objections subject to conditions 
 
Yorkshire Water – no objections subject to conditions 
 
WY Police Architectural Liaison Officer – no objections in principle 
 
Coal Authority – no objections subject to conditions 
 
K.C. School Organisation & Planning – £469,503 contribution to infant and 
junior school places requested  
 

Page 22



 
 
 

15 

K.C. Landscape –   In consideration of all the information submitted by both 
the applicants and the objectors the KC Landscape view is that whilst the site 
is of ‘good’ landscape value, it could accommodate the housing development 
although there should be a full range of landscape conditions ensuring the 
highest standards of landscape design, enhancement and mitigation with 
sensitivity toward landscape value.  The new public open spaces and green 
corridors are key to the success of assimilating the new housing into the 
landscape and minimising the effects on the setting. On this basis we have no 
objection to the proposed development providing that a full enhancement plan 
and mitigation strategy is produced and implemented as part of the 
development scheme. 
 
National Planning Casework Unit – no objections 
 
8. REPRESENTATIONS 
 
The application has been advertised by neighbour letter, newspaper 
advertisement and site notices. In total 468 letters of objection and 286 letters 
of support have been received.  
 
The comments received may be summarised as follows: 
 
In objection:  
 

- Grimescar Valley is one of the few remaining green spaces within the 
area.  

 
- Loss of an area of high quality landscape and natural beauty that is 

used for recreation and public amenity 
 

- Loss of valuable ecology and wildlife habitat 
 

- Not a need for new housing within the area given the amount of new 
housing development and residential property on the market for sale 
 

- Development would be contrary to Policy D5, (Provisional Open Land) 
of the Councils UDP. The land should be safeguarded as open land 
given its value 
 

- Previously developed brownfield land should be developed before 
undeveloped greenfield sites 
 

- Capacity of the area to accommodate and sustain further housing 
development 
 

- Capacity of local schools, doctors and dentist surgeries to 
accommodate demand from the development 
 

- Impact of development upon drainage and flood risk within the wider 
area 

Page 23



 
 
 

16 

 
- Impact of development upon air quality 

 
- Capacity of the local highway network to accommodate traffic 

generated by the development. In particular the cumulative impacts of 
development. 
 

- Capacity of Burn Road to accommodate development and the junction 
of Burn Road with Halifax Road. Views expressed that Burn Road 
should be made one way only. 
 

 
Knight Frank on behalf of Save Grimescar Valley, Kirklees Community Action 
Network and Yorkshire GreenSpace Alliance and Huddersfield Civic Society 
have also made representations. 
 
For completeness these representations are appended to the report, however 
the main points of concern can be summarised as: 
 
Save Grimescar Valley: 
 

- A lack of 5 year housing supply does not automatically allow for POL to 
be developed 

 
- There is a need to reassess the sites value. Whilst the site is allocated 

as POL its assessment was 15 years ago and it now holds greater 
value and if assessed today would no longer be considered as POL 
 

- The detrimental landscape and visual impact of the proposal upon the 
surrounding area is not outweighed by the benefits of residential 
development 
 

- The robustness of the Landscape and Visual Assessment which fails to 
address the concerns raised above 
 

- The inaccuracy of the Landscape and Visual Appraisal and the 
contradictory conclusions it draws 
 

- The proposed development is unsustainable. Retail stores are 
impractically located, community facilities are at capacity and local 
schools are over subscribed 
 

- Uncertainty about the deliverability of the masterplan 
 

- Impact on the wider highway network and the questionable conclusion 
of the Transport Assessment that the scheme will have limited impact 
upon the road network 
 

Page 24



 
 
 

17 

- The questionable baseline assessment and conclusions of the Air 
Quality Assessment. The identified ‘detrimental effect’ during the 
operational phase of the proposal has not been mitigated  

 
Kirklees Community Action Network & Yorkshire Green Space Alliance: 
 

- Overloaded roads and services resulting from large scale 
developments in the Lindley, Birchecliffe, Ainley Top and Lindley Moor 
area without the corresponding investment in physical and service 
infrastructure 

 
- Development would be isolated from local centres and community 

services being on the eastern side of Halifax Road with the closest 
local centre (Lindley) being some distance away on the western side of 
Halifax Road 
 

- Erosion of a green buffer zone with merging of urban areas and harm 
to the Green Belt 
 

- Departure from the Council’s UDP 
 

- The development is therefore not sustainable having regard to the 
matters above 

 
Huddersfield Civic Society: 
 

- Loss of an important green space that should have been protected as 
Green Belt rather than allocated as POL 

 
- Council should be encouraged to look at housing on sustainable sites 

closer to the town centre rather than on valuable green spaces 
 

- Development would place intolerable burden given existing congestion 
on Halifax Road. Neither Burn Road or Yew Tree Road is capable of 
handling the extra volume of traffic 

 
Representations have also been received from MP’s Barry Sheerman and 
Jason McCartney, Councillors Cahill Burke, Gemma Wilson and Charles 
Greaves that reiterate the objections raised. 
 
In support: 
 

- There is a general housing shortage in the area, the development will 
help ease this and bring new homes to the local area providing 
opportunity for young people to buy properties in the area 

 
- The development is in an area with good transport links, near to the 

motorway and bus routes. 
 

- There are good amenities within the area to support the development. 

Page 25



 
 
 

18 

 
- The development will bring a number of benefits including 

improvements to the local highway network and investment in school 
places. 
 

- The development will improve and enhance public access to the 
Grimescar Valley. The land is currently privately owned with no access. 
 

In addition the applicant has provided a report of statistics and interactions 
from the Huddersfield Gateway Website. The report is also appended for 
completeness. 
 
The application has been re advertised following receipt of additional and 
amended information and plans. 100 further letters of objection and 1 letter of 
support have been received. The matters raised reiterate those detailed 
above. 
 
9. ASSESSMENT 
 
Principle: 
 
The application site covers two areas of land that form part of a wider area of 
land designated as Provisional Open Land (POL) in the Councils UDP. 
 
Policy D5 states that “planning permission will not be granted other than for 
development required in connection with established uses, changes of use to 
alternative open land uses or temporary uses which would not prejudice the 
contribution of the site to the character of its surroundings and the possibility 
of development in the longer term.” 
 
Paragraph 2.15 of the UDP advises that urban open land sites assessed as 
having less quality that those designated as Urban Greenspace but 
nevertheless having identifiable value as open land are designated as 
Provisional Open Land. These sites are judged to be capable of development 
either now or when new infrastructure such as roads and sewers can be 
provided. The aim of the designation is to maintain the character of the land at 
least during the period until the plan is reviewed when it will be considered for 
allocation for development. 
 
Paragraph 2.16 of the UDP advises that reviews of the UDP should be 
undertaken at least every 5 years. It is noted that objectors refer to the fact 
that this particular POL (and the UDP in general) has not been reviewed on a 
five year basis and that the site may have changed in nature and quality. 
There is also a suggestion that this site should return to Green Belt. It is 
argued in representations that whilst the site may previously have been 
assessed as being of less quality than sites designated as Urban 
Greenspace, with the passage of time since the adoption of the UDP in 1999 
the site is now considered to be of greater value than previously assessed. 
 

Page 26



 
 
 

19 

In considering the allocation of the land as POL the UDP Inspector considered 
the site to be predominantly grazing land, sloping eastwards and extending 
from the urban edge to Grimescar Beck, the later forming the Green Belt 
boundary beyond which the valley rises northwards. Streams, undulations and 
groups of trees within the site, particularly towards the south and east create 
an interesting and attractive appearance. Whereas the southernmost land is 
closely related to the urban area, taken as a whole, development here would 
represent the outward projection of the settlement on to land of a rural 
character, some of it attractive, which is widely visible from the higher land to 
the north and north east.  
 
The majority of the POL site was assessed in the Council’s Open Land Study 
at the time to be of high visual quality. The POL was considered to form a 
significant area of attractive open countryside with a balance of open grazing 
land and wooded areas. These qualities are accentuated by the varied 
topography, creating in places steep wooded hillsides which dominate the 
view. 
 
It was noted that the area was extensively used for outdoor recreation. Well 
used footpaths cross the POL linking to an extensive network of routes along 
the Grimescar Valley and to the north to Fixby Ridge where the area is 
defined as an Informal Outdoor Recreation Area in the Huddersfield Local 
Plan. The importance of the Grimescar Valley area as a valuable corridor for 
recreation and as habitat is also recognised by its Green Corridor status in the 
UDP. 
 
It was this quality and value that justified the allocation as POL rather than for 
housing in the UDP. 
 
Since the UDP allocation, the Council’s Open Space Study (2007, revised 
2010) considered the whole of the POL allocation and classified it as natural/ 
semi natural greenspace, agricultural land being of medium quality and high 
value. 
 
KC Landscape advise that aerial photographs from 2000 to 2012 show little 
change in landscape use, layout or vegetation pattern and that the majority of 
the site is still considered to be of high visual quality. 
 
The Local Plan will provide the evidence base for all new and retained 
allocations including POL. The Local Plan process will also be the vehicle to 
assess whether there are exceptional circumstances to return POL sites back 
Green Belt or whether they may be suitable for allocation as Urban 
Greenspace. The local plan process is underway however it is still some way 
from being sufficiently advanced to carry any weight in decision making for 
individual planning applications. The LPA must therefore rely on existing 
policies (saved) in the UDP, national planning policy and guidance. 
 
The weight that can be afforded to policy D5 in determining applications for 
housing must be assessed in the context of NPPF paragraphs 215 and 49. 
 

Page 27



 
 
 

20 

In the context of paragraph 215, the wording of policy D5 is consistent with 
NPPF paragraph 85 concerning safeguarded land. However, with regard to 
paragraph 49 the Council is currently unable to demonstrate a five year 
supply of deliverable housing sites. 
 
The weight that can be given to policy D5 in these circumstances was 
assessed in October 2013 by a Planning Inspector in his consideration of an 
appeal against refusal of permission for housing on a POL site at Ashbourne 
Drive, Cleckheaton (ref: APP/Z4718/A/13/2201353). The inspector concluded 
(paragraph 42): 
 
“The lack of a five-year supply, on its own, weighs in favour of the 
development. In combination with other paragraphs in the Framework 
concerning housing delivery the weight is increased. The lack of a five-year 
supply also means that policies in the UDP concerning housing land are out of 
date. Policy D5 clearly relates to housing and so it, too, is out of date and its 
weight is reduced accordingly. This significantly reduces the weight that can 
be given to the policy requirement for there to be a review of the plan before 
the land can be released. In these circumstances, the Framework’s 
presumption in favour of sustainable development is engaged.”  
 
NPPF paragraph 14 states that where relevant policies are out-of-date, 
planning permission should be granted “unless any adverse impacts of 
granting permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits when assessed against the policies in this framework taken as a 
whole, or that specific NPPF policies indicate development should be 
restricted”.  
 
Footnote 9 lists examples of restrictive policies but this does not include land 
allocated as Provisional Open Land.  
 
The NPPF identifies the dimensions of sustainable development as economic, 
social and environmental roles. It states that these roles are mutually 
dependent and should not be undertaken in isolation; “economic, social and 
environmental gains should be sought jointly and simultaneously through the 
planning system” (paragraph 8). The ‘economic’ role includes providing 
support for growth and development requirements, while the ‘social’ role 
states the need to support communities by providing housing to meet the 
needs of present and future generations.  
 
As such, in the absence of both a five year housing supply and any significant 
and demonstrable adverse impacts that can be evidenced and substantiated 
and which outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies in the 
framework taken as a whole, the principle of developing this site is considered 
to be acceptable in this instance. 
 
There have been strong views expressed about the adverse impacts of this 
development by a significant number of representations opposing the 
application. The following sections detail these issues and conclude that 
development, at this scale, does not give rise to significant material planning 

Page 28



 
 
 

21 

harm which can be substantiated as a reason for refusal. In addition, although 
the NPPF encourages the effective use of previously developed (brownfield) 
land, the aforementioned policies make it clear that no significant weight can 
be given to the loss of greenfield sites to housing when there is a national 
priority to increase housing supply. 
 
Landscape & visual impact:   
 
A Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment is included as part of the 
Environmental Statement. The methodology for this is stated to be in 
accordance with the ‘Guidelines for Landscape and Visual Effect Assessment 
3rd Edition’ published by the Landscape Institute and Institute of 
Environmental Management & Assessment.  
 
In addition, Landscape and Visual Assessment Illustrations have also been 
submitted. 
 
The Landscape and Visual Assessment, together with representations on 
behalf of Save Grimescar Valley and the applicant’s response have been 
considered by the Council’s Landscape Section.  
 
The site is considered to be of high visual quality having regard to the UDP 
Inspectors consideration of the site, the Council’s Open Land Study at that 
time, the Council’s Open Space Study and KC Landscape’s assessment. 
 
The best practice guidance, Guidelines for Landscape and Visual Impact 
Assessment (GLVIA 3) should be used as a basis for assessment of the site. 
The methodology used has been agreed with the Council and is based on the 
guidelines given by GLVIA 3.  
 
In assessing landscape value, the applicant has included criteria from very 
poor, poor, medium, high and exceptional. In doing so, in order for a site to 
score better than medium, it would need to be within a National Park, an Area 
of Outstanding Natural Beauty or an Area of Great Local Value (AGLV). It is 
considered that the applicant could have included a further value of ‘good’ in 
the criteria which would more realistically represent this site.   
 
It is considered that the landscape value of the site could reasonably be 
assessed as being one level higher than applicant’s appraisal indicates, i.e. 
good rather than medium. 
 
Within the submitted EIA the report categorises the development area, 
Grimescar Valley as typical south Pennine fringe landscape. It is semi-rural 
urban fringe surrounded by suburban residential pattern. The boundary of the 
development sits within fragmented farmland broken up by small patches of 
residential buildings some converted from farm buildings. Grimescar is a 
sloping tributary valley wedged between the A629 and the M62 to the north. 
Pylons and transmission lines are visible within the skyline, patches of 
fragmented woodland (Grimescar Wood is semi ancient woodland) line the 
valley sides and the valley bottom along the lines of the tributary streams. 

Page 29



 
 
 

22 

 
There are no landscape designations for this area. Within the EIA report the 
character assessment states that the landscape quality of approximately a 
mile radius ranges from poor to moderate condition; poor to medium value 
and low to medium sensitivity.   
 
The outline proposal shows provision for approximately 190 dwellings over 
9.9 hectares; this is well under the density of 30 dwellings per hectare. In the 
indicative layout there is provision for three linear green space/open spaces of 
some size. The open space can add/ retain character value and has potential 
for enhancing landscape character with a high quality landscape design. 
 
All of the existing bands of mature trees are to be retained, so too the areas of 
woodland. The indicative layout uses these trees for screening and as bands 
of separation along with the open spaces. There is proposed planting within 
the layout. From various viewpoints around the site it has been assessed how 
the existing trees will have an impact on, and the extent to which they screen 
the proposed new dwellings particularly from existing dwellings in the 
surrounding area. The indicative layout appears to have taken the 
opportunities afforded by the existing vegetation for screening into 
consideration. 
 
Some manipulation of the land form will occur to create plateaux for building 
this has been categorised as a substantial landscape effect. The impact on 
the valley during construction is categorised as high. 
 
The EIA report summarises that the predicted landscape effects of this 
development on Grimescar Valley will range from medium to low or negligible 
with some slight adverse visual effect.  
 
It is considered that there are too few criteria within the EIA assessment of 
landscape effects. It is suggested that rather than the criteria of high, medium, 
low and negligible, the criteria should include very high, high, medium, low 
and negligible. 
 
KC landscape considers that the effect will be higher than as detailed in the 
EIA but disagree with the assessment of substantial adverse effect in 
representations on behalf of Save Grimescar Valley. KC Landscape considers 
a moderate adverse effect to be the most appropriate assessment. 
 
The design and layout of the development at this stage (with limited 
landscape design detail) has a high degree of sensitivity toward the valley and 
its existing landscape. The proposals aim to make good use of the existing 
landscape features, particularly existing trees and woodland to screen the 
visual impact, which, along with the potential areas of open space proposed 
along the stream lines have the potential to provide for a more accessible and 
attractive environment with the possibility of retaining strong wildlife value and 
improved green corridors. 
 

Page 30



 
 
 

23 

The effects of development can be mitigated, should the development 
proceed in line with the indicative layout with the following measures: 

 The dwellings are proposed to be limited to two storeys in height and 
oriented along the existing land contours in small development cells, to 
minimise the need for extensive cut and fill.  

 Dwellings are set back from undeveloped boundaries. 

 Retention and augmentation of tree groups and hedgerows to break up 
and soften the outline of any new built form.  

 Use of materials and architectural style that are locally harmonious and 
sympathetic to setting.  

 
This visual assessment re-iterates the points of the landscape mitigation 
previously suggested. The impact on the landscape will be higher than the 
EIA suggests, but the design and layouts have a high level of sensitivity 
toward the topography and landscape and use existing trees and landscape 
features as screening and buffer zones. The photographic visuals show the 
potential of the new vegetation and screening which will help lessen visual 
impact on the valley. 
 
The amount of proposed mitigation planting is high; there is good 
consideration of views into the future decade. The proposals show two distinct 
green infrastructure corridors that link with the water course and farm land to 
the east and north. 
 
The quantity of POS proposed is good, although there are no specific designs 
for it at present. The site sits within the catchment area for the play space on 
Halifax Road. Use of the allocated spaces within the site for natural play will 
be much more beneficial. In accordance with policy H18, 3360m² of POS is 
required for the development, the amount of POS within the indicative layout 
exceeds this. An off-site contribution of £50,000 could be sought to improve 
the provision of POS off site in lieu of an equipped provision on site. 
 
With reference to existing facilities, there is potentially good access to the 
existing recreation ground, on Halifax Road, and footpath links have been 
considered. There is also an existing play area within the recreation ground 
where off site contributions could help towards ensuring it is an appropriately 
equipped facility with broader requirements for through age provision, and its 
future sustainability.   
 
The POL is currently used for outdoor recreation, the Kirklees Way footpath 
cuts west to east across the northern boundary of the site and the public 
footpath PROW no. HUD/399/10 dissects the site although this is currently 
less well used, possibly due to the difficulties in accessibility. Whilst the 
proposed development will not impact physically upon the use of the 
footpaths, the development proposed would lessen people’s enjoyment of 
them. Mitigation and enhancement can play a part in the amelioration of this 
aspect, sensitive design to enhance the character of the PROW treatment is 
necessary to mitigate the adverse impacts of the development. 
 

Page 31



 
 
 

24 

The applicant has considered the difficulties and sensitivities of the site; they 
acknowledge too the adverse effects on the landscape; they have used 
existing features to retain green corridors/green infrastructure; the 
enhancement of vegetation could mitigate effects by screening and 
blending/softening views while minimising external vistas of the development 
from adjacent properties and improving biodiversity and habitat.  
 
In consideration of all the information submitted by both the applicant and the 
objectors the KC Landscape view is that whilst the site is of ‘good’ landscape 
value, it could accommodate the housing development although there should 
be a full range of landscape conditions ensuring the highest standards of 
landscape design, enhancement and mitigation with sensitivity toward 
landscape value.  The new public open spaces and green corridors are key to 
the success of assimilating the new housing into the landscape and 
minimising the effects on the setting. 
 
On this basis KC Landscape raises no objection to the proposed development 
provided that a full enhancement plan and mitigation strategy is produced and 
implemented as part of the development scheme. 
 
Highway safety: 
 
The application is in outline with all matters reserved except for the means of 
access.  The proposed development comprises a site of 9.9 hectares with up 
to 190 residential dwellings located on three individual plots with one access 
off Yew Tree Road and two accesses off Burn Road.  
Extensive discussions have taken place with Optima, the applicant’s highway 
consultant, over a period of approximately 12 months.  Pre-application 
discussions commenced at a scoping meeting held on 5th June 2014.  
Highway related documents submitted as part of the planning application 
were as follows: 

 Transport Assessment dated September 2014; 

 Travel Plan dated September 2014. 
 
Following the submission of these documents, discussions continued resulting 
in the requirement for additional submissions as follows: 

 Addendum Transport Assessment dated January 2015; 

 Results of junction modelling at Ainley Top roundabout dated 
January 2015; 

 Technical Note on Proposed Traffic Management on Burn Road 
dated April 2015; 

 Stage 1 Road Safety Audit dated May 2015; 

 Designers Response to Stage 1 Road Safety Audit dated May 
2015; 

 Results of junction modelling at Halifax Road / East Street dated 
May 2015. 

 
Network traffic counts were undertaken by the applicant in June and July 
2014 across the study area comprising seven fully classified automatic traffic 

Page 32



 
 
 

25 

counts, seven fully classified manual turning counts and two speed surveys.  
This shows a two way peak hour flow of approx. 2,200 vehicles along the 
A629 Halifax Road. 
 
Trip generation estimates for the proposed development have been agreed 
and are based on rates derived from adjacent housing site developments.  A 
comparison to the TRICS database has been made and the rates used in the 
assessment are found to be robust and suitable for analysis.  The following 
peak hour trip generation totals result:   
 
Weekday AM Peak Hour Vehicle Trips 
 

 Vehicles 

 In Out Two-Way 

190 residential units 33 99 132 

 
Weekday PM Peak Hour Vehicle Trips 
 

 Vehicles 

 In Out Two-Way 

190 residential units 86 51 137 

 
The assignment of development trips to the network is based on an analysis 
of census travel to work data.  This results in the following assignment of 
flows to surrounding approach routes to the site for the generated trips: 
 
Assignment of Residential Trips to the Network 
 

Approach Route % 
Assignment 

Weekday AM 
Peak (Two-Way) 

Weekday PM 
Peak (Two-Way) 

A629 Blackley New Road 27% 36 37 

A643 Lindley Moor Road 2% 3 3 

A629 Huddersfield Road 10% 13 14 

A643 Brighouse Road 8% 10 10 

Halifax Old Road 18% 24 25 

A629 Halifax Road 35% 46 48 

 
An access strategy has been formulated by the applicant which concentrates 
access to and from the development proposal mainly via Grimescar Road with 
approximate 60% of traffic assigned via this route.  Access to development 
sites are proposed via three priority junctions, one off Yew Tree Road and two 
off Burn Road as indicated on the application drawings. 
 
During the pre-application scoping discussions, two committed developments 
were identified for inclusion in the assessment.  The flows associated with the 
Lindley Moor residential scheme comprising 300 dwellings and accessed from 
Weatherhill Road and Cowrakes Road and the 84 unit residential 
development at Blackley Brickworks are included.  Following the submission 
of the application, the development proposals for Lindley Moor Road / 

Page 33



 
 
 

26 

Crosland Road were lodged as a planning application and the applicant was 
asked to include flows associated with this development to ensure a robust 
assessment.  The Transport Assessment Addendum dated January 2015 
contains this additional analysis. 
 
Four key issues have been of primary concern to Kirklees Highways and have 
been the subject of considerable discussion and analysis with the applicant: 

 The impact of development on the A629 Halifax Road corridor; 

 The management of development flows through the A629 / Burn Road 
junction; 

 Junction capacity modelling at Ainley Top and at A629 / East Street; 

 Mitigation Measures - off-site highway improvements needed to 
mitigate the impact of development. 

 
The A629 Halifax Road Corridor 
 
This corridor is one of the key radial routes linking Huddersfield town centre 
with the motorway network and carries a large volume of traffic.  The corridor 
suffers from slow moving traffic, particularly at peak times.  Although the 
situation has improved with the recent remodeling and signalisation of the 
Ainley Top roundabout, problems still exist and the corridor is the subject of a 
current study commissioned by Kirklees Council to better understand the 
reasons for and solutions to slow moving traffic. 
 
Extensive observations on site and through cctv monitoring show that 
conditions are not uniform and that there are periods of delay followed by 
periods of relatively free flow.  The reasons for this are varied including 
blockages caused by slow moving vehicles on the approach to junctions, 
restrictions due to on-street parking, buses stopped at bus stops and 
movements into and out of side roads.  The operation of the corridor is also to 
some extent self-limiting with a proportion of drivers having the ability to vary 
their route or time of journey.   
   
An independent third party representation of traffic conditions in the corridor is 
provided by Google Traffic which corresponds closely to Highways 
Development Management’s observations and shows the following conditions 
in the AM and PM peak hours: 
 

Page 34



 
 
 

27 

A629 Halifax Road – Typical AM Peak Traffic Conditions: 

 
A629 Halifax Road – Typical PM Peak Traffic Conditions: 

 

Page 35



 
 
 

28 

Journey speeds determined from detailed monitoring shows the following 
section by section journey speeds for selected hours throughout the weekday: 
 
A629 Halifax Road Corridor Route Speeds – Southbound 
 

Route 
Section 

Average Speed in mph 

0700 
to 
0800 

0800 
to 
0900 

0900 
to 
1000 

 

1100 
to 
1200 

1200 
to 
1300 

1300 
to 
1400 

 

1600 
to 
1700 

1700 
to 
1800 

1800 
to  
1900 

Ainley Top 
to 
Birchington 
Av 

24 11 20 27 28 27 22 20 21 

Birchington 
Av to 
Birchencliffe 
Hill 

19 10 18 24 25 24 19 19 21 

Birchencliffe 
Hill to 
Cavelry 
Arms 

13 7 12 16 17 15 10 11 13 

South of 
Cavelry 
Arms 

29 27 29 29 29 30 28 28 30 

 
A629 Halifax Road Corridor Route Speeds – Northbound 
 

Route 
Section 

Average Speed in mph 

0700 
to 
0800 

0800 
to 
0900 

0900 
to 
1000 

 
1100 
to 
1200 

1200 
to 
1300 

1300 
to 
1400 

 
1600 
to 
1700 

1700 
to 
1800 

1800 
to  
1900 

Approach to 
Cavelry 
Arms 

11 9 15  16 16 17  7 9 16 

Cavelry 
Arms to 
Birchencliffe 
Hill 

10 21 24  23 25 24  9 11 26 

Birchencliffe 
Hill to 
Birchington 
Av 

11 20 23  24 24 21  10 10 22 

Birchington 
Av to Ainley 
Top 

11 18 21  24 23 23  9 10 23 

 

Page 36



 
 
 

29 

The access strategy adopted for the proposed Yew Tree Road / Burn Road 
development minimises as far as possible the assignment of traffic onto the 
A629 corridor to a point where the following link flows are added: 
Development Trips on A629 Halifax Road Corridor 
 

Link 
AM Peak 
Two-Way Flow 

PM Peak 
Two-Way Flow 

Ainley Top to Yew Tree Road 10 13 

Yew Tree Road to Birchencliffe Hill Road 41 33 

Birchencliffe Hill Road to East Street 33 34 

South East of East Street 28 28 

 
This level of generation spread over the peak hours is considered to have a 
minor impact on existing corridor conditions with the peak impact occurring on 
the section between Yew Tree Road and Birchencliffe Hill Road in the AM 
Peak when 41 vehicles (35 southbound / 6 northbound) are added to the 
corridor. 
 
It is appropriate to seek a contribution from the applicant which is proportional 
to this level of impact and contributes along with other developments to the 
solutions which are currently being assessed by Kirklees Highways.  The 
contribution secured from the applicant is described below in the section titled 
‘Mitigation Measures’. 
 
Burn Road 
 
Burn Road meets the A629 Halifax Road at a severely restrained junction with 
below standard sight lines.  The applicant has recognised this and has put 
forward measures to prevent any development traffic exiting onto the A629 via 
this junction. 
 
The preferred design solution proposed by the applicant is to make Burn 
Road northbound only for a short stretch thus preventing any traffic travelling 
south on Burn Road and exiting onto the A629.  The collection of 
approximately 34 residential properties at Burn Road/Rock Road will be able 
to enter and exit the A629 as they do now but they will not be able to 
approach their property from the north along Burn Road from Yew Tree 
Road/Grimescar Road.  Through traffic from north of the restriction will not be 
able to exit onto the A629 via Burn Road.  Northbound movements on Burn 
Road will be unaffected. 
 
A survey was undertaken by the applicant in February 2015 to determine the 
level of use of Burn Road.  The survey shows that, over a 24 hour weekday 
(based on Tuesday 24th and Wednesday 25th February), 140 vehicles exited 
Burn Road to the A629.  Of this total, 82 were classed as ‘through’ 
movements that would be affected by the point closure and would therefore 
need to find an alternative route and 58 as local movements that would be 
unaffected.  The existing 34 residential properties generate 107 inbound 
movements over the 24 hour period with 62 accessing from the A629 and 45 

Page 37



 
 
 

30 

from Yew Tree Road/Grimescar Road.  The 45 trips from Yew Tree 
Road/Grimescar Road would need to re-route. 
 
A stage 1 safety audit has been prepared to review the proposed design 
which recommends a number of design modifications which are addressed by 
the designer in the designer’s response.  The proposed scheme incorporating 
the stage 1 safety audit modifications is shown on the applicants drawing 
10274/GA/005 rev D. 
 
Junction Capacity Modelling 
 
Based on the anticipated generation and assignment of development traffic, 
the following junctions have been assessed by the applicant over the course 
of this application: 
 

 Burn Road / Grimescar Road; 

 Grimescar Road / Brighouse Road; 

 Ainley Top Roundabout; 

 A629 Halifax Road / Yew Tree Road; 

 A629 Halifax Road / Burn Road / Birchencliffe Hill Road; 

 A629 Halifax Road / East Street / Birkby Road. 
 
A number of assessment scenarios have been tested for each junction 
incorporating the: 

 2019 base year,  

 2019 with committed development,  

 2019 with committed development plus the Yew Tree Road/Burn Road 
development traffic,  

 2019 with committed development, Yew Tree Road/Burn Road 
development traffic plus the Lindley Moor/Crosland Road consent 
traffic. 

 
Burn Road/Grimescar Road:   A number of minor improvements to the 
junction are proposed to address existing geometry issues and all modelling is 
undertaken assuming that these improvements are implemented.  All 
assessment scenarios work well within capacity. 
 
Grimescar Road/Brighouse Road:   A number of minor improvements to the 
junction are proposed to address existing geometry issues and all modelling is 
undertaken assuming that these improvements are implemented.  All 
assessment scenarios work well within capacity. 
 
Ainley Top Roundabout:   The current signal controlled layout has been tested 
with slightly revised signal timings.  In 2019 with base plus committed plus 
development plus Lindley Moor, the approaches from Halifax, Brighouse, 
Huddersfield and Blackley are shown to be operating close to or above 
capacity.   
 

Page 38



 
 
 

31 

A629/Yew Tree Road:   A minor improvement to the junction is proposed to 
address existing geometry issues and all modelling is undertaken assuming 
that this improvement is implemented.  All assessment scenarios work well 
within capacity. 
 
A629/Burn Road/Birchencliffe Hill Road:   The current layout has been 
modelled and the junction continues to operate within capacity. 
 
A629 Halifax Road/East Street/Birkby Road:   The current layout has been 
modelled for all scenarios and is operating above theoretical design capacity 
but just under absolute capacity on three out of four arms in the AM peak and 
on all arms in the PM peak. A corridor study is currently underway for the 
A629 Halifax Road to determine what factors are contributing to the delays 
within the corridor.  It is also noted that MOVA has recently been applied to 
the junction which monitors vehicle and pedestrian demand and adjusts the 
provision of green signal time to suite.  
 
Mitigation Measures 
 

 Financial contribution to the A629 Halifax Road improvement scheme; 

 Capacity and safety improvement of the Burn Road / Grimescar Road 
junction; 

 Capacity and safety improvement of the Grimescar Road / Brighouse 
Road junction; 

 Capacity and safety improvement of the A629 Halifax Road / Yew Tree 
Road junction; 

 Funding of a scheme to widen Yew Tree Road to a minimum width of 
5.5m and the provision of a 2.0m footway; 

 Commitment to a residential travel plan including participation in the 
Residential Metro Card Scheme (bus only); 

 Access junctions for the three development sites. 
 
Plans showing the proposed highways works are included in the Transport 
Assessment and the Addendum Transport Assessment supplied by the 
applicant as part of the planning application. 
 
The proposed highways works will be implemented through Section 278 
Agreements. 
 
The accessibility of the site by non-car modes has been assessed by the 
applicant in the Transport Assessment. It demonstrates that the vast majority 
of the red line boundary is within 400 metres walking distance of a bus stop as 
recommended by the Combined Authority.  There are two bus corridors 
adjacent to the sites namely the A629 corridor and the Yew Tree Road / Burn 
Road / Grimescar Road corridor.  The A629 corridor accommodates the high 
frequency Service 503 running between Halifax and Huddersfield on a mainly 
10 minute frequency during the day Monday to Saturday and a mainly 20 
minute frequency during the day on a Sunday.  The Yew Tree Road corridor 
accommodates Service 343 which runs on an hourly frequency between 

Page 39



 
 
 

32 

Halifax and Huddersfield during the day Monday to Saturday.  Service 343 
does not operate on Sunday. 
 
The accessibility of the site to key facilities and services such as healthcare, 
education, retail outlets and leisure facilities has also been assessed by the 
applicant in the Transport Assessment.  This shows the location of all these 
facilities within 2km / 25 minute walk distance of the site.  The catchment area 
used in an assessment of accessibility  can range from 2km to as little as 
400m based on site specific conditions and the destination land use.  One of 
the key destinations in this assessment due to the range of facilities provided 
is Lindley centre.  This is measured at approximately 800 metres from the 
centre of the application site but it should be noted that a steep hill up 
Birchencliffe Hill Road will extend the walk time.  It is the considered opinion 
of Highways Development Management that there are a range of facilities 
within a walkable distance of the application site and therefore the 
accessibility of the site is acceptable. 
 
A Framework Travel Plan has been submitted which sets out measures to 
achieve a reduction in single occupancy car trips during the peak hours 
including the provision of information packs to all residents and the promotion 
of a car share database. If planning permission were to be granted it would be 
conditional upon a Full Travel Plan being submitted for approval. 
 
 
It is proposed that this travel plan forms the basis for further negotiation with 
the applicant if this application progresses. 
 
An analysis of personal injury accidents over a five year period has been 
undertaken by the applicant.  No specific hot spots have been identified. 
 
Both Highways England and the West Yorkshire Combined Authority have 
commented on this application and both have raised no objections to the 
development proposal. 
 
Based on this analysis of the development proposal, its impact on transport 
networks and the proposed mitigation measures, the proposals are 
considered acceptable and the Highways Service has no wish to resist the 
granting of planning permission subject to conditions and a S106 agreement. 
 
Heritage:  
 
The NPPF paragraph 128 states: “In determining applications, local planning 
authorities should require an applicant to describe the significance of any 
heritage assets affected, including any contribution made by their setting.”  
 
Paragraph 132 goes on to state: "Significance can be harmed or lost through 
alteration or destruction of the heritage asset or development within its setting. 
As heritage assets are irreplaceable, any harm or loss should require clear 
and convincing justification.” 
 

Page 40



 
 
 

33 

Although indicative at this stage, the proposed development is shown to be 
built within the setting of a number of Grade II listed properties, including 
Lower Burn Farm (C18th), Middle Burn Farm (C18th), 108/110 Burn Road 
(C18th). Other listed buildings beyond these are also considered to fall within 
the sphere of influence of the development when considering their setting.  
 
The application is supported by statements that indicate how the site could be 
developed. Equally, supporting information in the form of a Heritage 
Statement is provided and in broad terms Officers are comfortable with its 
findings and agree that the design can evolve to allow for the setting to be 
improved in the detailed submission. 
 
Residential amenity:  
 
The indicative layout plan shows a development of 190 dwellings. There are 
approximately 17 dwellings surrounding the application site that are within 
sufficiently close proximity to be potentially affected by the development in 
terms of either close overlooking, loss of light or privacy. However it is 
considered that there are no insurmountable reasons why a suitably designed 
housing layout cannot successfully achieve adequate separation distances 
and privacy/light safeguards, in accordance with the provisions of UDP 
Policies BE2 and BE12.  
 
Ecology: 
 
UDP Policy EP11 requires applications for planning permission to incorporate 
landscaping which protects/enhances the ecology of the site, while NPPF 
Paragraph 118 states that Local Planning Authorities should aim to conserve 
and enhance biodiversity when determining planning applications. 
 
An ecological survey and report accompanies the planning application, which 
Officers consider to be comprehensive.  
 
The report identifies important biodiversity features within the area proposed 
for development and makes a series of recommendations to mitigate, 
compensate and enhance the site. It also establishes that some areas of the 
site are of very limited ecological interest. 
 
Important features identified within the report are: 

1. Woodlands and tree belts across the site. 
2. Trees with some bat roost potential within the woodland blocks.  
3. Bat foraging corridors around and along woodland networks and the 

east-west running byway. 
4. A particular glade within one area of woodland, identified as an autumn 

lekking site for bats. 
5. Neutral, wet and acid grassland - some with areas of more significant 

botanical interest. Some grassland is currently subject to inappropriate 
grazing management, reducing the potential for species’ richness. 

6. Cloughs with stream corridors and associated habitats, which include 
both grassland and woodland. 

Page 41



 
 
 

34 

7. Ponds located within the immediate vicinity of the site, which may have 
potential as breeding great-crested newt ponds.  

8. Some breeding bird interest, although not especially notable. 
9. Invertebrate interest - likely to be limited to those grassland and 

woodland habitats identified of higher value, but not significant beyond 
local interest. 

10. Invasive species are present within the site (Himalayan balsam). 
 
Fig 12 of the report shows the most valuable habitats where development 
should be avoided. It also shows areas where there is a mix of more 
significant botanical interest within areas of lesser value and advises that care 
is required if these areas are to be developed. Other areas are of limited 
ecological interests and there are no constraints to their development. 
 
The indicative layout avoids the areas of more significant interest, although 
most of those areas of moderate interest are included for development. Given 
this, greater clarity is required about the value of these areas and to do this, 
Officers have suggested that all of those habitats identified with some higher 
level of botanical interest should be assessed against the criteria for Local 
Wildlife Site selection in West Yorkshire. This should be in the context of 
grassland, woodland and habitat mosaic criteria. 
 
In addition, although it was stated initially that the ponds located within the 
immediate vicinity of the site may have potential as breeding great-crested 
newt ponds, this has now been discounted because of the lack of records in 
the area and the unlikelihood of the species being present following an HSI 
assessment of the ponds.  
 
The conclusions and recommendations in the report are accepted and, 
through the implementation of appropriate mitigation, compensation and 
enhancement measures of the type as laid out in the report, biodiversity 
impacts can be negated. On this basis there is no objection to the proposed 
development providing, as recommended in the report, a full biodiversity 
management and enhancement plan, based upon the mitigation strategy 
outlined in the report, is produced and implemented as part of the 
development scheme. 
 
Habitat Regulations Assessment: 
 
In exercising its duties the LPA needs to be mindful of any potential adverse 
impacts on the South Pennine Moors Special Protection Area/Special Area of 
Conservation, especially in combination with other developments, through 
increased recreational pressures and dog walking in particular. Although the 
European designated site is approximately 9km away from this site, it is only 
around 10-15 minutes travel time from the development site by car to the 
nearest access point to the SPA/SAC at Cupwith Reservoir. However, having 
considered the distance involved and the proposal for good, local on-site 
recreational open space provision within the new development, it is concluded 
that it is unlikely there would be any adverse impacts on the SPA/SAC. This 

Page 42



 
 
 

35 

issue will not therefore be considered further unless the aspirations for good 
on-site provision of recreational open space fails to materialise at this site. 
 
Trees: 
 
Officers raise no objections to the scheme in principle, however a Tree 
Preservation Order has been served to protect four woodland groups on or 
adjacent to the proposal site. With this in mind any finalised layout will need to 
take account of these protected woodlands, to ensure the proposal integrates 
with them, avoiding initial damage by the construction activities and also 
avoiding long term pressures to fell or prune. 
 
Flood risk & drainage:  
 
The proposal site is not within an area of flood risk in respect of main rivers, 
however because the site is over 1ha in size, flooding from surface water is a 
material consideration in the determination of this application.  
 
A Flood Risk Assessment has been submitted as part of the application and 
this makes a number of recommendations to be implemented prior to the 
occupation of the development. These recommendations are endorsed by the 
Environment Agency: (1) Finished flood levels to be set no lower than 150mm 
above current ground levels; and (2) Surface water run-off rates are to be 
agreed with the Kirklees Council Strategic Drainage Department. 
 
Strategic Drainage Officers agree that a drainage solution can be achieved 
but not as recommended by the Environment Agency, because simply raising 
floor levels is no longer considered to be good practice. 
 
In terms of surface water flood routing through the proposed development, an 
addendum to the FRA highlights the need to consider mitigation techniques 
for flood routing for blockage scenarios and exceedance events, which should 
be taken up at the detailed design stage. Flows need to avoid property and 
curtilage, making use of the road network and public open space to move 
flows off site to areas where water would naturally go if the site remained 
undeveloped. 
 
Again, these issues can be covered by suitably worded conditions. 
 
Crime prevention: 
 
UDP Policy BE23 states that new developments should incorporate crime 
prevention measures to achieve pedestrian safety on footpaths; natural 
surveillance of public spaces; and secure locations for parking areas.  
 
The submitted Design and Access Statement makes reference to several 
issues to be addressed to reduce the opportunity for crime. These include: 

 Prevention of casual access to rear of dwellings.  

 Rear garden boundaries which adjoin publicly accessible space to be 
minimum 1.8m in height and additionally topped with 300mm trellis. 

Page 43



 
 
 

36 

 Having clear demarcation of front gardens. Open plan gardens often 
contribute to complaints of nuisance and anti-social behaviour. 

 Clear surveillance of publicly accessible areas including POS. 

 Specification of external doors and ground floor / accessible windows 
to meet with up to date Secured by Design guidance. 

 
Given the proposed layout is indicative only at this stage, Officers would 
welcome detail in a future reserved matters application that shows adherence 
to the ‘Designing Out Crime’ recommendations as referred to in the Design 
and Access Statement.  
 
Finally, it is recommended that the layout should ensure that the orientation of 
dwellings does not result in public rights of way running along the rear of, and/ 
or provide easy access to, buildings or gardens. 
 
Noise: 
 
UDP Policy EP4 states that: “proposals for noise sensitive developments in 
proximity to existing sources of noise, or for noise generating uses of land 
close to existing noise sensitive development, will be considered taking into 
account the effects of existing or projected noise levels on the occupiers of 
the existing or proposed noise sensitive development.” 
 
A noise report has been undertaken as part of the planning application in 
order to establish if there are any constraints to development.  
 
The report establishes that the ambient noise climate across the application 
site is associated with local and distant road traffic. Noise levels are 
considered to be low throughout the application site during both the daytime 
and at night. 
 
An indicative scheme of sound insulation works has been developed to 
protect the proposed development from the ambient noise climate in 
accordance with the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
On this basis, the applicants assert that the ambient noise climate is not 
considered to represent a constraint to the proposed development of the 
application site. 
 
Officers agree with these conclusions and concur with the recommendation to 
agree any necessary sound insulation works through a suitably worded 
condition.   
 
Air quality: 
 
NPPF Paragraph 109 states that “ the planning system should contribute to 
and enhance the natural and local environment by…… preventing both new 
and existing development from contributing to or being put at unacceptable 
risk from, or being adversely affected by unacceptable levels of soil, air, water 
or noise pollution or land instability…….” 
 

Page 44



 
 
 

37 

This development is in close proximity to Halifax Road and the Ainley Top 
roundabout, where monitored air quality levels have exceeded the health 
related annual objective for NO2 Therefore, in accordance with the West 
Yorkshire Low Emission Strategy Planning Guidance Document an Air Quality 
Impact Assessment was requested, including the calculations of damage 
costs as a result of the damage from emissions specific to this development. 
 
In accordance with national guidance the developer has furnished the local 
authority with a screening assessment for the site, which was followed by the 
submission of a full impact assessment using detailed dispersion modelling at 
the request of local authority officers. Officers are satisfied with the 
methodology adopted and satisfied that the results in accordance with 
national guidance are regarded as imperceptible.  
 
In order to address problems identified with issues of trigger levels in the 
national guidance and a focus on problem areas, West Yorkshire Low 
Emission Strategy Planning Guidance has been drafted to take a holistic 
approach to Air Quality and Planning, with a move towards a district wide 
culpability and mitigation requirement  
 
Therefore, in accordance with the West Yorkshire Low Emission Planning 
Guidance it is requested that the damage costs are calculated and the value 
of impact from this development be reflected in the money spent on mitigation 
measures specific to benefits to air quality. Contained within the damage cost 
report were mitigation measures and the specific costs to implement. Officers 
are satisfied that the low emission mitigation measures highlighted in the 
travel plan reflect the damage cost. 
 
In addition to the travel plan Officers request that the following condition is 
applied in order to promote green sustainable transport: 

 Installation of 1 vehicle charging point per unit (dwelling with dedicated 
parking) or 1 vehicle charging point per 10 spaces (unallocated 
parking). 

 
Health Impact Assessment: 
 
The applicant has submitted a Health Impact Assessment at the request of 
the LPA which considers a range of themes and issues and the potential 
effects/impacts of the development proposed. This is material to the 
consideration of the application and provide a framework for the consideration 
of potential health Impacts 
 
The Councils Public Health team has considered the Health Impact 
Assessment: 
 

 Welcome the fact that the proposed development incorporates a 
number of open spaces in close proximity to proposed dwellings  

 Positive that the development will provide new footpath links to these 
open spaces, would like to see these links include cycle paths. 

Page 45



 
 
 

38 

 Pleased to see the provision of new and improved footpaths and cycle 
routes as part of the proposed development that will build activity into 
everyday lives as well as providing a healthy alternative to the private 
car when accessing recreation spaces, play areas and local services at 
Lindley. Would like to see specific reference made to walking and 
cycling routes to all of the local schools from the proposed 
development.   

 The consideration being given to the provision of community allotments 
which will provide opportunities for physical activity and provision of 
fresh food with associated diet benefits is welcomed. Hope that this 
goes beyond consideration and actually comes to fruition.   

 It is pleasing to see that the developer is proposing to discuss the 
option of incorporating electric charging points for each dwelling with 
the Council, would also like to see this discussion widen to include 
solar panels, and again hope that these considerations are then 
implemented. 

 The proposal to discuss the option of introducing travel plans 
advocating use of public transport together with promotion of walking 
and cycling is welcomed. 

 The proposed discussions about a new footway along Yew Tree Road 
and a cycle only link on Burn Road South are welcomed. Would like to 
see consultation takes place with potential users to ensure that other 
interventions are not missed.  

 Where reference is made to new footpath links to children’s play 
equipment, would like to see specific reference made to ensuring that 
these play equipment areas apply the Kirklees Play Equipment 
Standards.   

 
The Health Impact Assessment considers the health implications of the 
development proposed in an holistic way and identifies the wider health 
benefits arising from the development in terms of provision of new housing 
(both affordable and open market) at a time of general housing need, 
increased opportunities for exercise and activity with provision of open space 
for exercise and interaction between future residents. The wider health 
benefits arising from the proposed development are material in the 
consideration of the application. 
 
Affordable housing:  
 
Affordable housing is to be provided in accordance with the objectives of UDP 
Policy H10 and the Council’s Supplementary Planning Document (SPD2). 
 
In this case, because the site is previously undeveloped (i.e. greenfield), an 
affordable provision of 30% of floorspace will be required. The applicant has 
confirmed that they will provide this amount, with the mix and type of 
affordable housing to be agreed through a Grampian condition, with a Section 
106 agreement to discharge the requirements of the condition prior to 
development commencing.  
 

Page 46



 
 
 

39 

Local Infrastructure Provision: 
 
There have been numerous objections relating to the capacity of social 
infrastructure, notably school places and local doctor and dentist practices. 
The emerging local plan will be accompanied by an infrastructure delivery 
plan. However, until this is at a point where it can be considered to be a 
material consideration the main considerations will need to be current policy 
and guidance.  
 
The following sections deal with each area. Overall there is policy compliance 
and as such it is not possible to raise objection on these grounds. 
 
School places:  
 
Kirklees Council Policy Guidance: ‘Providing for Education Needs Generated 
by New Housing’ states that "the need for the provision of additional school 
places will be a material consideration when planning applications for new 
housing developments are considered. The Council will negotiate with 
developers for a financial contribution to cover the cost of additional school 
places where the local school has insufficient assessed capacity within 
available accommodation for the places likely to be generated. 
 
In terms of school places, a deficit of places in respect of the expected likely 
demand created by this development is forecast to occur at Lindley CE infant 
school and Lindley junior school. The additional places required would 
generate a contribution from the developer of £469,503 in this instance. The 
developer has agreed to this contribution and the policy requirements are met. 
 
The Council has a statutory duty to ensure that there is sufficient high quality 
school places to meet the needs of Kirklees families and communities (this is 
referred to as Basic Need). 
 
An increasing need for learning places within Huddersfield North and North 
West is recognised by the Council, an overall strategy is being developed in 
collaboration with school leaders and providers to establish additional places. 
This is attributable to both demographic growth and the impact of new 
housing therefore any additional housing developments will further impact 
upon the requirement to create additional places. This will need to be 
monitored and reviewed as new housing provision, patterns of parental 
preference and cross boundary movements change. (Report to Cabinet 
24/03/2015 – Outlining the current position across Kirklees in relation to 
securing sufficient learning places for primary, secondary and specialist 
school age children). 
 
Whilst the development of strategy to meet this need is a matter for the 
Council’s Children & Young People Directorate, the LPA has consistently 
secured financial contributions from new housing development through 
planning obligations in accordance with the Council’s Policy Guidance 
‘Providing for Education Needs Generated by New Developments’ that is 
used to meet such needs. 

Page 47



 
 
 

40 

 
The development proposed meets the full education contribution required by 
this policy guidance and as such contributes to the wider strategy for the 
delivery of school places within Huddersfield North and North West and, as 
proposals to address the Basic Need requirements are brought forward, 
would partially fund any new or additional school buildings. 
 
Doctor and dental practices: 
 
The provision of facilities such as doctors and dentists are a matter for the 
Local Health Authority and not an issue over which the Local Planning 
Authority has any control nor does it have any control over whether the 
facilities are NHS or private. This is not a material planning consideration. 
 
Public open space:  
 
UDP Policy H18 requires a provision of 30 sq.m of public open space (POS) 
per dwelling on sites more than 0.4 hectares in area. The indicative layout 
shows areas set aside for POS, together with areas of established woodland 
and mature tree coverage, largely focused along the valley sides of Grimescar 
Beck and it’s adjoining tributaries and areas of incidental open space. The 
applicant proposes that equipped play provision be accommodated within the 
POS. A S106 obligation will make provision for the implementation, 
management and maintenance of the public open space together with 
management of maintenance of the woodland, trees and incidental open 
space. 
 
With reference to existing POS facilities, there is potentially good access to 
the existing recreation ground off Halifax Road, with footpath links considered. 
There is an existing play area within the recreation ground which would 
benefit from an off-site contribution to help ensure it is an appropriately 
equipped for the addition of new residents, with broader requirements for 
through age provision, and its future sustainability.   
 
The location, extent and design of the public open space together with 
arrangements for subsequent maintenance is to be dealt with by way of a 
S106 obligation. 
 
Other issues:  
 
Although no land contamination is recorded or suspected in this location, 
Environmental Services recommend conditions requiring appropriate surveys 
and remediation in the unlikely event any contamination is identified.  
 
Part of the development is located within a groundwater Source Protection 
Zone 2 (SPZ2) for a potable groundwater abstraction. The Environment 
Agency therefore considers it very important (in accordance with NPPF para 
109) that groundwater is protected from possible pollution associated with the 
surface water drainage system. 
 

Page 48



 
 
 

41 

Conditions are therefore recommended to ensure that: (i) any unexpected 
contamination, encountered during the development, is appropriately 
investigated and remediated in order to reduce risks to controlled waters to an 
acceptable level; and (ii) no infiltration of surface water into the ground is 
permitted without a scheme to control potential pollution being first agreed 
through the Local Planning Authority.  
 
In terms of historic coal workings, the application site falls within the defined 
Development High Risk Area; therefore within the application site and 
surrounding area there are coal mining features and hazards which need to 
be considered in relation to the determination of this planning application. 
 
The Coal Authority records indicate that the site is likely to have been subject 
to unrecorded underground coal mining at shallow depth and that 5 mine 
entries (shafts) are within or within influencing distance of the planning 
boundary.  
 
The Coal Authority consider that the applicant has obtained appropriate and 
up-to-date coal mining information for the proposed development site, 
including a Coal Mining Report, Historical OS Plans and BGS geological 
mapping. This information has been used to inform the Preliminary Geo-
environmental Investigation Report (April 2014, prepared by Lithos Consulting 
Limited), which accompanies the planning application.  
 
This report proposes to establish their precise locations and once the mine 
entries have been located and investigated, the shafts might require 
treatment, such as filling and capping, to enable the safe operation of the site. 
The Coal Authority would expect the finalised site layout to be informed by 
their presence and an appropriate ‘no build zone’ should be defined around 
each of the mine entries, to ensure that development does not occur above or 
too close to these mining hazards. In addition, suitable remediation methods 
may be required. These matters can be conditioned.  
 
S106 Obligation: 
 
Draft Heads of Terms for the S106 obligation have been submitted. The S106 
obligation will secure: 
 

Affordable Housing 30% of floorspace 

Education £469,503 

Public Open Space Policy compliant provision on site 

A629/East Street Improvement 
Scheme Contribution 

£150,000 

Resident Metro Cards £27,118 

Travel Plan Monitoring £15,000 

Riverside Walkway Implementation of scheme by S106 

 

Page 49



 
 
 

42 

Conclusion:  
 
The site is allocated as Provisional Open Land in the Council’s Unitary 
Development Plan. The National Planning Policy Framework places emphasis 
on the ability of Local Authorities to demonstrate a five year supply of housing. 
It is well documented that the Council cannot currently demonstrate this.  
 
NPPF paragraph 14 states that where relevant policies are out-of-date, 
planning permission should be granted “unless any adverse impacts of 
granting permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits when assessed against the policies in this framework taken as a 
whole, or that specific NPPF policies indicate development should be 
restricted”.  
 
Footnote 9 lists examples of restrictive policies but this does not include land 
allocated for housing, or greenfield land.  
 
A development of this scale and in this position within this landscape reveals 
a residual ‘moderate adverse impact’ in terms of landscape and visual effects 
in some areas.  
 
Having regard to the information submitted by both the applicants and the 
objectors it is considered that whilst the site is of good landscape value, it 
could accommodate the housing development proposed, although there 
should be a full range of landscape conditions ensuring the highest standards 
of landscape design, enhancement and mitigation with sensitivity toward 
landscape value. The new public open spaces and green corridors are key to 
the success of assimilating the new housing into the landscape and 
minimising the effects on the setting. 
 
In officer’s view the residual adverse landscape and visual impacts are not on 
their own considered to “significantly and demonstrably” outweigh the material 
and sustainable benefits of new housing for the borough. 
 
The Local Plan will provide the evidence base for all new and retained 
allocations including POL. The Local Plan process will also be the vehicle to 
assess whether there are exceptional circumstances to return POL sites back 
to Green Belt or whether they may be suitable for allocation as Urban 
Greenspace. The local plan process is underway however it is still some way 
from being sufficiently advanced to carry any weight in decision making for 
individual planning applications. The LPA must therefore rely on existing 
policies (saved) in the UDP, national planning policy and guidance. 
 
Officers have considered whether other material considerations would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of delivering new 
housing. The following conclusions have been drawn. 
 
Based on this analysis of the development proposal, its impact on transport 
networks and the proposed mitigation measures, the proposals are 

Page 50



 
 
 

43 

considered acceptable to the Highways Service subject to conditions and a 
S106 agreement.  
 
Likewise other impacts relating to air quality, noise, ecology and flooding have 
all been assessed by technical consultees from either within the Council or 
external bodies. In the absence of objection and as conditions can be 
imposed, the development, as proposed, can be delivered.  
 
It is considered that, on balance, there are no other material considerations 
that would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of delivering 
new housing. 
 
10. RECOMMENDATION 
 
GRANT CONDITIONAL OUTLINE PLANNING PERMISSION – SUBJECT 
TO SECTION 106 TO SECURE: 

 Provision of affordable housing 

 Education contribution 

 Provision of Public Open Space 

 Arrangements for the management and maintenance of the 
balance of woodland and incidental open space within the site 

 Contribution towards the A629/East Street Improvement Scheme 

 Resident Metro Card scheme contribution 

 Travel plan monitoring contribution 

 Provision of riverside walkway 
 
Conditions: 
 
1) Approval of the details of the appearance, landscaping, layout and scale 
(hereinafter called the ‘reserved matters’) shall be obtained from the Local 
Planning Authority in writing before any development is commenced. 
 
2) Plans and particulars of the reserved matters referred to in Condition 1 
above, relating to the appearance, landscaping, layout and scale shall be 
submitted in writing to the Local Planning Authority and shall be carried out in 
full accordance with the approved plans. 
 
3) Application for approval of reserved matters shall be made to the Local 
Planning Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this 
permission. 
 
4) The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the 
expiration of two years from the final approval of reserved matters or in the 
case of approval of different dates, the final approval of the last such matter to 
be approved. 
 

Page 51



 
 
 

44 

5) No development shall take place until a scheme of intrusive site 
investigation works to establish the coal mining legacy issues on the proposal 
site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. In the event that the site investigations confirm the need for 
remedial works, a further scheme to treat the mine entries/areas of shallow 
mine workings to ensure the safety and stability of the development, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No 
development shall take place until the remedial works have been completed in 
full accordance with the approved scheme.  

 
6) No material operation as defined in Section 56(4)(a)-(d) of the Town & 
Country Planning Act 1990 shall be carried out to commence the development 
pursuant to this planning permission until arrangements for the provision of 
affordable housing have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  Unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority, the arrangements shall cover the following matters:-  
a) the number and type of affordable housing units to be provided. 
b) the layout and disposition of the units affordable housing to be provided. 
c) the timescale for the implementation and completion of the affordable 
housing units; 
d) the mechanism for ensuring that the affordable housing units remain 
affordable for both the initial and subsequent occupiers. 
 
7) No material operation as defined in section 56(4)(a)-(d) of the Town & 
Country Planning Act 1990 shall be carried out to commence the development 
pursuant to this planning permission until arrangements for the provision of 
public open space to serve the development have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The arrangements shall 
cover the following matters:- 
a) the layout and disposition of the public open space. 
b) the timescale for the implementation and completion of the works to 
provide the public open space; 
c) the mechanism for ensuring that the public open space will be available for 
public within perpetuity. 
d) maintenance of the public open space in perpetuity. 
 
8) The development hereby permitted by shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA), produced by Egorum, 
0187/3/FRA, July 2014 and specifically, with the following mitigation 
measures detailed within the FRA: 
i) Finished flood levels are set no lower than 150mm above current ground 
levels 
ii) Surface water run-off rates are to be agreed with the Kirklees Drainage 
Department. 
The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to first occupation 
and subsequently in accordance with the timing/phasing arrangements 
embodied within the scheme, or within any other period as may subsequently 
be agreed, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

Page 52



 
 
 

45 

9) Prior to the commencement of any development a Construction 
Environmental Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Construction Environmental 
Management Plan shall provide for:  
i. An assessment of the risks posed to groundwater quality during the 
construction phase, including foundation works 
ii. The implementation of mitigation measures designed to protect 
groundwater 
iii. Details of the size, location and design of any site compounds, including 
how any potentially polluting materials will be stored to minimise the risk of 
pollution 
iv. Pollution incident management plan 
 
10) No infiltration of surface water drainage into the ground shall take place 
unless it can be demonstrated, through a scheme to be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, that that there would be 
no resultant unacceptable pollution risk to controlled waters. Any subsequent 
surface water infiltration shall be managed in accordance with the approved 
scheme.  
 
11) Development shall not commence until a Phase II Intrusive Site 
Investigation Report has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. 

 
12) Where site remediation is recommended in the Phase II Intrusive Site 
Investigation Report approved pursuant to condition 11 development shall not 
commence until a Remediation Strategy has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority. The Remediation Strategy shall 
include a timetable for the implementation and completion of the approved 
remediation measures. 

 
13) Remediation of the site shall be carried out and completed in accordance 
with the Remediation Strategy approved pursuant to condition 12.  In the 
event that remediation is unable to proceed in accordance with the approved 
Remediation Strategy or contamination not previously considered [in either 
the Preliminary Risk Assessment or the Phase II Intrusive Site Investigation 
Report] is identified or encountered on site, all works on site (save for site 
investigation works) shall cease immediately and the Local Planning Authority 
shall be notified in writing within 2 working days.  Unless otherwise agreed in 
writing with the local planning authority, works shall not recommence until 
proposed revisions to the Remediation Strategy have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority.  Remediation of the site 
shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved revised 
Remediation Strategy. 

 
14) Following completion of any measures identified in the approved 
Remediation Strategy or any approved revised Remediation Strategy a 
Validation Report shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority.  Unless 
otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, no part of the 
site shall be brought into use until such time as the remediation measures for 

Page 53



 
 
 

46 

the whole site have been completed in accordance with the approved 
Remediation Strategy or the approved revised Remediation Strategy and a 
Validation Report in respect of those remediation measures has been 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
15) Before the development is first brought into use all works which form part 
of the sound attenuation scheme as specified in the Noise Report dated 29 
August 2014 produced by ENS – Environmental Noise Solutions (Ref 
NIA/5166/14/4849) shall be completed; and written evidence to demonstrate 
that the specified noise levels have been achieved shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
If it cannot be demonstrated that the noise levels specified in the 
aforementioned Noise Report have been achieved then a further scheme 
shall be submitted for the written approval of the Local Planning Authority 
incorporating further measures to achieve those noise levels. All works 
comprised within those further measures shall be completed and written 
evidence to demonstrate that the aforementioned noise levels have been 
achieved shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority before the development is first brought into use. 
 
16) Development shall not commence until a scheme detailing separate 
systems of foul, surface water and land drainage, (including off site works, 
outfalls, balancing works including greenfield run-off analysis, plans and 
longitudinal sections, hydraulic calculations, phasing of drainage provision, 
existing drainage to be maintained/diverted/abandoned) has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. None of the 
dwellings shall be occupied until such approved drainage scheme has been 
provided on the site to serve the development or each agreed phasing of the 
development to which the dwellings relate and thereafter retained throughout 
the lifetime of the development.  
 
17) Development shall not commence until a scheme restricting the rate of 
surface water discharge from the site to a greenfield run-off rates (as agreed 
with Kirklees Flood Management & Drainage) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by Local Planning Authority. The drainage scheme shall 
be designed to attenuate flows generated by the critical 1 in 30 year storm 
event as a minimum requirement. Volumes in excess of the critical 1 in 30 or 
critical event, upto and including the critical 1 in 100 year storm event, with an 
appropriate allowance for climate change shall be stored on site in areas to be 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include 
a detailed maintenance and management regime for the storage facility 
including the flow restriction.  There shall be no piped discharge of surface 
water from the development and no part of the development shall be brought 
into use until the flow restriction and attenuation works comprising the 
approved scheme have been completed. The approved maintenance and 
management scheme shall be implemented throughout the lifetime of the 
development 
 
18) There shall be no pumped discharge of surface water from this 
development. 

Page 54



 
 
 

47 

 
19) Development shall not commence until a scheme, detailing temporary 
surface water drainage for the construction phase (after soil and vegetation 
strip) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall detail: 
i. The phasing of the development and phasing of temporary drainage 
provision.  
ii. Include methods of preventing silt, debris and contaminants entering 
existing drainage systems and watercourses and how flooding of adjacent 
land is prevented. 
The temporary works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
scheme and phasing. No phase of the development shall be commenced until 
the temporary works approved for that phase have been completed. The 
approved temporary drainage scheme shall be retained until the approved 
permanent surface water drainage system is in place and functioning in 
accordance with written notification to the Local Planning Authority. 
 
20) The development shall not commence until an assessment of the effects 
of 1 in 100 year storm events, with an additional allowance for climate 
change, exceedance events and blockage scenarios, on drainage 
infrastructure and surface water run-off pre and post development between 
the development and the surrounding area, in both directions, has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  No part 
of the development shall be brought into use (dwellings shall not be occupied) 
until the works comprising the approved scheme have been completed and 
such approved scheme shall be retained thereafter throughout the lifetime of 
the development.   

 
21) Development shall not commence until a survey of existing watercourse 
has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority and scheme detailing 
watercourse improvements, stand-off distances and other risk mitigation 
proposals including the piping of the watercourse at the point(s) of access 
within the site and, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include a detailed maintenance 
and management regime for the piped watercourse and works for the lifetime 
of the development. No part of the development shall be brought into use until 
the watercourse piping works and improvement works comprising the 
approved scheme have been completed. The maintenance and management 
regimes shall be implemented for the lifetime of the development.  
 
22) Development shall not commence until a scheme (or schemes) detailing 
the following off-site works, including the relevant Stage Road Safety Audits 
(ref: CIHT guidelines on Road Safety Audit (2008)) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:  
i. An improvement of A629 Halifax Road / Yew Tree Road junction to provide 
sight line improvements (drawing ref: 12074/GA/01 rev C); 
ii. An improvement of Burn Road / Grimscar Road junction to provide sight 
line improvements (drawing ref: 12074/GA/02 rev A); 
iii. An improvement of A643 Brighouse Road / Grimscar Road junction to 
provide geometry improvements (drawing ref: 12074/GA/03 rev A); 

Page 55



 
 
 

48 

iv. An improvement of Yew Tree Road between the proposed site access and 
A629 to provide a 5.5m carriageway and a 2.0m footway (drawing ref: 
12074/GA/06 rev B); 
v. A traffic management scheme for Burn Road to minimise the use of the 
A629 Halifax Road / Burn Road junction (drawing ref: 12074/GA/05 rev D); 
vi. Site access arrangements at one point off Yew Tree Road and two points 
off Burn Road in accordance with submitted plans (drawing ref: 12074/GA/04 
rev A). 
The development shall not commence until these schemes have been 
approved and shall not be occupied until all the works are complete in 
accordance with the approved scheme. The works shall thereafter be retained 
for the lifetime of the development. 
 
23) Development shall not commence until a scheme detailing access 
provision to and from the site for construction traffic, including what 
arrangements will be made for restricting such vehicles to approved points of 
access and egress, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall then be operated 
throughout the period of construction work. 
 
24) No part of the residential development shall be brought into use until a 
Full Residential Travel Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. 
 
25) Development shall not commence until a biodiversity enhancement and 
management plan (based upon the mitigation strategy set out in the 
Ecological survey and reports) has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be implemented in 
accordance with the details approved. 
 
26) Prior to occupation of the dwelling(s), in all residential units that have a 
dedicated parking area and/or a dedicated garage, an electric vehicle 
recharging point shall be installed. Cable and circuitry ratings shall be of 
adequate size to ensure a minimum continuous current demand of 16 Amps 
and a maximum demand of 32Amps. In residential units that have unallocated 
parking spaces then before occupation of these units at least one electric 
vehicle recharging point per ten properties with the above specification shall 
be installed. 
 
NOTE: To minimise noise disturbance at nearby premises it is generally 
recommended that activities relating to the erection, construction, alteration, 
repair  or maintenance of buildings, structures or roads shall not take place 
outside the hours of: 
 
07.30 and 18.30 hours Mondays to Fridays 
08.00 and 13.00 hours, Saturdays 
 
With no working Sundays or Public Holidays 
In some cases, different site specific hours of operation may be appropriate. 
 

Page 56



 
 
 

49 

Under the Control of Pollution Act 1974, Section 60 Kirklees Environment and 
Transportation Services can control noise from construction sites by serving a 
notice. This notice can specify the hours during which work may be carried 
out. 
 
This recommendation is based on the following plans and reports:- 
 

Plan / Report Type Reference Version Date Received 

Environmental 
Statement Volume 1 

  Sept 2014 

Environmental 
Statement Volume 2  

  Sept 2014 

Environmental 
Statement  
Non Technical Summary 

  Sept 2014 

Planning Policy 
Statement 

  Sept 2014 

Transport Assessment   Sept 2014 

Travel Plan   Sept 2014 

Optima technical note on 
Proposed Traffic 
Management on Burn 
Road 

Project no 12074  7th April 2015 

Design & Access 
Statement 

  Sept 2014 

Heritage Assessment THE01-01  June 2014 

Health Impacts 
Assessment 

  April 2015 

Air Quality Modelling 
Report 

47070230/A008/01  May 2015 

Air Quality Mitigation   19 Jan 2015 

Ecological Appraisal BE-1316-01.1  Oct 2012 

Ecology Report BE/P/1316/004.1  5th Feb 2015 

Invertebrate Interest 
Assessment 

  31 Oct 2012 

White Clawed Crayfish 
Survey 

R-1316-02  Jan 2014 

Bat Survey R-1316-03  Dec 2013 

Riparian Mammal 
Survey 

R-1316-04  Jan 2014 

Reptile Survey R-1316-05  Jan 2014 

Breeding Bird Survey R-1316-06  Jan 2014 

Vegetation Survey 
Update 

R-1316-07  May 2015 

Tree Survey   July 2014 

Landscape & Visual 
Assessment Illustrations 

  June 2014 

Page 57



 
 
 

50 

 

Plan / Report Type Reference Version Date Received 

Flood Risk Assessment 0187/3/FRA  July 2014 

Addendum to Flood Risk 
Assessment 

0187/3/FRA 
Addendum 1  

Rev 1 16 Dec 2014 

Geo environmental 
Investigation 

1841/1  April 2014 

Noise Impact 
Assessment 

NIA/5166/14/4849  Aug 2014 

Affordable Housing 
Statement 

  Sept 2014 

Statement of Community 
Involvement 

  Sept 2014 

Masterplan Strategy DWG No 003 Rev C 22 Dec2014 

Masterplan Strategy DWG No 004 Rev C 22 Dec 2014 

Development 
Perameters Land Use & 
Development Heights 

   

Development 
Perameters Greenspace 
& Retained Features 

   

Proposed Halifax Road 
Yew Tree Road Junction 
Improvements 

DRG No 
12074/GA/01 

Rev C Feb 2015 

Proposed Grimescar 
Road Burn Road 
Junction Improvements 

DRG No 
12074/GA/02 

Rev A Aug 2014 

Proposed Brighouse 
Road Grimescar Road 
Junction Improvements 

DRG No 
12074/GA/03 

Rev A Aug 2014 

Proposed Site Access 
Arrangements 

DRG No 
12074/GA/04 

Rev A 11th Sept 2014 

Burn Road Access 
Arrangement 

DRG No 
12074/GA/05 

Rev C Feb 2014 

Yew Tree Road 
Proposed Improvement 

DRG No 
12074/GA/06 

Rev B Nov 2014 

Application Boundary DWG No 002 Rev A 22 Dec 2014 

 
 
 

Page 58



 
 
 

51 

  
Application No: 2014/91282 

Type of application: 62m - FULL APPLICATION 

Proposal: Erection of 135 residential properties with associated access, 
parking and landscaping and the creation of a car park to serve 
Crossley Fields Junior and Infant School 

Location: Land off, Woodward Court/Hepworth Lane, Mirfield 

 
Grid Ref: 420950.0 421073.0  

Ward: Mirfield Ward 

Applicant: Bellway Homes (Yorkshire) Limited 

Agent: Emma Gomersal, DPP One Ltd 

Target Date: 22-Jul-2014 

Recommendation: RF1 - REFUSAL 

 
Link to guidance notes for public speaking at planning committee 
including how to pre-register your intention to speak. 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

LOCATION PLAN 
 

7 0 .1 m

Path

Cro ft Ho u s e  Fa rm

Path

7 6 .9 m

Go rd o n
Co u rt

NORTHORPE

6 9 .2 m

Pat
h 

(u
m

)

Path (u
m)

HEPW
O

RTH D
RIV

E

S
Y

K
E

S AVENUE

SHILLBANK LANE

7 6 .8 m

Glencairn

8 1 .1 m

FLASH L
ANE

A
V

E
N

U
E

LEE GREEN

8 3 .1 m

8 7 .9 m

Tr
ac

k

8 5 .3 m

C
R

O
S
S
LE

Y
 LA

N
E

Ba l d e rs to n e  Ha l l

P
a
th

 (u
m

)

Fa rm

P
a
th

 (
u
m

) Pri m ro s e

WOODWARDC
O

URT

Farm

Wellhouse

W e l l h o u s e

ChurchMoravian

8 7 .2 m T
H

E
 O

R
C

H
A

R
D

S

8 4 .7 m

9 1 .1 m

GREENSIDE ROAD

PH

G
R

E
E

N
S

ID
E

 C
T

HEPWORTH LANE

Fo o tb a l l  Gro u n d

8 2 .0 m

G
R

E
E

N
S

ID
E

 R
O

A
D

P
ath

W
E

L
L
H

O
U

S
E

Junior & lnfants School

Crossley Fields

Pen-Ryn

Ravenscar

G
R

E
E

N
S

ID
E

 R
O

A
D

9 5 .1 m

M a rl wo o d

© Kirklees Council 100019241 2008 
 
Map not scale – for identification purposes only 
 

Page 59

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/business/planning/advicenotes/PublicSpeakingCommittee.pdf


 
 
 

52 

 
 
1. SUMMARY OF APPLICATION 

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
REFUSE PLANNING PERMISSION 
 
3. INFORMATION 

 
The application is brought forward to Strategic Committee as the development 
proposed would be a departure from the Councils Unitary Development Plan 
(UDP). 
 

Application Details  

Type of Development Residential  

Scale of Development 135 dwellings  

No. Jobs Created or Retained   

Policy  

UDP allocation POL 

Independent Viability Required   N/A  

Consultation/Representation  

Individual Support (No.) 0 

Individual Objection (No.) 383 

Other Objections Mirfield Town Council 
Save Mirfield 
Project Mirfield 
Simon Reevell (former MP) 

Ward Member Interest Yes  

Statutory Consultee 
Objections 

No  

Contributions  

 Affordable Housing 50 dwellings 30% floor space 

 Education £619,709  

 Public Open Space £20,700  

 KSEZ Contribution £244,156  

 Resident Metro Cards £64,125  

 Travel Plan Monitoring £15,000  

Other Issues  

Any Council Interest? N/A  

Pre-application planning 
advice? 

YES  

Pre-App Consultation 
Undertaken? 

  

Comment on Application 
 

 

Page 60



 
 
 

53 

Site Description: 
 
The site extends to an area of 4.77 hectares and comprises an open field that 
is currently divided into paddocks and grazed by horses. The southern and 
western boundaries are adjoined by the rear curtilages of detached and semi-
detached properties along Woodward Court, Hepworth Court and Hepworth 
Drive. A public footpath runs to the southern boundary of the site. The 
northern boundary is formed by Crossley Fields Junior and Infant School. A 
public footpath runs to the northern boundary which leads from Wellhouse 
Lane to the public footpath to the eastern boundary of the site. Beyond this 
footpath the southern part of this boundary is formed by the access serving 
the Grade II listed Balderstone Hall. The eastern boundary, in part, adjoins a 
road to a group of residential properties and in the other part it adjoins a field 
boundary beyond which there are open fields. 
 
The site is generally open in character and slopes gently down towards 
Hepworth Lane. 
 
Proposal: 
 
The application seeks full planning permission for the development of 135, 2 
to 4 bedroom dwellings, providing a mix of detached, semi-detached and 
terraced houses with associated access and landscaping and the formation of 
a car park to serve Crossley Field Junior & Infant School. 
 
Access is proposed off Woodward Court. An emergency vehicular access and 
pedestrian link into the Site is to be provided from Hepworth Lane.  
 
The car park which is to serve the neighbouring school is located within the 
north-western corner of the Site and incorporates a one way loop system, off 
which 24 car parking spaces are provided. 

 
4. BACKGROUND & HISTORY 
 
98/92026 – Outline application for residential development with associated 
access works and laying out of public open space.  
 
Appeal against non-determination dismissed (see assessment) 
 
5. PLANNING POLICY 

 
Kirklees Unitary Development Plan 
 
D5 – Provisional Open Land (POL) 
BE1 – Design principles 
BE2 – Quality of design 
BE11 – Use of natural stone 
BE12 – Space about buildings 
T10 – Highway safety 
T16 – Pedestrian routes 

Page 61



 
 
 

54 

T19 – Car parking standards 
G6 – Contaminated land 
H1 – Meeting housing needs in the district  
H10 – Affordable housing 
H12 – Affordable housing 
H18 – Public open space 
EP4 – Noise sensitive development 
EP10 – Energy efficiency  
EP11 – Integral landscaping scheme to protect / enhance ecology 
BE23 – Crime prevention 
R13 – Rights of way 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 
NPPF Promoting sustainable transport (chapter 4) 
NPPF Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes (chapter 6) 
NPPF Requiring good design (chapter 7) 
NPPF Promoting healthy communities (chapter 8) 
NPPF Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding (chapter 10) 
NPPF Conserving and enhancing the natural environment (chapter 11) 
 
Planning Practice Guidance March 2014 
 
Air Quality  
 
Other Guidance 
 
KMC SPD 2 (2008) – Affordable Housing 
KMC Policy Guidance: ‘Providing for Education Needs Generated by New 
Housing’ 
 
6. CONSULTATIONS 
 
KC Highways – Highways Development Management considers that the 
cumulative impacts associated with the proposed scale of development and 
associated traffic cannot be efficiently and safely accommodated on the local 
highway network within the vicinity of the site. As such, the proposal in its 
current form is considered unacceptable from a highways point of view. 
 
KC Environmental Services – Recommend conditions in respect of 
contaminated land, air quality mitigation measures, suppression of dust during 
construction and lighting of the car park. 
 
KC Strategic Drainage – Test results have been supplied that show 
encouraging soakaway results for significant, but not all, parts of the site. 
Further tests and analysis is envisaged. The location of soakaways is 
potentially problematic and no reference has been made with regard to long 
term maintenance plans which are required in detail at this stage. 
Given the size of the site and location of adjacent property at lower levels, it is 
of paramount importance that the LPA is satisfied that all risk can be 

Page 62



 
 
 

55 

adequately mitigated and managed and the drainage solution accommodated. 
KC Strategic Drainage therefore strongly recommend independent specialist 
geotechnical advice is sought concerning underground water movement, 
potential re-emergence issues in the first instance and further discussion 
thereafter and cannot recommend approval and conditions at this time unless 
a workable alternative solution is agreed as a back up to the soakaway option 
pending further investigation. 
 
KC Strategic Housing – The proposal for 135 homes provides a range of 
house types on a greenfield site and accordingly the affordable housing policy 
as set out Supplementary Planning Document 2 aspires to secure 30% of the 
gross internal floorspace for affordable housing. On this basis it is understood 
that the applicant proposes to meet this policy aspiration and it is assumed 
that the developer has tested this through their own viability model to arrive at 
this offer. 
 
On this basis, the site could provide a significant contribution to affordable 
housing and the range of house types proposed should be sufficient to be 
able to meet the headline need for 2 and 3 bed affordable homes of social 
rented and intermediate tenure as identified in the Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment.  
 
The developer has provided an indicative affordable housing offer based on 2 
distinct phases which is acceptable in principle. Further work, notwithstanding 
the proposed offer, would be needed to verify that the mix of the type and 
tenure of the units meets housing needs.  
 
KC Landscape – The development should incorporate a high quality, well 
designed landscape scheme. The provision on site falls short of the policy 
requirement which can be compensated for by an off-site contribution. 
Open spaces within the layout are not considered appropriate for equipped 
play provision; such provision would be better located off site as part of an 
existing facilities at Crossley Lane. 
 
KC Ecologist – The site is of limited ecological value consisting mainly of 
semi-improved agricultural grassland and species poor hedges. The 
ecological survey proposes a range of mitigation measures. In principle the 
conclusions of the report and the recommendations made are accepted, 
conditions are recommended. 
 
KC Education – A contribution of £619,709 is required towards meeting 
demand at Crossley Fields J&I and Mirfield Free Grammar Schools 
 
Coal Authority – The Coal Authority concurs with the recommendations of 
the Geo environmental Appraisal that coal mining legacy potentially poses a 
risk on some parts of the site and that further intrusive site investigation works 
should be undertaken. Subject to imposition of conditions the Coal Authority 
considers that the content and conclusions of the appraisal meets the 
requirements of the NPPF in demonstrating that the site is or can be made 
safe and stable for the development proposed. 

Page 63



 
 
 

56 

 
Environment Agency – No objection subject to conditions in respect of 
finished floor levels 
 
Yorkshire Water – Recommend conditions requiring separate systems of 
drainage for foul and surface water and arrangements for the discharge of 
surface water 
 
West Yorkshire Police Architectural Liaison Officer – Expresses concern 
about a number of instances where shared rear access footpaths would 
compromise security. Where the rear of dwellings border open, publically 
accessible land a uniform height of fencing of a minimum of 2.1m should be 
required 
 
Mirfield Town Council – Make representations in respect of: 

- Departure from the development plan (Policy D5 Provisional Open 
Land) 

- Sustainability  
- Impact upon highway network and highway safety 
- Space about dwellings (Policy BE12) 
- Impact upon public footpaths 
- Provision of public open space (Policy H18) 
- Insufficient information in respect of materials  
- Retention of mature hedgerow which crosses the site 

 
The Town Council concludes that there are doubts about whether the 
development complies with the development plan in respect of policies H18 
and BE12. There are also concerns about compliance of the development 
with policy T10. 
 
The lack of information about proposed materials means that the Council 
should not entertain the application. 
 
7. REPRESENTATIONS 
 
The application has been advertised by means of neighbour notification 
letters, site notices and press notice. Amended plans and further supporting 
information have been re advertised in the same way. 
 
In total 383 representations have been received objecting to the application 
 
Concerns raised relate to: 
 

- Loss of open fields and amenity space that is valued by the community 
 

- Loss of local habitat and the subsequent impact on wildlife 
 

- Impact of additional traffic and congestion on pollution levels and air 
quality 

 

Page 64



 
 
 

57 

- Access from Woodward Court is unsuitable being an existing cul de 
sac 
 

- Local highway network around Woodward Court, Wellhouse Lane, 
Jenny Lane and Hepworth Lane is unsuitable to serve the development 
and to safely accommodate additional traffic generated  

 
- Development would add to existing congestion within the immediate 

area around Woodward Court and Hepworth Lane and would 
exacerbate existing problems of parking, picking up and dropping off of 
children at Crossley Fields School 
 

- Development will add to existing congestion within the wider network, 
in particular Greenside Road, Sunnybank Road, Dunbottle Lane, 
Church Lane 
 

- Local infrastructure (schools, doctors, dentists) is already at capacity 
and cannot accommodate further demand from the development 
 

- The site has been previously quarried and there are mine workings 
within the site. This will impact upon drainage and the suitability of 
SUDS 
 

- The use of soakaways/SUDS is not appropriate for this site and could 
give rise to flooding of existing properties that are at a lower level than 
the site 
 

- Scale and appearance of development is out of keeping with 
established character of the area 

 
Save Mirfield objects to the application. There are a number of appendices to 
the objection, including a planning policy report and highway report. The 
objection is supported by the 524 members of Save Mirfield. 
 
For completeness the objection is appended, the objections can be 
summarised as: 
 

- The application does not constitute sustainable development as 
defined in the NPPF 
 

- The traffic and road safety impacts arising from the proposed 
development will be severe and will have an adverse impact on 
highway safety 
 

- Mirfield’s infrastructure, namely roads, schools, health services and 
public services are saturated 
 

- The application does not conform to UDP policy H18 in respect of 
Public Open Space 
 

Page 65



 
 
 

58 

- There are material breaches of policy BE12 Space about buildings 
 

- Balderstone Hall fields have become a valued amenity. The NPPF 
recognises that open land can perform many functions for wildlife, 
recreation, flood risk, insufficient attention has been paid to the effects 
on the local community 
 

- The application does not take into consideration the increased pollution 
that it will generate because of increased traffic and its potential impact 
on the health of the community 
 

- The application does not provide a solution for on-site drainage. The 
development would result in an increased risk of flooding of properties 
around Hepworth Lane and further south. 
 

- There are a large number of homes for sale across all price ranges in 
Mirfield. The mean time for sale is quite long which shows that demand 
is not high. 

 
Project Mirfield objects to the application. The concerns raised can be 
summarised as: 
 

- The south west part of the site adjacent to Hepworth Close has been 
worked for stone some years ago, probably to provide the stone to 
build Balderstone Hall. The remedial works necessary (grouting) to 
treat the areas of shallow mine workings  to ensure the safety and 
stability of the proposed development will affect the infiltration of water 
and further soakaway tests will have to be carried out once the 
remedial work is complete. 
 

- The use of SUDS on higher ground with cross fall to the boundary with 
properties downstream is a serious design error. SUDS discharge of 
surface water would follow the top of the existing rock head and  would 
affect existing properties. In the event of prolonged rainfall and /or 
extreme weather conditions SUDS would be overwhelmed creating 
below ground flooding and the possibility of over ground flooding to 
adjacent properties. 

 
- The proposed SUDS design has potential to impact upon lower lying 

properties which bound the proposed development on Hepworth Close. 
This needs further investigation to assess the risk of re-emergence 
which will affect existing properties. 
 

- Combined sewer infrastructure in the area is working at or near full 
capacity. In terms of foul drainage ‘clay stanking’ should be used to 
eliminate surface water leaching, to prevent water infiltration entering 
the new foul system effecting the existing foul drainage infrastructure 
downstream. 
 

Page 66



 
 
 

59 

- Existing traffic problems associated with Crossley Fields School and 
the school run are unresolvable because of the nature and design of 
the existing highway infrastructure and the location of the school. The 
development will exacerbate the existing problems 

 
The Governing Body of Crossley Fields School objects to the proposed 
development for the following reasons: 
 

- The developer has not consulted with the school on any aspect of the 
proposals 

 
- Despite the efforts of the school traffic issues outside school continue 

to be a concern. From surveys approx. 180 extra vehicles enter the 
area during school opening and closing times. Local residents voice 
concerns about safe access to their properties especially at times of 
emergency. Coaches that the school use for events are frequently 
unable to access the drop and go zone. Governors are concerned 
about maintaining positive relationships with the local community; the 
proposals will compromise this intent. 
 

- Traffic calming along Hepworth Lane and Wellhouse Lane. Speed is 
already controlled by the volume of traffic. It is the volume rather than 
speed that is creating a hazardous situation with cars attempting to 
pass mounting the pavement. The proposed measurers will do nothing 
to address these dangers. 
 

- The development will add to traffic numbers and to congestion at peak 
times. 
 

- The school is over-subscribed and has no capacity to take any more 
children on roll. Residents of the new development would have to find 
alternative options at other schools which would add to traffic problems 
at peak times. 
 

- Increased congestion on Wellhouse Lane will increase response times 
for emergency services 
 

- Concern about the proposed car park. The school will take no 
responsibility for the car park; children and parents could be put at risk 
when using the area. The developer offers no proposals for to monitor 
its safe use. Concerned about future maintenance and use at other 
times. The car park will have little impact in resolving parking problems 
around the school. Seriously concerned about children having to cross 
Woodward Court at junction with Wellhouse Lane if traffic increases 
and concerned about the safety of children using the footpath from the 
car park. 
 

- Plans propose an alternative drop off point on Hepworth Lane using a 
footpath through the development. This will lead to increased traffic in 
this area where there is only a single footpath. 

Page 67



 
 
 

60 

 
- Wellhouse Lane narrows to one car width as it meets Flash Lane 

Concerned about use of the single narrow pavement at this part of 
Wellhouse Lane by children walking to school. 
 

The School Governing Body comments further in respect of the amended 
highway report and layout: 
 

- The take up of the schools ‘Park & Walk’ schemes as well as other 
attempts to reduce congestion outside school has been poor. The 
arrangement with the Dusty PH was informal using private land, the 
Dusty has since closed and the car park is not in use.  

 
- The report states that it would be beneficial to create formal pedestrian 

links through the development to enable parents and children to walk to 
school. These links already exist with footpaths across the fields. 
 

- The school in consultation with Kirklees has undertaken initiatives to 
reduce congestion and parking outside school. The Governing Body 
and the school have worked hard to try and alleviate the situation and 
are aware that it causes inconvenience and anxiety for local residents, 
however the problems still persist. 
 

- It is suggested that the aim of the TRO is to push drivers towards the 
Park & Walk sites by limiting availability of on street parking during 
morning and afternoon periods. These sites are no longer available. 
 

Simon Reevell (former MP) opposes the development, stating that the 
development proposed is unwanted and inappropriate. Mirfield’s 
infrastructure, particularly its highways would be unable to cope with the 
added capacity. Woodward Court is a narrow residential street unsuitable for 
use as access to such a large estate. Wellhouse Lane already suffers 
congestion due to the nearby Crossley Fields School whilst its junctions with 
Hepworth Lane and Flash Lane are unsuitable for the road even its present 
form. The high level of additional traffic would cause major problems for 
existing and new residents alike. 

 
8. ASSESSMENT 
 
General principle: 
 
Application 98/92026 sought outline planning permission for residential 
development with associated highway works and laying out of public open 
space. The applicant, Bellway PLC appealed against the failure of the Council 
to determine the application within the required period. The appeal was 
determined by way of public inquiry and was dismissed, with outline planning 
permission for residential development being refused. 
 
The appeal related to 3 separate sites. Site A between Greenside Road and 
Wellhouse Lane proposed to accommodate 26 dwellings, site B to the east of 

Page 68



 
 
 

61 

Wellhouse Lane with access from Woodward Court proposed to 
accommodate 98 dwellings and site C to the south of Balderstone Hall was 
intended to remain open and accommodate public open space. 
 
The Inspector concluded that “the additional use of the existing junction 
between Wellhouse Lane and Woodward Court would create a danger for 
highway users, contrary to the adopted UDP policy T10. This inadequacy 
alone is… sufficient to prevent the proposed development on site B from 
taking place” 
 
The Inspector went on to say that “furthermore the loss of openness of site B 
would prejudice the contribution it makes to the character of its surroundings 
and this would not accord with adopted UDP policy D5.” 
 
The application site forms part of a wider allocation of Provisional Open Land 
(POL) in the Councils UDP, subject to UDP policy D5. Policy D5 states that: 
 
“Planning permission will not be granted other than for development required 
in connection with established uses, changes of use to alternative open land 
uses or temporary uses which would not prejudice the contribution of the site 
to the character of its surroundings and the possibility of development in the 
longer term” 
 
Paragraph 2.15 of the UDP advises that urban open land sites assessed as 
having less quality that those designated as urban greenspace but 
nevertheless having identifiable value as open land are designated as 
provisional open land. These sites are judged to be capable of development 
either now or when new infrastructure such as roads and sewers can be 
provided. The aim of the designation is to maintain the character of the land at 
least during the period until the plan is reviewed when it will be considered for 
allocation for development. 
 
In considering the Bellway appeal the Inspector commented that “whilst sites 
subject to policy D5 may be considered as suitable for development in the 
longer term… there would need to be compelling reasons to indicate that the 
policy should be overridden in advance of any review of the UDP”. 
 
The weight that can be given to Policy D5 in determining applications for 
housing must be assessed in the context of NPPF paragraphs 215 and 49. 
 
In the context of paragraph 215, the wording of Policy D5 is consistent with 
NPPF paragraph 85 concerning safeguarded land. However, with regard to 
paragraph 49, the Council is currently unable to demonstrate a five year 
supply of deliverable housing sites.  
 
The weight that can be given to Policy D5 in these circumstances was 
assessed in October 2013 by a Planning Inspector in his consideration of an 
appeal against refusal of permission for housing on a POL site at Ashbourne 
Drive, Cleckheaton (ref: APP/Z4718/A/13/2201353). The inspector concluded 
(paragraph 42): 

Page 69



 
 
 

62 

 
“The lack of a five-year supply, on its own, weighs in favour of the 
development. In combination with other paragraphs in the Framework 
concerning housing delivery the weight is increased. The lack of a five-year 
supply also means that policies in the UDP concerning housing land are out of 
date. Policy D5 clearly relates to housing and so it, too, is out of date and its 
weight is reduced accordingly. This significantly reduces the weight that can 
be given to the policy requirement for there to be a review of the plan before 
the land can be released. In these circumstances, the Framework’s 
presumption in favour of sustainable development is engaged.”  
 
The presumption referred to by the Inspector is set out in NPPF paragraph 14 
which states that where relevant policies are out-of-date, planning permission 
should be granted “unless any adverse impacts of granting permission would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against 
the policies in this framework taken as a whole, or that specific NPPF policies 
indicate development should be restricted”. Footnote 9 lists examples of 
restrictive policies but this does not include policies concerning safeguarded 
land. 
 
It is therefore considered that the lack of a five year housing supply, in this 
instance outweighs the harm caused to the character of the area by the 
development proposed. 
 
Sustainability:  
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that the purpose of 
the planning system “is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable 
development.” (para 6). It further notes that pursuing sustainable development 
involves seeking positive improvements in the quality of the built, natural and 
historic environment, as well as in peoples’ quality of life (para 9).  
 
The NPPF identifies the dimensions of sustainable development as economic, 
social and environmental roles (para 7). It states that these roles are mutually 
dependent and should not be undertaken in isolation. “Economic, social and 
environmental gains should be sought jointly and simultaneously through the 
planning system.” (para 8). The NPPF goes on to stress the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development. The proposals have been assessed in 
relation to the three strands of sustainable development as follows:  
 
Economic: 
The proposal will bring economic gains by providing business opportunities for 
contractors and local suppliers, creating additional demand for local services.  

 
Social: 
There will be a social gain through the provision of new housing at a time of 
general shortage, which includes affordable housing and also through the 
provision of public open space, contributions to improve existing public open 
space and education provision within the settlement. 
 

Page 70



 
 
 

63 

Environmental: 
Whilst the development of a greenfield site represents an environmental loss, 
compensating environmental gains may be possible through the imposition of 
conditions. Although national policy encourages the use of brownfield land for 
development, it also makes clear that no significant weight can be given to the 
loss of greenfield sites to housing when there is a national priority to increase 
housing supply.  
 
Assessing the policies in the national planning policy framework as a whole in 
accordance with the paragraph 14 test, it is considered that the limited 
environmental harm arising from the development of this greenfield site is 
outweighed by the benefits to be gained from the provision of housing.   
 
Viability: 
 
The NPPF sets out how viability should be considered and paragraph 173 
states, 
 
“To ensure viability, the costs of any requirements likely to be applied to 
development, such as requirements for affordable housing, standards, 
infrastructure contributions or other requirements should, when taking account 
of the normal cost of development and mitigation, provide competitive returns 
to a willing land owner and willing developer to enable the development to be 
deliverable.” 
 
The development proposes to meet in full the requirements for affordable 
housing, an education contribution to meet demand from the development for 
places at Crossley Fields J&I and Mirfield Free Grammar Schools, provision 
of public open space within the layout together with a contribution to improve 
existing open space off site at Crossley Lane in lieu of the balance of open 
space and an equipped provision on site.   
 
Whilst KC Highways advise that the proposal in its current form is considered 
unacceptable, if planning permission were to be granted, the applicant would 
fund the provision of resident metro cards 
 
The offer(s) before Committee are summarised in the table below: 
 

Affordable Housing 50 dwellings (30% of floorspace) 

Education Contribution £619,709 

Off Site POS £20,700 

KSEZ Contribution £244,156 

Resident Metro Cards £64,125 

Travel Plan Monitoring £15,000 

 

Page 71



 
 
 

64 

Impact on visual and residential amenity: 
 
Policies BE1, BE2, BE11 and BE12 of the UDP are considerations in relation 
to design, materials and layout. The layout of buildings should respect any 
traditional character the area may have.  New development should also 
respect the scale, height and design of adjoining buildings and be in keeping 
with the predominant character of the area.   
 
Layout: 
 
The layout proposes 135 no 2, 3 and 4 bed properties with a mix of terraced, 
semi-detached and detached properties, accessed from Woodward Court via 
a continuation of the existing access with a primary central access loop road. 
 
A car parking area accommodating 24 spaces with an ‘in-out’ access loop is 
proposed to serve the neighbouring Crossley Fields Primary School, with 
pedestrian access proposed from within the layout to the school. 
 
The layout proposed in the main satisfies the Councils policy in relation to 
space about buildings, maintaining distances of 21m between habitable room 
windows and 12m between habitable room windows and non-habitable room 
windows/blank elevations. 

 
There are however a number of instances internally within the layout where 
distances proposed fall short of those set out in policy BE12 for example: 
 

- Plots 1 to 8, 20 to 25 where distances between rear facing habitable 
room windows are 19/20m 

 
- Plots 84 to 91, where distances between front facing habitable room 

windows are 19m 
 

- Plots 104 to 114, where distances between rear facing habitable rooms 
are 17/19m 

 
For those instances where distances fall short between rear facing ground 
floor habitable room windows, the provision of screen fencing to the boundary 
between plots would satisfy the requirements of policy BE12. However it is 
acknowledged that in the instances detailed above, distances between rear 
facing first floor habitable room windows and front facing habitable room 
windows internal to the site do fall short of the minimum acceptable distances 
set out in policy BE12. This needs to be balanced against the desirability of 
making efficient use of land in order to meet housing need, the fact that 
applying the separation distances in a rigid way would not be conducive to 
securing variation in form and street scene within the layout and that future 
occupiers of the proposed development would be aware of the separation 
distances when purchasing properties. 
 
It is therefore considered that whilst in some instances the separation 
distances between properties internal to the site fall short of the minimum 

Page 72



 
 
 

65 

distances set out in policy BE12, this in itself would not be sufficient grounds 
to refuse planning permission when balanced against other material 
considerations. 
 
Open space is distributed throughout the layout, wrapping around the 
southern and eastern boundaries of the site, accommodating footpath links 
from within the layout to the existing local footpath network that adjoins the 
site.  
 
The quantum of public open space (POS) required having regard to UDP 
Policy H18 would be 4,050sq m. The quantum proposed is 3,136sq m. The 
provision of POS on-site therefore falls short of the policy requirement. 
 
Open spaces within the layout are not considered appropriate for equipped 
play provision either traditional or natural and the location of the small area of 
POS whilst being overlooked and accessible is not ideal as an informal or 
natural play area being situated where it is opposite the proposed car park at 
the entrance on the main access road into the new estate. This area of POS 
would be better more centrally located, linking more closely with the other 
areas of amenity space. 
 
The amenity space to the southern and eastern boundaries is more linear and 
will require careful design to enable it to be functional as an open space. The 
open spaces within the layout are not considered appropriate for equipped 
play provision; such provision would be better located off site as part of 
existing facilities at Crossley Lane. A financial contribution could be secured 
to offset the short fall in the quantum of POS provided and in lieu of an 
equipped provision on site. 
 
Scale: 
 
The scale of development proposed is two storeys which are broadly 
consistent with that of existing development within the area. 
 
Appearance: 
 
Existing residential development within the area does not demonstrate a 
particular architectural style but is more an accumulation of styles with a mix 
of materials including natural stone, artificial stone, render and brick. 
 
The house types proposed are of a fairly simple design, with symmetry and 
balance to the fenestrations and the use of gables, heads and cills. 
 
Materials proposed would be facing brick with grey concrete roof tile which 
would not be out of keeping with the general pallet of materials found within 
the locality. 
 

Page 73



 
 
 

66 

Landscaping: 
 
The proposed development should incorporate a high quality, well designed 
landscape scheme incorporating both hard and soft landscape proposals 
which complement and are characteristic of the setting, making the most of 
the immediate environs and more native natural landscape design. The 
existing field boundary has been retained and should be enhanced to mitigate 
against the visual impact of the new development.  
 
Highways: 
 
The proposed development of 135 dwellings would be served off Woodward 
Court.  
 

 Pre-application discussions were undertaken with the applicant’s 
highways consultant Sanderson Associates and agreement reached on 
the scope of the Transport Assessment on the 5th March 2013 and 11th 
March 2013 respectively.  

 

 Further pre-application discussion meetings were carried out on the 
18th December 2013, and 24th January 2014. 
 

 Application submission received by Highways Development 
Management on the 9th May 2014. 
 

 Highways Development Management requested amendments to the 
proposed layout (P12:4606:01 Rev A) designed by John R Paley 
Associates, and clarification/further information relating to the 
Sanderson Associates Transport Assessment on the 10th June 2014; 
and further comments were given on the 24th September 2014 relating 
to highway works to facilitate the development. 
 

 Highways Development Management received an amended layout and 
Technical Note on the 20th January 2015      

 
The following Highways Development Management (HDM) comments are 
based on the information provided by John R Paley Associates and 
Sanderson Associates: 
 
Context – Local Highway Network: 
 
Woodward Court is a traditional estate road in character serving 
approximately 14 properties. From its junction with Wellhouse Lane there are 
3 vehicular routes connecting with the wider highway network. Wellhouse 
Lane (two-way northbound) to Greenside Road via Jenny Lane; Wellhouse 
Lane (two-way southbound) to Flash Lane; and Hepworth Lane (one-way 
Flash Lane/Shillbank Lane to Wellhouse Lane).   
 

Page 74



 
 
 

67 

Including side roads bounded by Crossley Lane and Greenside Road, these 
roads which are subject to a 30mph speed limit serve approximately 350 
properties and Crossley Fields Junior School. 
 
Internal Residential Layout: 
 
With reference to the amended layout plan P12:4606:01 Rev B, although the 
centre road alignment is acceptable in principle further amendments are 
required in terms of user hierarchy relative to Manual for Streets, and 
operational requirements. HDM consider this can be addressed by condition. 
 
Base Line Traffic Counts:   
 
Sanderson Associates undertook ‘base line’ manual traffic counts on the 26th 
March 2013 on the local highway network in the ‘AM’ (0800-0900hrs) and 
‘PM’ (1700-1800hrs). Traffic growth factors were then applied to reach the 
forecast 2014 base line traffic flows as set out below in Table 1: 
 
Table 1. 

 2014 Traffic Flows 

 AM  
(toward
s site) 

 

AM  
(away 

from site) 

Total 
 

 PM  
towards 

site 
 

PM  
away 

from  site 

Total 
 

Links 

Woodward Court 25 21 46  6 3 9 

        

Wellhouse Lane 
(northern link) 

62 101 163  28 30 58 

Wellhouse Lane 
(southern link: 
Woodward Court 
- Hepworth Lane) 

111 68 179  32 27 59 

Wellhouse Lane 
(southern link: 
Hepworth Lane - 
Flash Lane) 

85 71 156  38 25 63 

Hepworth Lane 
(one-way 
section) 

26 N/A 26  6 N/A 6 

Hepworth Lane 
(two-way section) 

32 14 46  38 13 51 

Jenny Lane 168 134 302  92 99 191 

 

Page 75



 
 
 

68 

Predicted Traffic Generation and assignment: 
 
Sanderson Associates have used trip rates taken from the industry standard 
TRICS database and predicted assignment of the trips onto the local road 
network as set out in Table 2;  
 
Table 2.  

Development Trips 
135 residential units 
x 
Trip Rate 

AM Arr 
Trip 
Rate 

= 0.235 

AM 
Dep  
Trip 
Rate 

= 0.588 

Total  PM Arr 
Trip 
Rate 

= 0.545 

PM 
Dep 
Trip 
Rate 

= 0.273 

Total 

Site access & 
Woodward Court 

32 79 111  74 37 111 

        

Traffic Assignment        

Wellhouse Lane 
(northern link) & 
Jenny Lane 

15 
 

38 53  36 18 54 

Wellhouse Lane 
(southern link: 
Woodward Court - 
Hepworth Lane) 

17 41 58  38 19 57 

Wellhouse Lane 
(southern link: 
Hepworth Lane - 
Flash Lane) 

12 41 53  27 19 46 

Hepworth Lane (one-
way section) 

5 N/A 5  11 N/A 11 

Hepworth Lane (two-
way) section) 

5 N/A 5  11 N/A 11 

Jenny Lane  15 38 53  36 18 54 

 

Page 76



 
 
 

69 

The 2014 base line traffic counts added to the forecast development traffic is 
set out below in Table 3: 
 
Table 3. 2014 2014 Base Line Traffic Counts + Development Traffic 

2014 Base Line 
Traffic Counts + 
Development 
Traffic 

Two-way AM 
movements 

(0800 – 
0900hrs) 

Tota
l 

 Two-way PM  
Movements 

(1700 – 1800hrs) 

Total 

Woodward Court 46 + 111 157  9 + 111 120 

Wellhouse Lane 
(northern) 

163 + 53 216  58 + 54 112 

Wellhouse Lane 
(southern link: 
Woodward Court 
- Hepworth 
Lane) 

179 + 58 237  59 + 57 116 

Wellhouse Lane 
(southern link: 
Hepworth Lane - 
Flash Lane) 

156 + 53 209  63 + 46 109 

Hepworth Lane 
(one-way 
section) 

32 + 5 37  6 + 5 11 

Hepworth Lane 
(two-way 
section) 

46 + 5 51  51 + 11 62 

Jenny Lane 302 + 53 355  191 + 54 245 

 
In addition to the ‘am’ and ‘pm’ peak hour data, HDM requested the forecast 
from the proposed development within the school finishing time period 
1500hrs to 1600hrs. The subsequent Sanderson Associates Technical Note 
estimates that 77 two way vehicle development trips are expected to occur 
within this period. 
 
Site Access – Woodward Court: 
 
During the period running up and after the school start (0855hrs) and finish 
(1520hrs and 1530hrs) times Woodward Court is heavily parked up by 
parents taking their children to and from school. Conflicting vehicle 
movements together with adult and children pedestrian movements are not 
uncommon within these periods. 
 
Woodward Court residents find it extremely difficult to leave their homes by 
car, or arrive with any confidence of being able to access their driveways.  
 
Visibility – Woodward Court along Wellhouse Lane: 
 
With regard to visibility requirements along Wellhouse Lane from the junction 
of Woodward Court, several speed readings with analysis have been provided 

Page 77



 
 
 

70 

within the Transport Assessment and Technical Note.  The analysis has been 
presented with differing output 85%ile speeds with Sanderson Associates 
coming to their recommended visibility requirements of 2.4m x 35.9 south and 
2.4m x tangent north to meet 85%ile adjusted wet weather speeds of 27.4mph 
and 23.3mph respectively.  
 
However, based on the locations where the speed reading data was captured 
i.e. southbound traffic on the Woodward Court junction, and northbound 
approximately 70m south of Woodward Court, and methodology for using 
selected periods of data; HDM consider that it would not be appropriate for 
these readings and the proposed visibility to be used.  
 
In light of the above, the 30mph speed limit should be used, together with 
2.4m x 43.0m visibility requirements in both directions as recommended within 
Manual for Streets. 
 
As such from Woodward Court’s junction to the north along Wellhouse Lane 
visibility is considered acceptable in relation to the 30 mph speed limit, but 
substandard to the south relative to the available 29.3m ‘Y’ distance and the 
required 43.0m.   
 
Proposed Highways Mitigation works: 
 
The initial submitted Transport Assessment proposed a package of highway 
mitigation measures to provide a 20mph zone, increase junction capacity, 
junction visibility, and off-street parking provision. 
 
a) Wellhouse Lane / Hepworth Lane – Proposed 20mph zone: 
 
The proposed  ‘20mph zone’ in the Transport Assessment would be along 
essentially two roads, Wellhouse Lane (Jenny Lane to Flash Lane) and 
Hepworth Lane (Flash Lane to Wellhouse Lane) plan ref: 7240 – 002 rev B. 
 
To assist in managing vehicular speeds Sanderson Associates propose a 
series of vertical deflection measures (speed humps and junction plateaus), 
signage, road markings, and coloured surfacing. 
 
The vertical deflection features proposed may have some merit in their own 
right, however, HDM question the necessity of a 20mph scheme given 
‘estimated observed’ driven speeds on Wellhouse Lane along the frontage of 
the school at school start and finish times are low. That said, as no formal 
consultation on the scheme has been undertaken by the applicants with 
residents fronting on to the proposed scheme or Crossley Fields Infant 
School, HDM cannot confidentially state that the scheme is 
acceptable/deliverable in principle in its current form.      
 
b) Greenside Road / Sunny Bank Road / Old Bank Road / North Place - 
Proposed Puffin Crossing: 
 

Page 78



 
 
 

71 

As part of the proposals Sanderson Associates propose to change the 
existing zebra crossing on Greenside located between the junctions of Jenny 
Lane and Old Bank Road to a puffin crossing. This would be linked by 
detector loops in the right turn lane into Old Bank Road to improve capacity.  
 
HDM agree that some works to improve the efficiency of this junction would 
be beneficial, but consider that a mini-roundabout may be an option. For 
planning consent is granted a suitable condition is recommended a study and 
scheme to provide either an upgraded zebra crossing to a puffin crossing, or a 
mini-roundabout. 
 
c) Wellhouse Lane j/w Flash Lane – Build Outs: 
 
Together the substandard narrow width of this junction that neither allows two 
way vehicular flows nor an appropriate footway width with a standard kerb 
upstand; the available visibility from Wellhouse Lane along Flash Lane is 
noted which is also substandard in both directions. 
  
The proposed build outs and kerb realignment to achieve acceptable visibility 
in both directions are considered inappropriate at this location given the 
nature of this section of Flash Lane. Which generally has resident on-street 
parking to either side of the junction, and is highly trafficked at peak times and 
only just allows steady two way flows. As such, any reduction in carriageway 
width at this location would not be in the interests of highway efficiency along 
Flash Lane.   
 
d) Car park: 
 
As part of the mitigation measures it is proposed to provide a 24 space car 
park within the development on the northern boundary adjacent to the school 
playing fields some 150m from Woodward Courts junction with Wellhouse 
Lane as detailed on plan ref:P12:4606:01 Rev B; with, as stated within the 
Transport Assessment a potential footpath link to the school.  
 
This footpath link is to be agreed between the developer and the school. To 
date HDM understand that there has been no dialogue between Crossley 
Field Infants School and the developer. It is also unclear who would be 
responsible for the maintenance and ownership of the proposed car park. 
 
The purpose of the car park is to alleviate the current on-street parking issue 
on Woodward Court, however, HDM consider that this measure would only 
encourage additional traffic and associated pedestrian movements onto 
Woodward Court, within the proposed residential development, and onto the 
already congested lengths of Wellhouse Lane. 
 
In response to HDM’s concerns, the subsequent Technical Note now 
proposes an extensive TRO (Traffic Regulation Order plan ref: 7240/005) 
restricting parking Monday to Friday 0800 – 0900hrs and 1500 – 1600hrs. The 
TRO would cover: 

 the whole of Woodward Court  

Page 79



 
 
 

72 

 some 230m of the proposed developments access road  
In addition to restricting on-street parking on the above roads, Sanderson 
Associates also propose to extend the restrictions further to the:   

 southern side of Lockwood Avenue;  

 northern side of Wellhouse Avenue;  

 southern side Jenny Lane and at its junction with Greenside Road; and  

 western side of Crossley Lane between Lockwood Avenue and 
Wellhouse Lane 

 
As with the proposed 20mph scheme, no formal consultation on the Traffic 
Regulation Order has been undertaken by the applicants with residents 
fronting on to the proposed scheme or Crossley Fields Infant School, HDM 
cannot confidentially state that the scheme is acceptable/deliverable in 
principle in its current form.      
 
HDM also question the ‘positive’ effectiveness of the proposed scheme, in 
that speeds along the above routes are likely to increase, the increased 
burden on enforcement, and resident inconvenience in terms of creating 
further demand for on-street parking within the vicinity, and street clutter. 
 
In terms of proven displacement and promotion of the existing school park 
and stride scheme, the applicant has not engaged with Crossley Fields Junior 
and Infants School or the parents to gauge the effectiveness of the scheme 
and to where parents would likely park their cars when taking their children to 
and from the school. 
 
e) Pedestrian route through the proposed residential layout from Hepworth 
Lane to Wellhouse Lane: 
 
The proposed layout would provide a pedestrian link from Hepworth Lane to 
Wellhouse Lane which and be an alternative to using the one way section of 
Hepworth Lane which is narrow and without the benefit of segregated 
footways. 
 
Given that the route through the proposed site is some 50m longer and would 
give a feeling of being less direct to using Hepworth Lane, HDM consider that 
the pedestrian link through the is unlikely to be the most popular route.  
 
To make the pedestrian route attractive to parents and children the link 
indicated from the proposed car park to the school (but not agreed with the 
school) would have to be provided.  
 
Junction Modelling: 
 
As part of the analysis the following junctions where assessed by Sanderson 
Associates using PICADY (priority junction), ARCADY (roundabout), or 
LINSIG (signals): 

a. Wellhouse Lane / Woodward Crescent (priority junction) 
b. Wellhouse Lane / Flash Lane (priority junction) 

Page 80



 
 
 

73 

c. Hepworth Lane / Flash Lane / Shill Bank Lane (priority junction) 
d. Dunbottle Lane / Flash Lane (mini-roundabout) 
e. Greenside Road / Jenny Lane / Green Side Estate (staggered 

crossroads) 
f. Greenside Road / Sunny Bank Road / Old Bank Road / North 

Place (staggered crossroads) 
g. Leeds Road / Sunny Bank Road (signalised junction) 

 
It is noted that the modelling outputs (which include the cumulative highway 
impact from the approved Mirfield Moor development) indicate that the 
junctions operate within capacity (with the exception of the junction Dunbottle 
Lane / Flash Lane (mini-roundabout). However, HDM would argue that 
computer software should be used as point of reference only and viewed 
alongside site observations, not just at the junctions but also the road links 
between them.  
 
The following junctions are considered by HDM to have existing material 
issues in their operation, efficiency, and perception of user safety which would 
be exacerbated by adding the forecast development traffic: 
 
a)  Wellhouse Lane / Woodward Crescent (priority junction): 
 
Although the 2014 junction modelling with 157 two way ‘AM’ peak vehicle trips 
(including the 111 development trips) shows that the Woodward Court 
junction with Wellhouse Lane will operate well within capacity with virtually no 
queuing; HDM’s on-site observations do not reflect this theoretical scenario.  
 
Site observations indicated that from around 0815hrs parents arrive and park 
up on Woodward Court leading up to the school starting time at 0855hrs, and 
leave between 0900hrs and 0915hrs where measurable queuing occurs. 
Conflicting vehicle turning movements, inconsiderate parking on footways, 
blocking of resident driveways on Woodward Court, and ‘U’ turns within its 
junction with Wellhouse Lane has also been observed.  
 
HDM’s view is that the junction modelling on this part of the highway network 
does not give a realistic scenario, especially when considering other variables 
at this location which the development would influence i.e. proposed 
extension of the TRO (if implemented); associated traffic movements (number 
not forecast/known) gravitating to the proposed car park. 
 
In terms of pedestrian movements within this area, Sanderson Associates has 
presented no data or analysis.   
 
In considering the school finish time of 1520hrs (Key stage 1 pupils), and 
1530hrs (Key stage 2 pupils) an additional 77 two development vehicle trips 
are forecast between 1500hrs and 1600hrs. Site observations indicated that 
parents once again arrive early circa 1430hrs with 24 observed cars on 
Woodward Court at 1530hrs departing up until around 1550hrs. 
 

Page 81



 
 
 

74 

b)  Wellhouse Lane / Flash Lane (priority junction): 
 
The 2014 junction modelling with 209 two way ‘AM’ peak vehicle trips 
(including the 53 development trips) shows that the Wellhouse Lane junction 
with Flash Lane will operate well within capacity with virtually no queuing; 
HDM’s on site observations do not reflect this theoretical scenario.  
 
The ‘AM’ peak hour traffic build up at this junction was observed to begin just 
before 0800 to 0900hrs, and the ‘PM’ peak, when the school traffic begins to 
build up as early as 1415hrs dispersing up to 1550hrs. Throughout the school 
traffic peak hour’s on-site observations recorded conflicting vehicle turning 
movements that caused opposing flows within the Wellhouse Lane junction 
with Flash Lane to stop and drivers having to realign their vehicles to pass 
each other. 
 
Throughout these periods adults and school children were walking within 
traffic along the semi-shared surface of Wellhouse Lane, and across its 
junction with Flash Lane.      
 
HDM’s view is that the junction modelling on this part of the highway network 
does not give a realistic scenario when viewed together with on-site 
observations. 
 
c) Hepworth Lane / Wellhouse Lane / Pumphouse Lane: 
 
This one-way section of Hepworth Lane, which is narrow with no footways, is 
well used within the school peak hours by adult pedestrians, school children, 
and vehicles. Pumphouse Lane is opposite Hepworth Lane forming a 
crossroads arrangement over Wellhouse Lane and links to a pedestrian route 
to Greenside Road. 
 
At its junction with Wellhouse Lane looking left and right from Hepworth Lane 
visibility is severely restricted in both directions. With high pedestrian and 
vehicle flows using all 4 routes and the limited available road space the 
vulnerability and safety of pedestrians is heightened at this location.  
 
d) Wellhouse Lane / Jenny Lane / Wellhouse Avenue: 
 
Within the ‘AM’ peak hour, the lead up to and dispersement of school start 
and finish time traffic implies that this junction gets extremely well used with 
parent drop off and residents traffic, with on street parking at a premium, and 
parents exiting Jenny Lane into Wellhouse Lane often ‘U’ turn back into Jenny 
Lane.  
 
HDM consider that by adding further traffic from the development, highway 
efficiency, safety, and resident access can only be further compromised. 
 

Page 82



 
 
 

75 

Road Links (between junctions): 
 
In terms of road links between the assessed junctions set out above, HDM 
have concerns in how the development traffic would be accommodated along:   
 
a) Wellhouse Lane (north of Woodward Court): 
 
At school start and finish times Wellhouse Lane between Jenny Lane and 
Woodward Court becomes extremely busy with pedestrian flows, on street 
parking, and heavy vehicular flows often resulting in restricted two way flows 
with on-site observations often witnessing tangible frustration between 
pedestrians, residents, and drivers.  
 
HDM consider that any measurable increase in vehicular activity along this 
section of highway can only make the current situation worse.     
 
b) Wellhouse Lane (south of Woodward Court) Hepworth Lane: 
 
At school start and finish times Wellhouse Lane between Woodward Court 
and Hepworth Lane becomes extremely busy with pedestrian flows, on street 
parking, and heavy vehicular flows. From Hepworth Lane to Flash Lane where 
the road is narrow with a low kerbed narrow footway and two way vehicular 
flows cannot be achieved. Vehicle queuing and overrunning of the footway is 
frequent.  
 
As a result, pedestrians feel unsafe and intimidated with vehicular dominance 
along this section of Wellhouse Lane. HDM consider that any measurable 
increase in vehicular activity along this section of highway can only make the 
current situation worse.     
 
c) Hepworth Lane – One way section: 
 
At school start and finish times this section of Hepworth Lane becomes busy 
with both pedestrian and vehicular flows. Due to the narrow nature of this 
section of Hepworth Lane and the lack of footways, any interaction between 
pedestrians and vehicles has to be very conscious and careful. Pedestrians 
are often observed as being subservient in that it is the vehicle that passes 
the pedestrians and not the car stopping and letting the pedestrians pass.  
There is also a history of drivers deliberately travelling against the one-way 
flow as a short cut, and to avoid the narrow stretch of Wellhouse Lane 
between Hepworth Lane and Flash Lane. 
 
HDM consider that any measurable increase in vehicular activity along this 
section of highway can only make the current situation worse. In addition, 
HDM also considers that the proposed speed hump along the narrow one way 
section of Hepworth Lane would not be interests of pedestrian movements 
from a highways safety point of view.   
     

Page 83



 
 
 

76 

Accessibility: 
 
In terms of site accessibility by walking, cycling, and public transport to local 
facilities:  
 
a) Bus stops are located on Greenside Road and Flash Lane within circa 
450m and 300m respectively from the centre of the site. The available 
daytime Mon to Sat services no’s 202 (15 min freq) and 205 (60 min freq) give 
access to Huddersfield, Mirfield, Dewsbury, Shaw Cross, Tingley, White 
Rose, and Leeds.  
 
b) A number of local services and facilities are within walking distance to the 
development site which includes a local centre situated within 650m to the 
west, which provides takeaways, a restaurant, local shops, post office, 
pharmacy and an ATM. 
 
c) With respect to cycling distances and estimated time travelling to/from local 
centres within a 5km radius of the site. These range from Dewsbury (4.6km; 
23 minutes), Heckmondwike (3.0km; 15 minutes), to Mirfield (1.9km; 9.5 
minutes). 
 
d) Mirfield Railway Station is situated approximately 2.8 km south-west of the 
site and provides access to a number of local and mainline destinations 
including Leeds, Huddersfield, Brighouse and Manchester Victoria 
 
In brief, HDM consider that the site is within a reasonable walking and cycling 
distance to public transport and local facilities.  
 
Kirklees Strategic Enterprise Zone (KSEZ) - Cooper Bridge Contribution: 
 
HDM generally agree with Sanderson Associates assignment and distribution 
of traffic on the highway network and suggested KSEZ contribution of 
£244,156. 
 
Construction Traffic: 
 
HDM note that the requested construction traffic plan has not been provided. 
If planning consent is approved a suitable planning condition needs to be 
applied. 
 
Travel Plan:   
 
The submitted framework Travel Plan is acceptable in principle. If planning 
consent is recommended a suitable condition to secure a full Travel Plan 
should be provided.  
 
Conclusion: 
 
In light of the above, Highways Development Management considers that the 
cumulative impacts associated with the proposed scale of development and 

Page 84



 
 
 

77 

associated traffic cannot be efficiently and safely accommodated on the local 
highway network within the vicinity of the site. As such, the proposal in its 
current form is considered unacceptable from a highways point of view. 
 
Contamination, Noise & Air Quality: 
 
The findings of the site investigation report are accepted. Conditions are 
recommended in relation to contaminated land, air quality mitigation 
measures, suppression of dust during construction and lighting of the car 
park. 
 
Ecology: 
 
The site is considered to be of limited ecological value consisting mainly of 
semi-improved agricultural grassland and species poor hedges. The 
ecological survey proposes a range of mitigation measures. In principle the 
conclusions of the report and the recommendations made are accepted, 
conditions are recommended. 
 
The ecological survey makes a series of general recommendations to 
compensate and provide enhancement measures for the development. 
Conditions are recommended requiring a landscape scheme and 
management plan that incorporates replacement planting of native trees and 
hedgerows, installation of bird boxes and bat roost features and an 
appropriate lighting scheme designed to minimise light spillage. These 
measures will be conditioned with details to be approved by the LPA. 
 
Drainage/Flood Risk: 
 

Kirklees Flood Management & Drainage provides advice as a statutory 
consultee to the Local Planning Authority in respect of surface water flood risk 
as the Lead Local Flood Authority for Kirklees. 
 
Test results have been supplied that show encouraging soakaway results for 
significant, but not all, parts of the site. Further tests and analysis is 
envisaged. The location of soakaways is potentially problematic and no 
reference has been made with regard to long term maintenance plans which 
are required in detail at this stage. 
 
Given the size of the site and location of adjacent property at lower levels, it is 
of paramount importance that the LPA is satisfied that all risk can be 
adequately mitigated and managed and the drainage solution accommodated. 
KC Flood Management & Drainage therefore strongly recommend that 
independent specialist Geotechnical advice is sought concerning underground 
water movement, potential re-emergence issues in the first instance and 
further discussion thereafter and cannot recommend approval and conditions 
at this time unless a workable alternative solution is agreed as a back up to 
the soakaway option pending further investigation, i.e. attenuated flows, to 
available public sewers/watercourses, should it be required. 
 

Page 85



 
 
 

78 

Soakaways – Infiltration: 
 
Trial pit and borehole analysis shows that beneath topsoil and mudstone/clay 
layers there is weathered sandstone within which trials have taken place. The 
rock head which naturally is difficult to excavate has been encountered 
between 200mm and 400mm below the top of the weathered sandstone layer. 
Permeability of bedrock would be dependent on joints and bedding and can 
vary significantly across the site. Trial pit SAW14 produced poor results. It is 
not known how far this area of ‘poor results’ extend and further tests will be 
required especially around where domestic soakaways are proposed. 
 
We have concerns that soakaways need to be significantly deeper than the 
incoming pipes and that effective depth may be limited especially with siltation 
over time around the base area of the chamber. Various guides require up to 
3 metres of competent strata and that soakaways should extend a minimum 
of 1 metre into competent strata. 
 
Test results, although on the whole encouraging, did not strictly follow BRE 
Digest 365 in having 3 consecutive testing with over half just having a single 
test 
 
Calculations for soakaway size need to take account the poorest of three 
consecutive tests. Factors of safety due to siltation over time need to be taken 
into account also. 
 
Soakaways Re-emergence Analysis: 
 
Dye (as part of re-emergence risk analysis) was placed in only five of the 16 
pits and none in trial pits closest to existing properties. This is considered 
inadequate. 
 
Borehole logs and cross sectional plans have been provided for the site. No 
analysis has been provided in terms of the adjacent existing properties. 
Independent specialist geotechnical advice is recommended focusing on 
infiltration and re-emergence and the information provided. 
 
Soakaways and Coal Workings: 
 
The presence of shallow coal workings does not seem to raise an objection 
from the Coal Authority given the information submitted although a condition 
for further investigation has been suggested. The use of soakaways and any 
remedial work envisaged around coal working, localised grouting, would 
benefit from comment from independent Geotechnical specialists. 
 
The Coal Authority has been re consulted in light of comments from KC Flood 
Management & Drainage and representations particularly from Project 
Mirfield. 
 
The Coal Authority maintains that the issues raised by KC Flood Management 
& Drainage are a matter for the LPA as decision maker and should it be 

Page 86



 
 
 

79 

considered that additional information be required in order to be satisfied that 
the site can be adequately drained, that it is safe and stable for the new 
development and that no conflict arises from these issues then the LPA will 
seek further information from the applicant.   
 
The Coal Authority would be happy to comment on any further geotechnical 
assessment submitted by the applicant if the LPA considers that this is 
necessary in order to inform the decision making process.   
 
Highway Drainage Soakaways: 
 
The positioning of interlinked highway drainage soakaways close to the 
carriageway (within 5 metres) contradicts national advice. The layout may 
therefore not afford suitable locations for highway drainage. The submitted 
Flood Risk Assessment discusses whether potential alternatives outfalls could 
be found for highway drainage. However there is no right for highway 
drainage to connect to the public sewer network. The Statutory Undertaker 
(Yorkshire Water) cannot be ‘unreasonable’ in refusing a connection. In this 
instance if soakaways ‘work’ on site and all associated risks are mitigated, we 
believe it would be unreasonable to refuse a connection on these grounds. 
These aspects need to be considered now prior to agreeing layouts and 
number of properties. 
 
Sediment and pollution control should be considered for highway drainage to 
soakaways. 
 
Discussions with Section 38 Officers is advised as the layout could well 
preclude the adoption of estate roads and compromise future management of 
the soakaways in question. 
 
Alternative Drainage Outfalls: 
 
Any capacity issues on local watercourse and sewers must be evidence to the 
planning officer as part of an assessment. Kirklees Flood Management & 
Drainage are not aware of any watercourse located in the immediate vicinity 
of the site. Yorkshire Water will declare to Ofwat where property and area 
flooding has occurred as a result of lack of sewer capacity. 
 
Layout Design and Flood Routing: 
 
Drainage layouts show soakaway locations close to/over the position of trial 
pit SAW 14 where results precluded their use. Statements have been made 
however declaring that surface water be moved to other locations to 
accommodate this issue. 
 
A narrative text on drainage strategy associated with submitted plans is 
required as part of the thinking being/justification of the strategy/strategies. 
This could include a plan B. 
 

Page 87



 
 
 

80 

The sizing of soakaways should conform to NPPF flood risk guidance. This 
demands that the 1 in 30 critical storm is attenuated and that the 1 in 100+ 
climate change (30%) critical event is kept on site. It is noted that drawings 
have been submitted showing highway soakaways within or close to carriage 
way that have overflow pipes, and a swale has been positioned at the 
southern end of the site. An analysis of the 1 in 100 + cc event is required 
both for highway and domestic soakaways and if there is movement around 
the site, including on the surface, it should be clearly demonstrated that 
property is not at risk (finished floor levels, boundary treatment). Having 
property floor levels 200mm above surrounding ground may not be adequate 
in terms of an assessment/mitigation. 
 
Maintenance & Management Agreements:  
 
Maintenance and management of soakaways is the key factor in minimising 
flood risk in the medium to long term. This should include a timetable for 
inspection, periodic infiltration testing as a monitoring tool, silt removal and a 
commitment to soakaway renewal plans for the site where simple 
maintenance can no longer provide improvements to infiltration test results. 
Experience points to lack of maintenance from householders being a 
significant risk in flooding from soakaways and therefore an agreement 
ensuring that this risk is managed for the lifetime of the development is 
required (management company). A full maintenance plan including details of 
inspections and periodic testing to be supplied to the Lead Local Flood 
Authority/Planning Authority as part of an agreement to ensure that 
maintenance/renewal can be enforced. 
 
Temporary Construction Phase Drainage: 
 
Temporary drainage and protection to adjacent existing properties will be 
required post soil strip as run off can dramatically increase during the 
construction phase.  A condition can be included to this effect. 
 
However if the use of soakaways is agreed going forward, the risk of materials 
from construction activity clogging soakaways (especially linked soakaways) 
is significant. A plan of prevention, inspection and silt removal at key stages is 
required. 
 
It should be noted that the applicant has been made aware of the concerns 
expressed by KC Flood Management & Drainage and invited to submit further 
information. The applicant has advised that they will not be making any further 
amendments to the current scheme. 
 
Crime Prevention: 
 
Concern has been expressed that shared access footpaths to the rear of 
properties would compromise security. It is recommended that shared rear 
accesses be designed out of the layout. 
 

Page 88



 
 
 

81 

There are areas of the site where the rear of dwellings border open, publically 
accessible land. To reduce the opportunity for criminal intrusion it is 
recommended that a uniform fence height of 2.1m be required. 
 
Conclusion: 
 
Following the withdrawal of the Core Strategy the Council can no longer 
demonstrate a required deliverable housing land supply sufficient for 5 years 
and in accordance with the NPPF relevant policies for the supply of housing 
are considered out of date. In such circumstances no significant weight can 
be given to its content and, in accordance with NPPF there is a presumption 
in favour of sustainable development and planning permission should be 
granted “unless any adverse impacts of granting permission would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against 
the policies in this framework taken as a whole, or that specific NPPF policies 
indicate development should be restricted”. 
 
The NPPF has introduced a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. The policies set out in the NPPF taken as a whole constitute the 
Government’s view of what sustainable development means in practice. On 
balance, it is considered that the proposed development is in accordance with 
the principles of sustainable development. 
 
Highways Development Management considers that the cumulative impacts 
associated with the proposed scale of development and associated traffic 
cannot be efficiently and safely accommodated on the local highway network 
within the vicinity of the site. As such, the proposal in its current form is 
considered unacceptable from a highways point of view. 
 
With regard to drainage, test results have been supplied that show 
encouraging soakaway results for significant, but not all, parts of the site. 
Further tests and analysis is envisaged. The location of soakaways is 
potentially problematic and no reference has been made with regard to long 
term maintenance plans which are required in detail at this stage. Given the 
size of the site and location of adjacent property at lower levels, it is of 
paramount importance that the LPA is satisfied that all risk can be adequately 
mitigated and managed and the drainage solution accommodated. The 
application fails to demonstrate that the site can be properly drained having 
regard to the use of soakaways and the extent of remedial works necessary in 
respect of coal workings together with the potential impact on existing 
residents of underground water movements and re-emergence. 
 
The amount of public open space within the layout falls short of that required 
by policy H18 of the Councils UDP. Whilst a contribution to improve existing 
open space off site could be negotiated to offset the shortfall, the distribution 
and location of open space within the layout is not considered to be 
appropriate to serve the development proposed.  
 
The Police Architectural Liaison Officer also raises concerns about the layout 
having regard to secured by design considerations. The layout as currently 

Page 89



 
 
 

82 

proposed is therefore considered to be unsatisfactory having regard to policy 
BE23 Crime Prevention. 
 
9. RECOMMENDATION 
 
REFUSE PLANNING PERMISSION: 
 
1. The cumulative impacts associated with the proposed scale of development 
and associated traffic cannot be efficiently and safely accommodated on the 
local highway network within the vicinity of the site. The development is 
therefore considered to be contrary to policy T10 of the Councils Unitary 
Development Plan. 
 
2. The application fails to demonstrate that the site can be properly drained 
having regard to the use of soakaways and the extent of remedial works 
necessary in respect of coal workings, together with the potential impact of 
underground water movements and re-emergence. This could significantly 
affect a proposed development site and the submitted layout. Information 
submitted with the application fails to address these issues. The proposal is 
therefore contrary to advice in Chapter 10 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and policy BE1 of the Councils Unitary Development Plan. 

 
3. The proposed layout is considered to be unsatisfactory having regard to the 
distribution and location of public open space and crime prevention 
considerations. The proposal is therefore contrary to advice in Chapters 7 and 
8 of the National Planning Policy Framework and policies BE1, BE2, H18 and 
BE23 of the Councils Unitary Development Plan. 

 
This recommendation is based on the following plan(s):- 
 

Plan Type Reference Version Date Received 

Proposed Layout P12:4606:01 Rev B Jan 2014 

Location Plan P12:4606:02 Rev O Feb 2014 

Beswick (AS & OP) P12:4606:16 Rev O Feb 2014 

Swinton (AS) Plans & 
Elevations 

P12:4606:21 Rev O Feb 2014 

Swinton (OP) Plans & 
Elevations 

P12:4606:22 Rev O Feb 2014 

Addingham (AS) P12:4606:23 Rev O Feb 2014 

Addingham (OP) P12:4606:24 Rev O Feb 2014 

Shipley (AS) P12:4606:25 Rev O Feb 2014 

Shipley (OP) P12:4606:26 Rev O Feb 2014 

Shipley (AS) Plans & 
Elevations Plot 59 

P12:4606:40 Rev O Sept 2014 

Shipley (AS) Plans & 
Elevations Plot 125 

P12:4606:42 Rev O Sept 2014 

Saltaire (AS) P12:4606:17 Rev O Feb 2014 

Saltaire (OP) P12:4606:18 Rev O Feb 2014 

Saltaire (OP) Plot 47 P12:4606:39 Rev O Sept 2014 

Page 90



 
 
 

83 

Plan Type Reference Version Date Received 

Saltaire (OP) Plot 101 P12:4606:41 Rev O Sept 2014 

Purley (AS & OP) P12:4606:36 Rev O April 2014 

Greenwich (AS & OP) P12:4606:35 Rev O April 2014 

Greenwich (AS) Plots 
20-22 

P12:4606:37 Rev O April 2014 

Greenwich (OP) Plots 
23-35, 36-38, 81-83 

P12:4606:38 Rev O April 2014 

Settle (OP) P12:4606:30 Rev O Feb 2014 

Settle (OP) P12:4606:29 Rev O Feb 2014 

Ilkley (OP) P12:4606:28 Rev O Feb 2014 

Ilkley (OP) P12:4606:27 Rev O Feb 2014 

Proposed Street 
scenes 

P12:4606:09 Rev O April 2014 

Garage Details P12:4606:08 Rev O Feb 2014 

Screen Wall Details P12:4606:04 Rev O Feb 2014 

Steel Fence Details P12:4606:10 Rev O Sept 2014 

Timber fence with 
Trellis Details 

P12:4606:12 Rev O Sept 2014 

Bin Store Details P12:4606:13 Rev O Sept 2014 

Transport Assessment 7240/KS/001/05  April 2014 

Travel Plan 7240/KS/002/01  April 2014 

Geo environmental 
Appraisal 

1668/1B  April 2014 

Soakaway testing E13/5841/MD/003  20 Jan 2015 

Soakaway test location 
plan 

E14/5841/004  Dec 2014 

Sections through site 
strata 

E14/5841/005  Jan 2015 

Flood Risk Assessment E13/5841/FRA001C  Oct 2013 
Revised Sept 
2014 

Arboricultural Report 11251/AJB   

Extended Phase 1 
Habitat Survey 

  May 2013 

Design & Access 
Statement 

  April 2014 

Planning Statement ML/EG/12609/R001eg  April 2014 

 
 

Page 91



 
 
 

84 

 
Application No: 2015/90022 

Type of application: 62m - FULL APPLICATION 

Proposal: Erection of 23 dwellings 

Location: Cleckheaton Bowling Club, Park View, Cleckheaton, BD19 3AP 

 
Grid Ref: 418102.0 425346.0  

Ward: Cleckheaton Ward 

Applicant: Jones Homes (Northern) & Cleckheaton BC 

Agent: Michael Townsend, Townsend Planning Consultants 

Target Date: 06-Aug-2015 

Recommendation: ASD-CONDITIONAL FULL APPROVAL SUBJECT TO 
THE DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY TO OFFICERS 

 
Link to guidance notes for public speaking at planning committee 
including how to pre-register your intention to speak. 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

LOCATION PLAN 
 

5
5

HIGHFIELD ROAD

6
5

2
5

3
6

2

2
0

1
2

Highfield

3

1

4

3
7

Heaton Avenue Primary School

P
A

R
K

 V
IE

W

Bowling Green

4
1

5
9

2

G
re

e
n

h
e

a
d

4
3

1
2

Bowling Club

Cleckheaton

33

49

57

1
8

Bowling Green

Pos
ts

55

P
a
th

26

24

© Kirklees Council 100019241 2008 
 
Map not to scale – for identification purposes only 
 

Page 92

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/business/planning/advicenotes/PublicSpeakingCommittee.pdf


 
 
 

85 

1. SUMMARY OF APPLICATION  
 

 
RECOMMENDATION:  
 
GRANT CONDITIONAL FULL PLANNING PERMISISON SUBJECT TO 
DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY TO OFFICERS TO: 
 
i) IMPOSE ALL NECESSARY AND APPROPRIATE CONDITIONS, WHICH 
MAY INCLUDE THOSE SET OUT BELOW, 
ii) SUBJECT TO THE COUNCIL AND THE APPLICANT ENTERING INTO A 
SECTION 106 AGREEMENT TO SECURE AFFORDABLE HOUSING AND 
A COMMUTED SUM IN RESPECT OF  PUBLIC OPEN SPACE 
iii) AND TO ISSUE THE DECISION 
 
2. INFORMATION 
 
The application is brought to the Strategic Planning Committee for 
determination in accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation as: 

Application Details  

Type of Development Full application for erection of 23 dwellings 

Scale of Development Site area: 0.67 hectares Units: 23 

No. Jobs Created or Retained  N/A 

Policy  

UDP allocation Urban Greenspace – Policy D3 

Independent Viability Required   Yes See report below 

Consultation/Representation  

Individual Support (No.) N/A 

Individual Objection (No.) 31 

Petition N/A N/A 

Ward Member Interest Yes  Ward Cllr Kath Pinnock 

Statutory Consultee 
Objections 

No  

Contributions  

 Affordable Housing See report 

 Education N/A 

 Public Open Space See report 

 Other N/A 

Other Issues  

Any Council Interest? No  

Pre-application planning 
advice? 

Yes Paid pre-application advice given, 
inlcuding from Highways 

Pre-App Consultation 
Undertaken? 

No  

Comment on Application 
 
 

Having regard to the limited value of the Urban 
Greenspace, on balance Officers consider that the 
provision of new housing in a sustainable location 
outweighs the loss of the open space. 

Page 93



 
 
 

86 

 
- The proposal represents a departure from the Council’s 

development plan 
- A committee request has been received from Ward Councillor Kath 

Pinnock 
 
Site Description 
 
The application relates to a site of approximately 0.67 hectares. To the north 
of the site is West End Park. Bordering the site and providing vehicle access, 
to the east is Park View Road which joins Highfield Road and Waltroyd Road. 
To the south are dwellings on Waltroyd Road and Bream Avenue which is a 
recently constructed residential estate. This also extends to dwellings which 
border the western boundary of the site. 
 
The site currently contains the pavilion building which relates to the sites 
former use as Cleckheaton Bowling Club. This building is in a poor state of 
repair and has recently suffered fire damage. The remains of the two bowling 
greens on the site are also present. The site is fenced off and there is 
currently no public access to it. 
 
The site itself is relatively flat, however there are significant drops in level to 
the dwellings to the south and west. A Public footpath (SPE81/40) runs 
beyond the northern boundary of the site. There are no Protected Trees within 
the site. 
 
Proposal 
 
The application is for full planning permission for the erection of 23 units. This 
consists of 17 dwellings and a block of 6 apartments. 
 
The proposed dwellings are all detached properties and are two storeys. The 
apartment block is three storey. Access into the site is to be taken from Park 
View, although the entry point will be further northwards than the existing 
point. 
 
4. BACKGROUND AND HISTORY 
 
2008/93071 – Change of use of land for siting of static caravan for use by club 
steward. Refused. 
2009/91383 – Change of use of land for siting of static caravan. Refused  
 
5. PLANNING POLICY 
 
Kirklees Unitary Development Plan 
 
D3 – Urban Greenspace  
BE1 – Design principles 
BE2 – Quality of design 
BE11 – Use of natural stone 

Page 94



 
 
 

87 

BE12 – Space about buildings 
T10 – Highway safety 
T16 – Pedestrian routes 
T19 – Car parking standards 
G6 – Contaminated land 
EP10 – Energy Efficiency 
EP11 – Integral landscaping scheme to protect / enhance ecology 
BE23 – Crime Prevention 
NE9 – Mature trees 
H1 – Meeting the housing needs of the district 
H6 – Housing sites 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 
NPPF Promoting sustainable transport (chapter 4) 
NPPF Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes (chapter 6) 
NPPF Requiring good design (chapter 7) 
NPPF Promoting healthy communities (chapter 8) 
NPPF Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding (chapter 10) 
NPPF Conserving and enhancing the natural environment (chapter 11) 
 
Other policy considerations 
 
Providing for Education Needs Generated by New Housing’ (KMC Policy 
Guidance) 
 
SPD2 – Affordable Housing 
 
National Planning Practice Guidance on affordable housing. 
 
6. CONSULTATIONS 
 
The following is a brief summary of the consultation responses received. 
Where necessary, these consultations are reported in more detail in the 
assessment below:  
 
K.C. Highways Development Management – No objections, on balance, 
and subject to conditions. 
 
Public Rights of Way – “No objection.” 
 
K.C. Environmental Services – No objections subject to conditions. 
 
K.C. Trees – No trees worthy of protection and therefore no objections. 

K.C. Environment Unit – No objections subject to conditions. 
 
K.C. Strategic Drainage – No objection subject to conditions. 
 

Page 95



 
 
 

88 

K.C. Landscaping – As no on-site POS is proposed a commuted sum of 
£57,500 should be sought towards improving facilities at the adjacent park. 
 
Coal Authority – No objections. 
 
Yorkshire Water – No objections. 
 
West Yorkshire Police Architectural Liaison Officer (PALO) – No 
objections to the proposals in principle. 
 
7. REPRESENTATIONS 
 
The application has been advertised by neighbour letter, newspaper 
advertisement and site notice. Following receipt of amended plans, the 
application has been re-advertised for a second time by neighbour letter and 
site notices. This amended period of publicity expired on the 3rd June 2015. 
 
A total of 30 letters of representation have been received in objection to the 
scheme at the time of writing. One letter of support (on balance) has been 
received. The points raised may be summarised as follows:  
 
Highways: 
 

- Lack of parking provision 
- Concerns over internal turning 
- Proposal will create traffic issues particularly around school times 
- Access will be dangerous  
- Additional car parking is required in the area 
- Current access point to the site is difficult/dangerous 
- HGV’s have caused considerable damage in the area 

 
Visual amenity: 
 

- Dwellings out of keeping with traditional properties around the site 
at present 

- 3 storey apartments are out of keeping with surrounding 
development 

 
Landscape / ecology: 
 

- Area is well populated with bats/wildlife 
 
Planning policy: 
 

- Site is Urban Greenspace and therefore shouldn’t be developed.  
 

Amenity: 
 

- Development will lead to loss of light and overshadowing 
- Houses will cause overlooking and overbearing impact 

Page 96



 
 
 

89 

- Likely noise and disturbance created 
- Concern over layout and density of dwellings 

 
Infrastructure capacity: 
 

- Schools do not have spare capacity 
 
Other matters raised: 
 

- More affordable housing isn’t needed 
- Site should be used for recreational use 
- Loss of amenity space is unwelcome in this area 
- Other brownfield sites should be used instead 
- What ‘type’ of people will be in the affordable housing near a school 
- Do Jones Homes have permission to apply for development? 
- Some local residents didn’t receive letters 
- Legal action will be undertaken and media informed if structural 

damage is caused to dwellings 
- What structural damage may the position of new dwellings cause to 

existing properties at a lower level? 
- Affordable housing would de-value existing properties 

 
Points of support: 
 

- Bowling club has been derelict for many years 
- Housing layout fits in local context 

 
Ward Councillor Kath Pinnock has emailed in respect of this application: 
 
“I have the following concerns re this application: 
 

 The land is allocated as Urban Green Space in the Council’s planning 

policy. This means it should not be built on except in very special 

circumstances. 

 The land is also set aside for recreation. As you know the Council are 

demolishing the Sports Centre at Whitcliffe Mount and not replacing the 

community facility on the site. If the Bowling Club is developed for 

houses this is one further loss of a site for recreation. 

 The road network round the site is already very congested at school 

start and finish times. 

 The road junction with Highfield Terrace and Waltroyd Road is already 

very dangerous. The application does very little to sort this out. 

 The application includes a 3 storey apartment block on the corner of 

the site next to the Park and Park View. This will dominate the scene 

and is not, in my view, acceptable. 

Page 97



 
 
 

90 

Given the application is contrary to policy, I would request that there is a site 

visit and a committee decision.” 

8. ASSESSMENT 
 
The application is for full planning permission for the erection of 23 dwellings 
and formation of access point. 
 
General principle:  
 
The entire application site is allocated as Urban Greenspace on the Council’s 
Unitary Development Plan Proposals Map. This forms part of a wider 
allocation which extends onto land to the north (West End Park). The starting 
point for consideration is therefore Policy D3 of the Unitary Development Plan.    
 
Policy D3 sets out at part (i) that on Urban Greenspace sites planning 
permission will not be granted unless the development is necessary for the 
continuation or enhancement of the established use (s) or is a change of use 
to alternative open land uses, or would result in a specific community benefit, 
and, in all cases, will protect visual amenity, wildlife value and opportunities 
for sport and recreation.  
 
Or as in part (ii), it includes an alternative provision of Urban Greenspace 
equivalent in both quantitative and qualitative terms to that which would be 
developed and reasonably accessible to existing users. 
 
The community benefit element of the policy within part (i) is not consistent 
with the considerations of paragraph 74 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF). The majority of the policy is however in accordance with 
the NPPF and as such Policy D3 should be accorded significant weight. 
 
The proposal is for residential development and therefore the proposal is not 
necessary for the continuation or enhancement of the use of the site and does 
not involve change of use to alternative open land uses. No alternative 
provision of Urban Greenspace is included within the scheme. The proposal is 
therefore contrary to Policy D3 and represents a departure from the Council’s 
development plan. The application is referred to Strategic Committee on this 
basis.   
 
Planning permission should only be granted if this departure is outweighed by 
other material considerations.  
 
Paragraph 212 of the NPPF states that the policies in the framework are a 
material consideration to be taken into account. 
 
NPPF paragraph 74 advises that existing open space, sports and recreational 
buildings should not be built on unless: 
 

 “an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown that the 
open space be surplus to requirements; or 

Page 98



 
 
 

91 

 the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced 
by equivalent or better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a 
suitable location; or 

 the development is for alternative sports and recreational provision the 
needs for which outweigh the loss.” 

 
The development proposed does not make replacement provision for the loss 
of the open space and it is not for alternative sport and recreational provision. 
It is therefore necessary to consider whether the Urban Greenspace is clearly 
surplus to requirements as open space.   
 
Paragraph 14 of the NPPF outlines a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. For decision taking this means (unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise): 
 

 “approving development proposals that accord with the development 
plan without delay; and 

 

 where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are 
out-of-date, granting permission unless: 
 
- any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 

demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole; or 

- specific policies in this Framework indicate development should be 
restricted.” 

 
Footnote 9 lists examples where specific policies within the Framework 
indicate that development should be restricted. The examples include land 
designated as Green Belt and Local Green Space. The application site does 
not fall into either of these categories.  
 
The NPPF sets out at paragraph 49, “housing applications should be 
considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development.”   
 
Sustainability: 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that the purpose of 
the planning system “is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable 
development.” (para 6). It further notes that pursuing sustainable development 
involves seeking positive improvements in the quality of the built, natural and 
historic environment, as well as in peoples’ quality of life (para 9). 
 
The NPPF identifies the dimensions of sustainable development as economic, 
social and environmental roles (para 7). It states that these roles are mutually 
dependent and should not be undertaken in isolation. “Economic, social and 
environmental gains should be sought jointly and simultaneously through the 

Page 99



 
 
 

92 

planning system.” (para 8). The NPPF goes on to stress the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development. The proposals have been assessed in 
relation to the three strands of sustainable development as follows: 
 
Economic: 
 
The proposal will bring economic gains by providing business opportunities for 
contractors and local suppliers, creating additional demand for local services 
and potentially increasing the use and viability of local bus services. 
 
Social: 
 
There will be a social gain through the provision of new housing at a time of 
general shortage, which includes affordable housing. 
 
Environmental: 
 
The application site is considered to be a combination of brownfield (the 
pavilion building) and greenfield land (the bowling greens). In respect of 
development of the greenfield areas, whilst the NPPF encourages the use of 
brownfield land for development, it also makes clear that no significant weight 
can be given to the loss of greenfield sites to housing when there is a national 
priority to increase housing supply. 
 
Furthermore, development of the greenfield areas is necessary to bring 
forward the development on the rest of the site (brownfield). 
 
In this case, assessing the policies in the National Planning Policy Framework 
as a whole in accordance with the paragraph 14 test, the environmental harm 
arising from the development of the greenfield parts of the site are considered 
to be outweighed by the benefits to be gained from the provision of housing. 
 
The NPPF also recognises the need to locate significant development in 
sustainable locations as a core planning principle. As noted in the highways 
section of this report below, the site provides a reasonable level of access to 
public transport. 
 
Value assessment: 
 
The value of this piece of open space was assessed in the Council’s Open 
Space Study which was first published in 2007 and subsequently revised in 
2010. 
 
The study identifies that at the time the site was considered to be of good 
quality, reflecting the fact that at that point, the site was in use for outdoor 
recreation as a private bowling club. 
 

Page 100



 
 
 

93 

The Council, through external consultants, is currently undertaking the 
preparation of a Playing Pitch Strategy. This has involved consultation with 
and input from Sport England and a number of other sporting governing 
bodies.  
 
This Strategy has researched all existing playing pitches in Kirklees, including 
considering the quality and demand for them. Whilst the strategy has not yet 
been formally agreed by the Council, it is considered that some weight may 
be given to it given that it provides the most up to date information.   
 
In the case of Cleckheaton Bowling Club, it concluded that the site was 
“Unlikely to be required to service Bowls demand.” 
 
In addition, the Strategy also identified bowling greens at Spen Victoria 
Cricket, Bowling & Athletic Club and Spenborough United Ex Servicemen’s 
Club. In respect of the former, the Strategy notes the site has one green “with 
likely spare capacity for additional use.” With regard to the latter, the Strategy 
found that this is, “Unlikely to be required to service Bowls demand.”   
 
The Strategy has therefore considered that the application site is not required 
for bowling and provides evidence that other bowling clubs in the area are not 
oversubscribed. 
 
Therefore, in respect of paragraph 74 of the NPPF, it is considered that an 
assessment has taken place which clearly shows that the open space is 
surplus to requirements. 
 
Notwithstanding this, in considering the quality of this piece of urban 
greenspace, there are a number of other site specific factors which need to be 
taken into account:  
 

- Time since last used as bowling club & programme of marketing 
with no interest for continued use as bowling greens 

- Visual amenity (clubhouse in a poor state of repair and subject to 
fire damage) 

- Lack of public access to the site i.e. not offering any recreational 
value 

- Delivery of commuted sum of £57,500 towards existing park 
adjacent to the site, which is a specific community benefit 

- Site does not contain any significant habitats or trees worthy of 
TPO’s 

- No reasonable likelihood of the landowner bringing it back into use 
for bowling at this time 

 
Taking the above site specific factors into account, this piece of Urban 
Greenspace is considered to be of relatively low value. Having made this 
judgement, the weight to be given to protection of the Urban Greenspace is 
therefore more limited than may be the case with other Urban Greenspace 
allocations.    
 

Page 101



 
 
 

94 

In considering paragraph 74 of the NPPF, this indicates that the open space 
should not be built on unless it is clearly surplus to requirements. As noted 
above with regard to the emerging Playing Pitch Strategy, it is considered that 
this has been demonstrated. The clear limitations of the site in terms of its 
overall value as open space also give weight in favour of the development 
proposed, particularly in the context of paragraph 49 of the Framework. 
 
In such circumstances, on balance, it is considered that the loss of this Urban 
Greenspace site is outweighed by the provision of housing, including 
affordable housing as would be required through this development, and taking 
into account the shortfall in the District’s supply of housing land that currently 
exists. 
 
Impact on residential amenity (including Noise):  
 
In assessing the impact of the development on surrounding dwellings, Policy 
BE12 of the UDP is considered relevant. This requires 12 metres between 
existing habitable rooms and proposed non-habitable room windows and 21 
metres between existing habitable rooms and proposed habitable room 
windows.  
 
To the north of the site is a public right of way and beyond this is West End 
Park. As there are no dwellings, the requirements of Policy BE12 are met. To 
the east and across Park View are existing properties. Separation distances in 
excess of 21 metres are achieved between these existing properties and the 
closest proposed dwellings/apartment. 
 
To the south of the site are dwellings on Waltroyd Road and Bream Avenue. 
The rear elevations of proposed Plots 1 & 2 are approximately 13 metres from 
the side elevation of No. 37 Waltroyd. This side elevation contains what 
appear to be non-habitable windows and therefore Policy BE12 is complied 
with in this respect.  
 
Proposed plots 4, 5 & 6 achieve approximately 21 metres separation to 
habitable room windows on the rear elevations of No.s 14, 16 & 18 Bream 
Avenue. Plot 8 is located approximately 3 metres from No. 57 Bream Avenue 
at its closest point. However, there are no habitable room windows to the side 
(north facing) elevation of No. 57 and no habitable rooms above ground floor 
level to the south facing elevation of Plot 8. The ground floor kitchen window 
will be screened by way of boundary treatment.   
 
Plots 10 and 11 are adjacent to No. 55 however there is no direct overlooking 
by virtue of the position and orientation of the dwellings. It is therefore 
considered that the development accords with Policy BE12.  
  
With respect to overbearing impact and overshadowing, it is noted that there 
are significant changes in levels between the application site and the existing 
dwellings to the south and west.  In addition, proposed plots 8 and 11 are in 
relatively close proximity to existing dwellings.  
 

Page 102



 
 
 

95 

With respect to Plot 8, as this is directly to the north of No. 57 Bream Avenue, 
there will be no significant overshadowing of this property. Plot 11 is located 
to the north east of No. 55 Bream Avenue and therefore a limited degree of 
overshadowing will take place in the morning. It is considered that this will not 
cause a level of harm which would substantiate a reason for refusal.  
 
With respect to noise, as the site is mainly surrounded by residential 
development, and Pollution & Noise have raised no concerns, it is considered 
that the proposal is acceptable in this regard.  
     
Paragraph 58 of the NPPF requires developments to, 
 
“create safe and accessible environments where crime and disorder, and the 
fear of crime, do not undermine quality of life or community cohesion.” 
 
The development has been assessed by the Council’s Police Architectural 
Officer. The PALO has confirmed that there are no concerns with the 
proposed design or layout (subject to conditions in respect of height of 
boundary treatments). 
 
It is considered that residential development in this area (which is 
predominantly residential in nature) is appropriate and the development 
accords with Policies D2 and BE12 of the Unitary Development Plan.  
 
Impact on visual amenity: 
 
The nature of surrounding residential development (which is to the east, south 
and south west of the site) is mixed in character with some detached, semi-
detached and terraced dwellings present.  
 
Paragraph 58 of the NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should 
ensure developments, “respond to local character and history, and reflect the 
identity of local surroundings and materials” 
 
The proposed residential development provides a mix of house types of a 
design and appearance that reflects the general character of the wider area. 
 
This two storey scale of the houses proposed is considered acceptable in the 
context of surrounding development, which is largely two storey. The 
proposed 3 storey apartment block is considered acceptable as this ensures a 
relatively high density of development (approx. 34 dwellings per hectare). This 
will result in a development which results in efficient use of land.  
 
Slight variations in the building line are provided within the layout, along with 
some dwellings at the western corner of the site being orientated at 90 
degrees to the majority of the houses. This ensures that the proposal is not 
too linear as this can often lack visual interest. The site layout also ensures a 
good degree of natural surveillance throughout the site. 
 

Page 103



 
 
 

96 

With respect to design, the proposed house types are all considered 
acceptable in respect of fenestration and proportions. The proposed materials 
for the dwellings are a mix of brick and render with concrete roof tiles. 
 
Given that there are a variety of materials of construction for dwellings in this 
part of Cleckheaton, it is considered that this mix of materials would be 
appropriate. Notwithstanding this, it is suggested that a condition be imposed 
which requires samples of materials to be submitted before development 
commences.  
 
It is considered that the proposed development is acceptable in relation to 
visual amenity and the proposals accord with Policy D2 of the Kirklees UDP in 
this regard. 
 
Highways:  
 
The site is in close proximity to the East End Middle School and Heaton 
Avenue Primary School and School drop off/pick up can be problematic at 
times for existing residents in the locality. 
 
A public footpath (Spen81) runs to the north of the site and outside of its limits 
and connects Park View with public footpaths Spen 82 to the west.  
 
The access to the former Bowling Club/Bar lies directly on its south-eastern 
corner and appears to be in its original form from when the club house was 
first constructed. As such it is of single vehicle width, badly located on the 
frontage with respect to the adjacent highways, and with particularly poor 
vision in a southerly direction. 
 
Given the height of existing boundary walls and the lack of footway on the 
nearside of the Waltroyd Road/Park View/ Highfield Road junction 
intervisibility between drivers leaving the bowling club access and pedestrians 
is challenging especially in the ability of drivers to see small children. 
 
Park View is a publicly maintained residential estate road which opposite the 
site frontage has a carriageway width of 6.2m with a near ( western) verge of 
approximately 1.9m and a far (eastern) footway of 1.85m. Park View is 
subject to a 30 mph speed limit and is street lit, and in the immediate vicinity 
of the site there are no Traffic Regulation Orders that prohibit on-street 
parking or loading. 
 
An on-street parking survey has been carried out of on-street parking with 
respect to the existing nearby school uses which indicates on street parking 
on Park View between 08.30 and 09.10 in 10 minute intervals. 
 
At the start of the survey on-street parking (assumed to be generated by 
existing residents) occurs opposite the site frontage extending to Waltroyd 
Road. At 8.40 there was a heavy concentration of parking. However at 8.50 
the on-street parking reduces significantly and in the vicinity of the site is less 

Page 104



 
 
 

97 

than 8.30 levels. Levels again drop at 09.00 and at 9.10 are the same 
suggesting longer term resident related parking. 
 
It should be noted that despite there being no restrictions on parking on Park 
View drivers’ park on the built up eastern frontage leaving a free lane 
northbound. Although at 8.40 there was a heavy concentration of parking at 
all other times the space between the parked vehicles and the light flows did 
not inhibit observed through traffic movements. 
 
There have been no recorded injury accidents in the vicinity of the 
development site or along any of the roads leading to the site from Whitcliffe 
Road or Westgate in the last 5 years. 
 
The Development Proposals: 
 
The proposed dwellings will be served from a new adoptable estate road, 
which is laid out partly as a traditional road with a constant width carriageway 
and footways to either flank leading to a relatively short shared surface 
courtyard. 
 
The proposed dwellings are primarily 4 bedroom detached houses set out in 
frontage form with their own individual access and off street parking (drive and 
garage) within its curtilage. In addition there is a single block of 6 apartments 
located adjacent to the proposed junction with Park View on the northern side 
of the new estate road. These apartments have two bedrooms and are 
provided as “affordable housing”. Off street parking to the apartments is 
provided in the form of 8 open spaces accessed direct from the new estate 
road. 
 
The new estate road junction with Park View is to be located almost centrally 
on the site frontage to Park View and will include a carriageway of 5.5m, two 
2m wide footways and junction kerb radii of 6m. 
 
The present nearside highway verge is to be converted to a footway and will 
have a minimum width of 2m. Visibility at the new junction will be in 
accordance with the guidance set out within Manual for Streets and provides 
sight lines at the acknowledged urban setback of 2.4m of approximately 43m 
to the north and to the full distance to the junction of Waltroyd Road to the 
south. 
 
As part of the development proposals the existing substandard access to the 
site is to be physically closed and the footway reinstated. The lack of a 
connecting nearside footway to Waltroyd Road is also acknowledged and to 
remedy this and provide an easier route for vehicles the Waltroyd Road 
connection into Park View is to be improved with both an increased 
carriageway width and footway provision. The estate road serving the 
development will include a turning facility for a refuse/emergency service 
vehicle at its head. 
 

Page 105



 
 
 

98 

Traffic generation: 
 
Information from the nationally accepted TRICs database has been used to 
calculate expected trip numbers generated by the development. The 
estimated peak hour morning and evening trip generation is as follows: 
 
AM Peak 6vehicles in and 10 vehicles out 
PM Peak 9 vehicles in and 5 vehicles out 
 
The proposed development is anticipated to generate approximately 16 two 
way movements during the morning peak and 14 trips during the evening 
peak hours.  
 
Public transport: 
 
The closest bus stops to the site are located along South Parade located 
approximately 170m away from the site, other stops are located on Westgate 
approximately 340m away from the proposed application site. 
 
There is a frequent level of service with an average of 7/8 buses per hour in 
each direction during peak daytime periods, 2 buses per hour during the 
evenings and 3 buses per hour on Sundays. 
 
Highway Development Management Conclusions: 
 
Highways would generally concur with the findings of the Transport 
Assessment and consider that the level of traffic generated by the proposals 
can be accommodated and will have no material impact on the safe operation 
of the local highway. However there are concerns that the proposed 
development may add to the congestion that occurs at the peak times 
associated with the nearby schools. 
 
Conditions are considered necessary to allow a post completion investigation 
of the on street parking and a review of the existing transport regulation 
orders and the implementation of appropriate measures to manage parking if 
concluded necessary. 
The proposed footway to the site frontage, closure of the existing access, and 
the realignment and proposed improve pedestrian provisions along Park View 
leading into Waltroyd Road are considered to be in the interests of highway 
safety. 
 
The proposed priority junction and visibility splays onto Park View meet 
recommended standards and are considered acceptable. 
 
The proposed turning head is designed to accommodate an 11.6m long waste 
collection vehicle, the access road is 5.5m wide and the access and visibility 
splays are considered acceptable. 
 

Page 106



 
 
 

99 

An appropriate amount of parking needs to be provided. In general parking 
should be provided in accordance with Appendix 2 of the UDP, including 
visitor (1 space per 4 dwellings) and cycle parking. 
 
Integral garages should be provided with internal dimensions of 3m x 6m if 
they are to be considered as contributing towards parking provision. 
 
In this case the garage sizes for the Branbury, Bramhall and Davenham 
house types are all substandard - 14 out of 17 detached houses proposed for 
this development (Branbury 4.7 x 2.6, Bramhall 4.8 x 2.7, Davenham 4.8 x 
2.6). All of these house type are substantial 4 bedroom detached houses and 
the proposed parking provision needs to be fit for purpose. Highways 
recommendation is that 3 off-street parking spaces should be provided per 
dwelling. 
 
To compensate for the lack of garage space the applicants have agreed to a 
condition requiring the provision of storage sheds which should allow the 
garages to be used for parking and not storage as is often the case where no 
other outside storage is available.  
 
Taking the above into account, and subject to the imposition of conditions, it is 
considered that it would be difficult to substantiate a reason for refusal on 
highway grounds and the proposals are therefore acceptable on balance. 
 
Drainage/Flood Risk: 
 
The Council’s Strategic Drainage Officer and Yorkshire Water have been 
consulted on the application and raised no objections subject to the imposition 
of conditions.  
 
Subject to the imposition of condition, it is considered that the proposed 
development is acceptable in relation to flood risk and drainage.    
 
Ecology: 
 
The applicant has submitted and ecological survey and undertaken bat 
surveys. This detailed that no bats are using the pavilion building for roosting, 
although roost features are present and bats are foraging at the site. 
 
The findings of the surveys have been considered and agreed by the 
Council’s Environment Unit. No objections have been raised subject to the 
imposition of conditions relating to the following: 
 

- A landscaping scheme which retains existing trees and includes 
new planting based upon the use of native tree and shrub species.    

- Provision of bat and bird boxes  
- A landscape management plan to manage the important 

biodiversity features incorporated into the site.  
- A lighting scheme designed to avoid light spillage into sensitive 

areas 

Page 107



 
 
 

100 

- A method statement for controlling and invasive species including 
Himalayan balsam and Japanese knotweed (although the latter is 
only present beyond the periphery of the site). 

 
Subject to these conditions, the development is considered acceptable in 
respect of ecology and accords with the guidance contained within the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Trees: 
 
The proposals have been assessed by the Council’s Arboricultural Officer 
who has confirmed that there are no trees worthy of Tree Preservation 
Orders. Therefore there are no objections in respect of mature trees and the 
development complies with Policy NE9 of the Unitary Development Plan. 
 
Viability/Section 106 contributions: 
 
The applicant has submitted a Viability Appraisal (VA) with the application and 
this has been subject to independent analysis on behalf of the Council. The 
main conclusions of the VA are accepted. 
 
The NPPF sets out how viability should be considered and paragraph 173 
states, 
 
“To ensure viability, the costs of any requirements likely to be applied to 
development, such as requirements for affordable housing, standards, 
infrastructure contributions or other requirements should, when taking account 
of the normal cost of development and mitigation, provide competitive returns 
to a willing land owner and willing developer to enable the development to be 
deliverable.” 
 
The table below details the policy requirements in relation to the development 
and the contributions to be delivered by the development: 
 

Provision/Contribution Policy Requirement Contributions/costs 

   

Affordable Housing 27.9%* of residential 
floor space 

15% of floorspace 
(secured by Section 106 
agreement) 

Education N/A  

Public Open Space £57,500  (towards 
improvement of facilities 
at West End Park) 

£57,500 (secured by 
Section 106 agreement) 

 
*this figure is based upon an approximation of the amount of the site which is 
Greenfield (policy requirement for 30% of floorspace) against that which is 
Brownfield (requirement for 15% of floorspace). The vast majority of the site is 
Greenfield, therefore the combined Policy requirement is approximately 
27.9% of floorspace.   
 

Page 108



 
 
 

101 

Viability position: 
 
The applicant’s Viability Appraisal (VA) demonstrates that the development 
can deliver a commuted sum for off-site Public Open Space improvements, 
but cannot afford to deliver an affordable housing contribution in full. The 
appraisal sets out that 15% of floorspace can be delivered (through 6 
apartments) by the development, rather than the (approximate) 27.9% as 
required by policy. 
 
This appraisal asserts that there are site specific factors which mean that the 
development can’t deliver this policy requirement in full. This includes site 
specific costs such as asbestos removal, drainage costs (including utility 
connections and surface water storage).  
 
The VA has been assessed independently by Consultants on behalf of the 
Council. This has examined the key variables in the applicants’ submission. 
This concludes that the gross development value, finance and build costs are 
in line with market expectations 
 
The development would allow for a return to the developer of 18% profit on 
Gross Development Value. This level of profit is considered to be a 
reasonable developer’s return and is within the generally accepted range, 
established by appeal decisions such as Shinfield. The conclusions of the 
applicant’s appraisal are therefore accepted. 
 
Planning Practice Guidance and the recent Written Ministerial Statement 
make clear that contributions should not be sought from developers on sites 
of 10 units or less. Whilst this proposal is for 23 units, this guidance 
acknowledges that delivering affordable housing on relatively small sites is 
difficult. 
 
Taking the NPPF and this recent guidance into account, along with the 
submitted (and independently assessed) Viability Appraisal, it is considered 
that the applicant has demonstrated that the development isn’t viable with the 
delivery of affordable housing. 
 
Objections:  
 
Insofar as representations received that have not been addressed in the 
above assessment these are answered as follows:  
 

- Likely noise and disturbance created 
Response: It is acknowledged that the development may lead to a period of 
disturbance and disruption during construction. However, this is the same for 
any development and a reason for refusal on this basis couldn’t be 
substantiated.  

 
- Schools do not have spare capacity 

Response: The development is not of a sufficient size to require a payment 
towards local education needs.  

Page 109



 
 
 

102 

 
- More affordable housing isn’t needed 

Response: The Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) details that 
within the north western Kirklees housing market area (which includes 
Cleckheaton) 286 new affordable homes are needed per year.  
 

- Site should be used for recreational use 
Response: The application has been assessed on its planning merits. 
 

- What ‘type’ of people will be in the affordable housing near a school 
Response: This isn’t a material planning consideration and therefore can’t be 
taken into account.  
 

- Do Jones Homes have permission to apply for development? 
Response: The applicant has completed certificate B of the application form 
which details that notice has been served to the landwoner and therefore the 
application is valid.  

 
- Some local residents didn’t receive letters 

Response: The application was advertised by site notice (x 5), neighbour 
notification letter (x 24) and by press advert. The high level of representation 
received also indicates a wide awareness of the application.  
 

- Legal action will be undertaken and media informed if structural 
damage is caused to dwellings 

Response: This isn’t a material planning consideration as any structural 
damage caused to adjacent properties would be a private, civil matter 
between the parties.  

 
- What structural damage may the position of new dwellings cause to 

existing properties at a lower level? 
Response: This isn’t a material planning consideration as any structural 
damage caused to adjacent properties would be a private, civil matter 
between the parties.  
 

- Affordable housing would de-value existing properties 
Response: This isn’t a material planning consideration and therefore can’t be 
taken into account.  
 
Conclusion:  
 
Having regard to the limited value of the Urban Greenspace as set out above, 
on balance, Officers consider that the provision of new housing in a 
sustainable location outweighs the loss of the open space. 
 
The NPPF has introduced a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. The policies set out in the NPPF taken as a whole constitute the 
Government’s view of what sustainable development means in practice. It is 
considered that the proposed development is in accordance with the 
principles of sustainable development. 

Page 110



 
 
 

103 

 
This application has been assessed against relevant policies in the 
development plan and other material considerations. The proposals are 
considered to be compliant with the policies in the Unitary Development Plan 
and there are no adverse impacts which would outweigh the benefits of the 
scheme. 
 
10. RECOMMENDATION 
 
GRANT FULL PLANNING PERMISISON SUBJECT TO DELEGATION OF 
AUTHORITY TO OFFICERS TO IMPOSE: 
 
i) ALL NECESSARY AND APPROPRIATE CONDITIONS, WHICH MAY 
INCLUDE THOSE SET OUT BELOW, 
ii) SUBJECT TO THE COUNCIL AND THE APPLICANT ENTERING INTO A 
SECTION 106 AGREEMENT TO SECURE AFFORDABLE HOUSING AND 
A COMMUTED SUM IN RESPECT OF  PUBLIC OPEN SPACE 
iii) AND TO ISSUE THE DECISION 
 
Conditions: 
 
1. The development shall be begun not later than the expiration of three years 
beginning with the date on which permission is granted.  
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete 
accordance with the plans and specifications listed in this decision notice, 
except as may be specified in the conditions attached to this permission, 
which shall in all cases take precedence. 
 
3. Before development commences, the wall to the site frontage shall be set 
back to the rear of the proposed visibility splays as shown on approved plan 
number 14-026 PL02 rev R and shall be cleared of all obstructions to visibility 
and tarmac surfaced to current standards in accordance with details that have 
previously been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
4. Prior to the development being brought into use, the approved vehicle 
parking areas shall be surfaced and drained in accordance with the 
Communities and Local Government; and Environment Agencies ‘Guidance 
on the permeable surfacing of front gardens (parking areas)’ published 13th 
May 2009 (ISBN 9781409804864) as amended or superseded; and thereafter 
retained throughout the lifetime of the development. 
 
5. No development shall take place until a scheme detailing the proposed 
internal adoptable estate roads have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include full sections, 
drainage works, street lighting, signing, surface finishes and the treatment of 
sight lines, together with an independent safety audit covering all aspects of 
work. Before any building is brought into use the scheme shall be completed 
in accordance with the scheme shown on approved plans and retained 
thereafter. 

Page 111



 
 
 

104 

 
6. Before development commences details of storage and access for 
collection of wastes from the premises shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved details shall be 
provided before first occupation and shall be so retained thereafter. 
 
7. Prior to development commencing, a detailed scheme for the improvement 
of the Park View/Highfield Road/Waltroyd Road junction and the provision of a 
footway to the park view site frontage with associated signing and white lining 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA. The scheme shall 
include construction specifications, white lining, signing, surface finishes 
together with an independent Safety Audit covering all aspects of the work. All 
of the agreed works shall be implemented before any part of the development 
is first brought into use. 
 
8. Within 3 months of the completion of the development and the issue of the 
provisional certificate of highway adoption the applicants shall undertake a 
parking survey relative to school start and finish times of the on street parking 
on the development. Following the results of the survey should it be 
concluded on street parking restrictions are necessary on the development 
during such times then the applicant agrees to fund the necessary transport 
regulation order. 
 
9. Prior to construction commencing, a schedule of the means of access to 
the site for construction traffic shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the LPA. The schedule shall include the point of access for construction 
traffic, details of the times of use of the access, the routing of construction 
traffic to and from the site, construction workers parking facilities and the 
provision, use and retention of adequate wheel washing facilities within the 
site. All construction arrangements shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved schedule throughout the period of construction. 
 
10. Development shall not commence until a Remediation Strategy has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  The 
Remediation Strategy shall include a timetable for the implementation and 
completion of the approved remediation measures.  
 
11. Remediation of the site shall be carried out and completed in accordance 
with the Remediation Strategy approved pursuant to condition 10. In the event 
that remediation is unable to proceed in accordance with the approved 
Remediation Strategy or contamination not previously considered in either the 
Preliminary Risk Assessment or the Phase II Intrusive Site Investigation 
Report is identified or encountered on site, all works on site (save for site 
investigation works) shall cease immediately and the Local Planning Authority 
shall be notified in writing within 2 working days. Unless otherwise agreed in 
writing with the local planning authority, works shall not recommence until 
proposed revisions to the Remediation Strategy have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Remediation of the site 
shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved revised 
Remediation Strategy. 

Page 112



 
 
 

105 

 
12. Following completion of any measures identified in the approved 
Remediation Strategy or any approved revised Remediation Strategy a 
Validation Report shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority.  Unless 
otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, no part of the 
site shall be brought into use until such time as the remediation measures for 
the whole site have been completed in accordance with the approved 
Remediation Strategy or the approved revised Remediation Strategy and a 
Validation Report in respect of those remediation measures has been 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
13. Prior to occupation of the dwelling(s), in all residential units that have a 
dedicated parking area and/or a dedicated garage, an electric vehicle 
recharging point shall be installed. Cable and circuitry ratings shall be of 
adequate size to ensure a minimum continuous current demand of 16 Amps 
and a maximum demand of 32Amps. In residential units that have unallocated 
parking spaces then before occupation of these units at least one electric 
vehicle recharging point per ten properties with the above specification shall 
be installed  
 
14. Development shall not commence until a scheme detailing separate foul 
and surface water drainage, (including off site works, outfalls, balancing 
works, plans and longitudinal sections, hydraulic calculations, phasing of 
drainage provision, existing drainage to be maintained/diverted/abandoned) 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall be phased, so as to include details of when, 
during the development of the site, the drainage will be installed. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with that phased scheme. 
 
15. Development shall not commence until a scheme restricting the rate of 
surface water discharge from the site to a maximum of 3litres per second (can 
be increased if acceptable to Yorkshire Water) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by Local Planning Authority. The drainage scheme shall 
be designed to attenuate flows generated by the critical 1 in 100 year storm 
events, with a 30% additional allowance for climate change. The scheme shall 
include a detailed maintenance and management regime for the storage 
facility including the flow restriction.  The scheme shall be phased, so as to 
include details of when, during the development of the site, the surface water 
attenuation will be installed. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with that phased scheme. The approved maintenance and 
management scheme shall be implemented throughout the lifetime of the 
development.  
 
16. The development shall not commence until an assessment of the effects 
of 1 in 100 year storm events, with an additional allowance for climate 
change, on drainage infrastructure, including blockage scenarios, and 
exceedance events, and surface water run-off pre and post development 
between the development and the surrounding area, in both directions, has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
No part of the development shall be brought into use (dwellings shall not be 

Page 113



 
 
 

106 

occupied) until the works comprising the approved scheme have been 
completed and such approved scheme shall be retained thereafter throughout 
the lifetime of the development.   
 
17. Development shall not commence until a scheme, detailing temporary 
surface water drainage for the construction phase (after soil and vegetation 
strip) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall detail: 
 
 -  phasing of the development and phasing of temporary drainage provision.  
 - include methods of preventing silt, debris and contaminants entering 
existing drainage systems and watercourses and how flooding of adjacent 
land is prevented. 
 
18. The temporary works shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved scheme and phasing. No phase of the development shall be 
commenced until the temporary works approved for that phase have been 
completed. The approved temporary drainage scheme shall be retained until 
the approved permanent surface water drainage system is in place and 
functioning in accordance with written notification to the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 
19. Notwithstanding the submitted information, within 3 months of the date of 
this permission a landscaping plan shall be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority. This shall detail the retention of existing trees (as described in the 
submitted ecological report) and include new planting based upon the use of 
native tree and shrub species. New planting across the site should seek to 
enhance habitat networks and make links beyond the site boundary. The 
scheme shall also detail the phasing of the landscaping, planting and a 
landscape management plan. The development and the works comprising the 
approved scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
phasing. The approved landscaping scheme shall, from its completion, be 
maintained for a period of five years. If, within this period, any tree, shrub or 
hedge shall die, become diseased or be removed, it shall be replaced with 
others of similar size and species unless the Local Planning Authority gives its 
written consent to any variation.  
 
20. Within 3 months of the date of this permission, details of in-situ bat and 
bird boxes to be incorporated into the design of the dwellings shall be 
submitted in writing to the Local Planning Authority. The bat and bird boxes 
shall be provided at a ratio of one box per 3 dwellings. The development shall 
be undertaken in accordance with the details so approved and the bat and 
bird boxes provided retained thereafter. 
 
21. Within 3 months of the date of this permission, a lighting scheme shall be 
submitted in writing to the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall detail 
measures to prevent light spillage into tree corridors where bats are likely to 
forage and/or where bat boxes have been erected. This applies to both the 
construction and operational phases. The development shall be undertaken in 
accordance with the details so approved. 

Page 114



 
 
 

107 

 
22. Within 3 months of the date of this permission details of a scheme to 
eradicate Japanese Knotweed and Himalayan Balsam shall be submitted in 
writing to the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include details of the 
schedule of the works. The development shall then be completed in 
accordance with the approved scheme, prior to first occupation of the 
dwellings. 
 
23. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 as amended (or any Order 
revoking or re-enacting that Order) no development included within Classes A 
and E of Part 1 of Schedule 2 to that Order shall be carried out without the 
prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
24. Within 6 months of the date of this permission, details of the siting, design 
and materials to be used in the construction of walls or fences for boundaries 
(this shall be of a minimum height of 2.1 metres along the northern boundary 
of the site), screens or retaining walls shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved walls/fences shall be 
erected before the development hereby approved is occupied/brought into 
use and shall thereafter be maintained. 
 
25. Within 6 months of the date of this permission, samples of all facing and 
roofing materials shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be constructed of the 
approved materials. 
 
26. Notwithstanding the submitted information, within 3 months of the date of 
this permission a scheme detailing the provision of a garden shed to each of 
the dwellings within the site shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
in writing. The scheme shall detail the size, position and materials for 
construction of the sheds. The development shall then be completed in 
accordance with the approved details 
 
27. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 as amended (or any Order 
revoking or re-enacting that Order) no doors, windows or any other openings 
(apart from any expressly allowed by this permission) shall be created in the 
dwellings. 
 

Page 115



 
 
 

108 

This recommendation is based on the following plan(s):- 
 

Plan Type Reference Version Date Received 

Location Plan   16/1/15 

Proposed site plan PL02  R 13/5/15 

Proposed floor plans & 
elevations (apartments) 

PL04  7/1/15 

Proposed floor plans & 
elevations (Banbury) 

PL05 A 7/1/15 

Proposed floor plans & 
elevations (Bramhall) 

PL06 A 7/1/15 

Proposed floor plans & 
elevations (Mawdsley) 

PL08 A 7/1/15 

Proposed floor plans & 
elevations (Styal) 

PL12  7/1/15 

Proposed floor plans & 
elevations (Davenham) 

PL07  7/1/15 

Proposed street scenes Pl10 D 13/5/15 

Draft drainage works JHN/1184/500  7/1/15 

Topographical Plan Sut414090  7/1/15 

Statement on bowling club   7/1/15 

Marketing statement   7/1/15 

Phase II report   16/1/15 

Planning statement   7/1/15 

Tree survey   7/1/15 

Bat survey   13/5/15 

Design & Access statement   7/1/15 

Coal mining Risk assessment   3/2/15 

Statement of community 
involvement 

  7/1/15 

Transport Assessment   7/1/15 

Phase 1 habitat survey   9/1/15 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 116



 
 
 

109 

Application No: 2013/93721 

Type of application: 62m - FULL APPLICATION 

Proposal: Erection of 29 dwellings (Amended Plans) 

Location: Wood Nook, Denby Dale, Huddersfield, HD8 8RR 

 
Grid Ref: 422690.0 408578.0  

Ward: Denby Dale Ward 

Applicant: Conroy Brook (Developments) Ltd 

Agent: Farrar Bamforth Associates 

Target Date: 21-Feb-2014 

Recommendation: ASD-CONDITIONAL FULL APPROVAL SUBJECT TO 
THE DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY TO OFFICERS 

 
Link to guidance notes for public speaking at planning committee 
including how to pre-register your intention to speak. 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

LOCATION PLAN 
 

F
O

L
D

4
1
2

4
1
0

22

11

9

2

291

3
7
8

160.3m

2
7
9

380
PH

289

275

5

3
4
5

6

280

27
8

277

1

Court

Chapel

172.5m

Cruck

Cottage

277A

1

361

1
5

1
7

1
8

390

7

382

1
6

386

1

W
E

S
L
E

Y
 T

E
R

R
A

C
E

War

27
8

27
4

Centenary
Methodist Church

27
0 271

10

Sinks

2

East Hill

East

H
ill B

eck

Sinks

TCB

23

Court

341

Sunny Bank

4

13

16

17

SUNNYBANK

7

1

Track

351

347

353

Bk

P
O

Meml

3
4
9

3
6
3

373

Club

N
O

R
M

A
N

 R
O

A
D

7

2

408

160.3m

3
7
5

PH

Norman Croft

1

3

4

1
2

426

3
8
7

Nook

164.6m

4
1
4

Wood

6
7

Issues

Issues

Wood

1

7

3

Denby Dale Industrial Estate

8Westleigh

10

El Sub Sta

Wood Lane

89

8
1

© Kirklees Council 100019241 2008 
 
Map not to scale – for identification purposes only 
 

Page 117

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/business/planning/advicenotes/PublicSpeakingCommittee.pdf


 
 
 

110 

1. SUMMARY OF APPLICATION  
 

 
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT CONDITIONAL FULL PLANNING 
PERMISSION SUBJECT TO DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY TO OFFICERS 
TO: 
 
1. ENSURE THE SIGNING OF A SECTION 106 AGREEMENT TO SECURE 
FINANCIAL CONTIBUTIONS TOWARDS; 

Scale of Development  1.07ha   

No. Jobs Created or Retained   N/A 

Policy  

UDP allocation  D5 - Provisional Open Land  

Independent Viability Required    Yes  

Representation/Consultation  

Individual Support (No.)  Nil 

 Individual objections  53 

Petition  725    Objecting to proposal 

Ward Member Interest  N/A   

Statutory Consultee 
Objections 

 None Coal Authority initial objection 
overcome. 

Contributions  

 Affordable Housing  1 type G house for social rent 

 Education  £35,992 

 Public Open Space  £25,000 off site contribution 

 Other  

Other Issues   

Any Council Interest?  No  No 

Planning Pre-application 
advice? 

 N/A    

Pre-App Consultation 
Undertaken? 

 Yes   

 Comment on Application 
 

The site is allocated as POL within the UDP. Given that 
the Council is unable to demonstrate a deliverable 5 
year housing land supply housing policies including D5 
are considered to be out of date. There is no objection to 
the release of this site for residential development at this 
time.  
Amended plans have been secured to provide a 
satisfactory access off Wood Nook. The density and 
layout of the scheme are considered to be acceptable. 
Matters of drainage and biodiversity are dealt with by 
conditions.  
A viabilty appraisal has been submitted and 
independently assessed.  
Approval is recommended subject to a Section 106 
Agreement securing contributions towards affordable 
housing; improvement of off site POS; and education. 

Page 118



 
 
 

111 

 AFFORDABLE HOUSING; 

 IMPROVEMENT TO OFF SITE PUBLIC OPEN SPACE; AND  

 EDUCATION CONTRIBUTION 
 
2. IMPOSE ALL NECESSARY AND APPROPRIATE CONDITIONS WHICH 
MAY INCLUDE THOSE SET OUT IN THE REPORT; AND, 
 
3.  SUBJECT TO THERE BEING NO SUBSTANTIVE CHANGES THAT 
WOULD ALTER THIS RECOMMENDATION ISSUE THE DCISION NOTICE. 
 
2. INFORMATION 
 
The application is brought to Strategic Committee as the development 
proposed represents a departure from the Council’s Unitary Development 
Plan. 
 
The application was deferred at Strategic Committee in June with a request 
that Officers re examine the viabilty of the development and seek an improved 
affordable housing offer. 
 
3. PROPOSAL/SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
Site  
 
The application site comprises an area of approximately 1.07 ha and is 
located to the rear of Wood Nook and a recently completed residential care 
home off Wakefield Road. The site extends to the east behind existing 
dwellings on Wesley Terrace, the Centenary Methodist Church and a number 
of properties on Cumberworth Road. 
 
Included within the site are a number of outbuildings associated with the 
exiting Wood Nook Farm. These extend to the rear of 3 properties on Wood 
Nook Road.  
 
The site is a green field site, and slopes upwards from the southern boundary. 
It should be noted that properties on Wakefield Road and Wesley Terrace are 
at a lower level than the application site. 
 
There is a woodland area to the west and north and a footpath off Wood Nook 
Road runs parallel to the site and northwards through the neighbouring 
woodland. There are a number of trees on, and adjacent, to the site protected 
by a Tree Preservation Order. 
 
Wood Nook is in the form of a loop that links at both ends to Wakefield Road 
(the principle road through Denby Dale). At the junction of Wood Nook Road 
and Wakefield Road is the Dalesman Public House, which, after a period of 
being vacant, has re-opened. 
 
The site is allocated as Provisional Open Land on the Kirklees Unitary 
Development Plan. 

Page 119



 
 
 

112 

 
Proposal 
 
Full permission is sought for the erection of 29 dwellings. This will be a mix of 
3 and 4 bed detached and semi detached properties. In terms of building 
heights 2 storey and 2/3 storey properties are proposed. The latter being 
essentially split level units, built to reflect the site’s contours. 
  
Access to the site is off Wood Nook Road and involves the demolition of a 
barn at Wood Nook Farm. It should be noted that separate permission is not 
needed to remove this barn. Work is also required to remove a number of 
trees to form the access point into the site.  
 
The access itself will be an estate road with footpaths either side that will loop 
around Wood Nook Farm and serve an extended cul-de-sac of 29 dwellings. 
The dwellings themselves will be sited in three, roughly parallel, rows of 
dwellings with each row of dwellings stepping up to reflect the site contours. 
The exception to this is in the northern most corner of the site where plots 7-
10 are sited around a short turning head with their blank gables facing 
towards the existing properties on Cumberworth Road. 
 
4. BACKGROUND AND HISTORY 
 
2010/91052 – Erection of 45 no bedroom Class C2 residential care/nursing 
home, site of Greenfeeds Ltd, Wakefield Road, Denby Dale. Granted 
conditional planning permission June 2010 
 
2013/90875 – Extension to time limit to previous permission no. 2010/91052 
for erection of 45 Bedroom C2 Residential Care/Nursing Home. Granted May 
2013 
 
2013/91781 – Variation of condition 2 (conditions) on previous permission 
2013/90875 for extension to time limit to previous permission no. 2010/91052 
for erection of 45 Bedroom C2 Residential Care/Nursing Home. Granted July 
2013 
 
5. PLANNING POLICY 
 
Kirklees Unitary Development Plan 
 
D5 – Provisional open land 
BE1 – Design principles 
BE2 – Quality of design 
BE12 – Space about buildings 
BE23 – Crime prevention 
T10 – Highway safety 
T16 Footpaths within development sites. 
T19 – Parking standards 
G6 – Land contamination 
H10 – Affordable housing 

Page 120



 
 
 

113 

H18 – Provision of open space 
NE9 – Retention of mature trees 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 
Part 4 Promoting sustainable transport 
Part 6 Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes. 
Part 7 Requiring good design 
Part 8 Promoting healthy communities 
Part 10 Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
Partb11 Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
 
Other Policy 
 
Supplementary Planning Document  2 – ‘Affordable Housing’.  
 
6. CONSULTATIONS 
 
KC Highways – Amended plans are acceptable subject to conditions. A full 
report is included within the Assessment section of this report 
 
KC Public Rights of Way – The access track carries a public footpath 
(Denby Dale139). It should be checked to see if any further dedication 
towards highway registration is required. 
 
KC Environmental Health – Recommend conditions covering 
decontamination/remediation and air quality. 
 
KC Environment Unit – A phase 1 Habitat Survey has been carried out. 
Follow up survey work should be conditioned to inform the Landscape 
Management Scheme, new planting and bio diversity enhancements. 
 
KC Conservation and Design – No objections 
 
KC Trees – Request some additional information in relation to Plot 1. In the 
event of an approval an Arboricultural Method Statement needs to be 
conditioned to ensure that damage to tree root is prevented during any 
construction work, particularly relating to the new access point. 
 
KC Strategic Drainage – Requested additional information, this information 
has been provided and conditions are recommended in the event of an 
approval. 
 
KC Education Service – A financial contribution of £35,992, is requested in 
this instance. 
 
KC Recreation and Parks – The size of the site is such that policy H18 
(Provision of Public Open Space) is applicable. In this case a contribution of 
£77,050 in lieu of on-site provision to be used towards improvements of 
existing facilities in the area would be acceptable.  

Page 121



 
 
 

114 

 
KC Strategic Housing – This is a green field site, and as such, in 
accordance with Policy H10 and SPD2, an affordable housing contribution of 
30% of the total floor area proposed should be sought. There is a 
demonstrable need for affordable housing in this area. 
 
The Coal Authority – Initially objected to this proposal on technical grounds. 
An updated and improved Coal Mining Assessment has been provided and 
the Authority has now withdrawn their objection, recommending an 
appropriate condition in the event of an approval. 
 
The Forestry Commission – No objection, there will be no impact on the 
nearest Ancient Woodland area. 
 
The Environment Agency – No objection and recommend condition in the 
event of an approval. 
 
Yorkshire Water Authority – Recommend conditions. 
 
Police Architectural Liaison Officer – Adequate boundary treatment to the 
rear of plots 106 is required (a low dry stone wall will be insufficient). Front 
garden should have a clearly marked boundary distinguishing public from 
private space 
 
7. REPRESENTATIONS 
 
As originally submitted this application was for 31 dwellings and this 
application was publicised by site notices and neighbour letters. 
 
A total of 53 letters of objection were received, the main points of concern 
being: 
 
1. The proposed extra houses will have an adverse effect on the local 
services in the area, including doctors surgeries and schools. The local 
infrastructure cannot accommodate any more dwellings particularly as there 
has already been a considerable amount of new development in Denby Dale. 
For example near the station and at Blue Hills. 
 
2. The scheme will result in the further loss of green fields. This site is an 
important green field/visual backdrop for this village. 
 
3. The release of this land for housing will open up the remaining open “free” 
land for release. 
 
4. The proposal is contrary to Policy D5 (Provisional Open Land) of the 
Kirklees Unitary Development Plan. 
 
5. This whole application process has been very secretive and has been 
“snuck up” on the residents of Wood Nook. 
 

Page 122



 
 
 

115 

6. The scheme does not address the need for social housing that exists in the 
area. 
 
7. Public transport in the area is at best patchy. 
 
8. The site is on a slope and elevated, accordingly the use of 3 storey 
dwellings is inappropriate. 
 
9. The proposed layout will cause loss of amenity for existing properties in 
Wesley Terrace and Cumberworth Road. Loss of privacy and proximity to the 
boundaries of bungalows is highlighted. 
 
10. The style of housing proposed is bland and without flare and the 
dimension of some of the rooms is illegal. 
 
(N.B. Internal rooms sizes is not a material consideration, and is covered by 
other legislation). 
 
11. An application of this importance should have been accompanied by a 
Visual Impact Assessment. 
 
12. There are drainage problems on this site. 
 
13. There will be an adverse effect on trees and wildlife habitat. 
 
14. If any development is allowed on this site then a new safe pedestrian 
crossing will be needed in the main village.  
  
15. Housing isn’t needed in Denby Dale there are plenty of houses or sale. 
 
16. The use of Wood Nook for access is inappropriate, this has no pavements 
and now that the pub is re-opened and the care home finished, the extra 
vehicles at this point will be hazardous to neighbouring residents and 
pedestrians. 
 
17. The neighbouring Church has expressed concerns at the potential use of 
its property for trespass and short cuts given the layout proposed. 
 
18. There is the need for an adequate retaining wall structure at the access 
point off Wood Nook. 
 
19. It is accepted that there is a need for houses but this location is not the 
answer there are more appropriate sites. 
 
A petition with 725 signatures entitled “Save Our Village” has been received 
objecting to the scheme on the grounds as follows: 
 

 that it will result in the loss of a green field site,  

 the local amenities and infrastructure can’t cope, and  

 there is no desire to live in a concrete jungle. 

Page 123



 
 
 

116 

 
The amended plan reduces the number of dwellings to 29, with alterations to 
the proposed access arrangements. The amended plan has been re 
publicised, and to date 5 additional letters have been received. 
 
Essentially the objections listed above are repeated with the reference that 
reducing the scheme by 2 units doesn’t make any real difference towards 
overcoming objections. 
 
8. ASSESSMENT 
 
General Principle and Policy: 
 
The application site is part of a larger area of land allocated as Provisional 
Open Land (POL) which is subject to Policy D5 of the Unitary Development 
Plan (UDP). 
 
Policy D5 states that: “…planning permission will not be granted other than for 
development required in connection with established uses, changes of use to 
alternative open land uses or temporary uses which would not prejudice the 
contribution of the site to the character of its surroundings and the possibility 
of development in the longer term.” 
 
The weight that can be given to policy D5 in determining applications needs to 
be assessed in the context of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
paragraphs 215 and 49. 
 
In the context of paragraph 215 the wording is of policy D5 is consistent with 
NPPF paragraph 85 concerning safeguarded land. However, with regard to 
paragraph 49 the Council is currently unable to demonstrate a 5 year supply 
of deliverable housing sites. The weight that can be given to policy D5 in 
these circumstances was assessed in October 2010 by a planning inspector 
in his consideration of an appeal against the refusal of permission for housing 
on a POL site at Ashbourne Drive, Cleckheaton (APP/Z4718/A/13/2201353). 
 
The Inspector concluded that: “…The lack of a 5 year land supply, on its own, 
weighs in favour of the development. In combination with other paragraphs in 
the Framework concerning housing delivery the weight is increased. The lack 
of a five year supply also means that policies in the UDP concerning housing 
land are out of date. Policy D5 clearly relates to housing and so it too is out of 
date and its weight is reduced accordingly. This significantly reduces the 
weight that can be given to the policy requirement that there be a review of 
the plan before the land can be released. In these cases the Frameworks 
presumption in favour of sustainable development is engaged.” 
 
The presumption referred to by the Inspector is set out in NPPF paragraph 14 
which states that where relevant policies are out of date, planning permission 
should be granted; “…unless any adverse impacts of granting the permission 
would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed 

Page 124



 
 
 

117 

against this framework as a whole, or that specific NPPF policies indicate 
development should be restricted”. 
 
It should be noted that Footnote 9 of NPPF lists examples of restrictive 
policies but this does not include policies concerning safeguard land. 
 
As such, there is no objection to the principle of releasing this land for 
residential at this time.  
 
The NPPF identifies the dimension of sustainable development as economic, 
social and environmental roles. It states that the roles are mutually dependent 
and should not be undertaken in isolation. In particular paragraph 8 states: 
“…economic, social and environmental gains should be sought jointly and 
simultaneously through the planning system”  
 
The proposal will bring economic gains by providing business opportunities for 
contractors and local suppliers, creating additional demand for local services 
and potentially increasing use and viability of local bus service. 
 
There will be a social gain through the provision of new housing at a time of 
general shortage. 
 
The loss of a green field represents an environmental loss however this is 
compensated for through environmental gains secured by the attached 
conditions, in particular biodiversity enhancement and access to the woodland 
walk. Both of these aspects are dealt with in the report. 
 
Although national policy encourages the use of brown field land for 
development it also makes it clear that no significant weight can be given to 
the loss of green field sites to housing when there is a national priority to 
increase housing supply. 
 
As such, on balance, the proposal is considered to meet the paragraph 8 
tests. 
  
Accessibility is one element of sustainable development but not the ultimate 
determining factor. Accessibility tests are set out in the Regional Spatial 
Strategy (RSS table 13.9). Although the RSS has been revoked it remains the 
latest plan which has been the subject to public examination and is therefore 
currently the most sound basis for assessment under NPPF paragraph 14.  
 
The application has been assessed against the tests as follows: 
 
Test 1: is there a local service centre within 1200m walking distance? 
 
Test 2: is there a bus stop within 800m with a service of at least a 30 minute 
frequency and a journey time of less than 30 minutes (25 minutes bus plus 5 
minutes walking) to a town centre offering employment, leisure and retail 
opportunities? 
 

Page 125



 
 
 

118 

Test 3: is there a primary school within 1600m? (this equates to a 20 minute 
walk) 
 
Test 4: is there a surgery or other primary health care facility within 1600m? 
 
This site meets all the tests outlined above. 
 
Assessing the policies in the NPPF as a whole in accordance with the 
paragraph 14 test, the provision of housing on this green field site will 
outweigh the environmental harm arising from this development and the 
proposal is considered to be sustainable development. 
 
Given the size of the site and numbers of units envisaged the following 
policies are applicable: 

 Policy H10 - Affordable Housing (green field site i.e. 30% of floor area); 

 Policy H18 - Provision of public open space; and 

 The Council’s guidance for the provision of education needs generated 
from new development. 

 
As a green field site affordable housing should be provided at a ratio of 30% 
of floor area in order to satisfy the policy and SPD2. Contributions are also 
required for both Public Open Space and Education. Such contributions are 
normally secured via a Section 106 agreement. 
 
Viability: 
 
The applicant has submitted a viability appraisal for the scheme. In 
accordance with the accepted procedure the appraisal has been 
independently assessed on behalf of the Council. 
 
At the request of Strategic Committee in June,  the viabilty appraisal has been 
revisited to see if an improved affodable housing offer is possible.   
 
The value of the original offer, (just over £120,000) was based upon a 
proposed development of 31 dwellings. 
 
Following negotiations with Officers the offer was increased to £175,000 
based upon an amended scheme for 29 dwellings, the scheme having been  
amended to take account of the location of coal mine adits within the site. 
 
This level of contribution was considered appropriate by the Council’s 
consultant, however it is not sufficient to meet all of the policy requirements 
which would be: 
 

Affordable Housing 30% of floor area 

Education  £35,992 

Off-site POS £77,050 

METRO resident travel cards  £13,398 

 

Page 126



 
 
 

119 

 
The applicant has been asked whether there is scope to increase the value of 
contribution from the development. In response reference is made to the 
presence of coal seams and mining adits within the site which require 
remediation work and grouting, the steepness of the site with the need for 
retaining structures in order to accommodate an acceptable access and 
developable area and the extent of drainage works necessary to serve the 
development. 
 
The abnornal costs associated with bringing the development forward are 
identified to be in the order of £1m, this has been verified in the assessment 
of the appraisal. 
 
Other aspects of the appraisal have been rechecked and it is difficut to see 
how any additional contributions could be funded. 
 
In terms of affordable housing 30% of floor area equates to approx 8 
dwellings, and in accordance with the SPD2, affordable housing should be 
sought at a ratio of 90% -10% social rental to intermediate housing. 
 
The contribution could be used to deliver one social rented and one 
intermediate dwelling. Alternatively it would be possible to secure one social 
rented dwelling with a balance of £67,000 to distribute between other 
competing demands.  
 
Officers maintain the previous recommendation that on balance a fair 
distribution of the £175,000 would be to meet the education requirements at 
Scissett Middle School, a reduced contribution to improve existing public open 
space off site at Sunny Bank and support ongoing works at East Hill Wood 
with the provision of one Type G affordable social rented dwelling: 
 

Affordable Housing 1 Type G house for social rent 

Education £35,992 

Off-site POS £25,000 

 
Whilst it would have been desirable to provide resident Metro cards to 
encourage the use of public transport, given the viability position it is 
considered that the priority ought to be securing an affordable provision. 
  
Ward Members have been consulted about priorities for use of the financial 
contribution secured. Cllr Jim Dodds  and Cllr Michael Watson have indicated 
that they regard education as a priority. 
 
Highway Issues: 
 
Access 
 
It is proposed to access the site via a new priority junction from Wood Nook.  
Wood Nook carries a public footpath (Denby Dale 139).  Drawing no. 
12/D09/04M shows the proposed access arrangements.  The site access 

Page 127



 
 
 

120 

junction incorporates new 1.8m wide footways at either flank of the access 
road, which terminate approximately 10 m either side at Wood Nook.  
Acceptable gradients will be provided in a ‘two-stage’ format with the steeper 
initial section having no dwellings and with hand rails built into the full length 
of the retaining wall along the estate road. It is proposed to provide a 
delineated pedestrian route approximately 1.1 m wide marked by a white 
lining at the northern flank of Wood Nook between the site access junction 
and the footway along A636 Wakefield Road.  
 
Drawing number 12/D09/04M indicates that visibility splays of 2.4m x 43m 
(commensurate for 30mph speed limit) can be achieved in both directions 
along A636 Wakefield Road at its junction with Wood Nook.  The visibility 
splay to the left is along the care home’s perimeter wall and therefore, over 
land that is not in the control of the applicant.  The wall height is to be 
maintained at 1m and the area inside the wall is for use as a parking area.  
PAH Highway Consultants state that the visibility splay along A636 Wakefield 
Road to the left of Wood Nook will not have any obstructions above 1m 
height.  HDM acknowledge this view, in that it would be difficult to substantiate 
an argument against it. 
 
Forward visibility for vehicles waiting to turn right into the proposed site 
access accords to current guidance and is considered acceptable.  
 
The junction geometry and visibility splays accords with current guidance and 
is considered acceptable. 
 
Traffic generation 
 
Assessment using the industry standard TRICS database indicates that the 
development is forecast to generate around 16 to 18 two-way vehicle 
movements respectively in the morning and evening peak periods. 
 
The two-way vehicle flows along A636 Wakefield Road are circa 900 two-way 
vehicles during the peak hours.  
 
Forecast arrivals and departures are set out in Table 1:  
 
Table 1: Peak Hour Vehicle Trips  
 

Total 

Weekday AM Peak Weekday PM Peak  

Arrivals Departures Arrivals Departures 

4 12 11 7 
16 18 

 
In terms of cumulative impact of the development, HDM considers the scale of 
the proposed development to be below the threshold to consider cumulative 
impact on the highway network. 
 

Page 128



 
 
 

121 

Accessibility 
 
Bus 
The nearest bus stops are located within 200 m of the proposed site access at 
A636 Wakefield Road. The bus stops are served by bus services 24, 82, 83, 
84/84A, 96A, 435 and 436 providing a combined two-way weekday frequency 
of circa 8 buses per hour in the daytime. 
 
To encourage the use of public transport the developer should be required to 
implement a Residential Metro Card Scheme, the funding for which shall be 
secured via a Section 106 Agreement.  
 
Pedestrians 
It is proposed to delineate an area for pedestrians along Wood Nook, which 
carries a public footpath, to complement the 1.8 m wide footways provided at 
either flank of the site access road.  This links into the footways provided 
along A636 Wakefield Road.  There is a pedestrian crossing facility at A636 
Wakefield Road approximately 300m from the site. 
 
Impact on Amenity: 
 
The proposed development would be at a density of approx. 28 dwellings per 
ha which is considered to be an efficient use of land, particularly taking into 
account the levels constraints.  
 
The surrounding area includes a mix of house and building types ranging from 
detached bungalows to terraced houses, farm buildings and a large multi 
storey residential home. As such the density and style of dwellings proposed 
is considered to be acceptable within this area. 
 
The proposed layout is significantly affected by the site’s sloping nature with 
dwellings being constructed at different levels producing stepped roof lines 
consistent with the change in level. The extent of the slope results in a 
number of the units being 2/3 storey i.e. 3 storey to the rear, with living 
accommodation on the lower ground floor. At street level these properties 
would be 2 storey. 
 
The scheme was amended to 29 units from 31 to take account of on-site 
constraints regarding coal mining. The area affected being the plots in the 
southern part of the site to the rear of the care home and Wesley Terrace. In 
addition to reducing the extent of development to the rear of Wesley Terrace, 
the house types have also been amended to a smaller unit for the entire 
length of the road on this part of the site. This results in a more consistent 
building line and roofscape. In terms of the finished roof levels the highest 
new buildings on the site would still lower than the bungalows that flank the 
site to north from Cumberworth Lane. 
  
In terms of the Council’s space about buildings policy (Policy BE12) the layout 
satisfies the distances both in relation to existing dwellings and within the 
scheme itself. The dwellings adjacent to the site that will be most affected are 

Page 129



 
 
 

122 

those to the western end of Wesley terrace and the 3 bungalows on 
Cumberworth Road. There are 2 properties proposed to the rear of Wesley 
Terrace, these are located 21m distant from the habitable room windows. Also 
these properties are 2 storey. It is proposed to remove permitted development 
rights for the construction of dormer windows and rear extensions. With 
regard to dwellings to the rear of the Cumberworth Road bungalows these are 
sited at right angles with the gables facing those bungalows. There are no 
habitable room windows in those gables, and it is proposed to impose a 
condition to prevent the future insertion of any windows or openings in those 
gables.  
  
Environmental Issues (Contamination and Remediation; and Air 
Quality): 
 
The site is capable of being made fit to receive the new development and 
conditions are recommended to secure this. The nature of the site and its 
location within a former coal mining area are reflected in the suggested 
Environmental Health conditions as well as those of the Coal Authority. These 
conditions are important as the scheme involves a sensitive end user and as 
implementation will involve cut and fill. 
 
With respect to air quality it is proposed that the dwellings provide access for 
charging points for electric and ultra low emissions vehicles. Conditions to this 
affect are suggested. 
 
Drainage: 
 
The site is within Flood Zone 1 i.e. the area least likely to flood, but given the 
site is just in excess of a hectare in area a flood risk assessment has been 
produced. 
 
No objection has been raised by the Environment Agency subject to 
conditions.  
 
The Council’s Flood Risk & Drainage Team advises that given the slope of the 
site and the amount of cut and fill that would be required to deliver the 
scheme, it would be difficult to rely upon a purely SUDS drainage system. On 
site attenuation to deliver a green field run off rates of 3l/s is submitted for 
consideration and is the most appropriate drainage solution for the site. 
  
Also given the slope of the site a condition is recommended covering 
temporary drainage provision and attenuation during construction and 
following any land strip. In terms of overland flood routing it is appropriate to 
consider this at this stage, this being a detailed application. Any potential 
issues if they were to occur would have been in the SE corner of the site. Two 
of these plots have been deleted from the scheme due to the location of an 
adit. 
  

Page 130



 
 
 

123 

As such it is considered that scheme can be adequately drained in terms of 
both foul and surface water without any adverse effect off site, thus according 
with the guidance contained in part 10 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework “ Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 
change 
 
Bio diversity: 
 
The application is accompanied by a Phase 1 Habitat Survey that identifies 
the potential for follow up work to be undertaken before development 
commences.   
 
The follow up survey work should be conditioned and used to inform the 
proposed landscaping scheme and any detailed biodiversity enhancement 
measures. These should include precautionary measures for birds and bats, 
and a landscape scheme, which incorporates some semi natural habitat areas 
within the site. Where possible, replacement tree planting should use 
appropriate species. 
 
The Ecological Survey includes a bat activity survey and assessment of the 
bat roost potential of the barn. No bat activity was recorded from the barn. 
 
Crime Prevention: 
 
Plots 1-6 back onto an open field with a dry stone wall boundary.  An increase 
in the height of the rear boundary treatment is considered appropriate given 
the levels differences across the site.  
 
Each dwelling has its own parking in close proximity to the house, and there 
are no communal rear accesses proposed. The footpath link from the site to 
the woodland walk should be gated to ensure pedestrian only access. 
 
Objections: 
 
The extent of objections reecived and the issues  raised are detailed above. 
However there are a number of common themes that are summarised and 
responded to below: 
 
1. The proposal is contrary to Policy D5 of the UDP, and there will be a further 
loss of a greenfield site. Whilst it is accepted that there is a need for additional 
housing it isn’t needed here and this is an inappropriate site. 
 
Response: The Council is unable to demonstrate a 5 year supply of 
deliverable housing land, and s such housing policies in the UDP including 
Policy D5 are out of date and it is not feasible to refuse planning permission 
for development for this reason. (Appeal decisions in both Cleckheaton and 
Skelmanthorpe have confirmed this). Whist the site is green field the 
NationalPlanning Policy Frameweork makes it clear that this in itself is not a 
reason for refusal. There is a need for housing within the entire Kirklees 
District. 

Page 131



 
 
 

124 

 
2. The release of this site will open up neighbouring greenspaces for 
development. 
 
Response: The neighbouring open land to this site is to the north and is 
allocated as green belt. The layout applied for does not make provision for 
future access to the green belt land. 
 
3. The local infrastructure cannot cope. The local schools are oversubscribed  
as are the local doctors and dentists surgeries. 
 
Response: The proposal allows for a full education contribution in accordance 
with the Councils policy. The provision of doctors and dentist facilities is a 
matter for the Local Health Authority and is not a material planning concern. 
 
4. Access off Wood Nook is fundamentaly unacceptable given the levels and 
the proximity to surrounding uses e.g. pub and care home. Also there will 
need to be retaining walling to accommodate access.  
 
Response: Amended plans have been negotiated to ensure the satisfactory 
provision of the access off Wood Nook, including satisfactory gradients, 
visibility and siting of retaining structures. 
 
5. The house types and layout applied for are unacceptable, being out of 
character with the area (i.e. some units are 3 storeys) and will result in loss of 
amenity by way of overdominance and loss of privacy for existing dwellings on 
Wesley Terrace and Cumberworth Lane. 
 
Response: The layout satisfies the Council’s space about building policy. 
Finished heights of dwellings will be below the roofline of existing properties 
on Cumberworth Lane. The scheme has been designed with the site levels 
and there are a number of part 2 and part 3 storey dwellings proposed which 
utilse the site levels. This is not considered to be an inappropriate form of 
deveopment but one that is consistent with development  on valley sides.  
 
Conclusion: 
 
The site is allocated as Provisional Open Land (Policy D5) on the Unitary 
Development Plan, and as such the proposal has been advertised as a 
departure. However given that the Council is unable to demonstrate a 5 year 
supply of deliverable housing land, Policy D5 is considered to be out of date, 
and therefore no sustainable objection can be raised to the release of the land 
for residential development at this stage. 
 
Access and traffic details have been amended to satisfy Highways and these 
matters are covered by condition.  
 

Page 132



 
 
 

125 

The scheme constitutes an efficient use of the site, and the space about 
buildings standards relating to both the new dwellings and those that adjoin 
the site are met. The layout has been designed to reflect and accommodate 
the existing levels, and the sites position on the hillside.  
 
The viability appraisal has been independently assessed and an improved 
offer towards section 106 contributions has been secured. Local Ward 
Members have been consulted about priorities for use of the financial 
contribution secured. Any comments received will be reported and used to 
inform the heads of terms for the necessary Section 106 Agreement. 
 
Issues of drainage and biodiversity have been satisfactorily dealt with and 
pedestrian links to the Woodland walk from both the site and off Wood Nook 
secured.  
 
As such subject to the resolution of the Section 106 Agreement, the scheme 
is considered to be acceptable and approval is recommended. 
  
9. RECOMMENDATION 
 
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT CONDITIONAL FULL PLANNING 
PERMISSION SUBJECT TO DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY TO OFFICERS 
TO: 
 
1. ENSURE THE SIGNING OF A SECTION 106 AGREEMENT TO  

SECURE  FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS TOWARDS 

 AFFORDABLE HOUSING; 

 OFF SITE PUBLIC OPEN SPACE PROVISION; AND 

 EDUCATION CONTRIBUTION 
 
2. IMPOSE ALL NECESSARY AND APPROPRIATE CONDITIONS WHICH 

MAY THOSE SET OUT IN THE REPORT; AND, 
 
3. SUBJECT TO THERE BEING NO SUBSTANTIVE CHANGES THAT 

WOULD ALTER THIS RECOMMENDATION ISSUE THE DECISION 
NOTICE. 

 
1. The development shall be begun not later than the expiration of three years 
beginning with the date on which permission is granted. 
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and specifications except as may be 
required by other conditions. 
 
3. No development shall take place until a sample facing and roofing materials 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, and the development shall be constructed of the approved 
materials. 
 

Page 133



 
 
 

126 

4. No development shall take place until a comprehensive scheme for 
landscaping treatment of the site prepared in accordance with the Local 
Planning Authority’s Code of Practice Note 2 has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
5. Any planting, seeding or tree management works forming part of the 
landscaping scheme referred to in Condition 5 shall be carried out during the 
first planting, seeding or management season following the commencement of 
development, or as otherwise may be agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, and shall be maintained for a period of five years from the 
completion of planting works.  All specimens which die within this period shall 
be replaced. 
 
6. Development shall not commence until a Phase II Intrusive Site 
Investigation Report has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 
7. Where site remediation is recommended in the Phase II Intrusive Site 
Investigation Report approved pursuant to condition 6 development shall not 
commence until a Remediation Strategy has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The Remediation Strategy shall 
include a timetable for the implementation and completion of the approved 
remediation measures. 
 
8. Remediation of the site shall be carried out and completed in accordance 
with the Remediation Strategy approved pursuant to condition 7.  In the event 
that remediation is unable to proceed in accordance with the approved 
Remediation Strategy or contamination not previously considered [in either 
the Preliminary Risk Assessment or the Phase II Intrusive Site Investigation 
Report] is identified or encountered on site, all works on site (save for site 
investigation works) shall cease immediately and the Local Planning Authority 
shall be notified in writing within 2 working days.  Unless otherwise agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority, works shall not recommence until 
proposed revisions to the Remediation Strategy have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Remediation of the site 
shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved revised 
Remediation Strategy. 
 
9. Following completion of any measures identified in the approved 
Remediation Strategy or any approved revised Remediation Strategy a 
Validation Report shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority.  Unless 
otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, no part of the 
site shall be brought into use until such time as the remediation measures for 
the whole site have been completed in accordance with the approved 
Remediation Strategy or the approved revised Remediation Strategy and a 
Validation Report in respect of those remediation measures has been 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

Page 134



 
 
 

127 

10. Development shall not commence until a scheme detailing separate 
systems of foul, surface water and land drainage, (including off site works, 
outfalls, balancing works, plans and longitudinal sections, hydraulic 
calculations) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. None of the dwellings shall be occupied until such 
approved drainage scheme has been provided on the site to serve the 
development or each agreed phasing of the development to which the 
dwellings relate and shall thereafter be retained.  
 
11. Development shall not commence until a scheme restricting the rate of 
surface water discharge from the site to a maximum of 3 litres per second has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by Local Planning Authority. The 
drainage scheme shall be designed to attenuate flows generated by the 
critical 1 in 100 year storm events with an appropriate allowance for climate 
change. The scheme shall include a detailed maintenance and management 
regime for the storage facility including the flow restriction.  There shall be no 
piped discharge of surface water from the development and no part of the 
development shall be brought into use until the flow restriction and attenuation 
works comprising the approved scheme have been completed. The works 
shall thereafter be managed and maintained in accordance with the approved 
scheme. 
 
12. Development shall not commence until a scheme, detailing temporary 
surface water drainage for the construction phase (after soil and vegetation 
strip) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall detail: 
 

 How flooding of adjacent land/property is to be prevented. 
 

The temporary works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
scheme and phasing. No phase of the development shall be commenced until 
the temporary works approved for that phase have been completed. The 
approved temporary drainage scheme shall be retained until the approved 
permanent surface water drainage system is in place and functioning in 
accordance with written notification to the Local Planning Authority. 
 
13. The development shall not commence until a scheme to mitigate the 
effects of exceedance events (and blockage scenarios) of the design of 
drainage infrastructure, and surface water run-off pre and post development 
between the development and the surrounding area, in both directions, has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
Detailed design should demonstrate how incorporating preferential flows 
through landscaped areas (flows onto site) and utilising the road network as a 
containing conduit avoiding property and curtilage (site drainage), outlined in 
the Flood Risk Assessment produced by KRS Environmental dated November 
2014, has been achieved. No part of the development shall be brought into 
use (dwellings shall not be occupied) until the works comprising the approved 
scheme have been completed and such approved scheme shall thereafter be 
retained.   
 

Page 135



 
 
 

128 

14. Prior to development commencing a detailed scheme for the proposed 
estate road; the site access road junction with Wood Nook (with reference to 
drawing no. 12/D09/04M) and 2m wide setts at the site access junction with 
Wood Nook shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The scheme shall include full sections with suitable 
gradients and vertical curves, traffic calming, drainage works, street lighting, 
lining, surface finishes, including proposed hand rails and seating for 
pedestrians, together with an independent Road Safety Audit covering all 
aspects of the work. Before any building is brought into use the scheme shall 
be completed in accordance with the approved details and retained thereafter.  

  
15. Before the development commences a scheme detailing the location and 
cross sectional information together with the proposed design and 
construction for all the retaining walls adjacent to both the existing and new 
public highway shall be submitted to and approved by the Highway Authority 
in writing. The approved scheme shall be implemented prior to the 
commencement of the proposed development and shall thereafter be 
retained. 
 
16. Prior to development commencing, a detailed scheme for the provision of 
improvements to Wood Nook; 

a) delineation of pedestrian walk area on the north flank of Wood Nook 
between the new 1.8 m footway at the site access junction with Wood 
Nook and the footway at A636 Wakefield Road; and  

b) upgrading of street lighting; 
 

with all associated signing and white lining shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include 
construction specifications, white lining, and signing; surface finishes together 
with appropriate independent Road Safety Audits covering all aspects of the 
work. Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority’, all 
of the agreed works shall be implemented before any part of the development 
is first brought into use. 
 
17. Prior to the development being brought into use, the approved vehicle 
parking areas shall be surfaced and drained in accordance with the 
Communities and Local Government; and Environment Agency’s ‘Guidance 
on the permeable surfacing of front gardens (parking areas)’ published 13th 
May 2009 (ISBN 9781409804864) as amended or superseded; and shall 
thereafter be retained. 
 
18. Prior to construction commencing, a schedule of the means of access to 
the site for construction traffic shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The schedule shall include the point of access 
for construction traffic, details of the times of use of the access, the routing of 
construction traffic to and from the site, construction workers parking facilities 
and the provision, use and retention of adequate wheel washing facilities 
within the site. Thereafter all construction arrangements shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved schedule throughout the period of construction. 
  

Page 136



 
 
 

129 

19. Notwithstanding the provisions of section 55(2) (a) (ii) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 and the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 1995 as amended (or any Order revoking or 
re-enacting that Order with or without modification) the integral garages that 
serve the new dwellings hereby approved shall not be converted into living 
accommodation without the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
This recommendation is based on the following plan(s):- 
 

Plan Type Reference Version Date Received 

Design and Access 
Statement 

  Nov 2013 

Corrected Planning 
Statement 

DSA 148613  7/1/14 

Phase 1 Desk Top 
Study 

  Nov 2013 

Radon Report GR_207667/1  Nov 2013 

Enviro-check data sheet   Nov 2013 

Updated Coal Mining 
Report 

NG8283/W00/CM  Feb 2014 

Arboricultural Report   Nov 2013 

Bat Survey 1390945  Nov 2013 

Ecological Statement   Nov 2013 

Transport Statement 630A  Nov 2013 

Location Plan 12/D09/15  Nov 2015 

Existing site plan 12/D09/03  Nov 2013 

Proposed layout 12/D09/04 M 19/5/15 

Site Sections 12/D09/12 A Nov 2013 

House types 
Type A 
Type B 
Type C 
Type D 
Type E 
Type F1 

 
12/D09/05 
12/D09/06 
12/D09/07 
12/D09/08 
12/D09/09 
12/D09/14 

 
 
 
A 
A 
A 
A 

 
Nov 2013 
Nov 2013 
Nov 2013 
Nov 2013 
Nov 2013 
Nov 2013 

Amended house types 
plote 22-25 type G 

12/D09/19 A 23/10/14 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 137



 
 
 

130 

Application No: 2014/92737 

Type of application: 60 - OUTLINE APPLICATION 

Proposal: Outline application for erection of 5 dwellings 

Location: adj, 8, Miry Lane, Netherthong, Holmfirth, HD9 3UQ 

 
Grid Ref: 413532.0 409922.0  

Ward: Holme Valley South Ward 

Applicant: Steven Buttershaw & Kust Schramm 

Agent: Angus Ellis, WHpArchitecture 

Target Date: 27-Feb-2015 

Recommendation: OASD - CONDITIONAL OUTLINE APPROVAL 
SUBJECT TO DELEGATION TO OFFICERS 

 
Link to guidance notes for public speaking at planning committee 
including how to pre-register your intention to speak. 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

LOCATION PLAN 
 

S
T

 M
A

R
Y

'S
 C

R
E

S
C

E
N

T

1
41
6

18

2

1
1

18

Path (u
m)

ST MARY'S WAY

2

20

8

1

24

7

1
8

2
0

22

8

2

7

1
2

1

S
T

 M
A

R
Y

'S
 R

IS
E

ST MARY'S RISE

MIRY LANE

Brooke House

Issues

30

38

© Kirklees Council 100019241 2008 
 
Map not to scale – for identification purposes only 
  

Page 138

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/business/planning/advicenotes/PublicSpeakingCommittee.pdf


 
 
 

131 

1. SUMMARY OF APPLICATION  
 
The application seeks outline planning permission for residential development 
with details of access and layout to be considered, all other matters being 
reserved for subsequent consideration.   
 
The site is part of a larger area allocated as Provisional Open Land (POL) on 
the Councils Unitary Development Plan with the remainder of the POL site 
proposed as Public Open Space. 
 
Following the withdrawal of the Core Strategy the Council can no longer 
demonstrate a required deliverable housing land supply sufficient for 5 years, 
and in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
relevant policies for the supply of housing are out of date. In such 
circumstances no significant weight can be given to its content. In accordance 
with NPPF there is a presumption in favour of sustainable development and 
planning permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts of 
granting permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole, or 
that specific NPPF policies indicate development should be restricted. 
 
The proposal constitutes sustainable development. The application site with 
the improvements proposed to Miry Lane can be accessed safely in highway 
terms and the loss of a small section of a hedgerow and trees which do not 
form part of the protected group would be replaced by compensatory planting, 
enhancement and mitigation measures. In terms of layout there would be no 
harmful effect on visual or residential amenity.  
 
All other material planning considerations, relevant UDP and national planning 
policy objectives are considered to be addressed, subject to conditions.  
 
RECOMMENDATION:  DELEGATE AUTHORITY TO OFFICERS TO 
GRANT CONDITIONAL OUTLINE PLANNING PERMISSION SUBJECT TO: 
 

i) THE APPLICANT ENTERING INTO A PLANNING OBLIGATION TO 
SECURE THE PROVISION OF PUBLIC OPEN SPACE  
 

ii) IMPOSE ALL NECESSARY AND APPROPRIATE CONDITIONS, 
INCLUDING  

 THOSE BELOW, AND  
 

iii) THERE BEING NO SUBSTANTAIL CHANGE THAT WOULD  ALTER 
THIS  

 RECOMMENDATION, ISSUE THE DECISION NOTICE 
 
2. INFORMATION 
 
The application was brought before the Strategic Committee on 16th April 
2015 as the application represents a departure from the Development Plan. 
Member’s deferred the application to enable application no. 2015/90580 for 

Page 139



 
 
 

132 

development with access from St Mary’s Way/ St Mary’s Rise to come 
forward for consideration (given Committee’s concerns relating to access from 
Miry Lane) and for further drainage details including perimeter drainage to be 
reported to Committee.  
 
The assessment below has been amended to reflect any change in 
circumstances since 16th April, taking into account all material considerations. 
This includes drainage issues and a list of the conditions to be included, 
should Committee be minded to approve the application.   
 
3. PROPOSAL/SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
Site Description 
 
The application site comprises 0.4 hectare of land that is steeply sloping from 
north to south. The site is surrounded by residential properties to the east and 
south with open fields to the north and west of the site. The application site is 
part of a larger area of Provisional Open Land and lies to the southern part of 
the wider site.  
 
Proposal 
 
The application seeks outline permission for residential development with 
details of access and layout to be considered, all other matters being 
reserved. The layout proposes five dwellings to be served from Miry Lane. 
The proposal would involve widening of the highway, formation of a 1.50m 
wide footway shown to be extended from outside no. 8 Miry Lane to the 
bottom part of the application site along the proposed new access.  
 
The indicative scale of properties shows the proposed dwellings to be two 
storey in height.  
 
Following deferment of this application at Committee on 16th April, the agent 
submitted a drainage layout plan and additional technical information 
including details of land drains to manage surface water during the 
construction period. These details are shown on  drawing no. 03 Rev K 
received 28th May 2015.  
 
4. BACKGROUND AND HISTORY 
 
2015/90580 – Outline application for erection of 7 dwellings and formation of 
two sites access points – validated 26th Feb 2015 – pending decision and to 
be considered as part of this agenda  
 
2013/93081 – Outline application for residential development for 18 dwellings   
- recommended for refusal on road safety, visual amenity from the loss of 
hedgerow/trees and biodiversity within the hedgerow – withdrawn before 
determination  
 

Page 140



 
 
 

133 

1978/60/0434 - Outline application for residential development. Refused and 
dismissed at appeal. 
 
This appeal is historic and predated the preparation of the Local Plan for the 
area, which has since been replaced by the UDP. As such, little weight should 
be afforded the decision. 
 
5. PLANNING POLICY 
 
The application site is forms part of a larger area of Provisional Open Land 
(POL) on the Unitary Development Plan, the remainder of which is shown as 
Public Open Space.   
 
Kirklees Unitary Development Plan 
 
D5 – Provisional Open Land 

BE1 – Design principles 

BE2 – Design of new development 

BE12 – Space about buildings standards 

BE23 – New developments to incorporate crime prevention measures 

G6 – Development having regard to contamination  

NE9 – Protection of mature trees 

EP11 – Incorporation of integral landscaping scheme which protects or 

enhances ecology 

H18 – Provision of open space 
 
T10 – Highway safety considerations 

T16 – Provision of safe, convenient and pleasant pedestrian routes within 

developments 

T19 – Parking standards 

 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 
‘Achieving Sustainable Development’ 

‘Core Planning Principles’ 

Section 4 - Promoting sustainable transport 

Section 6 – Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes 

Section 7 – Requiring good design 

Section 8 – Promoting healthy communities 

Page 141



 
 
 

134 

Section 10 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 

change 

Section 11 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

 
Other Guidance 
 
Planning Practice Guidance – Open Space 
 
6. CONSULTATIONS 
 
Below is a summary of the consultation responses received; where 
appropriate these are expanded upon in the assessment section of this report: 
 
K.C. Highway Development Management: Support on receipt of engineered 
sections and subject to conditions  
 
K.C. Environmental Services: Support subject to conditions  
 
K.C. Arboricultural Officer: Support subject to conditions including 
recommendations within the arboricultural methods statement accompanying 
the application 
 
K.C. Conservation & Design: Support (see assessment below)  
 
K.C. Ecologist: Support subject to conditions to include enhancement 
measures including retention of veteran tree 
 
K. C. Strategic Drainage: Additional information includes details of surface 
and foul water drainage as well as details of how surface water would be 
managed during construction with perimeter drainage - Support subject to 
conditions. 
 
K.C Landscape architects: Proposed landscape should be well thought out, 
of high quality, enhance the area and strengthen the green corridor along Miry 
lane. 
 
Yorkshire Water: There is no public sewer network in Miry Lane outside the 
development site.  
 
Police Architectural Liaison Officer: Comments provided in relation to 
boundary treatments to be no less than 2.1m in height for the houses backing 
on to the POS and door and window specifications. These matters can be 
secured via condition, where appropriate.  
 

Page 142



 
 
 

135 

7. REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Since 16th April, one further representation has been received, stating that 
both applications on this site need to be reviewed at the same committee 
meeting, as they are submitted by the same applicant and relate to 
development of the same green field site.  The concerns raised are 
summarised below: 

 Not sustainable and add to highway safety on surrounding roads, some 
of which are without pavements  

 Loss of established hedgerows, removal of trees and destruction of 
wildlife 

 Access onto a single width, very steep country lane  
Response: all of the above issues are addressed in the assessment below.  
 
The application was previously advertised by neighbour letters and site 
notices. The final publicity period expired on the 24th November 2014.  228 
letters of objection were received. The concerns of which are summarised 
below:  
 
Highways: 
 

 Lack of details relating to height of retaining and boundary/ walls 

 Approaches to site are not suitable for HGV’s  

 Site access unsuitable for increased traffic as is steep, winding single 
track sharp bend and with on-street parking only one car could pass. 

 Lack of footway and unmade surface  

 Access through Netherthong and Deanhouse problematic because of 
narrow/poorly maintained roads, through small village. 

 Additional sections/ information is vague makes no reference to  
excavations  

 Increase highway safety concerns, adding to congestion problems, 
existing access/parking issues in the village will be worsened including 
around school run time. 

 Construction traffic and proposed would exacerbate access/safety 
issues. 

 Fire Service has had difficulties due to parked cars. 

 There have been a number of car accidents in close proximity of site  

 Miry Lane has previously had flooding problems and development 
would worsen this. It can be impassable in extreme weather of snow 
and ice.  

 Local school has raised issues of highway safety previously. 

 Many people drive far too fast for the local road conditions.  
 
Sustainability: 
 

 Brownfield sites should be used instead of this greenfield site. 

 Sustainability issues with this location including distance to major 
centre/shops etc. and reliance on cars. 

 Proposal would not have any employment benefit. 

Page 143



 
 
 

136 

 Site is ‘lowest tier in Local Development Framework’ so the village has 
the least potential for development.  

 The main service centre for Netherthong is Holmfirth. 

 Given location and local employment opportunities, most residents of 
the development would be commuters. 

 The development does not support “the transition to a low carbon 
economy” (National Planning Policy Framework) 

 The bus service is limited  

 The ‘Hopper’ bus service to Holmfirth is under threat due to funding 
cuts.  

 Totally unsuitable for people with prams, bikes, less abled people and 
people using mobility scooters. 

 The shop in Netherthong sells a very limited range of goods.  

 The village has no doctor’s, dentist or chemist.  
 
Landscape / ecology: 
 

 The Veteran oak tree to be retained will block sight lines for traffic 
entering in and out of the access. 

 No information/details of retaining walls/ depth of foundations which 
can affect the long term viability of protected trees including the veteran 
oak tree.  

 Proposals would result in the loss of trees that are protected and loss 
of hedgerow  

 New landscape could potentially cause loss of light and damage to 
foundations of existing trees 

 Road widening would impact on protected trees on western side of 
Miry Lane from excavation works under tree canopy  

 The proposed  'no dig drawing' submitted by the applicant is not 
appropriate in constructing a suitable adoptable highway on Miry Lane 
which would require significant excavation 

 Site is full of wildlife interest (inc. owls, bats, squirrels). 

 Further pressure on shrinking areas of wildlife habitat – such areas of 
unimproved grassland provide important patches of relatively un-
managed ground which act as reservoirs for species within built-up 
areas.  

 Site is not currently in agricultural use and is currently vacant. 

 Site has trees of significant quality which add to the value of the area. 

 Residential development needs public space 

 Inadequate and misleading information submitted relating to siting, size 
and depth of trees.  

 
Planning policy: 
 

 Proposal is contrary to Policy D5 of the Kirklees Unitary Development 
Plan, which makes it clear that planning permission  for such land will 
not be granted other than for very limited purposes.  

 Other POL sites should be developed first, in more suitable locations. 

Page 144



 
 
 

137 

 Not in  sustainable location  

 If this POL application is approved then it may set a precedent for the 
other two POL sites in Netherthong to be brought forward for 
residential. 

 
Heritage: 
 

 Development will impact upon character of Conservation Area. 

 Any development extending towards the Conservation Area would in 
effect enclose it and eliminate visual permeability into it from the 
surrounding Green Belt.  

 
Infrastructure capacity: 
 

 The village is full and already at breaking point.  

 Netherthong primary school is already full and cannot be extended. 
Holmfirth High School is also full.  

 Adequate number of houses already available in area. 

 Existing drainage/sewerage problems will be worsened causing 
flooding  

 Area experiences power cuts which would be worsened. 

 Foul/surface drainage may not work given changes in levels in and 
around the site and adversely impact on the neighbouring properties. 

 
Other matters raised: 
 

 Nothing has changed since the last withdrawn application (13/93081) 
and must be rejected on the same grounds.  

 2.1m fence would be an eyesore 

 Loss of privacy from upper floors of proposed property  

 Ownership of the strip of grass verges is unclear  

 Site has community benefit as dog walkers and should not be lost. 

 Development may suffer from noise from local businesses which would 
affect local trade and employment. 

 There are many houses for sale in the local area, exhibiting a lack of 
demand. Some local developments with planning permission have not 
been built.  

 
Additional representations: 
 
Jason McCartney MP has commented on the application as follows:  
 

“Thank you for your email to say that the above application has been updated 

by the developer. I would like to add further comments to my objection to this 

development to take into account these updates.  

1. The wildlife corridor will be separated by the applicant’s entrance road, 

this goes against the entire purpose of such a safe corridor threatening 

wildlife such as bats and owls. 

Page 145



 
 
 

138 

2. The excavations envisaged on Miry Lane will also destroy a significant 

number of tree roots further impacting on wildlife. 

3. The design proposed by the applicant goes against equality of highway 

design as set out in the Governments Manual of Streets as it excludes 

wheelchair users, pushchairs, elderly persons and cyclists. 

 

I hope these further points are taken alongside my previous objection to this 

development”   
 
Initial comments made: 
 
“I would like to add my objection to those of other residents regarding the 
above development. This is yet another unsustainable development on green 
field land – the congested roads, the lack of adequate public transport, the 
distance to amenities like the doctors and the lack of school places all remain 
the same as for developments that that have been recently submitted. In fact 
the cumulative effect of these submissions makes the situation in Netherthong 
increasing difficult. 
 
The access from Miry Lane is also a problem which is too close to protected 
oak trees. This loss of habitat on the existing field boundary will cause 
unacceptable damage to the local environment. 
 
I hope the planning committee take these issues into account and reject this 
application”.  
 
Holme Valley Parish Council – Object to the application on highways, 
transport and environmental grounds:  
 
1) Lack of safe and suitable access to/from the site, to access everyday local 
amenities, town centre facilities, schools and transport system; also not within 
acceptable walking distance.  
2) Topography of site and local road layouts in area will intensify use of 
vehicles as opposed to walking/cycling, intensifying the already difficult traffic 
and pedestrian conditions. 
3) Inappropriate access for people with reduced mobility (e.g. the elderly and 
disabled, wheel chair and pram users), due to proposed steps and steep 
gradients.  
4) Not conducive to walking or cycling, due to steep gradients, particularly 
during inclement weather conditions. 
5) Poor provision for safe, convenient and pleasant pedestrian routes, due to 
narrow or non-existent footways combined with steep slopes, blind bends and 
parked cars, particularly on Miry Lane and Giles Street (route to be taken by 
school children). 
6) Poor pedestrian access to schools – nearest high school would be outside 
preferred maximum walking distance of 2km); also concerns that all schools in 
vicinity are already over-subscribed. 

Page 146



 
 
 

139 

7) Inappropriate access to public transport (bus and rail) – the bus service in 
this area is inadequate, with insufficient bus stops and not conducive to use 
for commuting purposes. 
8) Part of the site is an important ancient hedgerow (as defined in the 
Hedgerow Regulations 1997; the ancient hedgerows and veteran trees form a 
natural habitat and wildlife corridor along Miry Lane and must be protected. 
Any removal (in whole or part) of the ancient hedgerow is not justified, to 
achieve the proposed roadway. 
9) Some of the trees have TPOs on them and must continue to be protected. 
10) Concerns re drainage – Dean Road is particularly prone to flooding. 
11) Concerns that foul water system is outdated and is incapable of 
supporting this development.  
12) Inappropriate development between Netherthong and the Green Belt 
(being bordered on two sides by Green Belt). 
13) Such a development would not be sustainable and is not in keeping with 
the conservation area’s local character and distinctiveness based on the 
character of the built environment and landscape alongside the proposed 
development.  
 
Members of the Parish Council also request the following: 
a) That this development should be rejected, to continue to protect this 
greenfield site as ‘Provisional Open Land.’  
b) That this application should be referred to the Planning Sub-Committee for 
consideration.  
c) That consideration be given to the decision on a previous application (and 
appeal) regarding this site: planning consent was refused in 1978 on the 
grounds that “The proposed development would constitute and undesirable 
extension of development from the village of Netherthong in a prominent 
position and would set a precedent for further extension of developments 
westwards. In addition, it is considered that the proposal would increase the 
concentration of traffic in the vicinity of the site and in the village centre, which 
would not be in the interests of the amenities of the area.” The decision went 
to appeal (ref T/APP/5113/A/19/2558/G2) and was subsequently dismissed. 
 
8. ASSESSMENT 
 
Principle of development: 
 
The application site includes land designated as Provisional Open Land 
(POL). Policy D5  of the UDP states that “planning permission will not be 
granted other than for development required in connection with established 
uses, changes of use to alternative open land uses or temporary uses which 
would not prejudice the contribution of the site to the character of its 
surroundings and the possibility of development in the longer term” 
 
The weight that can be given to Policy D5 in determining applications for 
housing must be assessed in the context of NPPF paragraphs 215 and 49. 
 
In the context of paragraph 215, the wording of policy D5 is consistent with NPPF 
paragraph 85 concerning safeguarded land. However, with regard to paragraph 

Page 147



 
 
 

140 

49 the council is currently unable to demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable 
housing land.  
 
The weight that can be given to policy D5 in these circumstances was 
assessed in October 2013 by a planning inspector in his consideration of an 
appeal against refusal of permission for housing on a POL site at Ashbourne 
Drive, Cleckheaton (ref: APP/Z4718/A/13/2201353).  The inspector concluded 
(paragraph 42): 
 
“The lack of a five-year supply, on its own, weighs in favour of the 
development. In combination with other paragraphs in the Framework 
concerning housing delivery the weight is increased. The lack of a five-year 
supply also means that policies in the UDP concerning housing land are out of 
date. Policy D5 clearly relates to housing and so it, too, is out of date and its 
weight is reduced accordingly. This significantly reduces the weight that can 
be given to the policy requirement for there to be a review of the plan before 
the land can be released. In these circumstances, the Framework’s 
presumption in favour of sustainable development is engaged.”  
 
The presumption referred to by the inspector is set out in NPPF paragraph 14 
which states that where relevant policies are out-of-date, planning permission 
should be granted “unless any adverse impacts of granting permission would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against 
the policies in this framework taken as a whole, or that specific NPPF policies 
indicate development should be restricted”. Footnote 9 lists examples of 
restrictive policies but this does not include policies concerning safeguarded 
land. 
 
Sustainability: 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that the purpose of 
the planning system “is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable 
development.” (para 6). NPPF notes that pursuing sustainable development 
involves seeking positive improvements in the quality of the built, natural and 
historic environment, as well as in peoples’ quality of life (para 9). NPPF 
identifies the dimensions of sustainable development as economic, social and 
environmental roles (para 7). It states that these roles are mutually dependent 
and should not be undertaken in isolation. “Economic, social and 
environmental gains should be sought jointly and simultaneously through the 
planning system.” (para 8). NPPF stresses the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. The developer has submitted a supporting 
document on sustainability, and the proposal has been assessed against 
each role as follows: 
 
Economic:  
A proposal for five dwellings would bring some economic gains by providing 
business opportunities for contractors and local suppliers.  In accordance with 
the NPPF new houses will support growth and satisfy housing needs thereby 
contribute to the building of a strong economy. The proposals would be 

Page 148



 
 
 

141 

creating additional demand for local services and potentially increasing use 
and viability of local bus services 
 
Social:  
There will be a social gain through the provision of new housing at a time of 
general shortage that has good access to local facilities and with an area to 
be dedicated to Public Open Space.  
 
In terms of social inclusion and accessibility the site is: 

 Approximately 2,200 metres away from Holmfirth district centre, via 
New Road and  

 within 1,200m of local facilities in Netherthong including a food store 
and two public houses.   

 There a bus stop within 800m with a service of at least a 30 minute 
frequency and a journey time of less than 30 minutes (25 minutes bus 
and 5 minutes walking) to a town centre offering employment, leisure 
and retail opportunities,  

 700m from a stop served by the 308 which provides an hourly service 
to Huddersfield taking 40 minutes.   

 St Mary’s Rise is served by the H5 bus, which forms part of the 
Holmfirth minibus network and provides an hourly service to Holmfirth 
bus station.  

 approximately 600m from Netherthong Primary School,  and  

 within 1,900m of GP surgeries at Holmfirth Memorial Hospital.  
The H5 bus provides an hourly link to the GP surgeries.  
 
Environmental:  
The development of a greenfield site represents an environmental loss. 
However, although national policy encourages the use of brownfield land for 
development it also makes clear that no significant weight can be given to the 
loss of greenfield sites to housing when there is a national priority to increase 
housing supply.  On balance the proposal is considered to meet the 
paragraph 8 test.  
 
The Services Biodiversity officer advises whilst there is a tree corridor/hedge 
along Miry Lane, the application field is improved grassland and of little 
ecological interest.  The proposal would result in removal of part of the holly 
hedge to enable the construction of the proposed access to the site. The 
removal of a short strip of this hedge would be compensated for by 
appropriate mitigation, compensation and enhancement measures being 
incorporated into the development and other measures to be taken prior to 
development. These can be secured by conditions.   
 
Further to the above regarding the sustainability of the site, observations 
made by the Inspector for a recent appeal decision on a POL site in 
Netherthong (APP/Z4718/A/14/2219016 - Land off St Marys Avenue) should 
be noted with respect to accessibility. This is highlighted in the ‘Social’ thread 
of sustainability above.  In that case the Inspector noted the deficiencies in 
access to local services by sustainable means but having,  

Page 149



 
 
 

142 

 
“regard to the emphasis on growth within the Framework, and (having 
given) weight to the need to boost the supply of housing. In the 
absence of a 5 year housing land supply, the contribution the 
development would make to housing supply in the District would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the harm that would arise as a 
result of increased trips by private car.” 

 
Assessing the policies in the NPPF as a whole in accordance with the 
paragraph 14 test, the environmental harm arising from the development of 
this Greenfield site and the marginal disadvantages in its social accessibility 
are considered to be clearly outweighed by the benefits to be gained from the 
provision of housing. The principle of development is therefore acceptable. 
 
Impact on visual amenity: 
 
A full assessment of the scale and appearance of the development would be 
made upon the submission of reserved matters. Proposals for new 
development should respect the architectural qualities of surrounding 
development and their materials of construction in order to preserve and 
enhance the appearance of the area. This is reiterated in section 12 of the 
NPPF.   
 
UDP Policies are BE1 and BE2 require that the layout of buildings should 
respect any traditional character the area may have. All development should 
be of good quality design that such that it contributes to a built environment 
and creates a sense of local identity and must respect the scale, height and 
design of adjoining buildings and be in keeping with the predominant 
character of the area.   
 
The internal access road would be central to the proposed five properties and 
dictates the siting of these dwellings.  In the layout shown, the road and 
properties would appear staggered with those on St Marys Way. However, 
this is not uncommon having regard to the layout of the highway network and 
grain of the surrounding development.   
 
Given the sloping nature of the site, extensive excavations and infilling would 
be required within the site. All plots are shown to provide reasonably sized 
enclosed garden areas including parking provision with space for waste bins 
for each plot. Given the size of the application site, Officers are of the opinion 
that five dwellings can be adequately accommodated without appearing out of 
context.  
 
With regard to the scale of properties, an indicative scale is submitted 
showing them to be two storey in height.  Whilst, this is a matter to be 
considered at reserved matters or full application stage, the agent has been 
advised the scale of properties would need to comparable to those on St 
Mary’s Way to ensure the proposal integrates with the visual amenity of the 
surrounding development and to accord with Policies BE1 and BE2 of the 
UDP. Furthermore, it is considered that the proposed properties could have 

Page 150



 
 
 

143 

an overbearing impact with loss of privacy for occupiers of existing properties 
to Miry Lane. (Discussed in detail below)  
 
With regards to design and external appearance, these are matters which are 
be considered in detail upon submission of reserved matters or full application 
taking into account the above policies and the impact on the character and 
appearance of the surroundings. 
 
Heritage assets, trees and ecology: 
 
The application site lies close to the Netherthong Conservation Area, to the 
south east of the site. The proposed access is shown to be formed off Miry 
Lane, which is one of the gateways into the Conservation Area. This section 
of Miry Lane with its narrow width and mix of trees, hedgerows and drystone 
walls defines a significant approach into Netherthong. 
 
Conservation Officers initially raised concerns that the proposals to form the 
access road to serve the development would harm this tranquil and rural 
gateway due to the significant amount of work required which would include 
extending the existing footway and street lighting provision on the eastern 
side of Miry Lane up to the new site access and the loss of boundary 
walling/hedging to form a 4.8m wide access with visibility splays of 2.4m x 
43m. In addition the Conservation officer raises concern about the level of 
engineering work which would lead to ‘less than substantial harm’ to the 
setting of the Netherthong Conservation Area, thereby failing to comply with 
paragraph 134 of the NPPF.     
 
Paragraph 134 of the NPPF states where a development proposal will lead to 
less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset 
the harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal, 
including securing its optimum viable use. 
 
At the request of officers further information including engineered sections has 
been submitted to shown how the works to provide the new access, extension 
of the footway from outside 8 Miry Lane to the application site and road 
widening would be undertaken.  From this information it is evident that the 
proposal would result in the removal of a small section of the holly hedge, a 
Sycamore and Elder tree which, although providing some amenity value, are 
considered by the Services Arboricultural Officer to be of limited value and are 
not included as part of the protected group of trees. The widening of the road 
would result in the loss of the grass verge along the western edge of the Miry 
Lane, no works are proposed along Miry Lane, to the top side of the 
application site.   
 
The loss of the holly hedge and two trees would be compensated by 
appropriate mitigation, with replacement planting to form part of the landscape 
scheme. This would be conditioned to include a woodland mix of trees and 
shrubs to create open woodland in the area proposed for the POS and 
landscaping along the site frontage to Miry Lane. In light of this further 
information the Conservation Officer has subsequently advised that whilst the 

Page 151



 
 
 

144 

proposals would lead to less than substantial harm to the setting of the nearby 
Conservation Area, this is outweighed by the wider public benefits the 
proposal brings, in terms of the provision of public open space over and 
above that necessary to serve the scale of development proposed and 
enhanced landscaping. Other public benefits include highway improvements 
along this section of Miry Lane and the proposals to provide housing at a time 
of general shortage. As such the proposals would accord with paragraph 134 
of the NPPF.  
 
Turning to the impact on the ecology & trees within the site, paragraph 118 of 
the NPPF states “when determining applications Local Planning Authorities 
should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity” by applying a number of 
principles.  These include the conservation and enhancement of biodiversity 
in and around developments.  UDP Policy EP11 requests that applications for 
planning permission should incorporate landscaping which protects/enhances 
the ecology of the site. 
 
Firstly with regard to trees, in an initial assessment of the proposed works, the 
Services Arboricultural Officer raised a number of concerns relating to the 
impact on the long term viability of trees to be retained including those on the 
opposite side of the application site as a result of the proposed road widening. 
Subsequently further information was requested in the form of an accurate 
tree survey, arboricultural method statement and engineered sections to 
assess the impact of the proposed works on the roots and future viability of 
the protected trees to be retained, including those on the opposite side of the 
application site.    
 
The creation of the new access would require the removal of a section of the 
hedgerow along the eastern part of Miry Lane and as noted above the 
removal of two other trees, an Elder and a single stemmed Sycamore as 
identified on the drawing within the tree survey. These are identified within the 
tree survey accompanying the application to be of low amenity value.   
 
The Services Arboricultural Officer is satisfied that the proposed works to 
widen the road to end at the carriageway edging would not affect the long 
term viability of the trees to be retained on both sides of the road provided that 
the remaining margin verge edge along the western side of the road is 
reinstated as a grass verge. 
 
The loss of the small section of the hedgerow, which does not form part of the 
protected group, and two trees which are of low amenity value can be 
compensated by appropriate mitigation measures to include new planting, 
conditioned to form part of any future landscape proposals at reserved 
matters or full application stage, along with the conditions suggested by the 
Services Arboricultural Officer.  This would accord with Policy NE9 of the 
UDP, in that satisfactory precautions will be taken to ensure the continued 
viability of the trees to be retained on site and on the opposite side of the 
road.  
 

Page 152



 
 
 

145 

With regards to the ecological value of the site, the Services Biodiversity 
Officer advises that the hedgerow is used by foraging bats and nesting birds.  
As stated above, the proposal would result in the removal of a short section of 
hedgerow. In light of the Arboricultural method statement indicating measures 
to be employed during improvement and access works, the root zones of the 
remaining trees would be protected. 
 
This together with the new planting proposed is considered to provide a semi-
natural buffer between the gardens of the new development and the existing 
hedge line. The Services Biodiversity Officer is satisfied that the removal of a 
short section of hedge is acceptable, provided appropriate replacement 
compensatory planting and mitigation measures in the form of bat and bird 
boxes are provided integral to the new build.  Subject to conditions the 
proposal is thus in accordance with Policy EP11 of the UDP and guidance in 
the NPPF.  
 
Impact on residential amenity: 
 
Policy BE12 of the UDP sets out the normally recommended minimum 
distances between habitable and non-habitable room windows for new 
dwellings.  New dwellings should be designed to provide privacy and open 
space for their occupants and physical separation from adjacent property and 
land.  Distances less than those specified will be acceptable if it can be shown 
that by reason of permanent screening, changes in level or innovative design 
no detriment would be caused to existing or future occupiers of the dwellings 
or to any adjacent premises.   
 
It is anticipated the proposed dwellings would have their main aspect towards 
the north and south with front elevations facing onto the proposed internal 
access road. Internally within the layout, the proposed dwellings would have 
an acceptable distance between them. The layout would also achieve 
adequate distance between the proposed and existing properties to the east 
on St Mary’s Way.  
 
The properties most likely to be affected are to the south, namely nos. 6 and 8 
Miry Lane. These are set at a considerably lower level than the application 
site. The layout shows plots 1 and 2 at an oblique angle to these properties. A 
distance of 20m would be achieved at the nearest point between the corner of 
plot no. 2 and existing property at no. 8 Miry Lane. Having regard to the levels 
between existing and proposed dwellings, officers are satisfied that the layout 
would not adversely affect the residential amenity of occupiers of existing 
properties.   
 
However, officers are concerned about the indicative scale which indicates 
the proposed properties to be two storey in height. This would not be 
acceptable in terms of impact on visual amenity and moreover the potential 
overlooking and overbearing impact it would have on existing properties to 
Miry Lane, south of the application site.  
 

Page 153



 
 
 

146 

The agent has been fully appraised on these issues and acknowledges 
officers concerns. This will however be a matter for detailed consideration at 
reserved matters stage. 
 
Impact on Highways and Road Safety: 
 
UDP Policy T10 states that “New development will not normally be permitted if 
it will create or materially add to highway safety or environmental problems or, 
in the case of development which will attract or generate a significant number 
of journeys, it cannot be served adequately by the existing highway network”. 
Policy T19 addresses car parking in relation to the maximum standards set 
out in Appendix 2 to the UDP. 
 
The section of Miry Lane fronting the western site boundary, from which 
access is proposed, is a narrow country lane of poor surface condition with 
steep gradients. The metalled surface of Miry Lane in the vicinity of the 
proposed site access is around 3.5m wide with grass verges to either side 
and provides insufficient width for two way vehicle movements. Previously it 
was noted, there was evidence of vehicles overrunning the verge to pass 
opposing traffic. In terms of vertical alignment the average gradient of Miry 
Lane along the site frontage is around 18% (1:5.5). 
  
It is acknowledged that Miry Lane is lightly trafficked and that due to geometry 
constraints vehicle speeds are low. Notwithstanding this, the proposed 
residential development would result in an intensification of use of Miry Lane 
in terms of both vehicular and pedestrian movements. 
  
The proposal includes the widening of the existing road width to 4.8m, along a 
length of approximately 40m below the proposed access and provision of a 
1.50m footpath. Engineered sections were requested by the Highway Officer 
to assess and establish how and whether the proposals could be achieved 
and to assess the impact on the boundary wall of no. 8 Miry Lane. The 
sections show the existing highway to be raised by approximately 300mm and 
re-grading of the grass verge on both sides of the road. The verge along the 
western side of Miry Lane would be grass and to the east, details of re-
grading would need to be submitted and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. This can be controlled by condition.   
 
In conclusion; it is considered that traffic generated by the proposed 
development for five dwellings can be safely accommodated within the local 
highway network and that the proposal would not result in any undue highway 
safety implications. Subject to suitable conditions the application is considered 
acceptable by Highway Officers who are satisfied that the sections submitted 
indicate a technical solution and would accord with the above mentioned 
highway Policies of the UDP and the NPPF.   
 

Page 154



 
 
 

147 

Drainage issues: 
 
The NPPF requires Local Planning Authorities to take account of climate 
change over the longer term, including factors such as flood risk and water 
supply. New development should be planned to avoid increased vulnerability 
to the range of impacts arising from climate change. When new development 
is brought forward in areas which are vulnerable, care should be taken to 
ensure that risks can be managed through suitable adaptation measures, 
including through the planning of green infrastructure.  
 
One of the reasons for deferring the application related to drainage concerns 
and the potential impact on the existing properties to the south. Further 
information is received which includes a drainage management plan for the 
whole of the site with details of land drains to manage surface water during 
the construction period, as shown on drawing no. 03 Rev K, received 29th May 
2015.  This also takes into account the relationship of the site to the 
surrounding properties in particular to the south and which is shown to include 
the provision of perimeter drainage along the southern boundary with these 
properties.   
 
Strategic Drainage Officers are satisfied with the additional information, and 
advise the suggested conditions be imposed to alleviate any potential 
concerns over flood risk to existing and proposed properties during both 
construction and occupation phases.  As such subject to the imposition of 
suitable drainage conditions, as suggested by the drainage officer, including 
the provision of temporary drainage solutions to protect adjacent properties 
during the construction phase, it is considered the site can be adequately 
accommodated without risk to surrounding properties, in accordance with 
advice in the NPPF.  
 
Public Open Space:  
 
Policy H18 of the UDP requires the provision of POS on housing sites of 0.4 
hectares or more at a ratio of 30 sq m per dwelling. To the north of the 
proposed development, the balance of the POL allocation is within the 
ownership of the applicant and is proposed as informal POS. This area of land 
is approx. 0.6 Ha in area, well in excess of the 150 sq m of POS required. 
 
Following consultation with the Services Landscape Officer, the provision of a 
non-equipped area of informal POS is considered to be acceptable.  
 
A detailed scheme for the landscaping of the POS and arrangements for 
subsequent maintenance can be secured by condition. 
 
The applicant has confirmed a willingness to enter into a planning obligation 
that provides for the balance of the POL allocation to be retained as POS. 
 

Page 155



 
 
 

148 

Crime Prevention Issues: 
 
NPPF, paragraph, 69 advises that development should aim to achieve safe 
and accessible environments where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, 
do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion. Design and 
Access statements should demonstrate how crime prevention measures have 
been considered in the design of the proposal and how the design reflects the 
attributes of safe, sustainable places set out in Safer Places – The Planning 
System and Crime Prevention. 
 
The Police Architectural Liaison Officer has reviewed the submitted layout and 
in light of the POS area to the north of the site, has provided comments in 
respect to boundary treatment advising, fencing to a height of 1.8m is not tall 
enough to give adequate protection against intrusion into rear gardens where 
encroachment can be made unseen from public space.  
 
In order to address this concern it is considered reasonable to require 
boundary treatment along the northern site boundary be a minimum of 2.1m in 
height.  Officers are satisfied that adequate boundary treatment can be 
secured via an appropriate condition in order to ensure compliance with Policy 
BE23 of the UDP as well as chapter 8 of the NPPF and to alleviate the 
potential concerns raised by the Police Architectural Liaison Officer.   
 
In addition, it is also essential that door and window security specification 
meets with the current guidance given by ‘Secured by Design’.  An informative 
note shall be included on the decision notice advising the applicant/ developer 
of these measures to be taken into account, including a link to the above 
guidance.  
 
Land Contamination: 
 
To ensure that any unexpected contamination is dealt with appropriately and 
to protect the future occupants of the development would not be at risk of 
contamination Environmental Service officers have recommended standard 
conditions in the event of unexpected contamination. This will be imposed on 
the decision notice to accord with Policy G6 of the UDP and Chapter 11 of the 
NPPF. 
 
Objections: 
 
Insofar as representations received that have not been addressed through the 
officer’s assessment, these are responded to as follows:  
 
Highways: 

 Lack of details relating to height of retaining and boundary/ walls 
 
Response: Given the sloping nature of the site and topography of 
surrounding land it is acknowledged that retaining walls/ structures will be 
required. The application is submitted in outline with details of access and 

Page 156



 
 
 

149 

layout to be considered. Details of retaining walls/ structures will be required 
as part of any subsequent reserved matters submission. 
 

 Additional sections/ information is vague makes no reference to 
excavations  

 
Response: The sections/information submitted relate to the works proposed 
to widen the road and provide a footpath. Highway Officers are satisfied that 
the proposals would not require extensive excavations and would result in the 
raising of the existing road level by 300mm.  
 
In addition, it is noted Paragraph 120 states that  
 “The effects (including cumulative effects) of pollution on health, the natural 
environment or general amenity………should be taken into account. Where a 
site is affected by land stability issues, responsibility for securing a safe 
development rests with the developer and/or landowner.” 
 
Details of retaining walls would be required by Highway Structures Officers for 
retaining walls that would retain land adjacent to a highway.  
 
In accordance with the NPPF the developer/ applicant would be responsible 
for ensuring that adequate site investigation was carried out by a competent 
person to demonstrate that the site can be developed without unacceptable 
risks to the future occupiers of the proposed dwellings or the existing 
occupiers of neighbouring properties from land stability. Details of retaining 
walls and boundary treatment would be conditioned and should form part of 
any subsequent applications to accord with the requirements of the NPPF and 
Planning Practice Guidance 
  
Landscape / ecology: 

 The Veteran oak tree to be retained will block sight lines for traffic 
entering in and out of the access.  

 
Response: Highway Officers are satisfied this is not the case, as the tree 
would not be in the sightline proposed.   
 

 New landscape could potentially cause loss of light and damage to 
foundations of existing trees/dwellings  
 

Response: The proposed landscaping is shown to be an adequate distance 
from existing dwellings.  
 

 Inadequate and misleading information submitted relating to siting, size 
and depth of trees.  
 

Response: The information/details were amended to show accurately the 
siting and size of trees following concerns about the accuracy of information 
raised by the Services Tree Officer.  
 

Page 157



 
 
 

150 

Infrastructure capacity: 

 Netherthong Primary School is already full and cannot be extended. 
Holmfirth High School is also full.  
 

 Adequate number of houses already available in area. 
 

Response:  Whilst these concerns are noted they are not valid planning 
concerns when considering an application for five dwellings.  
 

 Existing drainage/sewerage problems will be worsened causing 
flooding  
 

 Foul/surface drainage may not work given changes in levels in and 
around the site and adversely impact on the neighbouring properties. 

 
Response: Drainage issues have been considered by the Councils Strategic 
Drainage Officer who recommends a number of conditions to be imposed 
should the application be approved, including the provision of temporary 
drainage solutions to protect adjacent properties during the construction 
phase 
 
Other matters raised: 

 2.1m fence would be an eyesore 
 
Response: The Police Architectural Liaison Officer recommends that fencing 
to a height of 2.1m be provided to give adequate protection to rear gardens 
along the northern boundary of the site. It is considered that this would not 
unduly detract from the visual amenity of the area and is necessary to protect 
the amenity of occupiers of the development 
 

 Ownership of the strip of grass verges is unclear  
 
Response: Miry Lane is adopted and the grass verges on both sides of Miry 
Lane in close vicinity of the site is in ownership of the Council.  
 
Conclusion: 
 
Officers are satisfied, the potential drainage impact on the surrounding 
infrastructure as well as the existing neighbouring properties can be managed 
adequately during both construction and occupation stage, subject to the 
imposition of conditions suggested by Strategic Drainage Officers.  
 
Following the withdrawal of the Core Strategy the Council can no longer 
demonstrate a required deliverable housing land supply sufficient for 5 years 
and in accordance with the NPPF relevant policies for the supply of housing 
are out of date. In such circumstances no significant weight can be given to its 
content.  
 

Page 158



 
 
 

151 

The NPPF has introduced a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. The policies set out in the NPPF taken as a whole constitute the 
Government’s view of what sustainable development means in practice. This 
application has been assessed against relevant policies in the development 
plan and other material considerations. It is considered that the development 
would constitute sustainable development.   
 
The application would provide for public open space on the balance of the 
POL site and there would be no materially harmful effect on highway safety 
visual or residential amenity, from the proposed layout.    
 
In such circumstances it is considered that there are no adverse impacts of 
granting permission which would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits when assessed against the policies in this framework taken as a 
whole, or that specific NPPF policies indicate development should be 
restricted. In such circumstances the application is recommended for 
approval. 
 
9. RECOMMENDATION 
 
DELEGATE AUTHORITY TO OFFICERS TO GRANT CONDITIONAL 
OUTLINE PLANNING PERMISSION SUBJECT TO: 
 

i) THE APPLICANT ENTERING INTO A PLANNING OBLIGATION TO 
SECURE THE PROVISION OF PUBLIC OPEN SPACE  
 

ii) IMPOSE ALL NECESSARY AND APPROPRIATE CONDITIONS, 
INCLUDING  

 THOSE BELOW, AND  
 

iii) THERE BEING NO SUBSTANTAIL CHANGE THAT WOULD  ALTER 
THIS  

 RECOMMENDATION, ISSUE THE DECISION NOTICE 
 

1. Approval of the details of the appearance, landscaping and scale 
(hereinafter called the 'reserved matters') shall be obtained from the Local 
Planning Authority in writing before development is commenced.  
 
2. Plans and particulars of the reserved matters referred to in Condition 1 
above, relating to the appearance, landscaping and scale of the site, shall be 
submitted in writing to the Local Planning Authority and shall be carried out in 
full accordance with the approved plans.  
 
3. Application for approval of any reserved matter shall be made to the Local 
Planning Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this 
permission.  
 

Page 159



 
 
 

152 

4. The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the 
expiration of two years from the final approval of reserved matters or, in the 
case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last such matter 
to be approved.  
 
5. Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plan, the development 
shall not commence until a scheme detailing the widening of Miry Lane to 
4.8m and the provision of a 1.5m wide footway, construction specification, 
retaining walls, surfacing, drainage, kerbing and street lighting and associated 
highway works together with an independent safety audit covering all aspects 
of work has been submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The development shall not be brought into use until the approved 
scheme has been implemented and thereafter retained 
 
6. No development shall take place until details of the siting, design, structural 
calculations and material to be used in the construction of retaining walls/ 
structures near or abutting highways have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The residential development shall not 
be brought into use until the approved works have been competed in 
accordance with the approved details.  
 
7. Prior to the occupation of the hereby approved dwellings all new areas 
indicated to be used for vehicular access and parking for the approved 
dwellings as shown on drawing no. 03 Rev G shall have been laid out with a 
hardened and drained surface in accordance with the Communities and Local 
Government; and Environment Agency’s ‘Guidance on the permeable 
surfacing of front gardens (parking areas)’ published 13th May 2009  as 
amended or any successor guidance;  Notwithstanding the provisions of the 
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 as 
amended (or any Order revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification) this shall be so retained, free of obstructions and available for 
the use as specified on the submitted plans.  
 
8. The dwellings shall not be occupied until sightlines of 2.4m x site frontage 
have been cleared of all obstructions to visibility exceeding 1m in height and 
retained as such at all times.  
 
9. The development shall be completed in accordance with the advice and 
directions (recommendations) contained in the Arborcultural Assessment 
reference no. 14106MS these shall be implemented and maintained 
throughout the construction phase and retained thereafter.    
 
10. Notwithstanding the submitted plans and information, details of bat roost 
features in the form of a Schweglar type 1FR bat box or similar and bird 
nesting features in the form of woodcrete swift boxes,  to be incorporated 
integral to the new builds shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The development shall be completed in accordance 
with the approved details before the dwellings are first occupied and retained 
thereafter.  
 

Page 160



 
 
 

153 

11. Any planting, seeding or tree management works forming part of the 
landscaping scheme to be approved by conditions 1 and 2 shall include: 
 

 A woodland mix of trees/shrubs to create open woodland in the area of 
POS  

 Landscaping along the site frontage to Miry Lane,  and  
 
shall be carried out during the first planting, seeding or management season 
following the commencement of construction, or as otherwise may be agreed 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and shall be maintained for a period 
of five years from the completion of planting works.  All specimens which die 
within this period shall be replaced with like for like species unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
12. Development shall not commence until a scheme detailing foul, surface 
water and land drainage, (sustainable drainage assessment, off site works, 
outfalls, balancing works, plans and longitudinal sections, hydraulic 
calculations, phasing of drainage provision, existing drainage to be 
maintained/diverted/abandoned, and percolation tests, where appropriate) 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. None of the dwellings shall be occupied until such approved 
drainage scheme has been provided on the site to serve the development or 
each agreed phasing of the development to which the dwellings relate and 
thereafter retained.  
 
13. The site shall be developed with separate systems of drainage for foul and 
surface water on and off site. 
 
14. Where infiltration techniques are not viable or carry an unacceptable risk 
as a means of draining surface water, the development shall not commence 
until a scheme restricting the rate of surface water discharge from the site to a 
maximum of 5 litres per second has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by Local Planning Authority. The drainage scheme shall be designed 
to attenuate flows generated by the critical 1 in 30 year storm event as a 
minimum requirement. Volumes in excess of those generated by the critical 1 
in 30 year event, up to and including the critical 1 in 100 year events, with an 
appropriate allowance for climate change, shall be stored on site in areas to 
be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall 
include a detailed maintenance and management regime for the storage 
facility including the flow restriction.  There shall be no piped discharge of 
surface water from the development and no part of the development shall be 
brought into use until the flow restriction and attenuation works comprising the 
approved scheme have been completed in accordance with the approved 
details. The approved maintenance and management scheme shall be 
implemented and adhered to at all times 
 

Page 161



 
 
 

154 

15. The development shall not commence until an assessment of the effects 
of 1 in 100 year storm events with an additional allowance for climate change, 
blockage scenarios and exceedance event, on drainage infrastructure and 
surface water run-off (overland flows) pre and post development between the 
development and the surrounding area, in both directions, has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  No part of the 
development shall be brought into use (dwellings shall not be occupied) until 
the works comprising the approved scheme have been completed and such 
approved scheme shall be retained thereafter 
 
16. Development shall not commence until a scheme, detailing temporary 
surface water drainage for the construction phase (after soil and vegetation 
strip) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall include: 
 

 phasing of the development and phasing of temporary drainage 
provision.  

 include methods of preventing silt, debris and contaminants entering 
existing drainage systems and watercourses and how flooding of 
adjacent land is prevented. 

 

The temporary works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
scheme and phasing. No phase of the development shall be commenced until 
the temporary works approved for that phase have been completed. The 
approved temporary drainage scheme shall be retained until the approved 
permanent surface water drainage system is in place and functioning in 
accordance with written notification to the Local Planning Authority. 
 
17. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 

(General Permitted  
Development) Order 2015 as amended (or any Order revoking or re-enacting 

that Order  
with or without modification) no development included within Classes A, B, C, 

D or E of 
Part 1 of Schedule 2 to that Order shall be carried out within the application 

red line.  
 
18. No material operation as defined in section 56(4)(a)-(d) of the Town & 
Country Planning Act 1990 shall be carried out to commence the development 
pursuant to this planning permission until arrangements for the provision of 
public open space to serve the development have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The arrangements shall 
cover the following matters:- 
 
a) the layout and disposition of the public open space. 
b) the timescale for the implementation and completion of the works to 
provide the public open space; 
c) the mechanism for ensuring that the public open space will be available  for 
public within perpetuity. 
d) maintenance of the public open space in perpetuity. 

Page 162



 
 
 

155 

 
19. Prior to the first occupation of the dwellings a scheme detailing boundary 
treatments for the whole site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  This shall include a 2.1m high screen/fence 
along the full length of the northern boundary, above finished ground levels. 
The dwellings shall not be occupied until the works comprising the approved 
scheme have been completed and thereafter be retained as such.   
 
20. In the event that contamination not previously identified by the developer 
prior to the grant of this planning permission is encountered during the 
development, all works on site (save for site investigation works) shall cease 
immediately and the Local Planning Authority shall be notified in writing within 
2 working days.  Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority, works on site shall not recommence until either (a) a Remediation 
Strategy has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority or (b) the Local Planning Authority has confirmed in writing that 
remediation measures are not required.  The Remediation Strategy shall 
include a timetable for the implementation and completion of the approved 
remediation measures.  Thereafter remediation of the site shall be carried out 
and completed in accordance with the approved Remediation Strategy. 
 
Following completion of any measures identified in the approved Remediation 
Strategy a Validation Report shall be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority.  Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority, no part of the site shall be brought into use until such time as the 
whole site has been remediated in accordance with the approved 
Remediation Strategy and a Validation Report in respect of those works has 
been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
NOTE: The applicant/developer is advised the submission of any subsequent 
application on this site would need to ensure finished ground levels, building 
heights and massing are to be commensurate with adjacent development and 
of appropriate levels, scale and bulk to avoid any over bearing and shadowing 
effect on the amenities of occupiers of the existing neighbouring and 
proposed properties as well as to respect the visual amenity of the area.   
 
NOTE: The granting of planning permission does not authorise the carrying 
out of works within the highway, for which the written permission of the 
Council as Highway Authority is required. You are required to consult the 
Design Engineer (Kirklees Street Scene: 01484 221000) with regard to 
obtaining this permission and approval of the construction specification. 
Please also note that the construction of vehicle crossings within the highway 
is deemed to be major works for the purposes of the New Roads and Street 
Works Act 1991 (Section 84 and 85). Interference with the highway without 
such permission is an offence, which could lead to prosecution. 
 

Page 163



 
 
 

156 

NOTE: - Adoption under Section 38 of the Highways Act: 
It is brought to the Applicants’ notice that the Highway Development, 
Investment & Regeneration, Civic Centre 3, Market Street, Huddersfield HD1 
2JR (Kirklees Street Care: 01484 221000 or 
‘Highways.Section38@kirklees.gov.uk’) must be contacted to discuss road 
adoption arrangements under Section 38 of the Highways Act 1980. 
 
NOTE: Link to Environment Agency’s ‘Guidance on the permeable surfacing 
of front gardens’ published 13th May 2009 (ISBN 9781409804864):  
www.communities.gov.uk/publications/planningandbuilding/pavingfrontgardens 

 
NOTE: The responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the 
developer and/or landowner.  It is advised where a site could be affected by 
land stability issues this be taken into account and dealt with appropriately by 
the developer and/or landowner 
 
NOTE: The granting of planning permission does not override any private 
ownership rights or legal covenants that apply to the land forming part of this 
planning application.  
 
NOTE: To minimise noise disturbance at nearby premises it is generally 
recommended that activities relating to the erection, construction, alteration, 
repair  or maintenance of buildings, structures or roads shall not take place 
outside the hours of: 
 
07.30 and 18.30 hours Mondays to Fridays 
08.00 and 13.00hours , Saturdays 
 
With no working Sundays or Public Holidays 
In some cases, different site specific hours of operation may be appropriate. 
 
Under the Control of Pollution Act 1974, Section 60 Kirklees Environment and 
Transportation Services can control noise from construction sites by serving a 
notice. This notice can specify the hours during which work may be carried 
out. 
 
NOTE: Advice to applicant 
External doors, windows at ground floor and other accessible levels should 
meet with recognised security specifications. Window accessible from outside 
should include laminated glass. The measures included in the build should 
accord with current Secured by Design guidance www.securedbydesign.com 
 
 

Page 164

http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/planningandbuilding/pavingfrontgardens
http://www.securedbydesign.com/


 
 
 

157 

This recommendation is based on the following plan(s):- 
 

Plan Type Reference Version Date Received 

Location plan  01 A 11th Sept 2014 

Existing site levels 02  11th Sept 2014 

Proposed site 
block/layout plan with 
service vehicle swept 
paths  

03 G 16th Dec 2014 

Location plan with area 
for POS & extended 
garden areas 

04  20th Jan 2015 

Engineered Sections 
with grass verge 

1405401 B 11th March 2015 

Transport Statement 14054 dated 
August 2014 

 11th Sept 2014 

Tree Survey  14106 by James 
Royston  

 3rd Nov 2014 

Arboricultural Method 
Statement  

14106MS  3rd Nov 2014 

Drainage plan layout  03  K 29th May 2015 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 165



 
 
 

158 

Application No: 2015/90580 

Type of application: 60 - OUTLINE APPLICATION 

Proposal: Outline application for erection of 7 dwellings and formation 
of 2 site access points 

Location: land to rear of 8, Miry Lane and between St Mary's Rise and St 
Mary's Way, Netherthong, Holmfirth, HD9 3UQ 

 
Grid Ref: 413553.0 409870.0  

Ward: Holme Valley South Ward 

Applicant: S & K Buttershaw and Schramm 

Agent: Angus Ellis, WHpARCHITECTURE 

Target Date: 23-Apr-2015 

Recommendation: OASD - CONDITIONAL OUTLINE APPROVAL 
SUBJECT TO DELEGATION TO OFFICERS 

 
Link to guidance notes for public speaking at planning committee 
including how to pre-register your intention to speak. 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

LOCATION PLAN 
 

Path (u
m)

18

2

18

1
41
6

1
1

8

2

2
0

7

1
2

1
8

S
T

 M
A

R
Y

'S
 R

IS
E

ST MARY'S RISE

22

1

30

22

38

8

2

ST MARY'S WAY

20

1

24

7

Issues

Brooke House

© Kirklees Council 100019241 2008 
 
Map not to scale – for identification purposes only 
 

Page 166

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/business/planning/advicenotes/PublicSpeakingCommittee.pdf


 
 
 

159 

1. SUMMARY OF APPLICATION  
 
The application seeks outline planning permission for residential development 
with details of access and layout to be considered, all other matters being 
reserved for subsequent consideration.   
 
The site is part of a larger area allocated as Provisional Open Land (POL) on 
the Councils Unitary Development Plan with the remainder of the POL site 
proposed as Public Open Space. 
 
Following the withdrawal of the Core Strategy the Council can no longer 
demonstrate a required deliverable housing land supply sufficient for 5 years, 
and in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
relevant policies for the supply of housing are out of date. In such 
circumstances no significant weight can be given to its content. In accordance 
with NPPF there is a presumption in favour of sustainable development and 
planning permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts of 
granting permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole, or 
that specific NPPF policies indicate development should be restricted. 
 
The proposals would in effect be an extension of the two cul de sacs, St 
Mary’s Way and St Mary’s Rise.  Five of the proposed dwellings, at the 
southern end of the site, would be served off St Mary’s Way and two at the 
northern end, to be served off St Mary’s Rise.    
 
The proposals would retain the existing landscaping and hedgerow along the 
western boundary and provided an area of Public Open Space in the north 
east corner on the remainder of this POL site, shown within the application 
blue line.  The proposals can be accessed safely in highway terms and in 
terms of layout there would be no harmful effect on visual or residential 
amenity, constituting sustainable development. 
 
All other material planning considerations, relevant UDP and national planning 
policy objectives are considered to be addressed, subject to Conditions.  
 
RECOMMENDATION:  DELEGATE AUTHORITY TO OFFICERS TO 
GRANT CONDITIONAL OUTLINE PLANNING PERMISSION SUBJECT TO: 
 

iv) THE APPLICANT ENTERING INTO A PLANNING OBLIGATION TO 
SECURE THE PROVISION OF PUBLIC OPEN SPACE  

v) IMPOSE ALL NECESSARY AND APPROPRIATE CONDITIONS, 
INCLUDING THOSE BELOW, AND  

vi) THERE BEING NO SUBSTANTAIL CHANGE THAT WOULD  ALTER 
THIS RECOMMENDATION, ISSUE THE DECISION NOTICE 

 

Page 167



 
 
 

160 

2. INFORMATION 
 
The application is brought before Committee as the application represents a 
departure from the Development Plan and for Members to consider this 
application at the same time as considering application no. 2014/92737 on the 
same site with access shown off Miry Lane.  
 
3. PROPOSAL/SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
Site Description 
 
The application site comprises 0.61 hectare of land that is steeply sloping 
from north to south. The site is surrounded by residential properties to the 
east and south with open fields to the north and west of the site. The 
application site is part of a larger area of Provisional Open Land and lies to 
the southern part of the wider site.  
 
Proposal 
 
The application seeks outline permission for erection of 7 dwellings with 
details of access and layout to be considered, with all other matters being 
reserved. The proposed layout would in effect be an extension of the two cul 
de sacs, St Mary’s Way and St Marys Rise, to serve the proposed seven 
dwellings.   
 
The indicative scale of properties shows the proposed dwellings to be two 
storey in height.  
 
Notwithstanding the application form, drainage details are submitted which 
indicate surface and foul water to be disposed of to the existing main public 
sewers.   
 
4. BACKGROUND AND HISTORY 
 
2014/92737 – Outline application for erection of 5 dwellings to be served off 
Miry Lane (to be considered at the same committee meeting as this 
application - pending decision) 
 
2013/93081 – Outline application for residential development for 18 dwellings   
- recommended for refusal on road safety, visual amenity from the loss of 
hedgerow/trees and biodiversity within the hedgerow – withdrawn before 
determination  
 
1978/60/0434 - Outline application for residential development. Refused and 
dismissed at appeal. 
 
This appeal is historic and predated the preparation of the Local Plan for the 
area, which has since been replaced by the UDP. As such, little weight should 
be afforded the decision. 
 

Page 168



 
 
 

161 

5. PLANNING POLICY 
 
The application site is forms part of a larger area of Provisional Open Land 
(POL) on the Unitary Development Plan, the remainder of which is shown as 
Public Open Space.   
 
Kirklees Unitary Development Plan 
 
D5 – Provisional Open Land 
BE1 – Design principles 
BE2 – Design of new development 
BE12 – Space about buildings standards 
BE23 – New developments to incorporate crime prevention measures 
G6 – Development having regard to contamination  
NE9 – Protection of mature trees 
EP11 – Incorporation of integral landscaping scheme which protects or 
enhances ecology 
H18 – Provision of open space 
T10 – Highway safety considerations 
T16 – Provision of safe, convenient and pleasant pedestrian routes within 
developments 
T19 – Parking standards 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 
‘Achieving Sustainable Development’ 
‘Core Planning Principles’ 
Section 4 - Promoting sustainable transport 
Section 6 – Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes 
Section 7 – Requiring good design 
Section 8 – Promoting healthy communities 
Section 10 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 
change 
Section 11 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
 
Other Guidance 
 
Planning Practice Guidance – Open Space 
 
6. CONSULTATIONS 
 
Below is a summary of the consultation responses received; where 
appropriate these are expanded upon in the assessment section of this report: 
 
K.C. Highway Development Management: Support subject to conditions 
 
K. C. Strategic Drainage: additional information includes details of surface 
and foul water drainage as well as details of how surface water would be 
managed during construction with perimeter drainage - Support subject to 
conditions and consultation with Yorkshire Water  

Page 169



 
 
 

162 

 
K.C Landscape architects: Proposed landscape should be well thought out, 
of high quality, enhance the area and strengthen the green corridor along Miry 
lane. 
 
Yorkshire Water: Support subject to conditions 
 
Police Architectural Liaison Officer: Comments provided in relation to 
boundary treatments to be no less than 2.1m in height for the houses backing 
on to the POS and door and window specifications. These matters can be 
secured via condition, where appropriate.  
 
7. REPRESENTATIONS 
 
The application was advertised by neighbour letters and site notices. The final 
publicity period expired on the 30th March 2015.  19 letters of objection were 
received. The concerns of which are summarised below:  
 
Highways: 

 Would add to already congested roads, which are narrow, mostly 
without pavements  

 Lack of details relating to height of retaining and boundary/ walls 

 Internal road gradient linking the two sets of dwellings would not meet 
the highways design standards regarding gradients  

 Site access unsuitable for increased traffic as is steep, winding single 
track sharp bend and with on-street parking only one car could pass. 

 Lack of footway and unmade surface  

 Access through Netherthong and Deanhouse problematic because of 
narrow/poorly maintained roads, through small village. 

 Increase highway safety concerns, adding to congestion problems, 
existing access/parking issues on St Mary’s Way and St Mary’s Rise.  

 Construction traffic and proposed would exacerbate access/safety 
issues. 
 

Sustainability: 
 

 Loss of greenfield site. Brownfield sites should be used instead of this 
greenfield site. 

 Sustainability issues with this location including distance to major 
centre/shops etc. and reliance on cars. 

 Proposal would not have any employment benefit. 

 Site is ‘lowest tier in Local Development Framework’ so the village has 
the least potential for development.  

 The main service centre for Netherthong is Holmfirth. 

 Given location and local employment opportunities, most residents of 
the development would be commuters. 

 The development does not support “the transition to a low carbon 
economy” (National Planning Policy Framework) 

 The bus service is limited  

Page 170



 
 
 

163 

 The ‘Hopper’ bus service to Holmfirth is under threat due to funding 
cuts.  

 Totally unsuitable for people with prams, bikes, less abled people and 
people using mobility scooters. 

 The shop in Netherthong sells a very limited range of goods.  

 The village has no doctor’s, dentist or chemist.  
 
Landscape / ecology: 
 

 No information/details of retaining walls/ depth of foundations which 
can affect the long term viability of protected trees including the veteran 
oak tree.  

 Proposed dwellings too close to hedgerow  along Miry Lane and impact 
on the ecology of site  

 No ecology report submitted with this application.  

 Site is full of wildlife interest (inc. owls, bats, squirrels). 

 Further pressure on shrinking areas of wildlife habitat – such areas of 
unimproved grassland provide important patches of relatively un-
managed ground which act as reservoirs for species within built-up 
areas.  

 Site has trees of significant quality which add to the value of the area. 
 
Planning policy: 
 

 Proposal is contrary to Policy D5 of the Kirklees Unitary Development 
Plan, which makes it clear that planning permission  for such land will 
not be granted other than for very limited purposes.  

 Other POL sites should be developed first, in more suitable locations. 

 Not in  sustainable location  
 
Infrastructure capacity: 
 

 The village is full and already at breaking point.  

 Netherthong primary school is already full and cannot be extended. 
Holmfirth High School is also full.  

 Adequate number of houses already available in area. 

 Existing drainage/sewerage problems will be worsened causing 
flooding  

 Foul/surface drainage may not work given changes in levels in and 
around the site, impact on the neighbouring properties and existing 
sewerage drains already exceeding capacity 

 A natural spring running through the site  

 Yorkshire water previously refused to adopt the sewers on the grounds 
that their size was not sufficient for the number of houses on the 
estate.  

 

Page 171



 
 
 

164 

Other matters raised: 
 

 Loss of privacy, direct overlooking into existing houses from upper 
floors of proposed property from 2 and 3 storey high towering dwellings  

 Overshadowing and too close to no. 7 St Mary’s Way  

 No levels shown  

 the internal road can easily be extended into the open space, & there is 
no guarantee that this will not happen 

 no mention of who would be responsible for maintain the screening 
vegetation or the area for POS  

 the access involves driving over privately owned strips of land at the 
end of St Mary’s Way And St Mary’s Rise, which the owners have no 
intention of selling 

 impact on the structural stability of the existing retaining wall along the 
southern boundary  

 
Additional representations: 
 
Jason McCartney MP has commented on the application as follows:  
 
“I would like to object to the latest version of this planning application for the 
reasons below –  
 

1.    Additional housing in Netherthong is just not sustainable until 
improvements are made to the local infrastructure – the school is full 
and the roads do not cope already with the amount of traffic. The 
narrow roads, many without proper pavements are just not up to coping 
with the pressure they are placed under now, without additional 
developments such as this. 

2.    Drainage and the sewer. The field currently ask as a soakway and with 
problems of flooding already occurring, building on these fields will 
make the situation worse and the sewer system in place is not 
adequate to cope with additional water. 

3.    This is a vital green space in the village that should be protected to 
provide a natural edge to the village and to protect the flora and fauna 
the field contains. There are plenty of brownfield sites in better 
locations across the Holme Valley to meet any housing need. 

4.    There is an issue of privacy with the development overlooking existing 
properties. 

5.    The internal road gradient linking the two sets of houses, one towards 
the top of the field and one towards the bottom, will be excessive and 
would not meet current highway design standards regarding gradients. 

 
For all these reasons I believe the plans for this development should be 
rejected”   
 
Holme Valley Parish Council – Object on the grounds of access and over 
looking  
 

Page 172



 
 
 

165 

8. ASSESSMENT 
 
Principle of development: 
 
The application site includes land designated as Provisional Open Land 
(POL). Policy D5  of the UDP states that “planning permission will not be 
granted other than for development required in connection with established 
uses, changes of use to alternative open land uses or temporary uses which 
would not prejudice the contribution of the site to the character of its 
surroundings and the possibility of development in the longer term” 
 
The weight that can be given to Policy D5 in determining applications for 
housing must be assessed in the context of NPPF paragraphs 215 and 49. 
 
In the context of paragraph 215, the wording of policy D5 is consistent with NPPF 
paragraph 85 concerning safeguarded land. However, with regard to paragraph 
49 the council is currently unable to demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable 
housing land.  
 
The weight that can be given to policy D5 in these circumstances was 
assessed in October 2013 by a planning inspector in his consideration of an 
appeal against refusal of permission for housing on a POL site at Ashbourne 
Drive, Cleckheaton (ref: APP/Z4718/A/13/2201353).  The inspector concluded 
(paragraph 42): 
 
“The lack of a five-year supply, on its own, weighs in favour of the 
development. In combination with other paragraphs in the Framework 
concerning housing delivery the weight is increased. The lack of a five-year 
supply also means that policies in the UDP concerning housing land are out of 
date. Policy D5 clearly relates to housing and so it, too, is out of date and its 
weight is reduced accordingly. This significantly reduces the weight that can 
be given to the policy requirement for there to be a review of the plan before 
the land can be released. In these circumstances, the Framework’s 
presumption in favour of sustainable development is engaged.”  
 
The presumption referred to by the inspector is set out in NPPF paragraph 14 
which states that where relevant policies are out-of-date, planning permission 
should be granted “unless any adverse impacts of granting permission would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against 
the policies in this framework taken as a whole, or that specific NPPF policies 
indicate development should be restricted”. Footnote 9 lists examples of 
restrictive policies but this does not include policies concerning safeguarded 
land. 
 
Sustainability: 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that the purpose of 
the planning system “is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable 
development.” (para 6). NPPF notes that pursuing sustainable development 
involves seeking positive improvements in the quality of the built, natural and 

Page 173



 
 
 

166 

historic environment, as well as in peoples’ quality of life (para 9). NPPF 
identifies the dimensions of sustainable development as economic, social and 
environmental roles (para 7). It states that these roles are mutually dependent 
and should not be undertaken in isolation. “Economic, social and 
environmental gains should be sought jointly and simultaneously through the 
planning system.” (para 8). NPPF stresses the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. The developer has submitted a supporting 
document on sustainability, and the proposal has been assessed against 
each role as follows: 
 
Economic:  
A proposal for five dwellings would bring some economic gains by providing 
business opportunities for contractors and local suppliers.  In accordance with 
the NPPF new houses will support growth and satisfy housing needs thereby 
contribute to the building of a strong economy. The proposals would be 
creating additional demand for local services and potentially increasing use 
and viability of local bus services 
 
Social:  
There will be a social gain through the provision of new housing at a time of 
general shortage that has good access to local facilities and with an area to 
be dedicated to Public Open Space.  
 
In terms of social inclusion and accessibility the site is: 

 Approximately 2,200 metres away from Holmfirth district centre, via 
New Road and  

 within 1,200m of local facilities in Netherthong including a food store 
and two public houses.   

 within 800m of a bus stop, with a service of at least a 30 minute 
frequency and a journey time of less than 30 minutes (25 minutes bus 
and 5 minutes walking) to a town centre offering employment, leisure 
and retail opportunities,  

 700m from a stop served by the 308 which provides an hourly service 
to Huddersfield taking 40 minutes.   

 St Mary’s Rise is served by the H5 bus, which forms part of the 
Holmfirth minibus network and provides an hourly service to Holmfirth 
bus station.  

 approximately 600m from Netherthong Primary School,  and  

 within 1,900m of GP surgeries at Holmfirth Memorial Hospital.  
 
The H5 bus provides an hourly link to the GP surgeries.  
 
Environmental:  
The development of a greenfield site represents an environmental loss. 
However, although national policy encourages the use of brownfield land for 
development it also makes clear that no significant weight can be given to the 
loss of greenfield sites to housing when there is a national priority to increase 
housing supply.  On balance the proposal is considered to meet the 
paragraph 8 test.  

Page 174



 
 
 

167 

 
The Services Biodiversity officer advises whilst there is a tree corridor/hedge 
along Miry Lane, the application field is improved grassland and of little 
ecological interest.  The proposal would result in removal of part of the holly 
hedge to enable the construction of the proposed access to the site. The 
removal of a short strip of this hedge would be compensated for by 
appropriate mitigation, compensation and enhancement measures being 
incorporated into the development and other measures to be taken prior to 
development. These can be secured by conditions.   
 
Further to the above regarding the sustainability of the site, observations 
made by the Inspector for a recent appeal decision on a POL site in 
Netherthong (APP/Z4718/A/14/2219016 - Land off St Marys Avenue) should 
be noted with respect to accessibility. This is highlighted in the ‘Social’ thread 
of sustainability above.  In that case the Inspector noted the deficiencies in 
access to local services by sustainable means but having,  
 

“regard to the emphasis on growth within the Framework, and (having 
given) weight to the need to boost the supply of housing. In the 
absence of a 5 year housing land supply, the contribution the 
development would make to housing supply in the District would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the harm that would arise as a 
result of increased trips by private car.” 

 
Assessing the policies in the NPPF as a whole in accordance with the 
paragraph 14 test, the environmental harm arising from the development of 
this Greenfield site and the marginal disadvantages in its social accessibility 
are considered to be clearly outweighed by the benefits to be gained from the 
provision of housing. The principle of development is therefore acceptable. 
 
Impact on visual amenity: 
 
A full assessment of the scale and appearance of the development would be 
made upon the submission of reserved matters. Proposals for new 
development should respect the architectural qualities of surrounding 
development and their materials of construction in order to preserve and 
enhance the appearance of the area. This is reiterated in section 12 of the 
NPPF.   
 
UDP Policies are BE1 and BE2 require that the layout of buildings should 
respect any traditional character the area may have. All development should 
be of good quality design that such that it contributes to a built environment 
and creates a sense of local identity and must respect the scale, height and 
design of adjoining buildings and be in keeping with the predominant 
character of the area.   
 
The two internal access roads would be an extension of the two existing cul 
de sacs, with a turning area.  The road layout dictates the siting of the 
proposed dwellings.  In the layout shown, the road and properties would 
appear slightly staggered with those on St Marys Way and St Mary’s Rise. 

Page 175



 
 
 

168 

However, this is not uncommon having regard to the layout of the highway 
network and grain of the surrounding development.   
 
Given the sloping nature of the site, extensive excavations and the provision 
of retaining walls would be required within the site, particularly in the north 
east corner of the site as shown on drawing no. 101 Rev E. This is not 
uncommon in the area and would largely be hidden by the dwelling on this 
plot.  All plots are shown to provide reasonably sized enclosed garden areas 
including parking provision with space for waste bins for each plot. Given the 
size of the application site, Officers are of the opinion that seven dwellings 
can be adequately accommodated without appearing out of context.  
 
With regard to the scale of properties, an indicative scale is submitted 
showing them to be two storey in height.  Whilst, this is a matter to be 
considered at reserved matters or full application stage, the agent has been 
advised the scale of properties would need to comparable to those on St 
Mary’s Way and St Mary’s Rise to ensure the proposal integrates with the 
visual amenity of the surrounding development and to accord with Policies 
BE1 and BE2 of the UDP. Furthermore, it is considered that the proposed 
properties could have an overbearing impact with loss of privacy for occupiers 
of existing properties to Miry Lane. (Discussed in detail below)  
 
With regards to design and external appearance, these are matters which are 
be considered in detail upon submission of reserved matters or full application 
taking into account the above policies and the impact on the character and 
appearance of the surroundings. 
 
Impact on trees and ecology: 
 
Turning to the impact on the ecology & trees within the site, paragraph 118 of 
the NPPF states “when determining applications Local Planning Authorities 
should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity” by applying a number of 
principles.  These include the conservation and enhancement of biodiversity 
in and around developments.  UDP Policy EP11 requests that applications for 
planning permission should incorporate landscaping which protects/enhances 
the ecology of the site. 
 
Firstly with regard to trees, the proposed layout would ensure there is no 
adverse impact on the long term viability of existing trees and hedgerow along 
Miry Lane.   The Services Arboricultural Officer is satisfied that the proposed 
dwellings in the siting shown would be of adequate distance from these trees 
and given the orientation of the dwellings where the principal elevations would 
be facing north and south, there is unlikely to any pressure to fell these trees, 
in accordance with Policy NE9 of the UDP.    
 
With regards to the ecological value of the site, the Services Biodiversity 
Officer advises that the hedgerow along Miry Lane is used by foraging bats 
and nesting birds.  The supporting statement states the existing boundary 
treatments will be retained and enhanced and whilst landscape details are 
reserved, it is proposed to include new planting. this together with the 

Page 176



 
 
 

169 

enhancement measures to include bat and bird boxes, integral to the new 
build, would accord with Policy EP11 of the UDP and guidance in the NPPF.  
 
Impact on residential amenity: 
 
Policy BE12 of the UDP sets out the normally recommended minimum 
distances between habitable and non-habitable room windows for new 
dwellings.  New dwellings should be designed to provide privacy and open 
space for their occupants and physical separation from adjacent property and 
land.  Distances less than those specified will be acceptable if it can be shown 
that by reason of permanent screening, changes in level or innovative design 
no detriment would be caused to existing or future occupiers of the dwellings 
or to any adjacent premises.   
  
It is anticipated the proposed dwellings would have their main aspect towards 
the north and south with front elevations facing onto the proposed internal 
access road. Internally within the layout, the proposed dwellings would have 
an acceptable distance between them. The layout would also achieve 
adequate distance between the proposed and existing properties to the east 
on St Mary’s Way.  
 
The properties most likely to be affected are to the south, namely nos. 6 and 8 
Miry Lane. These are set at a considerably lower level than the application 
site. The layout shows plots 1 and 2 at an oblique angle to these properties. A 
distance of 20m would be achieved at the nearest point between the corner of 
plot no. 2 and existing property at no. 8 Miry Lane. Having regard to the levels 
between existing and proposed dwellings, officers are satisfied that the layout 
would not adversely affect the residential amenity of occupiers of existing 
properties.   
 
However, officers are concerned about the indicative scale which indicates 
the proposed properties to be two storey in height. This would not be 
acceptable in terms of impact on visual amenity and moreover the potential 
overlooking and overbearing impact it would have on existing properties to 
Miry Lane, south of the application site. The agent has been fully appraised 
on these issues and acknowledges officers concerns. This will however be a 
matter for detailed consideration at reserved matters stage for all plots taking 
into account the impact on amenities of existing neighbouring properties and  
future residents of the proposed plots.   
 
Furthermore, in the interest of protecting the amenities of both existing and  
future occupants of these properties, it is considered appropriate to withdraw  
permitted development rights for development under classes Class A, B, C, D  
or E of Part 1 of Schedule 2 of the GPDO 
 

Page 177



 
 
 

170 

Impact on highways and road safety: 
 
UDP Policy T10 states that “New development will not normally be permitted if 
it will create or materially add to highway safety or environmental problems or, 
in the case of development which will attract or generate a significant number 
of journeys, it cannot be served adequately by the existing highway network”. 
Policy T19 addresses car parking in relation to the maximum standards set 
out in Appendix 2 to the UDP. 
 
On assessment of the revised layout plan, Highway Officers provide the 
following advice:  
 
The applicants have provided revised plans omitting the link road between the 
two cul-de-sacs and retaining refuse vehicle turning provisions.  Whilst 
detailed plans will be needed an indicative longitudinal section through the 
centre line of the proposed roads has been provided which demonstrates that 
acceptable gradients can be achieved.  
 
In conclusion; it is considered that traffic generated by the addition of two 
dwellings off St Mary’s Rise and an additional five of St Mary’s Way can be 
safely accommodated within the local highway network and that the proposal 
would not result in any undue highway safety implications and accord with 
Policy T10 of the UDP and the NPPF.   
 
Drainage Issues: 
 
The NPPF requires Local Planning Authorities to take account of climate 
change over the longer term, including factors such as flood risk and water 
supply. New development should be planned to avoid increased vulnerability 
to the range of impacts arising from climate change. When new development 
is brought forward in areas which are vulnerable, care should be taken to 
ensure that risks can be managed through suitable adaptation measures, 
including through the planning of green infrastructure.  
 
The revised layout plan provides details of foul and surface water to be 
disposed of into the mains sewers along with a drainage management plan for 
the whole of the site with details of land drains to manage surface water 
during the construction period. This also takes into account the relationship of 
the site to the surrounding properties in particular to the south and which is 
shown to include the provision of perimeter drainage including, along the 
southern boundary with properties to Miry Lane.   
 
Strategic Drainage Officers are satisfied with the drainage proposals and 
advice the suggested conditions be imposed to alleviate any potential 
concerns over flood risk to existing and proposed properties during both 
construction and occupation phases.  As such subject to the imposition of 
suitable drainage conditions, as suggested by the Drainage Officer and 
Yorkshire Water to include the provision of temporary drainage solutions to 
protect adjacent properties during the construction phase would be included 
should Members be minded to approve the application.    

Page 178



 
 
 

171 

 
Public Open Space:  
 
Policy H18 of the UDP requires the provision of POS on housing sites of 0.4 
hectares or more at a ratio of 30 sq m per dwelling. To the north of the 
proposed development, the balance of the POL allocation is within the 
ownership of the applicant and is proposed as informal POS. This area of land 
is approx. 0.36 Ha in area, well in excess of the 210sq m of POS required. 
 
Following consultation with the Services Landscape Officer, the provision of a 
non-equipped area of informal POS is considered to be acceptable.  
 
A detailed scheme for the landscaping of the POS and arrangements for 
subsequent maintenance can be secured by condition. 
 
The applicant has confirmed a willingness to enter into a planning obligation 
that provides for the balance of the POL allocation to be retained as POS. 
 
Crime Prevention Issues: 
 
NPPF, paragraph, 69 advises that development should aim to achieve safe 
and accessible environments where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, 
do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion. Design and 
Access statements should demonstrate how crime prevention measures have 
been considered in the design of the proposal and how the design reflects the 
attributes of safe, sustainable places set out in Safer Places – The Planning 
System and Crime Prevention. 
 
The Police Architectural Liaison Officer has reviewed the submitted layout and 
in light of the POS area to the north of the site, has provided comments in 
respect to boundary treatment advising, fencing to a height of 1.8m is not tall 
enough to give adequate protection against intrusion into rear gardens where 
encroachment can be made unseen from public space.  
 
In order to address this concern it is considered reasonable to require 
boundary treatment along the northern site boundary be a minimum of 2.1m in 
height.  Officers are satisfied that adequate boundary treatment can be 
secured via an appropriate condition in order to ensure compliance with Policy 
BE23 of the UDP as well as chapter 8 of the NPPF and to alleviate the 
potential concerns raised by the Police Architectural Liaison Officer.   
 
In addition, it is also essential that door and window security specification 
meets with the current guidance given by ‘Secured by Design’.  An informative 
note shall be included on the decision notice advising the applicant/ developer 
of these measures to be taken into account, including a link to the above 
guidance.  
 

Page 179



 
 
 

172 

Land Contamination: 
 
To ensure that any unexpected contamination is dealt with appropriately and 
to protect the future occupants of the development would not be at risk of 
contamination Environmental Service officers have recommended standard 
conditions in the event of unexpected contamination. This will be imposed on 
the decision notice to accord with Policy G6 of the UDP and Chapter 11 of the 
NPPF. 
 
Objections: 
 
Insofar as representations received that have not been addressed through the 
officer’s assessment, these are responded to as follows:  
 
Highways: 

 Lack of details relating to height of retaining and boundary/ walls 

 impact on the structural stability of the existing retaining wall along the 
southern boundary  

 
Response: Given the sloping nature of the site and topography of 
surrounding land it is acknowledged that retaining walls/ structures will be 
required. The application is submitted in outline with details of access and 
layout to be considered. Details of retaining walls/ structures will be required 
as part of any subsequent reserved matters submission. 
 
In addition, it is noted Paragraph 120 states that  
 “The effects (including cumulative effects) of pollution on health, the natural 
environment or general amenity………should be taken into account. Where a 
site is affected by land stability issues, responsibility for securing a safe 
development rests with the developer and/or landowner.” 
 
Details of retaining walls would be required by Highway Structures Officers for 
retaining walls that would retain land adjacent to a highway.  
 
In accordance with the NPPF the developer/ applicant would be responsible 
for ensuring that adequate site investigation was carried out by a competent 
person to demonstrate that the site can be developed without unacceptable 
risks to the future occupiers of the proposed dwellings or the existing 
occupiers of neighbouring properties from land stability. Details of retaining 
walls and boundary treatment would be conditioned and should form part of 
any subsequent applications to accord with the requirements of the NPPF and 
Planning Practice Guidance 
  
Landscape / ecology: 

 New landscape could potentially cause loss of light and damage to 
foundations of existing trees/dwellings  
 

Response: The proposed landscaping is shown to be an adequate distance 
from existing dwellings.  
 

Page 180



 
 
 

173 

Infrastructure capacity: 

 Netherthong Primary School is already full and cannot be extended. 
Holmfirth High School is also full.  
 

 Adequate number of houses already available in area. 
 

Response:  Whilst these concerns are noted they are not valid planning 
concerns when considering an application for five dwellings.  
 

 Existing drainage/sewerage problems will be worsened causing 
flooding  
 

 Foul/surface drainage may not work given changes in levels in and 
around the site and adversely impact on the neighbouring properties. 

 
Response: Drainage issues have been considered by the Councils Strategic 
Drainage Officer who recommends a number of conditions to be imposed 
should the application be approved, including the provision of temporary 
drainage solutions to protect adjacent properties during the construction 
phase.  In addition, Yorkshire Water have also been consulted and raise no 
objections for the foul and surface water to be connected to the existing main 
sewers.  
 
Other matters raised: 

 the access involves driving over privately owned strips of land at the 
end of St Mary’s Way And St Mary’s Rise, which the owners have no 
intention of selling 

 
Response: it is accepted the two proposed vehicular access points are in 
third party ownership.  In this case it would be appropriate to impose a 
Grampian worded condition requiring the works to the access points to be 
carried out prior to the construction of the dwellings.  
In this case the proposals are for housing development and would cross over 
a “ransom strip”.  This situation is cited as a typical example of circumstances 
where imposition of a Grampian is not an unreasonable condition. Planning 
permissions are granted because the LPA decide the development is in the 
public interest and that’s not to be affected by the consideration that the 
owners of the ransom strip/land is determined not to allow the implementation 
by the developer such that the LPA should refuse the application. 
 
Conclusion: 
 
Officers are satisfied, the potential drainage impact on the surrounding 
infrastructure as well as the existing neighbouring properties can be managed 
adequately during both construction and occupation stage, subject to the 
imposition of conditions suggested by Strategic Drainage Officers.  
 
Following the withdrawal of the Core Strategy the Council can no longer 
demonstrate a required deliverable housing land supply sufficient for 5 years 

Page 181



 
 
 

174 

and in accordance with the NPPF relevant policies for the supply of housing 
are out of date. In such circumstances no significant weight can be given to its 
content.  
 
The NPPF has introduced a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. The policies set out in the NPPF taken as a whole constitute the 
Government’s view of what sustainable development means in practice. This 
application has been assessed against relevant policies in the development 
plan and other material considerations. It is considered that the development 
would constitute sustainable development.   
 
The application would provide for public open space on the balance of the 
POL site and there would be no materially harmful effect on highway safety 
visual or residential amenity, from the proposed layout.    
 
In such circumstances it is considered that there are no adverse impacts of 
granting permission which would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits when assessed against the policies in this framework taken as a 
whole, or that specific NPPF policies indicate development should be 
restricted. In such circumstances the application is recommended for 
approval. 
 
9. RECOMMENDATION 
 
DELEGATE AUTHORITY TO OFFICERS TO GRANT CONDITIONAL 
OUTLINE PLANNING PERMISSION SUBJECT TO: 
 

iv) THE APPLICANT ENTERING INTO A PLANNING OBLIGATION TO 
SECURE THE PROVISION OF PUBLIC OPEN SPACE 
 

v) IMPOSE ALL NECESSARY AND APPROPRIATE CONDITIONS, 
INCLUDING THOSE BELOW, AND  
 

vi) THERE BEING NO SUBSTANTAIL CHANGE THAT WOULD  ALTER 
THIS RECOMMENDATION, ISSUE THE DECISION NOTICE 

 
1. Approval of the details of the appearance, landscaping and scale 
(hereinafter called the 'reserved matters') shall be obtained from the Local 
Planning Authority in writing before development is commenced.  
 
2. Plans and particulars of the reserved matters referred to in Condition 1 
above, relating to the appearance, landscaping and scale of the site, shall be 
submitted in writing to the Local Planning Authority and shall be carried out in 
full accordance with the approved plans.  
 
3. Application for approval of any reserved matter shall be made to the Local 
Planning Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this 
permission.  
 

Page 182



 
 
 

175 

4. The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the 
expiration of two years from the final approval of reserved matters or, in the 
case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last such matter 
to be approved.  
 
5. The construction of the hereby approved dwellings shall not be begun until 
details of a scheme describing the proposed internal adoptable estate roads 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall include full sections, drainage works, street 
lighting, signing, surface finishes and the treatment of sight lines, together 
with an independent safety audit covering all aspects of work. The dwellings 
shall not be occupied until the approved scheme of works has been 
completed in accordance with the Local Planning Authority’s approval and 
have been certified in writing as complete by or on behalf of the Local 
Planning Authority and such works shall be retained thereafter.   
 
6. Details of storage and access for collection of wastes from the premises 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The approved details shall be provided before first occupation of the approved 
dwellings and shall be so retained thereafter. 
 

7. Prior to the occupation of the hereby approved dwellings all new areas 
indicated to be used for vehicular access and parking for the approved 
dwellings as shown on drawing no. 101 Rev E shall have been laid out with a 
hardened and drained surface in accordance with the Communities and Local 
Government; and Environment Agency’s ‘Guidance on the permeable 
surfacing of front gardens (parking areas)’ published 13th May 2009  as 
amended or any successor guidance;  Notwithstanding the provisions of the 
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 as 
amended (or any Order revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification) this shall be so retained, free of obstructions and available for 
the use as specified on the submitted plans.  
 
8. Prior to construction commencing, a schedule of the means of access to 
the site for construction traffic shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The schedule shall include the point of access 
for construction traffic, details of the times of use of the access, the routing of 
construction traffic to and from the site, construction workers parking facilities 
and the provision, use and retention of adequate wheel washing facilities 
within the site. All construction arrangements shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved schedule throughout the period of construction. 
 
9. Notwithstanding the submitted plans and information, details of bat roost 
features in the form of a Schweglar type 1FR bat box or similar and bird 
nesting features in the form of woodcrete swift boxes,  to be incorporated 
integral to the new builds shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The development shall be completed in accordance 
with the approved details before the dwellings are first occupied and retained 
thereafter.  
 

Page 183



 
 
 

176 

10. Any planting, seeding or tree management works forming part of the 
landscaping scheme to be approved by conditions 1 and 2 shall include: 
 

 A woodland mix of trees/shrubs to create open woodland in the area of 
POS  

and shall be carried out during the first planting, seeding or management 
season following the commencement of construction, or as otherwise may be 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and shall be maintained for 
a period of five years from the completion of planting works.  All specimens 
which die within this period shall be replaced with like for like species unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
11. Development shall not commence until a scheme detailing foul, surface 
water and land drainage, (sustainable drainage assessment, off site works, 
outfalls, balancing works, plans and longitudinal sections, hydraulic 
calculations, phasing of drainage provision, existing drainage to be 
maintained/diverted/abandoned, and percolation tests, where appropriate) 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. None of the dwellings shall be occupied until such approved 
drainage scheme has been provided on the site to serve the development or 
each agreed phasing of the development to which the dwellings relate and 
thereafter retained.  
 
12. The site shall be developed with separate systems of drainage for foul and 
surface water on and off site. 
 
13. Where infiltration techniques are not viable or carry an unacceptable risk 
as a means of draining surface water, the development shall not commence 
until a scheme restricting the rate of surface water discharge from the site to a 
maximum of 5 litres per second has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by Local Planning Authority. The drainage scheme shall be designed 
to attenuate flows generated by the critical 1 in 30 year storm event as a 
minimum requirement. Volumes in excess of those generated by the critical 1 
in 30 year event, up to and including the critical 1 in 100 year events, with an 
appropriate allowance for climate change, shall be stored on site in areas to 
be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall 
include a detailed maintenance and management regime for the storage 
facility including the flow restriction.  There shall be no piped discharge of 
surface water from the development and no part of the development shall be 
brought into use until the flow restriction and attenuation works comprising the 
approved scheme have been completed in accordance with the approved 
details. The approved maintenance and management scheme shall be 
implemented and adhered to at all times 
 
14. The development shall not commence until an assessment of the effects 
of 1 in 100 year storm events with an additional allowance for climate change, 
blockage scenarios and exceedance event, on drainage infrastructure and 
surface water run-off (overland flows) pre and post development between the 
development and the surrounding area, in both directions, has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  No part of the 

Page 184



 
 
 

177 

development shall be brought into use (dwellings shall not be occupied) until 
the works comprising the approved scheme have been completed and such 
approved scheme shall be retained thereafter 
 
15. Development shall not commence until a scheme, detailing temporary 
surface water drainage for the construction phase (after soil and vegetation 
strip) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall include: 
 

 phasing of the development and phasing of temporary drainage 
provision.  

 include methods of preventing silt, debris and contaminants entering 
existing drainage systems and watercourses and how flooding of 
adjacent land is prevented. 

 

The temporary works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
scheme and phasing. No phase of the development shall be commenced until 
the temporary works approved for that phase have been completed. The 
approved temporary drainage scheme shall be retained until the approved 
permanent surface water drainage system is in place and functioning in 
accordance with written notification to the Local Planning Authority. 
 
16. The site shall be developed with separate systems of drainage for foul and 
surface water on and off site 
 
17. No piped discharge of surface water from the application site shall take 
place until works to provide a satisfactory outfall for surface water have been 
completed in accordance with details to be submitted to and approved by the 
local planning authority before development commences. 
 
18. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 as amended (or any Order 
revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without modification) no 
development included within Classes A, B, C, D or E of Part 1 of Schedule 2 
to that Order shall be carried out within the application red line.  
 
19. No material operation as defined in section 56(4)(a)-(d) of the Town & 
Country Planning Act 1990 shall be carried out to commence the development 
pursuant to this planning permission until arrangements for the provision of 
public open space to serve the development have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The arrangements shall 
cover the following matters:- 
 
a) the layout and disposition of the public open space. 
b) the timescale for the implementation and completion of the works to 
provide the public open space; 
c) the mechanism for ensuring that the public open space will be available  for 
public within perpetuity. 
d) maintenance of the public open space in perpetuity. 
 

Page 185



 
 
 

178 

20. Prior to the first occupation of the dwellings a scheme detailing boundary 
treatments for the whole site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  This shall include a 2.1m high screen/fence 
along the full length of the northern  boundary, above finished ground levels. 
The dwellings shall not be occupied until the works comprising the approved 
scheme have been completed and thereafter be retained as such.   
 
21. In the event that contamination not previously identified by the developer 
prior to the grant of this planning permission is encountered during the 
development, all works on site (save for site investigation works) shall cease 
immediately and the Local Planning Authority shall be notified in writing within 
2 working days.  Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority, works on site shall not recommence until either (a) a Remediation 
Strategy has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority or (b) the Local Planning Authority has confirmed in writing that 
remediation measures are not required.  The Remediation Strategy shall 
include a timetable for the implementation and completion of the approved 
remediation measures.  Thereafter remediation of the site shall be carried out 
and completed in accordance with the approved Remediation Strategy. 
 
Following completion of any measures identified in the approved Remediation 
Strategy a Validation Report shall be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority.  Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority, no part of the site shall be brought into use until such time as the 
whole site has been remediated in accordance with the approved 
Remediation Strategy and a Validation Report in respect of those works has 
been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
NOTE: The applicant/developer is advised the submission of any subsequent 
application on this site would need to ensure finished ground levels, building 
heights and massing are to be commensurate with adjacent development and 
of appropriate levels, scale and bulk to avoid any over bearing and shadowing 
effect on the amenities of occupiers of the existing neighbouring and 
proposed properties as well as to respect the visual amenity of the area.   
 
NOTE: The granting of planning permission does not authorise the carrying 
out of works within the highway, for which the written permission of the 
Council as Highway Authority is required. You are required to consult the 
Design Engineer (Kirklees Street Scene: 01484 221000) with regard to 
obtaining this permission and approval of the construction specification. 
Please also note that the construction of vehicle crossings within the highway 
is deemed to be major works for the purposes of the New Roads and Street 
Works Act 1991 (Section 84 and 85). Interference with the highway without 
such permission is an offence, which could lead to prosecution. 
 

Page 186



 
 
 

179 

NOTE: - Adoption under Section 38 of the Highways Act: 
It is brought to the Applicants’ notice that the Highway Development, 
Investment & Regeneration, Civic Centre 3, Market Street, Huddersfield HD1 
2JR (Kirklees Street Care: 01484 221000 or 
‘Highways.Section38@kirklees.gov.uk’) must be contacted to discuss road 
adoption arrangements under Section 38 of the Highways Act 1980. 
 
NOTE: Link to Environment Agency’s ‘Guidance on the permeable surfacing 
of front gardens’ published 13th May 2009 (ISBN 9781409804864):  
www.communities.gov.uk/publications/planningandbuilding/pavingfrontgardens 

 
NOTE: The responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the 
developer and/or landowner.  It is advised where a site could be affected by 
land stability issues this be taken into account and dealt with appropriately by 
the developer and/or landowner 
 
NOTE: The granting of planning permission does not override any private 
ownership rights or legal covenants that apply to the land forming part of this 
planning application.  
 
NOTE: To minimise noise disturbance at nearby premises it is generally 
recommended that activities relating to the erection, construction, alteration, 
repair  or maintenance of buildings, structures or roads shall not take place 
outside the hours of: 
 
07.30 and 18.30 hours Mondays to Fridays 
08.00 and 13.00hours , Saturdays 
 
With no working Sundays or Public Holidays 
In some cases, different site specific hours of operation may be appropriate. 
 
Under the Control of Pollution Act 1974, Section 60 Kirklees Environment and 
Transportation Services can control noise from construction sites by serving a 
notice. This notice can specify the hours during which work may be carried 
out. 
 
NOTE: Advice to applicant 
External doors, windows at ground floor and other accessible levels should 
meet with recognised security specifications. Window accessible from outside 
should include laminated glass. The measures included in the build should 
accord with current Secured by Design guidance www.securedbydesign.com 
 
NOTE: See link to Yorkshire Water’s guidance and full consultation response  
http://www2.kirklees.gov.uk/business/planning/application_search/filedownload.aspx
?application_number=2015/90580&file_reference=547910 

 

Page 187

http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/planningandbuilding/pavingfrontgardens
http://www.securedbydesign.com/
http://www2.kirklees.gov.uk/business/planning/application_search/filedownload.aspx?application_number=2015/90580&file_reference=547910
http://www2.kirklees.gov.uk/business/planning/application_search/filedownload.aspx?application_number=2015/90580&file_reference=547910


 
 
 

180 

This recommendation is based on the following plan(s):- 
 

Plan Type Reference Version Date Received 

Location plan  100  26th Feb 2015 

Existing site levels    

Proposed site 
block/layout plan with 
drainage details for foul 
& surface water  

101 E 7th July 2015 

 
 
 
 

Page 188



 
 
 

181 

Application No: 2014/92413 

Type of application: 60 - OUTLINE APPLICATION 

Proposal: Outline application for erection of 2 dwellings 

Location: Land to rear of 191 Huddersfield Road, Thongsbridge, 
Holmfirth, HD9 3TT 

 
Grid Ref: 414427.0 409328.0  

Ward: Holme Valley South Ward 

Applicant: M Jebson 

Agent: Robert Halstead Chartered Surveyor 

Target Date: 06-Aug-2015 

Recommendation: OP - CONDITIONAL OUTLINE PERMISSION 

 
Link to guidance notes for public speaking at planning committee 
including how to pre-register your intention to speak. 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

LOCATION PLAN 
 

5
1

 to
 5

7
4

5

4
3

31

37
35

33

2
1
1

131.7m

Bungalow
The

2
0
3

Garage

Fearnought

21

9

1
1

1
5

1
7

7

1

2
3
8

2
3
2

19

W
O

O
D

L
A

N
D

 V
IE

W

240

2
1
5

H
U

D
D

E
R

S
F

IE
L
D

 R
O

A
D

179

189

El Sub Sta

195

185

183

1
9

1

135.0m

17
7

17
3 

17
5

17
3a

Well House

Wellhouse Nurseries

Rowan
Court

Low Hollins

© Kirklees Council 100019241 2008 
 
Map not to scale – for identification purposes only 
 

Page 189

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/business/planning/advicenotes/PublicSpeakingCommittee.pdf


 
 
 

182 

1. SUMMARY OF APPLICATION  

The application seeks outline planning permission for the erection of two 
dwellings. Other than details of access all other matters are reserved. The 
proposed dwellings would be served by the existing private drive which 
appears to be serving two other properties from Huddersfield Road, south 
east of the site.  
 
The site is part of a larger area allocated as Provisional Open Land (POL) on 
the Council’s Unitary Development Plan. 
 
Following the withdrawal of the Core Strategy the Council can no longer 
demonstrate a required deliverable housing land supply sufficient for 5 years, 
and in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
relevant policies for the supply of housing are out of date. In such 
circumstances no significant weight can be given to its content. In accordance 
with NPPF there is a presumption in favour of sustainable development and 
planning permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts of 
granting permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole, or 
that specific NPPF policies indicate development should be restricted. 
 
The proposal constitutes sustainable development. The application site can 
be accessed safely in highway terms and its development would not prejudice 
any potential future development of the wider POL allocation. There would be 
no harmful effect on visual or residential amenity. There would be no harmful 
impact on the setting of adjacent listed buildings.  
 
All other material planning considerations, relevant UDP and national planning 
policy objectives are considered to be addressed, subject to conditions.  
 
RECOMMENDATION:  GRANT CONDITIONAL OUTLINE PLANNING 
PERMISSION  
 
2. INFORMATION 
 
The application was previously brought before Strategic Planning Committee 
on 5th March as the application represents a departure from the Council’s 
Unitary Development Plan.  Members deferred consideration of the 
application and requested that further information regarding highways issues 
be submitted.   
 
A meeting on site with the agent and local residents was facilitated by Officers 
on 12th June to consider further mitigation measures to address residents and 
Committees concerns that were raised at Committee on 5th March. (See 
assessment below).  
 

Page 190



 
 
 

183 

3. PROPOSAL/SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
Site Description 
 
The application site comprises 0.3 hectare of steeply sloping land from east to 
west and appears to be in a well maintained condition. The application site is 
part of a larger area of Provisional Open Land (POL) and lies to the eastern 
boundary of the wider, undeveloped part of the POL area, with the remainder 
of the POL being to the north, east and west. The southern boundary is 
bounded by the remainder of open land, comprising grassland, shrubs and 
mature trees.    
 
A public right of way (HOL/53/10) runs along the existing private drive from 
Huddersfield Road then alongside the application site. There are grade II 
listed buildings beyond the south east corner of the site. 
 
There are mature trees close to the northern boundary which are formally 
protected.  
 
Proposal 
 
The application seeks outline permission for two dwellings with details of 
access only to be considered at this stage. The proposals include 
improvements to the junction of the access with Huddersfield Road  
 
Whilst no indicative plans are submitted, the design and access statement 
notes the scale of the proposed dwellings would be two storey in height to a 
maximum of 8m in height, no greater than 10 metres in depth and 14 metres 
in width. They would be served off an improved existing private drive.   
 
The application is accompanied by a: 

 Design and access statement 

 Planning statement  

 Ecological Appraisal  

 Phase 1 (ground investigation) Desk Top Study,  

 Highway statement, including road safety audit  

 Coal mining report  
 
4. BACKGROUND AND HISTORY 
 
No history 
 
5. PLANNING POLICY 
 
The application site is forms part of a larger area of Provisional Open Land 
(POL) on the Unitary Development Plan proposals map 
 

Page 191



 
 
 

184 

Kirklees Unitary Development Plan 
 
D5 – Provisional Open Land 

D2 – New development to consider residential amenity, visual amenity & 

highway safety   

BE1 – Design principles 

BE2 – Design of new development 

BE12 - Space about buildings standards 

BE23 – New developments to incorporate crime prevention measures 

G6 - Development having regard to contamination  

NE9 – Protection of mature trees 

EP11 – Incorporation of integral landscaping scheme which protects or 

enhances ecology 

R13 – development affecting a public right of way  

T10 - Highway safety considerations 

T19 - Parking standards 

National Planning Policy Framework 
 
‘Achieving Sustainable Development’ 

‘Core Planning Principles’ 

Section 4 - Promoting sustainable transport 

Section 6 – Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes 

Section 7 – Requiring good design 

Section 8 – Promoting healthy communities 

Section 10 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 

change 

Section 11 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

Section 12 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

 
Other Guidance 
 
N/A 
 

Page 192



 
 
 

185 

6. CONSULTATIONS 
 
Below is a summary of the consultation responses received; where 
appropriate these are expanded upon in the assessment section of this report: 
 
K.C. Highway Development Management: No objections - the improvement 
works to the access are satisfactory and are considered acceptable from a 
highways point of view subject to suggested conditions.  
 
K.C. Environmental Services: No objections subject to conditions. 
 
K.C. Arboricultural Officer: No objections.   
 
K.C. Conservation & Design: No objections, acceptable in principle. 
However, given the close proximity of No. 191 Huddersfield Road, which is a 
grade II listed property, to the site when the reserves matters application is 
submitted special attention should be given to the height, size, scale, design 
and material palette of the new dwellings.  
 
K.C. Policy Section: No objection raised – advice on relevant development 
plan and national planning policy provided.  
 
K.C. Ecologist: No objections subject to conditions to include appropriate 
mitigation, compensation and enhancement measures.   
 
K. C. Strategic Drainage: No objections. Further details considering effective 
means of surface water required at reserved matters stage and conditions are 
recommended accordingly.  
 
K.C. Public Right of Way: No objection to the principle of the proposed 
development. Officers need to consider the effect of any access road change 
authorised by this application on public pedestrian users. As such it is advised 
to include an informative note to ensure the public footpath which 
crosses/abuts the site shall not, at any time, prior to, during or after 
construction of the dwellings, be unofficially obstructed or closed without prior 
written consent of the Local Planning Authority   
 
K.C. Strategic Waste: 191 Huddersfield Rd lies approximately 240m from the 
closed Berry Banks landfill. Readings of methane and carbon dioxide values 
have been obtained from the most recent shallow pinhole surveys carried out 
there. An informative will be included on the decision notice to make the 
developer/ applicant aware of this.  
 

7. REPRESENTATIONS 

The application was advertised by site notice, neighbour notification letters, 
and by press advert. The final publicity period expired on 24th December 
2014. As a result of that publicity, 10 representations have been received.  

Page 193



 
 
 

186 

A summary of the comments made are as follows: 

Visual impact: 

 Detrimental to the character of the rural aspect of the site 

 Would diminish the tranquillity of this open hillside landscape 

 Affect setting of adjacent listed building at no. 191 Huddersfield Road  
 

Residential amenity impact: 

 Overlooking into garden/field and non habitable room openings of no. 
191 Huddersfield Road and intrusion of privacy   

 The existing narrow lane was not designed to accommodate or 
withstand the continual passing of vehicles and the damage 
and daily annoyance  

 
Highways: 

 Lane serving the site inadequate for accommodating further traffic 

 The lane leading to the footpath has no dedicated pedestrian 
pavement or lighting. 

 Lane would not be able to accommodate additional traffic or two 
cars passing  

 Increase in traffic would be dangerous to users of the public right 
of way  

 Junction with Huddersfield Road would remain dangerous even 
with widening & cars parked on proposed parking bays would 
obstruct visibility  

 Loss of on road parking for nos. 179 -201 Huddersfield Road   

 Would result in cars parking outside 203 Huddersfield Road 
making it difficult to reverse into the drive of this property  

Other matters: 

 Site needs to be adequately drained 
 
Holme Valley Parish Council objects to the application on: 
 
 “…the grounds of inappropriate access and Highways issues.  Members are 
also concerned that this is land locked. Open green space designed as 
Provisional Open Land in the UDP; therefore, it should not be developed until 
all brownfield sites in the district have been exhausted” 
 

Page 194



 
 
 

187 

8. ASSESSMENT 
 
Update since last committee meeting:  
 
A site meeting, facilitated by Officers was arranged on 12th June between 
local residents and the applicant’s agent. Those present at the meeting 
included occupants of 183, 185, 189, 191, 193, 199 and 203 Huddersfield 
Road. 
 
The purpose of the meeting was to identify any additional mitigation measures 
that might be suitable to address the highway concerns of local residents.  
 
Along with other concerns, the residents reiterated the highway issues that 
had been raised at the committee meeting.   
 
The agent offered a number of measures, as set out below. Only one was 
accepted by the occupiers of no. 203 Huddersfield Road, the other measures 
were rejected by the residents present at the meeting.  
 
Identified additional measure 
 
1. A longer linear length of keep clear marking on the carriageway where the 
dwelling no. 203 Huddersfield Road has frontage.  
 
Response: no. 203 has a double width parking bay (within the curtilage of the 
dwelling). A longer keep clear marking than that shown on drawing 1402801D 
would assist the occupants in reversing into and driving out of their parking 
bay. 
 
Other possible measures suggested by the applicant’s agent and rejected by 
the residents present 
 
2. A pedestrian barrier at the end of the stepped access to No 189 to separate 
the dwelling from the access way that leads from Huddersfield Road to the 
site. The occupant of no 189 did not want such a barrier 
 
3. The prospect of the creating a number of residents parking places 
immediately to the west of the point where the access way turns through a 90 
degree bend adjoining the south-west corner of the dwelling No 191.  
 
4. In relation to the hatched markings south of the point where the access way 
meets Huddersfield Road, extension of the hatch marking further southwards 
from those shown on drawing 1402801D. 
 
The agent confirms the applicant’s willingness to accept the provision of a 
longer keep clear marking outside no. 203 Huddersfield Road. This would be 
addressed under condition no. 10.  
 
With regards to other highway issues considered, it was noted on site that:  
 

Page 195



 
 
 

188 

There is room at the vehicular entrance from the access way into No 191 for a 
car and pedestrian to pass without the pedestrian stepping onto land within 
the ownership of no 191.   
 
Furthermore, those driving vehicles on the access way (which carries the 
public footpath HOL 53/10) owe a common law duty of care to pedestrians on 
what is in effect a shared surface, which is no different to the current situation.  
 
Further correspondence was received from the Fire Protection Manager of the 
local Fire & Rescue Service, who advised that for such a development to 
satisfy the functional requirements of the Building Regulations, the access 
road would need to be a minimum of 3.7m wide along its length. In addition to 
this there should be vehicle access for a pump appliance to within 45m of all 
points within the dwelling house. The Fire Service is not a statutory consultee, 
and these considerations would be dealt with under Building Regulations.   
 
With regard to Emergency Vehicle access, Manual for Streets states “the 
Association of Chief Fire Officers has expanded upon and clarified the 
requirements under building regulations that a 3.7 m carriageway (kerb to 
kerb) is required for operating space at the scene of a fire. Simply to reach a 
fire, the access route could be reduced to 2.75 m over short distances, 
provided the pump appliance can get to within 45 m of dwelling entrances”.  
 
At the request of Officers, an additional plan was received showing swept 
paths for a Fire Appliance to access the proposed dwellings.  
 
Subsequently the Fire Protection Manager confirms “given the information 
provided and the widening of the road particularly at the corner I can confirm 
that WYFRA do not have any objections to these amendments”.   
 
Highway Development Management Officer’s view is that given there are 
other existing properties at the end of the road serving these proposed 
dwellings and the applicants are proposing significant improvement works to 
widen the access road at its junction with Huddersfield Road and along the 
length of the access road to accommodate a Fire Appliance these proposals 
are considered to be on balance acceptable. 
 
Principle of development: 
 
The application site covers part of a site designated as Provisional Open Land 
(POL) subject to UDP policy D5. Policy D5 states that “planning permission 
will not be granted other than for development required in connection with 
established uses, changes of use to alternative open land uses or temporary 
uses which would not prejudice the contribution of the site to the character of 
its surroundings and the possibility of development in the longer term” 
 
The weight that can be given to Policy D5 in determining applications for 
housing must be assessed in the context of NPPF paragraphs 215 and 49. 
 

Page 196



 
 
 

189 

In the context of paragraph 215, the wording of policy D5 is consistent with 
NPPF paragraph 85 concerning safeguarded land. However, with regard to 
paragraph 49 the council is currently unable to demonstrate a five year supply 
of deliverable housing sites.  
 
The weight that can be given to policy D5 in these circumstances was 
assessed in October 2013 by a planning inspector in his consideration of an 
appeal against refusal of permission for housing on a POL site at Ashbourne 
Drive, Cleckheaton (ref: APP/Z4718/A/13/2201353). The inspector concluded 
(paragraph 42): 
 
“The lack of a five-year supply, on its own, weighs in favour of the 
development. In combination with other paragraphs in the Framework 
concerning housing delivery the weight is increased. The lack of a five-year 
supply also means that policies in the UDP concerning housing land are out of 
date. Policy D5 clearly relates to housing and so it, too, is out of date and its 
weight is reduced accordingly. This significantly reduces the weight that can 
be given to the policy requirement for there to be a review of the plan before 
the land can be released. In these circumstances, the Framework’s 
presumption in favour of sustainable development is engaged.”  
 
The presumption referred to by the inspector is set out in NPPF paragraph 14 
which states that where relevant policies are out-of-date, planning permission 
should be granted: 
 
 “…unless any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies in this 
framework taken as a whole, or that specific NPPF policies indicate 
development should be restricted”.  
 
Footnote 9 lists examples of restrictive policies but this does not include 
policies concerning safeguarded land. 
 
Sustainability: 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that the purpose of 
the planning system “…is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable 
development.” (para 6). NPPF notes that pursuing sustainable development 
involves seeking positive improvements in the quality of the built, natural and 
historic environment, as well as in peoples’ quality of life (para 9). NPPF 
identifies the dimensions of sustainable development as economic, social and 
environmental roles (para 7). It states that these roles are mutually dependent 
and should not be undertaken in isolation. “Economic, social and 
environmental gains should be sought jointly and simultaneously through the 
planning system.” (para 8). NPPF stresses the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. The developer has submitted a supporting 
document on sustainability, and the proposal has been assessed against 
each role as follows: 
 

Page 197



 
 
 

190 

Economic:  
The proposal is for two dwellings so will have limited economic impacts. It will 
provide business opportunities for contractors and local suppliers. In 
accordance with the NPPF new houses will support growth and satisfy 
housing needs thereby contribute to the building of a strong economy. The 
proposals would be creating additional demand for local services and 
potentially increasing use and viability of local bus services 
 
Social:  
There will be a social gain through the provision of new housing at a time of 
general shortage, in a location that has good access to local facilities and 
services. 
In terms of social inclusion and accessibility : 

 The site is approximately 1,000m away from Holmfirth district centre, 
via Huddersfield Road.  

 there a bus stop within 800m with a service of at least a 30 minute 
frequency and a journey time of less than 30 minutes (25 minutes bus 
and 5 minutes walking) to a town centre offering employment, leisure 
and retail opportunities,  

 The site is 160m from a bus stop, which is primarily served by the 310 
bus which provides a half hourly service to Huddersfield (journey time 
approx 30 minutes).  In addition these bus stops have the benefit of 
timetable information and provide two bus services every half hour to 
Huddersfield, and Holmfirth (service numbers 308 & 310 Monday to 
Saturday). These services also travel to Hepworth, Honley, Newsome, 
and Scholes every 30 minutes Monday to Saturday. Both the 308 & 
310 bus services operate on an hourly basis during evenings and 
Sundays. 

 The site is approximately 1,500m from Netherthong Primary School; 
the site is within 200m of GP surgeries at Holmfirth Memorial Hospital. 

 
In terms of accessibility therefore the proposal is considered to be acceptable.  

  
Environmental:  
The development of a greenfield site represents an environmental loss. 
However, although national policy encourages the use of brownfield land for 
development it also makes clear that no significant weight can be given to the 
loss of greenfield sites to housing when there is a national priority to increase 
housing supply. On balance the proposal is considered to meet the paragraph 
8 test.  
 
The accompanying ecological report has established that the site consists of 
semi-improved natural grassland which has some ecological interest; there 
are some indicator species of unimproved grassland present. A number of bat 
roosts occur within the area but the site itself has no features of relevance to 
roosting bats. With appropriate mitigation, compensation and enhancement 
measures being incorporated into the development, to be secured by 
condition, the environmental benefits of the site would be improved on this 
part of the POL. In addition it is intended to utilise modern energy saving 

Page 198



 
 
 

191 

materials for the construction of the proposed dwellings in order to make them 
as close to zero carbon buildings as possible.   
 
Paragraph 58 of the NPPF lists criteria for the design of development. One of 
the criteria is to ensure that developments “optimise the potential of the site to 
accommodate development”.  As this proposal only covers part of the POL 
site, it would need to be demonstrated that the implementation of this 
proposal would not prevent the remainder of the POL site being developed in 
the longer term if required through the Local Development Framework (LDF) 
process.   
 
Following discussions with Highway Officers, it is advised that in terms of 
traffic generation, other than the proposed number of dwellings shown, it is 
unlikely any further development can be served off this narrow private access 
road. Additionally the presence of the grade II listed building close up to the 
edge of the lane would make its widening to accommodate further traffic 
harmful, further restricting capacity. Given the surrounding highway network 
and general pattern of development, the most plausible access to the 
remainder of the POL may be considered from New Road, to the north west of 
the site. On this basis, the principle of developing this area of the POL site 
would not prejudice the future development of the remainder of POL land, 
where an alternative access would need to be sought, should the land come 
forward for development.  
 
Assessing the policies in the national planning policy framework as a whole in 
accordance with the paragraph 14 test, the provision of housing on this 
greenfield site which offers minimal environmental value, will outweigh the 
environmental harm arising from the development and the proposal is 
considered to be sustainable development. 
 
Effect on Heritage Assets: 
 
The application is in close proximity of grade II listed buildings to the south 
east of the site. Section 66 (1) of the Listed Buildings Act states “In 
considering whether to grant planning permission for development which 
affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority shall have 
special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any 
features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses”. 
 
Paragraph 132 of the NPPF notes that when considering the impact of a 
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, 
great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. The more important 
the asset, the greater the weight should be. Significance can be harmed or 
lost through alteration or destruction of the heritage asset or development 
within its setting.   
 
Conservation Officers consider that subject to the consideration of detailed 
design proposals at reserved matters stage, the impact of two dwellings with 
associated highway improvements would lead to less than substantial harm to 
the setting of the listed buildings and the character of the surrounding area. In 

Page 199



 
 
 

192 

such circumstances NPPF para 134 states that such harm should be weighed 
against the public benefits of the proposal, including securing its optimum 
viable use. In this case the harm is outweighed by the public benefits of the 
provision of housing in a sustainable location. 
 
Effect on visual amenity: 
 
A full assessment of the layout, scale and appearance of the dwellings would 
be made upon the receipt of reserved matters. Proposals for new 
development should respect the architectural qualities of surrounding 
development and their materials of construction in order to preserve and 
enhance the appearance of the area as stated in section 12 of the NPPF.   
 
UDP Policies BE1 and BE2 state that the layout of buildings should respect 
any character the site and area may have.  Development must respect the 
scale, height and design of adjoining buildings and be in keeping with the 
predominant character of the area.   
 
Given the sloping nature of the site, excavations and infilling would be 
required within the site. The submitted information makes reference to the 
scale of the proposed two dwellings and that parking and internal turning 
facilities would be provided within the confines of the site. Given the size of 
the plot and based on the information provided, in terms of the indicative size 
of the dwellings, there would be adequate space within the site to provide 
reasonable sized garden areas with space for waste bins for each plot. With 
regards to design and external appearance, these are matters which would be 
considered in detail upon future submission of reserved matters or full 
applications taking into account the above policies and the impact on the 
character and appearance of the surroundings. Nevertheless, at this stage is 
considered appropriate to withdraw permitted development rights to retain an 
adequate amenity area and to avoid any potential detriment to the amenities 
of the surroundings including the setting of the adjacent listed buildings from 
overly large incongruously designed extensions.   
 
As external appearance is one of the reserved matters, should Committee 
approve the application, a condition is recommended requiring the dwellings 
to be externally faced in natural stone. This would accord with Policy BE11 in 
that it would respect the traditional character of the area and be in keeping 
with the surrounding development which is predominately faced in natural 
stone and the setting of the grade II listed buildings.   
 
Due to the topography of the site it is likely that retaining walls will be required 
on the periphery of and within the site.  Similarly this would be considered in 
detail on subsequent applications and a suitable condition is recommended at 
this stage.   
 
Notwithstanding the topography of the site Officers are of the opinion that a 
development on this site can be achieved without harm to visual amenity in 
accordance with UDP policy and the NPPF.     
 

Page 200



 
 
 

193 

Effect on residential amenity:  
 
Policy BE12 of the UDP sets out the normally recommended minimum 
distances between habitable and non-habitable room windows for new 
dwellings.  New dwellings should be designed to provide privacy and open 
space for their occupants and physical separation from adjacent property and 
land. Distances less than those specified will be acceptable if it can be shown 
that by reason of permanent screening, changes in level or innovative design 
no detriment would be caused to existing or future occupiers of the dwellings 
or to any adjacent premises.   
 
In this instance, the nearest residential property is no.191 Huddersfield Road, 
beyond the south east corner of the site. Officers are satisfied that a layout 
could be provided on this site for two dwellings which would safeguard the 
residential amenity of future occupants as well as those that are located within 
close proximity to the application site in accordance with Policy BE12 of the 
UDP, subject to the removal of permitted development rights by condition.    
 
Effect on Highways & road safety: 
 
UDP Policy T10 states that “New development will not normally be permitted if 
it will create or materially add to highway safety or environmental problems or, 
in the case of development which will attract or generate a significant number 
of journeys, it cannot be served adequately by the existing highway network 
…” Policy T19 addresses car parking in relation to the maximum standards 
set out in Appendix 2 to the UDP. 
 
The site is surrounded by residential properties to the north, west and east 
along Huddersfield Road some of which do not benefit from off road parking. 
The proposed works are to widen the existing access point where it meets 
Huddersfield Road. In addition, the works would include a junction build out 
with footway (4m in length) construction with reflective bollards & parking bays 
either side of the access point. The Highway statement accompanying the 
application states the proposed development is likely to generate 
approximately 2 trips during each of the network peak hours (morning peak 
between 8am and 9am, and evening peak between 5pm and 6pm), with 
between 12 and 16 vehicle movements per day. On assessment of this, 
Highway Officers consider the proposed improvement works, to provide 
improved visibility to both sides of the access point would allow for 
simultaneous two way traffic flow at the junction with Huddersfield Road and 
formalised parking along this part of Huddersfield Road, where currently there 
is no such provision.  
 

On initial assessment the Highway Officer, requested additional information in 
the form of a Road Safety Audit for clarity of how the proposed works would 
work to assess the impact on highway safety. These works are shown on 
drawing no. 1402801 Rev D. Highway Officers are satisfied that the proposed 
improvements including those to the existing private access/lane can be 
achieved.   
 

Page 201



 
 
 

194 

However, concerns were raised in that the proposed works are likely to create 
an adverse camber next to the widened access and car park space for no. 
195 Huddersfield Road. Further clarity was sought from the agent on this 
matter. The agent accepts that the widening of the access road will raise the 
level adjacent to the car park space of no. 195 Huddersfield Road.  
Nevertheless, it is disputed by the agent that as the present crossfall would 
merely be extended there would be no adverse camber effect at this point 
although, it may affect the accessibility to the parking space to 195. On this 
basis it is considered appropriate to condition details to be submitted and 
approved to ensure that the proposed improvement works include any 
necessary works to retain the safe accessibility to and from the car park 
space of no. 195 Huddersfield Road.  The agent confirms the applicant is 
aware and in agreement to this as he is the owner of no.195 Huddersfield 
Road.   
 
Public Rights of Way officers advise a standard footnote advising against   
obstruction/interference of path Holmfirth 53 be included on the decision 
notice.  Furthermore, it is likely that the effect on the footpath and users of it 
would again need to be addressed in any subsequent detailed application for 
reserved matters.  
 
In conclusion; it is considered that traffic generated by the proposed 
development can be safely accommodated within the local highway network 
and that the proposal would not result in any undue highway safety 
implications. Subject to suitable conditions the application is considered 
acceptable by Highway Officers and would accord with the above mentioned 
highway Policies of the UDP and the NPPF. It is also considered that there is 
no justification to refuse planning permission on the basis of concerns over 
future access to the remainder of the POL allocation.   
 
Drainage Issues: 
 
The NPPF requires Local Planning Authorities to take account of climate 
change over the longer term, including factors such as flood risk and water 
supply. New development should be planned to avoid increased vulnerability 
to the range of impacts arising from climate change. When new development 
is brought forward in areas which are vulnerable, care should be taken to 
ensure that risks can be managed through suitable adaptation measures, 
including through the planning of green infrastructure.  
 
The application form states that foul water would be disposed of by mains 
sewer and surface water by a soakaway.  No other drainage details are 
provided.   
 
The Strategic Drainage Officer on assessment of the proposed development 
and information considers the principle of developing this site for two 
dwellings can be supported from a drainage aspect. However further details 
will be required at reserved matters stage. The advice of the Drainage Officer 
has been conveyed to the agent, who agrees this to be reasonable. Should 

Page 202



 
 
 

195 

Committee support Officers recommendation, the suggested condition by the 
Drainage officer would be imposed to inform a future layout.   
 
Subject to the imposition of appropriate drainage conditions, it is considered 
the site can be adequately accommodated in accordance with advice in the 
NPPF.  
 
Ecological Issues: 
 
Paragraph 118 of the NPPF states “when determining applications Local 
Planning Authorities should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity” by 
applying a number of principles.  These include the conservation and 
enhancement of biodiversity in and around developments.   
 
UDP Policy EP11 requests that applications for planning permission should 
incorporate landscaping which protects/enhances the ecology of the site. The 
ecological report accompanying the application has identified the site as 
having semi-improved neutral grassland which has some ecological interest; 
there are some indicator species of unimproved grassland present and a 
stand of Japanese knotweed present, adjacent to the access track. In addition 
the Biodiversity Officer has advised a number of bat roosts occur within the 
area but the site itself has no features of relevance to roosting bats. Based on 
the above and the fact the site has minimal ecological interest these impacts 
can be mitigated by conditions of any planning permission requiring 
appropriate enhancement and compensation measures which are included in 
the Ecological appraisal accompanying this application.   This would satisfy 
the requirements of the NPPF and Policy EP11 of the UDP.  
 
There are no mature trees within the site. Nevertheless, any subsequent 
detailed application will need to make sure adequate distance is achieved 
between properties and the protected trees adjacent to the north of the site, to 
accord with Policy NE9 of the UDP.  
 
Land Contamination: 
 
The Phase 1 contamination report by JNP Group (dated 18/05/14; ref 
NG8482/THO/PH1), has been reviewed by the Council’s Environmental 
Services. It has subsequently been confirmed that there is a low risk of 
pollutant linkages (contaminated land) however a precautionary phase 2 site 
investigation should be required by condition of any planning permission. 
 
On assessment of the initial indicative layout for two dwellings, Environmental 
Health Officers advise that in order to promote green sustainable 
development, in accordance with NPPF section 4 paragraph 35 intrusive site 
investigations and appropriate remediation and validation reports/strategies 
shall be conditioned to comply with Policy G6 of the UDP as well as the aims 
of chapter 11 of the NPPF.  
 

Page 203



 
 
 

196 

REPRESENTATIONS  
 
Insofar as representations received that have not been addressed through the 
officer’s assessment, these are responded to as follows:  
 

Residential amenity impact: 

 Overlooking into garden/field and non habitable room windows of no. 
191 Huddersfield Road and intrusion of privacy   

 
Response: The application is submitted in outline seeking the principle of 
developing the site with details of access to be considered at this stage.  The 
amenities of 191 along with other neighbouring properties will be further 
considered on any subsequent detailed application. There is no indication that 
the proposal cannot be implemented without harm to amenity. 

 

 The existing narrow lane was not designed to accommodate or 
withstand the continual passing of vehicles and the damage  
and daily annoyance  

 
Response: The Highway statement accompany the application states the 
proposed development is likely to generate approximately 2 trips during each 
of the network peak hours (morning peak between 8am and 9am, and 
evening peak between 5pm and 6pm), with between 12 and 16 vehicle 
movements per day. Highway Officers have not questioned this. Furthermore 
the proposal is for a further two dwellings to be served by this access/lane. 
With the improvements proposed, officers consider that on balance the 
proposal would not generate a high level of vehicle movement which would 
not significantly affect the amenities of the neighbouring properties to warrant 
a refusal of planning permission.   
 
Highways: 

 Lane serving the site inadequate for accommodating further traffic 
 
Response: see above 
 

 The lane leading to the footpath has no dedicated pedestrian 
pavement or lighting. 

 
Response: Officers do not consider it to be appropriate to request for such 
measures on a narrow access/lane where only a small length (between no. 
189 and 191) appears to be in slight shade from landscaping/trees.  
 

 Loss of on road parking for nos. 179 -201 Huddersfield Road   

 Would result in cars parking outside to 203 Huddersfield Road 
making it difficult to reverse into drive of this property  

Page 204



 
 
 

197 

Response: The proposed parking bays would provide formal parking 
provision on Huddersfield Road, where currently it is informal. In addition the 
improvement works would include road markings to “keep clear” outside the 
drives of properties as indicated on drawing no. 1402801 Rev D.  

Other matters: 

 Site needs to be adequately drained 
 
Response: suitable condition imposed for details to be provided and 
approved in writing.  
 
Conclusion: 
 
Officers are satisfied the applicant has reasonably considered and offered 
further mitigation measures to address the concerns of local residents in 
relation to highway issues raised at the Committee meeting on 5th March. The 
accepted measure, by residents of no. 203 Huddersfield Road can be 
provided under condition no.10 (below).   
 
The NPPF has introduced a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. The policies set out in the NPPF taken as a whole constitute the 
Government’s view of what sustainable development means in practice. This 
application has been assessed against relevant policies in the development 
plan and other material considerations. It is considered that the development 
would constitute sustainable development.   
 
The application would not prejudice any potential future development of the 
wider POL allocation. There would be no materially harmful effect on highway 
safety visual or residential amenity. There would be no materially harmful 
impact on the setting of adjacent listed buildings in accepting the principle of 
developing this site for two dwellings.   
 
In such circumstances it is considered that there are no adverse impacts of 
granting permission which would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits when assessed against the policies in this framework taken as a 
whole, or that specific NPPF policies indicate development should be 
restricted. In such circumstances the application is recommended for 
approval. 
 
9. RECOMMENDATION   
 
GRANT CONDITIONAL OUTLINE PERMISSION  
 
1. Approval of the details of the, appearance, scale, layout and landscaping of 
the site (hereinafter called ‘the reserved matters’) shall be obtained from the 
Local Planning Authority in writing before any development is commenced. 
 

Page 205



 
 
 

198 

2. Plans and particulars of the reserved matters referred to in Condition 1 
above, relating to the, appearance, scale, layout and landscaping of the site, 
shall be submitted in writing to the Local Planning Authority and shall be 
carried out in full accordance with the approved plans. 
 
3. Application for approval of any reserved matter shall be made to the Local 
Planning Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this 
permission. 
 
4. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
two years from the date of the approval of the last of the reserved matters. 
 
5. The dwellings shall be faced in coursed natural stone and the roofing 
material shall be of a flat profile to harmonise with those on dwellings in close 
vicinity of the site; a sample of the materials shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before development 
commences. The dwellings shall then be faced in the approved material. 
 
6. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 1995 as amended (or any Order revoking or 
re-enacting that Order with or without modification) no development included 
within Classes A, B, C, or E of Part 1 of Schedule 2 to that Order shall be 
carried out without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority.  
 
7. No development shall take place until full details including the height, 
design, siting and materials to be used for the erection of screen 
wall(s)/fence(s), retaining walls and constructional details and facing materials 
of all proposed boundary treatment have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be completed 
in accordance with the approved details before the development hereby 
approved is occupied/brought into use and shall thereafter be retained.  
 
8. No development shall take place until details of the siting, design and 
material to be used in the construction of retaining walls/ structures abutting a 
highway have been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
construction of the hereby approved dwellings shall commence only on 
completion of the retaining structures/walls in accordance with the approved 
details and thereafter retained as such. 
 
9. The development shall be carried out in complete accordance with the 
recommendations of the Ecological Appraisal ref, no. R192401 dated May 
2014 by Brooks Ecological submitted with the application together with all 
enhancement measures as indicated in the appraisal; such measures shall be 
retained thereafter.  
 
10. The construction of the hereby approved dwellings shall not be begun until 
details of improvement works along Huddersfield Road and the access road 
serving the site as shown on drawing no. 1402801 Rev D, along with works to 
ensure the safe accessibility to the existing car park space serving no. 195 
Huddersfield Road have been submitted to and approved in writing with the 

Page 206



 
 
 

199 

Local Planning Authority. The dwellings shall not be occupied until these 
works have been completed in accordance with the Local Planning Authority’s 
approval and have been certified in writing as complete by or on behalf of the 
Local Planning Authority and such works shall be retained thereafter.  
 
11. The development shall not be brought into use until all areas indicated to 
be used for private drives and parking areas have been laid out with a 
hardened and drained surface in accordance with the Communities and Local 
Government; and Environment Agency’s ‘Guidance on the permeable 
surfacing of front gardens (parking areas)’ published 13th May 2009 as 
amended or any successor guidance. Notwithstanding the provisions of the 
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 as 
amended (or any Order revoking or re-enacting that Order) those areas shall 
be so retained, free of obstructions and available for the use(s) specified on 
the submitted/listed plan(s) for the lifetime of the development. 
 
12. Development shall not commence until a scheme detailing provision for 
access and on site parking for construction workers vehicles for the duration 
of the construction period has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be fully 
implemented throughout the construction period. 
 
13. Development shall not commence until a Phase II Intrusive Site 
Investigation Report has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 
14. Where site remediation is recommended in the Phase II Intrusive Site 
Investigation Report approved pursuant to condition no. 13 development shall 
not commence until a Remediation Strategy has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority.  The Remediation Strategy 
shall include a timetable for the implementation and completion of the 
approved remediation measures. 
 
15. Remediation of the site shall be carried out and completed in accordance 
with the Remediation Strategy approved pursuant to condition no. 14. In the 
event that remediation is unable to proceed in accordance with the approved 
Remediation Strategy or contamination not previously considered [in either 
the Preliminary Risk Assessment or the Phase II Intrusive Site Investigation 
Report] is identified or encountered on site, all works on site (save for site 
investigation works) shall cease immediately and the local planning authority 
shall be notified in writing within 2 working days.  Unless otherwise agreed in 
writing with the local planning authority, works shall not recommence until 
proposed revisions to the Remediation Strategy have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority.  Remediation of the site 
shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved revised 
Remediation Strategy.  
 

Page 207



 
 
 

200 

16. Following completion of any measures identified in the approved 
Remediation Strategy or any approved revised Remediation Strategy a 
Validation Report shall be submitted to the local planning authority.  Unless 
otherwise agreed in writing with the local planning authority, no part of the site 
shall be brought into use until such time as the remediation measures for the 
whole site have been completed in accordance with the approved 
Remediation Strategy or the approved revised Remediation Strategy and a 
Validation Report in respect of those remediation measures has been 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
 
17. Development shall not commence until a scheme demonstrating an 
adequately designed soakaway for an effective means of drainage of surface 
water on this development/site has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme shall include percolation tests in 
accordance with BRE Digest 365 along with calculations demonstrating that 
the designed soakaways can store a critical 1 in 30 year storm event and can 
empty by 50% within 24 hours. Where it is demonstrated that soakaways are 
not an effective means of drainage of surface water, an alternative scheme 
should be submitted for consideration. No part of the development shall be 
brought into use (dwellings shall not be occupied) until the works comprising 
the approved scheme have been completed and retained thereafter.  
 
NOTE: It is the applicant's responsibility to find out whether any works 
approved by this planning permission, which involve excavating or working 
near public highway and any highway structures including retaining walls, will 
require written approval from the Council’s Highways Structures Section. 
Please contact the Highways Structures Section on Tel No. 01484-225397 for 
further advice on this matter.  
 
NOTE: The granting of planning permission does not authorise the carrying 
out of works within the highway, for which the written permission of the 
Council as Highway Authority is required. You are required to consult the 
Design Engineer, Flint Street, Fartown, Huddersfield (Kirklees Street Care: 
0800 7318765) with regard to obtaining this permission and approval of the 
construction specification.  Please also note that the construction of vehicle 
crossings within the highway is deemed to be major works for the purposes of 
the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991 (Section 84 and 85). Interference 
with the highway without such permission is an offence which could lead to 
prosecution 
 
NOTE: The improvements works adjacent to neighbouring works will require 
regrading/engineering operations to be undertaken. Where a site could be 
affected by land stability issues you are reminded that it is the responsibility of 
the developer/landowner for securing a safe development. 
 
NOTE: The public footpath which crosses/abuts the site shall not, at any time, 
prior to, during or after construction of the dwellings, be unofficially obstructed 
or closed without prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority. 
 

Page 208



 
 
 

201 

NOTE: 191 Huddersfield Road lies approximately 240m form the closed Berry 
Banks Landfill.  The tabulation below shows methane and carbon dioxide 
values obtained from the most recent shallow pinhole surveys carried out 
there.  
    

 
PEAK VALUES   

 Date Methane Carbon Dioxide 
   % by volume  % by volume  
 Apr  2003 2 3 
 Oct  2002 15 10 
 Jul  2002 9 10 
 

   
  

This recommendation is based on the following plan(s):- 
 

Plan Type Reference Version Date Received 

Location plan  Pro map  01/08/14 

Amended site/block 
showing highway 
improvements  

1402801D  22/01/15 

Coal mining report  By David Bellis serial 
no. 295845 

 01/08/14 

Planning statement    01/08/14 

Design & Access 
Statement  

  01/08/14 

Highway Statement  14028/April 2014  01/08/14 

Road Safety Audit     

Designers response to 
stage 1 RSA 

14028/Nov 2014   

Phase 1 Desk Top 
Study  

NG8582/THO/PH/1  01/08/15 

Ecology/ Biodiversity 
Statement  

R192401 MAY 2014  01/08/14 

Vehicle swept paths 
for a fire engine  

1402801E  17/07/15 

 

Page 209



 
 
 

202 

APPENDICES 

 

Page 210



 

 

 

T +44 161 833 0023  F +44 161 832 1478 

No.1 Marsden Street   Manchester   M2 1HW 

KnightFrank.co.uk 
Knight Frank LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England with registered number OC305934. 

Our registered office is 55 Baker Street  London  W1U 8AN where you may look at a list of members' names. 

Mr Nick Willock  

Kirklees Council 

Planning Services, 

PO Box B93, 

Civic Centre 3, 

Huddersfield, 

HD1 2JR  

 

Ref:  ST/ds 359 

 

4 November 2014 

 

Dear Mr Willock 

Planning Objection in Respect of Planning Application 2014/60/93039/W - Outline application for 

residential development at Land at, Ainley Top, Yew Tree Road and Burn Road, Huddersfield HD2 2EQ  

Knight Frank is instructed by The Save Grimescar Valley (SGV) Committee, representing the local residential 

community, to provide representations in respect of the above planning application.  

These representations set out an appraisal of the proposed development in relation to the Development Plan 

and other material considerations, identifying concerns in respect of the site’s allocation and the proposal’s 

impacts upon landscape and visual impact, highways, air quality, schools and primary care capacity. 

The Site and Proposed Development 

The site is located to the south east of Ainley Top roundabout and comprises land to the north and south of 

Yew Tree Road and to the east and west of Burn Road.  The site is allocated in the Kirklees Unitary 

Development Plan (UDP) as Provisional Open Land (POL), which extends to 17.1ha.  The application site 

extends to 9.9ha of the POL, split between two sections of land.  The first section of land covers 2.7ha and is 

located to the north west of the junction of Yew Tree Road and Burn Road.  The second section of land 

covers 7.2ha of land and is located to the south east of the junction of Yew Tree Road and Burn Road. 

The Kirklees Way, which is a Long Distance Walkers Association (LDWA) Long Distance Path bisects the 

application site.  The path covers a total distance of 73 miles and is described on the LDWA website as  

‘taking in the best of the landscape, scenery, history and unusual features’.  

The site currently comprises agricultural land and areas of woodland, with intersecting highways throughout. 

Outline planning consent is sought by the Thornhill Estates Limited for up to 190 dwellings, with all matters 

reserved with the exception of access.  The application was validated by Kirklees Council on 3 October 2014.  

The application proposes new vehicle access points into the site via two junctions on Yew Tree Road and two 

junctions on Burn Road. 

 

Page 211



  

Page 2 

Planning Policy Framework  

Under the provisions of Section 38 of the Planning Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, local planning authorities 

are required to determine applications in accordance with policies contained within the Statutory 

Development Plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  

The Development Plan comprises the ‘saved’ policies of the Unitary Development Plan (UDP) (adopted 1 

March 1999).  National policy contained within the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (adopted 

March 2012) is a material consideration.  This is in accordance with Annex 1, paragraph 216 of the NPPF.  

Policies and material considerations which are key to this site and proposal are set out below. 

Development Plan 

The site is allocated in the Kirklees Unitary Development Plan (UDP) as falling within Provisional Open Land 

(POL).  The POL extends to 17.1ha. 

‘Saved’ UDP Policy D5 (Provisional Open Land) states, ‘on sites designated as Provisional Open Land, planning 

permission will not be granted other than for development required in connection with established uses, 

changes of use to alternative open land uses or temporary uses which would not prejudice the contribution of 

the site to the character of its surroundings and the possibility of development in the longer term.’ 

Kirklees Council has commenced preparation of the Local Development Framework (LDF), which will 

gradually replace the policies contained within the UDP.  The LDF will comprise a number of documents 

including Development Plan Documents (DPDs) and Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs). 

The Core Strategy is the principal document in the LDF and will contain the Council's vision and spatial 

strategy for the district. 

The Core Strategy was submitted to the Secretary of State in 2013.  Following comments from the Examining 

Inspector regarding duty to cooperate and proposed housing strategy, Kirklees withdrew their Core Strategy 

in October 2013. 

The Core Strategy contained a table which assessed the status of UDP policies upon its adoption.  This table 

identified that UDP Policy D5 was to remain a part of the Development Plan and would be reviewed as a part 

of DPD2, which would be the Site Allocations document.  This clearly indicates that it was the Council’s 

intention to review POL as a part of the DPD2. 

The Council is now working towards a new Local Plan, which will comprise the Core Strategy and Allocations.  

This is expected for consultation in summer 2015. 

For the foreseeable future, ‘saved’ UDP Policy D5 (Provisional Open Land) remains a part of the 

Development Plan. 

Housing Land Supply 

Paragraph 47 of the NPPF states: 

To boost significantly the supply of housing, local planning authorities should: 

● use their evidence base to ensure that their Local Plan meets the full, objectively assessed needs for market 

and affordable housing in the housing market area, as far as is consistent with the policies set out in this 

Page 212



  

Page 3 

Framework, including identifying key sites which are critical to the delivery of the housing strategy over the 

plan period; 

● identify and update annually a supply of specific deliverable11 sites sufficient to provide five years’ worth of 

housing against their housing requirements with an additional buffer of 5% (moved forward from later in 

the plan period) to ensure choice and competition in the market for land. Where there has been a record of 

persistent under delivery of housing, local planning authorities should increase the buffer to 20% (moved 

forward from later in the plan period) to provide a realistic prospect of achieving the planned supply and to 

ensure choice and competition in the market for land; 

● identify a supply of specific, developable12 sites or broad locations for growth, for years 6-10 and, where 

possible, for years 11-15; 

● for market and affordable housing, illustrate the expected rate of housing delivery through a housing 

trajectory for the plan period and set out a housing implementation strategy for the full range of housing 

describing how they will maintain delivery of a five-year supply of housing land to meet their housing target; 

and 

● set out their own approach to housing density to reflect local circumstances.’ 

Paragraph 49 continues: 

‘Relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be considered up to date if the Local Planning Authority 

cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing.’ 

In a recent Appeal Decision from 15 September 2014 at St Marys Avenue, Netherthong 

(APP/Z4718/A/14/2219016), the Inspector considers that, ‘the Borough of Kirklees does not have a 5 year 

supply of available housing land.  The site is designated as Provisional Open Land (POL), however the lack of 

housing supply means that this policy, which clearly relates to housing, is out of date.’ 

Whilst the September Appeal does not provide an indication of the number of years supply Kirklees is 

currently able to demonstrate, it establishes that the Council’s lack of a 5 year housing supply means the 

site’s allocation as Provisional Open Land is out-of-date.  This will remain so until the Council are able to 

demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply.   

The implications of this are considered in further detail in the next section of this letter. 

Provisional Open Land (POL) 

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF introduces a presumption in favour of sustainable development and emphasises 

that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of this.   

‘For decision making, this means: 

● Approving development proposals that accord with the Development Plan without delay; 

● Where the Development Plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out of date, granting permission unless; 

 Any adverse impact of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when 

assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole; or 

 Specific policies within the framework indicate that development should be restricted.’ 

Given Kirklees Council cannot demonstrate a 5 year housing supply, housing policies contained within the 

UDP, including Policy D5, are out of date.  Residential applications will therefore be considered favourably, 

provided they can demonstrate the benefits significantly outweigh any adverse impacts. 

Page 213



  

Page 4 

The following sections of this letter set out how the benefits of a residential proposal would not outweigh the 

adverse impacts. 

Appeal Decisions 

In providing justification for the proposal, the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) refers to two recent 

Appeal decisions relating to schemes at Ashbourne Drive, Cleckheaton (APP/Z4718/A/13/2201353) and St 

Mary's Avenue, Netherthong (APP/Z4718/A/14/2219016), which were refused by the Council but allowed on 

Appeal.  The EIA states that these are examples where POL was released for housing.   

Whilst it is the case that both of these Appeal sites were on POL, they were released for housing because the 

need for residential development outweighed all other considerations. 

The Appeal at Ashbourne Drive, Cleckheaton was considered against the impact upon heritage assests, living 

conditions of nearby residents, traffic generation and wildlife.  In assessing each of these, the Inspector 

considered that the benefit of delivering residential development was sufficient to outweigh any potential 

impact and/or harm. 

The Appeal at St Mary's Avenue, Netherthong was considered against highway safety, drainage and flooding 

and local wildlife.  Again, it was considered that the benefit of delivering residential development was 

sufficient to outweigh the harm. 

The above establishes that whilst the delivery of residential development is a clear benefit, this must 

significantly and demonstrably outweigh any adverse impact.  For the EIA to identify the above Appeal 

decisions as justification for allowing the proposal at the application site is therefore unfounded.  Each case 

must be determined on its own merits with reference to the other policies within the NPPF.   

Reassessment 

Paragraph 2.15 of the UDP says that ‘POL sites are judged to be capable of development either now or when 

new infrastructure such as roads and sewers can be provided’.  It adds that ‘the aim of the designation is to 

maintain the character of the land at least during the period until the plan is reviewed when it will be 

considered for allocation for development’.   

Paragraph 2.16 says that ‘reviews of the UDP are required at least every 5 years’.   

Clearly these reviews have not taken place.   

The UDP was adopted on 1 March 1999, which means that an assessment of the application site would have 

been undertaken as a part of the evidence base for the UDP, before that date.  A review of the site has 

therefore not been undertaken for at least 15 years. 

No new infrastructure has been delivered within the application site in the last 15 years and as the proposal is 

for an outline planning consent, such specific details are not provided within the planning submission.  It is 

therefore difficult to understand how the site can be deemed appropriate or capable for development.  

Furthermore no details are contained within the UDP as to how each POL was to be reassessed, or what 

infrastructure requirements were necessary for each individual POL. 

The UDP states that ‘the reassessment of provisional open land will involve determining for each site whether in 

the prevailing circumstances there is a case for releasing some or all of the land for development, or whether it 

should be maintained as provisional open land until the next review of the plan.’  The UDP continues that, ‘the 

Page 214



  

Page 5 

reallocation of provisional open land as Green Belt or urban greenspace will occur only in exceptional 

circumstances.’ 

Whilst it may well be the case that at the time of the original assessment, before 1999, that the site was 

assessed as having less quality than those designated as urban greenspace, 15 years has passed since that 

assessment and no reassessment has taken place.  Given the location of the site, to the south of the Green 

Belt and the attractive and sensitive nature of the location, which is described further below, there are now 

exceptional circumstances for the application site to be reallocated and considered unsuitable for 

development.  The site could now potentially be considered as forming a part of the Green Belt. 

Whilst Kirklees Council cannot demonstrate a 5 year housing supply, given the length of time which has 

passed since the site was allocated without reassessment, the site is now an attractive location which is no 

longer deemed to be of less quality than those sites which are protected from development.  Were the site to 

be reassessed now, it may not be considered as POL and could hold much more landscape value.  We 

therefore submit that Officer’s consider the proposal’s impact upon a site which is now considered to hold 

very similar merits to Green Belt land. 

The next section of this letter assesses the proposal’s landscape and visual impact and demonstrates that it 

will have an adverse impact upon the surrounding location, which would not be outweighed by the benefits 

of a residential development.  The need for residential development within Kirklees is not outweighed by the 

adverse impact which will result from the proposal.  

Landscape and Visual Impact 

As is set out above, relevant policies of the Development Plan are out of date.  In such circumstances there 

will be a presumption in favour of sustainable development where it is demonstrated that there are no 

adverse impacts that would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits. 

This section of our letter describes how the landscape and visual impact of the proposal upon the 

surrounding area, significantly and adversely outweighs the benefits of the proposal. 

Landscape Analysis  

Chapter 7 of the EIA contains a Landscape and Visual Assessment of the proposed development.  This 

assessment is informed by plans and viewpoints, prepared by Re-form Landscape Architects, which are 

contained within the Figures of the EIA. 

Figure 7.3 of the EIA provides a Landscape Analysis plan, which appears to provide an indication of the open 

and filtered views of the application site from adjacent residential properties.  The plan shows 13 arrows 

indicating open views and 16 arrows indicating filtered views from adjacent residential dwellings towards the 

application site.  Given the close proximity of a number of these properties, these open and unfiltered views, 

in particular, will clearly be significantly impacted upon by the proposed development, in terms of the 

landscape quality and residential amenity. 

The Landscape Analysis plan fails to identify any of the existing properties located along the northern 

boundary of the residential estate on Prince Wood Lane to the east and south east.  These properties are all 

located on higher ground than the application site, with views from their northern elevations looking out in 

the direction of the application site.  The majority of these dwellings will therefore have open, if not filtered, 

views of the application site in the north west direction.  Resident’s visual amenity will clearly be impacted 

upon by the proposal. 
Page 215



  

Page 6 

The plan also identifies the existing residential properties off Yew Tree Road as having only a filtered view of 

the application site.  This isn’t accurate.  Whilst there is some vegetation lining the road, this is limited.  The 

views of the application site from here are open and unrestricted. 

Furthermore, the application site sits towards the bottom of a valley with an elevated topography to the 

north, west and south particularly.  Given the elevated position, this means that the application site is visible 

from most viewpoints in this direction.  

We question the thoroughness of the Landscape Analysis plan and the robustness of the approach taken.  

Whilst the plan takes into consideration some of the views, it omits a number of others and is far from 

comprehensive.  We would also question how this information can be relied upon and how the Council will 

be able to adequately assess the impacts.  

Character Areas 

The Landscape and Visual Assessment chapter of the EIA identifies eight character areas in the surrounding 

landscape.  Figure 7.9 (Zone of Theoretical Visibility) of the EIA illustrates that the application site is visible 

from most of these character areas and further emphasises the point that the proposal will be clearly visible 

from the west, north and south.   

The Landscape and Visual Assessment contains an assessment of landscape effects on each character area 

within tables 7.10 to 7.18.  We have a number of criticisms of this assessment. 

Other than to provide the criteria for each category, no explanation has been given as to how the EIA comes 

to its conclusions when assessing the existing condition, sensitivity and value of a character area or the 

proposal’s impact upon each character area in terms of the magnitude of change or the landscape effect, on 

the baseline condition.  It would appear, therefore, that these conclusions are based solely on the opinion of 

the assessor.  There is no factual basis for the assessment, it is all subjective. 

We question the validity of the conclusions of the Character Area assessments. 

By way of an example, Character Area Two (Mixed deciduous woodland plantation) is an area of semi-ancient 

woodland known as Grimescar Wood.  Grimescar Wood is located to the north east of the application site 

and has been assessed in the EIA as a character area of ‘moderate’ condition and of ‘medium’ sensitivity and 

value.   

Grimescar Wood is not a character area of ‘moderate’ condition.  It is a semi-ancient woodland with strong or 

recognisable landscape structure, characteristic patterns and a balanced combination of landform and land 

cover.  The character area’s condition should therefore be described as being ‘good’ or ‘high’.   

Similarly, the character area is not of ‘medium’ sensitivity.  It is a semi-ancient woodland of ‘high’ sensitivity, 

with the proposal having the potential to impact upon residents, walkers and cyclists using public rights of 

way for recreational purposes throughout this location.  

In its assessment of the impact of the proposal on Grimescar Wood, contained in table 7.11, the EIA assesses 

the magnitude of change as being ‘low’ and the predicted landscape effects is assessed as being ‘slight 

adverse’.  A ‘low’ magnitude of change is described as a change where there will be a minor loss or alteration 

to the baseline view or introduction of elements that may not be uncharacteristic when set within the view.  A 

landscape effect which is ‘slight adverse’ is described as an effect where the proposed scheme would cause a 

slight deterioration in the existing view.   

Page 216



  

Page 7 

The existing character area is a semi-ancient woodland with a baseline view which looks out across open 

green fields.  The introduction of a residential development in proximity to this character area, within this 

immediate view, will result in a substantial alteration to the baseline view and the introduction of elements 

considered to be uncharacteristic to view.  The magnitude of change would therefore be ‘high’, if not 

‘medium’.  

It is also clear that the proposed scheme would cause a significant or noticeable deterioration in the existing 

view.  The landscape effect of the proposal would therefore have a ‘substantial’ to ‘moderate’ adverse effect 

on the baseline view. 

The above analysis of this character area clearly demonstrates how the Landscape and Visual Assessment has 

played down the impact of the scheme on Grimescar Wood. 

In its assessment of the impact of the proposal on Character Area One (Grimescar Valley), the EIA describes 

the magnitude of change as being ‘high’ and the predicted landscape effects as being ‘substantial adverse’.   

A magnitude of change which is ‘high’ is one where there will be a total loss or substantial alteration to the 

baseline view or introduction of elements considered to be totally uncharacteristic to the view.  A landscape 

effect which is ‘substantial adverse’ is an effect where the proposed scheme would cause a significant 

deterioration in the existing view.   

We agree with both of these conclusions and believe that this is the only accurate conclusion contained 

within the Landscape and Visual Assessment of the character areas.   

We do not agree, however, that the introduction of mitigation measures such as arranging the proposal in a 

number of small development cells, retaining green infrastructure, becks and associated woodland planting 

(which should be a given anyway) or the use of materials and architectural style that are locally harmonious 

and sympathetic to setting would reduce the magnitude of change from ‘high’ to ‘medium’ or the landscape 

effect from ‘substantial adverse’ to ‘moderate adverse’.   

These mitigation measures will have little to no effect and, in any case, the EIA suggests that even with these 

measures in place, the impact of the proposal will still has a significant detrimental impact upon the 

Grimescar Valley Character Area. 

Assessment of Visual Effects  

Figures 7.11 to 7.13 of the EIA provide photographic views towards the application site.  These further 

emphasise that the application site sits at a lower level to those areas and properties surrounding it and the 

difference in topography. 

The viewpoints also demonstrate that there are very few manmade structures within the surrounding 

landscape.  With the exception of the View 1, which is taken from Ainley, the photographic viewpoints 

demonstrate that views towards the site are generally open and uninterrupted, with only natural features in 

the immediate vicinity.  

Of more concern is the lack of evidence that has been provided to demonstrate the impact of the proposal 

on the surrounding area.  Only six photographic viewpoints are provided and only two of these, View 1 from 

Ainley and View 2 from Fixby Croft, are taken from the wider location.  Views 3 to 6 are all taken from the 

periphery of the boundary of the POL, or the boundary of the application site itself.   

Page 217



  

Page 8 

The EIA does not contain any viewpoints with the proposed development in place.  It is common practise 

that a Landscape and Visual Assessment provide wireframes and photomontages showing the proposal in 

situ.  This allows for a more thorough assessment and provides a visual aid of how the development is likely 

to look.  Without providing this evidence, we question how an adequate assessment can be undertaken or 

presented. 

Tables 7.19 to 7.24 provide an assessment of the visual effects of the proposal.   

One photographic viewpoint, View 2, is provided from the edge of Grimescar Wood towards the application 

site and an assessment of the visual effects is provided at table 7.20.  The assessment describes the sensitivity 

from this location as being ‘high’, the magnitude of change as being ‘medium’ and the visual effect as being 

‘moderate’ to substantial adverse’.   

Whilst we agree with this assessment, we would like to point out that this is contradictory to the assessment 

set out in the assessment of the landscape effects for Character Area Two.   

As is set out above, Character Area Two is identified as Grimescar Wood, which is assessed as having a 

‘medium’ sensitivity, where the magnitude of change will be ‘low’ and the landscape effects will be ‘slight 

adverse’.   

View 2 is taken from the edge of Grimescar Wood.  This clearly indicates that the Landscape and Visual 

Assessment has come to two different conclusions for the same location under assessment.   

Given the above, we would seriously question the level of detail, accuracy and validity of the Landscape and 

Visual Assessment in assessing the impact of the proposed development on the surrounding area.  We also 

question how this assessment can be relied upon and how the Council will be able to adequately assess the 

impacts. 

In conclusion, there are a number of inaccuracies within the Landscape and Visual Assessment and a number 

of conclusions which are strongly disputed.  We therefore question its reliability and how officers can make 

an informed decision based on the information which has been presented. 

Sustainability 

As has been set out earlier in this letter, paragraph 14 of the NPPF introduces a presumption in favour of 

sustainable development. 

Paragraph 9 of the Transport and Access chapter of the EIA states, ‘the sustainable location of the site provides 

excellent accessibility by foot, cycle and public transport to a vast range of local services, facilities and 

employment opportunities’.  The EIA does not elaborate on where these service or facilities are located, with 

no further evidence provided to justify this statement.   

This section of the letter demonstrates that the proposed development is not sustainable. 

For development to be described as being sustainable it must be located in close proximity to local services 

and facilities.  These should typically be within walking distance of residential areas, as opposed to those 

where there is a necessity to travel via private vehicle. 

There is no clear guidance on acceptable walking distances, but the general consensus is that a ten minute 

walk, subject to suitable pedestrian paths, is acceptable.  This is supported by the Department of Transport, 

whom identified that 78% of walked trips are less than 1km (1,000m) in length (DFT Transport Statistics GE). 

Page 218



  

Page 9 

The ‘walkable neighbourhood’ concept is set out in Manual for Streets 1 (MfS1) and endorsed in Manual for 

Streets 2 (MfS2).  MfS1 states that ‘walkable neighbourhoods’ are to be characterised by having a range of 

facilities within ten minutes (up to approx. 800m) walking distance of residential areas where residents may 

access considerably on foot (Manual for Streets 1, Paragraph 4.4.1). 

This letter is accompanied by an 800m Catchment Area Plan.  This plan illustrates the 800m catchment area 

from the centre of the application site.  For the application site to be considered sustainable, a number of 

local service and community facilities should be located within the catchment area. 

Local Convenience  

A search for local convenience retail stores within 800m (i.e. a ten minute walk) of the centre of the 

application site has been undertaken.  The search identified a Co-operative store on Halifax Road (A629) and 

services along Lidget Street in Lindley.  Planning permission has been granted for a further Tesco retail store 

on Halifax Road, at the site of the former Grey Horse Public House (2013/93204).  Although construction has 

begun, the store is yet to be completed. 

Whilst the Co-operative store and the Tesco store on Halifax Road (A629), currently being constructed, are 

located in relatively close proximity to the application site, access to them from the site is via Yew Tree Road 

or Burn Road.  As has been set out earlier in this letter, the application site sits at the bottom of the valley, 

with the topography of the surrounding landscape rising around it.  For residents to access either store on 

foot, it will be necessary to walk up a steep incline.  It is therefore questionable whether access can be 

described as being from ‘suitable pedestrian paths’.   

The stores located along Lidget Street in Lindley are just within the catchment area from the centre of the 

application site.  In fact, these stores are beyond a 10 minute walking distance from the proposed properties 

towards the north east and north west corners of the application site.  From here, the stores are 

approximately a 15 minute walk, beyond what is considered to be a reasonable walking distance.  

Notwithstanding their distance, in order for residents to access these services and facilities it will be 

necessary for them to walk up Burn Road and then along Birchencliffe Hill Road.  Both are on a steep incline.  

We therefore question whether these services and facilities can be reasonably described as being within a 

sustainable distance. 

Whilst it is accepted that there are local convenience retail stores within the catchment area, the topography 

of the surrounding landscape must be taken into consideration.  In reality, it is highly unlikely that the 

majority of residents will walk to these locations, given the steep incline they must walk up to get to them. 

Primary Healthcare Community Facilitates 

A search for local primary healthcare community facilities within 800m of the centre of the application site 

has been undertaken.  One surgery, the Lindley Village Surgery on Thomas Street was identified as falling 

within the catchment area.  This is a two GP practice with a caseload in excess of 4,700 patients.  The surgery 

has no scope for expansion.  The surgery has written to long standing patients living marginally outside the 

catchment area to inform them that, due to them being at capacity, they can no longer care for them and 

that they will need to make alternative arrangements. 

Two further surgeries have been identified just outside the catchment area.  Lindley Group Practice is located 

on Acre Street, to the south of the application site and Marsh Surgery is located on Westbourne Road to the 

south east.  There are currently 10,000 registered patients at the Lindley Group Practice, which is a six GP 

Page 219



  

Page 10 

surgery, designed for 3,500 patients.  The practice is currently looking for new premises.  Marsh Surgery is a 

two GP surgery, which currently has 4,000 registered patients and is already oversubscribed. 

The above demonstrates that there is no capacity for new patients at GP surgeries within the surrounding 

area.   

Educational Capacity 

A search for infant, primary and secondary schools has been undertaken.  The Lindley Church of England 

Infant and Junior School are located within what would be the priority admission area.  In the 2014/15 school 

year both schools were oversubscribed. 

Two further primary schools, at Moorlands Primary School and St Patricks Catholic Primary School, have also 

been considered.  These lie beyond the catchment area but were also oversubscribed for the 2014/15 school 

year.  

There is one secondary school with the priority admission area, at Salendine Nook Academy Trust.  This too 

was oversubscribed for the 2014/15 school year. 

Paragraph 68 of the Socio Economic Impacts chapter of the EIA correctly identifies that the proposed 

development will increase demand for education provision in the area, as a result of the increase in the 

school age population of the area but then goes on to consider that there will only be a ‘minor adverse   

effect on education provision in the area.’ 

In considering any mitigation measures, paragraph 69 states that the proposed development ‘will not provide 

any educational facilities although contributions will be required to improve existing facilities.’ 

The EIA acknowledges that the proposal will impact upon schools but that this is considered to be a minor 

effect.  We dispute this assessment.  The above clearly demonstrates that local schools are oversubscribed 

and that the proposal will have a significant impact upon them, given they are already at capacity. 

Sustainability Summary 

Whilst local convenience retail stores were identified within the catchment area, the topography of the 

surrounding landscape must be taken into consideration.  In reality, it is highly unlikely that the majority of 

residents will walk to these locations, given the steep incline they must walk up to get to them.  The location 

of these facilities from the application site is therefore impractical. 

All of the Primary Healthcare Community Facilitates identified are at capacity, with the only facility actually 

located within the catchment area, the Lindley Village Surgery, having written to patients outside the 

catchment area to inform them that they can no longer care for them.   

All of the schools within the priority admission area and two further primary schools outside the catchment 

area are oversubscribed for the 2014/15 school year. 

The above demonstrates that the EIA’s description of the application site having excellent access to a vast 

range of local services and facilities is not justifiable.  Retail stores are impractically located, community 

facilitates are at capacity and local schools are oversubscribed.  For all of the above reasons, the proposed 

development is therefore considered as unsustainable. 

 

 

Page 220



  

Page 11 

Masterplan – Scale of Development 

Whilst it is accepted that the submitted Masterplan is for illustrative purposes only, the section of land to the 

north west of the junction of Yew Tree Road and Burn Road displays a layout incorporating 37 dwellings and 

the section of land to the south east of the junction of Yew Tree Road and Burn Road displays a layout 

incorporating 81 dwellings.  The illustrative Masterplan therefore shows a scheme for 118 dwellings.   

Given outline planning consent is sought for up to 190 dwellings, this suggests there will need to be a 

significant compromise in either the size of the dwellings, the size of the plots or the areas of landscaping 

and/or ecological habitat in order to accommodate a denser scheme.   

We question whether the suggested development, for up to 190 dwellings is achievable without significantly 

impacting upon the land proposed for landscaping and ecological habitat. 

Highways 

We have serious concerns regarding the impact of the proposal upon Halifax Road (A629) and the Ainley Top 

Roundabout.  During peak periods in particular, Halifax Road (A629) and the Ainley Top Roundabout 

approach are both severely congested.   

The EIA is accompanied by a Transport Assessment, which focuses on roads and junctions in the immediate 

vicinity of the site, at the Burn Road / Grimescar Road junction, Grimescar Road / Brighouse Road junction, 

A629 Halifax Road / Yew Tree Road junction and A629 Halifax Road / Burn Road / Birchencliffe Hill Road 

junction.  The Assessment does not provide any consideration to the wider arterial route along Halifax Road 

(A629) between Halifax and Huddersfield. 

The midwife led maternity service is now based at Calderdale Hospital, which means Halifax Road (A629) is a 

priority route for emergency services.  Concerns are well documented locally regarding the congestion on 

Halifax Road (A629) in connection with hospital routes and emergency services.  The proposal will only 

intensify congestion along this route, adding to the existing concerns within the area. 

The Transport Assessment provides an assessment of the Ainley Top Roundabout.  Given the existing level of 

congestion at the roundabout and its approach and the potential number of additional vehicles the proposal 

would bring, it is very difficult to believe that there will only be a ‘negligible effect’ on the operation of the 

Ainley Top roundabout and that there will be no or only a marginal increase in queuing.  It is also very 

difficult to believe that altering the traffic signal timings by an additional second will have any affect upon the 

efficiency of the junction.   

We therefore question the findings of the Transport Assessment and request that the details contained 

within the document are scrutinised by the Council, and in particular the Highways Department. 

Air Quality 

A 2009 Air Quality Updating and Screening Assessment for Kirklees Council (published November 2009), 

assessed and reviewed local air quality and was submitted as a part of the evidence base for the Core 

Strategy examination.  This document identifies that detailed assessments for nitrogen dioxide (NO2) are 

required in Ainley Top, as there is sufficient evidence that the annual mean NO2 objective may be being 

exceeded at receptor locations.  On-going work has identified that road traffic is the main contributor to the 

pollution levels in the area.  A 2012 Air Quality Updating and Screening Assessment for Calderdale Council 

Page 221



  

Page 12 

(published April 2012) also recommends that further investigations be carried out to assess exceedences of 

annual mean NO2 objective at Ainley Top. 

Chapter 10 of the EIA contains an Air Quality Assessment.  This assesses the impact of the proposal on air 

quality during the construction then the operation phases.  The EIA’s baseline assessment concludes that air 

quality within the area is expected to be generally good and background concentrations of NO2, NOX and  

PM10, relevant to the study area, are well below their respective Air Quality Strategy (AQS) (July 2007) 

objective levels.  This conclusion contradicts the findings of both the Kirklees’ and Calderdale’s Air Quality 

Updating and Screening Assessments, as described above.  The EIA’s baseline assessment was taken from 

2012, which is the same year as Calderdale’s Air Quality Assessment, which advised that further assessment 

was required given the evidence that the annual mean NO2 objective may be being exceeded.  We therefore 

question the conclusions of the baseline conditions set out within the EIA. 

The Air Quality chapter assesses the air quality during the construction and operational phases.  During the 

construction phase, the Assessment considers that the movement of  construction vehicles and the use of 

construction plant and machinery may cause a temporary increase in concentrations of NO2 and PM10, which 

could have a ‘moderate  adverse significance’ for human receptors.  To mitigate this a number of measures 

are proposed, including the use of screening and windbreak netting, the use of  wheel washers, ensuring that 

all vehicles are maintained in good working order and switched off when not in use.  The Assessment 

suggests that the implementation of these mitigation measures will reduce the effect on Air Quality during 

the consultation phase of the development to a ‘negligible to minor adverse significance’. 

The Air Quality chapter goes on to assess that during the operational phase, the development will have a 

long-term effect on local concentrations of NO2, NOX and PM10, which could ‘have a detrimental effect on  the 

nearby sensitive receptors’.  To seek to mitigate these effects, the Air Quality Assessment suggests that the 

implementation of a Travel Plan should help to mitigate the predicted effects by outlining an overall strategy 

for the proposed development and by encouraging sustainable modes of transport, including cycle and  

pedestrian routes throughout the site.  The Assessment considers that, once appropriate mitigation has been  

implemented, the residual  effect is of ‘minor adverse to negligible significance’. 

The suggested mitigation measures and the conclusions of the Assessment, based on their implementation, 

are highly questionable.  During the operational phase, in particular, the Air Quality Assessment identifies 

that the proposal will have a ‘detrimental effect’ on the nearby sensitive receptors but goes on to suggest that 

the implementation of mitigation measures will reduce this to a ‘minor adverse to negligible significance’.  

With the only mitigation measure proposed being the implementation of a Travel Plan, which in reality is 

likely to have minimal effect, we have significant reservations about the conclusions of the Air Quality 

Assessment. 

In summary, the Air Quality chapter of the EIA raises significant concerns.  There are considered to be 

inaccuracies in the initial baseline assessment and the identified ‘detrimental effect’ during the operational 

phase of the proposal do not appear to be mitigated by the measures proposed. 

Summary 

A summary of our objections to this Application is: 

● A lack of a 5 year housing supply not automatically allowing for the POL to be developed; 

Page 222



  

Page 13 

● The necessity for a reassessment of site’s value.  Whilst the site is allocated as POL, its assessment was 15 

years ago and it now holds greater value than was previously assessed; 

● Were the site to be reassessed today, it could no longer be considered to be POL; 

● The detrimental landscape and visual impact of the proposal upon the surrounding area and the fact that 

this is not outweighed by the benefits of residential development; 

● The robustness of the Landscape and Visual Assessment, which fails to address the concerns raised above; 

● The inaccuracy of the Landscape and Visual Assessment, and the contradictory conclusions that it draws; 

● The proposed development is unsustainable.  Within a reasonable catchment walking distance retail 

stores are impractically located, community facilitates are at capacity and local schools are 

oversubscribed; 

● Uncertainty over the Masterplan and the proposed scheme’s deliverability; 

● The impact of the proposal on the wider highways network and the Transport Assessment’s questionable 

conclusions that the scheme will have a limited impact upon the surrounding road network; and 

● The highly questionable baseline assessment and the conclusions of the Air Quality Assessment and 

‘detrimental effect’, as identified within the Assessment, of the proposal.   

We therefore urge Officers to recommend refusal of the application for the reasons set out above. 

Yours faithfully 

 

Sophie Taylor 

Partner 

sophie.taylor@knightfrank.com 

D/L 0113 297 2408 

 

 

Page 223



Application Site Area

Remaining Provisional 
Open Land

800m Catchment Area

This map was created with Promap

800m Catchment Area from the Centre of the Site

Ordnance Survey  © Crown Copyright 2014. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432. Plotted Scale -  1:7500

P
age 224



Planning Application No   2014/60/93039/W  

Location   Yew Tree Road and Burn Road, Ainley Top, Huddersfield 

Objection submitted by: Robert Bamforth (On behalf of Kirklees Community Action Network 

                                                         and Yorkshire GreenSpace Alliance) 

Email    

Address    

Dated     21st November 2014 

Reasons for Objection: 

The land in question is designated as Provisional Open Land in the Council’s Unitary Development 

Plan. We are well aware of recent decisions and appeals which have backed housing development 

on POL, citing the absence the absence of an up-to-date local plan and/or a proven five year land 

supply as justification for planning approval. We strongly disagree with the release of Provisional 

Open Land for housing, in advance of a properly constituted review of the Local Plan. In our view the 

relevant planning guidance rules are fundamentally flawed, biased and wholly inconsistent with 

natural justice for local residents and communities. They are little more than a developer’s charter. 

We are particularly concerned that the Government dictated method of calculating the 5 year land 

supply, using over ambitious figures from the defunct Regional Spatial Strategy, compounded by 

notional under-performance against those figures in a time of global recession, makes it almost 

impossible for Councils to meet the land supply requirements. We appreciate that this argument is 

effectively a political one, which will carry little weight in the planning decision regarding this 

development. It is however against the current background of our strong objection to the current 

political distortion of the planning system that we make our other objections.  

Our specific objection to this development is that it is NOT SUSTAINABLE 

 

1. Overloaded roads and services – enough is enough. Many significant large scale 

developments have been approved in the Lindley / Birchencliffe / Ainley Top area over the 

past couple of years, with much more to come, particularly in the area of Lindley Moor. To 

use an emotive term the area is being “swamped” with housing and industrial development, 

but there has been little or no corresponding investment in the local physical and service 

infrastructure such as schools, roads, parking, health services etc. All these services are 

currently stretched to breaking point and the area cannot cope with any more significant 

developments such as this one. Physical improvements have recently been made to the 

Ainley Top roundabout, under a section 106 agreement with other developers. However, in 

our view, the benefits in terms of traffic flow and reduced congestion have only been 

marginal and certainly not sufficient to allow further large scale development in the area. 

The proposed development is NOT SUSTAINABLE because the Lindley area cannot, as a 

whole, sustain any more development on this scale. 

Page 225



2. Isolated from local centres and community services. The proposed development is on the 

Eastern side of the busy Halifax Road, whereas the closest local centre (Lindley) is some 

distance away on the Western side. Anyone walking from the development to access local 

services (shops, schools, health services etc) would have to cross Halifax Road. This is not 

only dangerous in traffic terms but Halifax Road is also known as an area that suffers from 

unacceptably high levels of air pollution. So, although the nominal distance from the 

development site to Lindley Centre may be within Council parameters, the effective distance 

is not. The development is NOT SUSTAINABLE because Halifax Road forms a virtual “barrier” 

between the proposed development and all the relevant local services.  

3. Erosion of green buffer zone and merging of urban areas. The density of development and 

spatial distribution of settlements across West Yorkshire means that there is a very real 

danger of towns and cities merging to form one giant conurbation. We find that prospect as 

frightening as it is awful. In many areas a green belt buffer has been defined to prevent 

towns merging but we argue that the need to prevent that happening is a fundamental part 

of planning policy which should be applied to all open green spaces between towns and not 

just to the green belt. Major developments at Lindley Moor and Blackley are already rapidly 

massively eroding the relatively small green buffer space between Huddersfield and Elland / 

Halifax. In our view this green buffer erosion has already gone too far and further 

development within this green buffer space should not be permitted. The proposed 

development would fill a significant part of one of the last remaining green spaces between 

the urban conurbations of Huddersfield and Halifax and as such it is NOT SUSTAINABLE. 

4. Harmful to the Green Belt. The proposed development is on Provisional Open Land on the 

Southern side of the Grimescar Valley. The Northern side is currently green belt that is much 

admired by the public, but we are well aware that the developer has put forward plans to 

develop the whole valley (POL and Green Belt) as part of the previous LDF consultation. 

About two years ago the Council decided to reject those over-ambitious plans for green belt 

housing development and not include them in the LDF. We understand that the current 

planning application is purely for the Provisional Open Land and must be considered on its 

own merits. However, we suggest that the Council also has a duty to consider the wider 

implications and in particular the damage that development on the POL part of the valley 

would have on the integrity of the adjacent green belt. In our view the proposed POL 

development would seriously degrade the green belt part of Grimescar Valley and 

undermine its function as a buffer zone between the urban conurbations of Huddersfield 

and Halifax. The NPPF makes it clear that “As with previous Green Belt policy, inappropriate 

development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except 

in very special circumstances.” We do not believe there are any very special circumstances 

which would permit this development. The NPPF goes on to state that “When considering 

any planning application, local planning authorities should ensure that substantial weight is 

given to any harm to the Green Belt. ‘Very special circumstances’ will not exist unless the 

potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is 

clearly outweighed by other considerations.” The NPPF and planning guidance make it clear 

that the need for new housing does NOT outweigh local environmental protections. 

  

Page 226



5. Departure from the Unitary Development Plan. This application, if approved, would 

represent a departure from the UDP and must be treated as such. The UDP also says about 

the timing of development on Provisional Open Land:  

“The aim of the provisional open land designation is to maintain the character of the land 

so designated at least during the period until the plan is reviewed when it will be 

considered for allocation for development”. 

In our view the UDP is clear and it remains the legally valid local plan for Kirklees until such 

time as it is replaced by a new Local Plan. It is therefore not in the Council’s or the Planning 

Inspectorate’s power to totally disregard this legally valid UDP statement or to make any 

casual presumptions about premature change of use of areas designated as Provisional 

Open Land across Kirklees. In this particular instance we argue that the National and Local 

need for new housing does not outweigh the many sustainability issues associated with this 

site. Change of use must therefore be denied and the application must be refused.  .  

Page 227



1

Patricia Hepworth

From: Kirklees Council Planning <web.development@kirklees.gov.uk>

Sent: 16 October 2014 15:01

To: Nick Willock

Cc: DCAdmin

Subject: Comments on planning application: 2014/93039

Home ι Business  ι Community  ι Council ι Employment  ι Events  ι Leisure ι News ι Q & A ι Roads & Travel ι Visitors
 

Thursday 16 October 2014

 

To acknowledge or update the status of this job, please use the following link: 

http://intranet/frontline/callback/Details.asp?Jobid=1310275&Acknowledge=Yes 

Comment on planning application 2014/93039 

Field Value 

Name: Frank O'Brien 

Address: 29, Maplin Avenue Huddersfield 

Postcode: HD3 3GP 

Email: 

Telephone: - 

Application number: 2014/93039 

What is the application 

for?: 

Outline application for residential development 

Address of the site or 

building: 

Land at, Ainley Top, Yew Tree Road and Burn Road, Huddersfield HD2 2EQ 

Postcode if know: - 

Your comments: I am authorised to object most strongly to this application on behalf of 

Huddersfield Civic Society. This proposal would involve the loss of a very important 

green space which should have been designated Green Belt rather than Provisional 

Open Land in the UDP thus giving it more than temporary protection from volume 

housing developers such as these. The Civic Society encourages Kirklees Council to 

look at longer term, affordable housing on sustainable sites closer to the town 

centre. They should seek to create "urban villages" on sites such as that recently 

vacated by Kirklees College rather than destroying valuable green spaces. Any 

further development at Birchencliffe would place an intolerable burden on the 

already highly congested Halifax Road. Neither Burn Road nor Yew Tree Road is 

capable to handling the extra volume of traffic which the housing would engender, 

before entering Halifax Road or the Ainley Top roundabout. Frank O'Brien Society 

Planning Officer 
If this email is illegible the most likely cause is that your email is not setup to view HTML emails. 

 

 

 

Page 228



From: Planning ContactCentre

Sent: 22 October 2014 07:36

To: DCAdmin

Subject: FW: 2014/60/93039/W Land at, Ainley Top, Yew Tree Road and Burn Road, 

Huddersfield HD2 2EQ 

From: MCCARTNEY, Jason [mailto:jason.mccartney.mp@parliament.uk]
Sent: 21 October 2014 16:46
To: Planning ContactCentre
Subject: 2014/60/93039/W Land at, Ainley Top, Yew Tree Road and Burn Road, Huddersfield HD2 2EQ 

Dear Sirs,

I wish to register my objection in the strongest possible terms to the above planning 
application. 

We have seen Lindley singled out for development over the last few years, to the point 
where the infrastructure; whether roads, schools or doctors’ surgeries, just cannot cope. 
The green spaces that separate our towns are disappearing, replaced by urban sprawl and 
this has to be the point where this stops.

My main objections to this development are –

1. Local Schools. All schools in Lindley are all ready oversubscribed, with schools not 
even able to accept pupils in their catchment area. An additional 190 houses and the 
families they would bring into the area is just not sustainable.

2. Local Doctors. I have been contacted by the two local practices who cannot cope 
with the number of patients they currently have let alone more. One surgery is 
actually asking patients outside a strict radius to leave their practice. For this reason 
again this development is not sustainable.

3. Highways. The main arterial roads in Lindley are already over used creating 
dangerous rat runs through residential areas. While changes to Ainley Top 
Roundabout have been welcome, we still see massive tailbacks and this 
development will make the situation even worse.

4. Green spaces to stop urban sprawl. Grimescar Valley provides a well used haven 
from our busy lives. Dog walkers, horse riders and cyclists all come here to enjoy the 
beautiful surroundings. It is the duty of Kirklees to protect these areas so that 
Huddersfield does not just merge into Halifax without green space to separate these 
two conurbations. 

5. Wildlife. Grimescar Valley is home to a variety of fauna and flora that deserves 
protecting; bats, roe deer, field mice and kestrels are just some of the many species 
that find a home here and this habitat should be protected for them as well.

We should not just devastate this beautiful part of the borough in order to build yet more 
unsustainable housing. I urge the planning committee to do the right thing and reject this 
development.

Kind regards,

Jason

Jason McCartney MP

Page 1 of 2

22/07/2015file:///C:/Users/PatriciaHepworth/Desktop/44C3E11E59D611E4BDAB00188B5D73F...

Page 229



Member of Parliament for Colne Valley

Tel: 020 7219 7041  (Westminster)
Tel: 01484 688364 or 688378 (Constituency)
Email: jason.mccartney.mp@parliament.uk
Web: www.jasonmccartney.com

UK Parliament Disclaimer: This e-mail is confidential to the intended recipient. If you have received 
it in error, please notify the sender and delete it from your system. Any unauthorised use, disclosure, 
or copying is not permitted. This e-mail has been checked for viruses, but no liability is accepted for 
any damage caused by any virus transmitted by this e-mail. 

Page 2 of 2

22/07/2015file:///C:/Users/PatriciaHepworth/Desktop/44C3E11E59D611E4BDAB00188B5D73F...

Page 230



From: Kirklees Council Planning [web.development@kirklees.gov.uk]

Sent: 21 November 2014 12:40

To: Nick Willock

Cc: DCAdmin

Subject: Comments on planning application: 2014/93039

Home ι Business ι Community ι Council ι Employment ι Events ι Leisure ι News ι Q & A ι Roads & Travel ι Visitors

Friday 21 November 2014

To acknowledge or update the status of this job, please use the following link:
http://intranet/frontline/callback/Details.asp?Jobid=1312397&Acknowledge=Yes

Comment on planning application 2014/93039

Field Value

Name: Barry Sheerman MP

Address: The Media Centre, 7 Northumberland Street, Huddersfield

Postcode: HD1 1RL

Email: barry.sheerman.mp@parliament.uk

Telephone: 01484 487970

Application number: 2014/93039

What is the application 
for?:

Outline application for residential development

Address of the site or 
building:

Land at, Ainley Top, Yew Tree Road and Burn Road, Huddersfield HD2 2EQ

Postcode if know: -

Your comments: Over the years I have been deeply concerned at the attitude of the major estates 
such as Thornhill Estates. At times when they see an opportunity for making a 
profit by obtaining commercial or residential planning permission, they pursue such 
opportunities ruthlessly. In my experience the Thornhill Estate lost any real 
interest in communities in which they have for many years owned great tracts of 
land. Therefore it should be understood that Thornhill Estates exists to maximise 
the profit in their land holdings. With ample resources they are able to hire the 
best lawyers and planning advisers to browbeat local authorities into giving the 
planning permission they seek. They can use appeal procedures which are 

horrendously expensive for local councils who oppose their planning applications to 
secure their goals. Many of these large landed estates are very well connected 
socially and politically which makes them formidable opponents. The Grimescar 
Valley is beautiful and should be preserved and subject to only a very small 
amount of development: approximately 10-15% of the presently applied for area. I 
am not a NIMBY and my constituents and their children need homes and housing, 
but these great estates offload plots of land once planning has been granted, and 
the subsequent developments fight ferociously against providing any Section 104 
money for schools, the environment or the community because they have paid so 
much to the land owners! My experience is to say no to these estates and their 
planning applications. They care nothing for our local environment and the people 
who live there. Barry Sheerman

If this email is illegible the most likely cause is that your email is not setup to view HTML emails.

Page 1 of 1Kirklees alerts

22/07/2015file:///C:/Users/PatriciaHepworth/Desktop/389FF64D718C11E4BDC200188B5D73F...

Page 231



1

Patricia Hepworth

From: Planning ContactCentre

Sent: 29 October 2014 07:12

To: DCAdmin

Subject: FW: Application Number  2014/93039     

Importance: High

Follow Up Flag: Follow up

Flag Status: Flagged

 

 

From: Cllr Cahal Burke  

Sent: 28 October 2014 19:02 
To: Planning ContactCentre; Nick Willock 

Subject: Application Number 2014/93039  
Importance: High 

 

OBJECTION 

Planning Application No: 2014/60/93039/W 

Planning Proposal: 190 New Homes in Grimescar Valley - Thornhill Estates 

 

I strongly object to this application by Thornhill Estates Limited to destroy the Grimescar Valley. 

 

The layout, scale and design of the proposed development would cause an adverse impact on the amenities of 

existing residents along with visual amenity and highway safety.  

 

The issue of school places has not been resolved along with access to doctors, dentists and other facilities in the 

area. The cumulative impact of other developments and recent applications that have recently been granted 

planning permission is not being considered and should be, because not to consider the cumulative impact would be 

careless. 

 

It would be Irresponsible & shameful for permission to be granted for this development in the Grimescar Valley, the 

Lindley ward area should not be the hub of all new housing in Kirklees, destroying a wonderful part of Huddersfield 

that is enjoyed by all residents in Kirklees,  the area does not have the infrastructure to cope with such over 

development and thought should be given to the sustainability of an area in the future and not just reacting to 

applications. 

 
Taking into account my comments above and the reasons below this application should be refused. 

• Highways – detrimental impact on Highway safety 

• Air Quality - unacceptable levels of noise and air pollution 

• Environmental Impact – Grimescar Valley is an area of great beauty and has a richness of wildlife, this would 

be put at risk and lost 

 

Cllr Cahal Burke 

Liberal Democrat, Lindley Ward 
 

℡ 07976 497980 

� cahal.burke@kirklees.gov.uk 

� www.cahalburke.co.uk 
 

Follow me on Twitter: @CahalBurke 

Facebook: Cllr Cahal Burke 

 

Page 232



1

Patricia Hepworth

From: Kirklees Council Planning <web.development@kirklees.gov.uk>

Sent: 01 July 2015 12:32

To: DCAdmin

Subject: Comments on planning application: 2014/93039

Home ι Business  ι Community  ι Council ι Employment  ι Events and leisure ι News ι Roads & Travel ι Visitors 

 

Wednesday 01 July 2015

 

To acknowledge or update the status of this job, please use the following link: 

http://intranet/frontline/callback/Details.asp?Jobid=1326150&Acknowledge=Yes 

Comment on planning application 2014/93039 

Field Value 

Name: Cllr Gemma Wilson 

Address:  

Postcode:  

Email: gemma.wilson@kirklees.gov.uk  

Telephone:  

Application number: 2014/93039 

What is the application 

for?: 

Outline application for residential development 

Address of the site or 

building: 

Land at, Ainley Top, Yew Tree Road and Burn Road, Huddersfield HD2 2EQ 

Postcode if know: - 

Your comments: It is my belief that this application should be rejected. As a local resident and 

councillor, I know first hand how our are is being destroyed by inappropriate 

development due to the lack of this council to have a local plan. This development 

is unsuitable for our area due to our struggling infrastructure such as doctors, 

dentists and school places. This development will put more pressure on these 

affecting the lives of local people, local families and anyone who may buy these 

new houses. A huge concern is the air quality and the lack of transparency shown 

regarding the air quality statistics. The air quality is appauling where I live and 

these additonal houses will bring with them 250 approx cars which will cause this 

situation to worsen quickly. In addition,the local congestion is awful and has 

become worse. This development will simply add to the pressure of the A629. The 

wide affect on the area and it's existing residents would be catastophic if this was 

allowed to go ahead: we would lose of the last pieces of green space we have in 

our area, we will have more pressure on our schools, drainge, crumbling roads and 

if this is allowed, we will lose this forever. I object to this development. 
If this email is illegible the most likely cause is that your email is not setup to view HTML emails. 

 

 

 

Page 233



From: Kirklees Council Planning [web.development@kirklees.gov.uk]

Sent: 20 November 2014 10:53

To: Nick Willock

Cc: DCAdmin

Subject: Comments on planning application: 2014/93039

Home ι Business ι Community ι Council ι Employment ι Events ι Leisure ι News ι Q & A ι Roads & Travel ι Visitors

Thursday 20 November 2014

To acknowledge or update the status of this job, please use the following link:
http://intranet/frontline/callback/Details.asp?Jobid=1312319&Acknowledge=Yes

Comment on planning application 2014/93039

Field Value

Name: Charles Greaves

Address:

Postcode:

Email:

Telephone: -

Application number: 2014/93039

What is the application 
for?:

Outline application for residential development

Address of the site or 
building:

Land at, Ainley Top, Yew Tree Road and Burn Road, Huddersfield HD2 2EQ

Postcode if know: -

Your comments: This is phase 1 of a much larger scheme. Without having a clear understanding of 
the total scheme it is not possible to ascertain the actual contribution that this 
scheme will deliver, or to fully assess the impact that it will have on the locality. It 
is important to retain The landowner promises that he will keep 85% of his holding 
as open land - but the only way to guarantee this would be for the landowner to 
enter into land law restrictive covenants. The scheme appears to be targetted at 
city commuters and it is unclear what real benefit this will bring in terms of 
providing new housing to the existing population as a development of this nature is 
likely to result in inward-migration. Thanks, Charles Greaves

If this email is illegible the most likely cause is that your email is not setup to view HTML emails.

Page 1 of 1Kirklees alerts

22/07/2015file:///C:/Users/PatriciaHepworth/Desktop/71DAF337717E11E4BDC200188B5D73F...

Page 234



 Communications Report 
23 June 2014 - 28 May 2015 

 

Huddersfield Gateway Public Open Land (POL) 
Communications 
 
This report covers statistics and interactions from the website www.huddersfield-
gateway.co.uk and the Huddersfield Gateway Facebook Page as part of the Gateway POL 
proposals 2014-15.  
 
Both communication channels were set up to support face-to-face activities carried out by 
the team, local leaflet drops and press coverage. They were also created to update and 
provide information on the proposals and allow residents to submit their comments. 
 

Key Statistics - Website 
• The website was created on 23 June 2014. The total number of visits to the four 

main pages were as follows up until 28th May 2015: 
o Homepage = 2683  
o The Plan = 815  
o Consultation Information Page = 605  
o About the Gateway = 434  
o Total Visits = 4537 

Key Interactions 
• There were peaks in traffic following the leaflet-drop to 3000 households in the local 

area explaining the proposal, busting some myths and encouraging people to 
submit their comments 

• Press coverage sign-posted readers to the website. Referrals were received from 
the Huddersfield Examiner with 363 page views. It is also likely that referrals came 
from the Facebook page 

•  There were 4537 visits to the website. Through the website we received 27 
summited comments. Of those 27 comments there were 22 negative, 1 positive and 
4 posed questions.  

• There was a peak in traffic following the consultation event held on 14 July 2014 
attended by over 100 people 

• There were two downloads available to the public on the website.  
           The first about the Gateway was downloaded 657 times 
           The second about 2014-15 proposals was downloaded 546 times 

• The ‘Huddersfield Gateway’ Facebook page was launched on 14 July 2014 and has 
received the support of 514 people in the form of 514 ‘Likes’ to date. 

 
 

Page 235



Page 236



Page 237



Page 238



Page 239



Page 240



Page 241



Page 242



Page 243



Page 244



Page 245



Page 246



Page 247



Page 248



Page 249



Page 250



Page 251



Page 252



Page 253



Page 254



Page 255



Page 256



Page 257



Page 258



Page 259



Page 260



Page 261



Page 262



Page 263



Page 264



Page 265



Page 266



Page 267



Page 268



Page 269



Page 270



Page 271



Page 272



Page 273



Page 274



Page 275



Page 276



Page 277



Page 278



Page 279



Page 280



Page 281



Page 282



Page 283



Page 284



Page 285



Page 286



Page 287



Page 288



Page 289



Page 290



Page 291



Page 292



Page 293



Page 294



Page 295



Page 296



Page 297



Page 298



Page 299



Page 300



Page 301



Page 302



Page 303



Page 304



Page 305



Page 306



Page 307



This page is intentionally left blank



Committee Update 1 30 July 2015 

  KIRKLEES METROPOLITAN COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING SERVICE 
 

UPDATE OF LIST OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS TO BE DECIDED BY 
 

 STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

30 JULY 2015 
 

 
APPLICATION NO: 2014/93039 PAGE 9 
 
OUTLINE APPLICATION FOR RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 
 
LAND AT, AINLEY TOP, YEW TREE ROAD AND BURN ROAD, 
HUDDERSFIELD HD2 2EQ 
 
Information 
 
It should be noted that Cllr Cahal Burke‟s name has been incorrectly spelt in 
the Committee report 
 
Representations 
 
Councillor Mark Hemmingway has written to register his objections to the 
proposed development: 
 

I would like to register my objections to the proposed development at 
Birchencliffe. 
 
There are some issues with the report that I wish to bring to the attention of 
the committee. 
 
Problems with school places are well documented and have been raised 
with previous applications.  This application proposes a contribution to 
school places though there is no information as to how this money will be 
spent. The nearest schools to this site have little scope for expansion, in 
fact recently at Lindley Junior School the planning committee was asked to 
pass an application for a fence which wasn‟t ideally situated but had to 
done in a particular way because the school couldn‟t risk losing any of it‟s 
outside play area because it is already overcrowded. 
 
In my view the issues of air quality and transport are linked so I‟ll deal with 
these as one. The report considers traffic flows to be acceptable after 
lengthy discussions with the applicant though I consider the basis of the 
information to be flawed. Traffic flows from neighbouring developments 
have been used to give an indication as to the traffic flows from this 
development. Most of the other developments in the area have a well-
established footpath network and are within walking distance of local 
amenities, this development is on the other side of the main A629 so car 
journeys will be far greater than estimated. The A629 is already extremely 

Page 309



Committee Update 2 30 July 2015 

busy and only has one suitable crossing point, the hill up to amenities in 
Lindley and the lack of footpaths along Burn Rd and Grimescar Road 
means that most journeys will be by car, many local people already have to 
use cars for very short journeys because of the traffic problems in the area.  
The A629 already causes horrendous traffic problems with hold-ups 
stretching as far as Huddersfield ring road on occasions and tailing back on 
the M62. There is already a problem with air quality in the area and this will 
development will push it to unacceptable levels. 
 
In my view this application should be refused on highway grounds as the 
report doesn‟t give an accurate assessment of future traffic flows. 

 
Recommendation 
 
Additional conditions are recommended in respect of layout and scale: 
 
The net developable areas within the application site shall be as shown on the 
„Development Parameters – Greenspace and Retained Features; Land Use & 
Development Heights‟ plans. 
 
Details of layout submitted in respect of condition 2 shall provide for up to 190 
houses distributed across the 3 net developable areas in accordance with the 
details shown on the Masterplan Strategy (Drawing no 004 Rev C). The 
number of units on each of the net developable areas shall not exceed 60, 50 
and 80 respectively. 
 
Details of scale submitted in respect of condition 2 shall provide for 
development that is no more than 2 storey in height. 

 

 
APPLICATION NO: 2014/91282 PAGE 51 
 
ERECTION OF 135 RESIDENTIAL PROPERTIES WITH ASSOCIATED 
ACCESS, PARKING AND LANDSCAPING AND THE CREATION OF A 
CAR PARK TO SERVE CROSSLEY FIELDS JUNIOR AND INFANT 
SCHOOL 
 
LAND OFF, WOODWARD COURT/HEPWORTH LANE, MIRFIELD 
 
Representations 
 
Save Mirfield has submitted photographs of the local road network taken 
during school pick up/ drop off times and asked that they be circulated to 
Committee at the site visit. 
 
One further letter of objection has been received which reiterates objections 
already detailed in the committee report. 

 

 

Page 310



Committee Update 3 30 July 2015 

APPLICATION NO: 2013/93721 PAGE 109 
 
ERECTION OF 29 DWELLINGS (AMENDED PLANS) 
 
LOCATION: WOOD NOOK, DENBY DALE, HUDDERSFIELD, HD8 8RR 
 
Additional Condition recommended by Environmental Health. 
 
“Prior to occupation of the dwellings in all residential units that have a 
dedicated parking area and/or a dedicate garage an electric vehicle charging 
point shall be installed. Cables and circuitry ratings shall be of an adequate 
size to ensure a minimum continuous current demand for 16 Amps and a 
maximum demand of 32 Amps. In residential units that have unallocated 
parking spaces then before occupation of at least one electric vehicle 
charging point per ten properties with the above specification shall be 
installed.” 

 

 
APPLICATION NO: 2014/92737 PAGE 130 
 
OUTLINE APPLICATION FOR ERECTION OF 5 DWELLINGS 
 
ADJ, 8, MIRY LANE, NETHERTHONG, HOLMFIRTH, HD9 3UQ 
 
A request is received from the agent stating: 

“I refer to my client's previous undertaking to withdraw the 7 unit application 
accessed off St Mary's estate should the 5 unit application off Miry Lane be 
approved.  

This undertaking remains on the table. Consequently, my client would prefer 
the 5 unit application to be heard first. Should this be approved the seven unit 
application could be deferred pending receipt of an approval notice when it 
would be withdrawn.  If the 5 unit application is refused by members the 7 unit 
application should be presented for consideration”.  

Should Members be minded to approve the application, an additional 
condition as suggested by Environmental Health Officers, for charging points 
for electric and ultra low emission vehicles will be included on the decision 
notice.  

 

 

Page 311



Committee Update 4 30 July 2015 

APPLICATION NO: 2015/90580 PAGE 158 
 
OUTLINE APPLICATION FOR ERECTION OF 7 DWELLINGS AND 
FORMATION OF 2 SITE ACCESS POINTS 
 
LAND TO REAR OF 8, MIRY LANE AND BETWEEN ST MARY'S RISE AND 
ST MARY'S WAY, NETHERTHONG, HOLMFIRTH, HD9 3UQ 
 
Should Members be minded to approve the application, an additional 
condition (below) as suggested by Environmental Health Officers, for charging 
points for electric and ultra low emission vehicles will be included on the 
decision notice. 
 

Prior to occupation of the dwelling(s), in all residential units that have a 
dedicated parking area and/or a dedicated garage, an electric vehicle 
recharging point shall be installed. Cable and circuitry ratings shall be of 
adequate size to ensure a minimum continuous current demand of 16 Amps 
and a maximum demand of 32Amps.  

 

 
APPLICATION NO: 2014/92413 PAGE 181 
 
OUTLINE APPLICATION FOR ERECTION OF 2 DWELLINGS 
 
LAND TO REAR OF 191 HUDDERSFIELD ROAD, THONGSBRIDGE, 
HOLMFIRTH, HD9 3TT 
 

Should Members be minded to approve the application, one additional 
condition (below) as suggested by Environmental Health Officers, for charging 
points for electric and ultra low emission vehicles will be included on the 
decision notice.   
 

Prior to occupation of the dwelling(s), in all residential units that have a 
dedicated parking area and/or a dedicated garage, an electric vehicle 
recharging point shall be installed. Cable and circuitry ratings shall be of 
adequate size to ensure a minimum continuous current demand of 16 Amps 
and a maximum demand of 32Amps.  
 

For clarity condition no. 10 has been amended to include plan no. 1402801E, 
showing the swept paths to be utilised by fire engines  
 

10. The construction of the hereby approved dwellings shall not be begun until 
details of improvement works along Huddersfield Road and the access road 
serving the site as shown on drawing no. 1402801 Rev D, along with works to 
ensure the safe accessibility to the existing car park space serving no. 195 
Huddersfield Road and vehicle swept paths as shown on drawing no. 
1402801E have been submitted to and approved in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority. The dwellings shall not be occupied until these works 
have been completed in accordance with the Local Planning Authority‟s 
approval and have been certified in writing as complete by or on behalf of the 
Local Planning Authority and such works shall be retained thereafter.  

 

 

Page 312



Document is Restricted

Page 313

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 315

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	3 Interests and Lobbying
	Signed: ………………………………………… Dated: ……………………………………..
	Lobbying

	12 Planning Applications (Part One)
	2014-93039 Ainley Top.pdf
	2014.60.93039.W - Letter of Objection
	800m Catchment Area

	Committee Update 30 July 2015

	15 Application 2015/90022 - Cleckheaton Bowling Club, Park View, Cleckheaton
	16 Application 2013/93721 - Wood Nook, Denby Dale, Huddersfield



